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Our purpose — ‘we create
better outcomes’ - is the driving
force behind the new Capita.

We want to be a truly responsible business
and create better outcomes for:

Our people - by providing an environment
in which they can thrive and develop.

Our clients and customers — by being focused
on delighting them, both now and in the future.

Our suppliers and partners - by treating them
fairly and encouraging them to deliver.

Our investors — by delivering against targeted returns.

Society — by acting as a responsible business for
the communities we serve.

To deliver our purpose successfully, our corporate
values — open, ingenious, collaborative and effective
— and behaviours must run through every employee
conversation, every client interaction, every contract
discussion and everything we do at Capita.

Our purpose should motivate and inspire all our
people; it has to guide all our decisions and actions,
each and every day.

"Our purpose will underpin Capita's
transformation into a truly responsible
and sustainable business, founded on
good governance and collaboration,
and committed to creating better
outcomes for all stakeholders.”

Jon Lewis, Chief Executive Officer
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Overview

Capita at a glance

We have revised Adjusted revenue
our non-statutory .
reporting measures to £ 3 ’ 8 67 6 m
improve transparency (2017: £4,091.8m)
and make it easier to
understand the GTOUP'S Reported revenue
financial performance.

£3,918.4m

The revised presentation gives
adjusted and reported results,
with adjusted results being
equivalent to the previous
underlying before significant
new contracts and restructuring.
Gur adjusted results exclude

items that have a potentially £ 282 .1 m

distorting effect.

(2017 £4,234.6m)

Adjusted profit before tax

(2017: £383.1m)

Reported profit before tax

£272.6m

{2017: £{513.1)m)

Adjusted earnings per share

16.37p

(2017: 27.99p)

Reported earnings per share

17.99p

(2077: (48.82)p)

Adjusted free cash flow
£(82.5)m
(2017: £75.4m)

Reported free cash flow'

£(260.5)m

(2017: £66.6m}

@ o

Software People Solutions
Revenue Revenue
£396.4m £498.3m
65% public sector 40% public sector
35% private sector 60% private sector
Profit Profit

£112.4m £40.7m

Employees Employees

4,000 5,800

The tables above present adjested results for 2018 The calculation of adjusted figuras and our KPls are contalned in tha APMs 0n pages 197-198

1 The Group has represented and restaced its 2017 cash flow staternent. Refer to note 29 of the consolidated financlal statements for details

O

Customer Management

Revenue

£794.2m

2% public sector
98% private sector

Profit

£39.6m

Employees

30,000
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Our locations
Employees

63,153 s

iﬂ\ w‘
UK &

L, Ireland
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Government Services IT & Networks Specialist Services
Revenue Revenue Revenue
£745.5m £404.0m £992.2m
100% public sector 52% public sector 21% public sector
0% private sector 48% private sector 79% private sector
Profit Profit Profit
£35.2m £45.3m £139.5m
Employees Employees Employees

8,700 3,400 11,000
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Overview continued

How we run our business

Expertise and resources

Market expertise

Customer management,
education softwara, learning
and recruitment process
management, and local and
central government services

Technology and
digital resources

Technology-led, digitally-
enabled complex services and
solutions. Increasing investment
in software development and
technological capabilities

Client relationships

Partnerships with wide range
of clients, from blue-chip
businesses ta the public sector,
delivering insight and developing
innovative solutions

People

People-focused business,
built around 3,000 skilled and
committed employees who
have deep understanding of our
clients’ markets and needs

Global infrastructure

Growing international operation
and sales focus, with almost
20,000 people based outside

the UK, as far afield as India and

South Africa

Multi-year

contracts

Clients procure our services
through multi-year contracts.
In 2018, 87% of revenue was
underpinned by long-term
(greater than two years) or
short-term (less than two
years) contracts

Generating financial value

Software licences
and support

We provide clients with
business-critical software
products, earning recurring
revenue from implementation,
annual licence fees and support
and revenue from ‘software as
a service’ arrangements

Transactional

services

More than 13% of our revenue
cormnes frorn our transactional
businesses where we earn
fees for professicnal services
provided to our clients across a
wide range of business functions
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Creating better outcomes

We are focused on creating value and better outcomes for all our stakeholders - by designing,
implementing and operating essential services; developing and selling specialist software to
support critical business functions; and by supporting the people and communities we serve.

Our clients Society Our people Our suppliers QOur investors
and customers and partners
By delighting them both By acting as a responsible By providing an By treating them fairly By delivering against
now and in the future business For the emvironment in which they and encouraging them targeted returns
communities we serve can thrive and develop to deliver
Metric: Maetric: Metric: Metric: Metric:
Customer net Community investment Employee net Improved supplier Sustainable free
promoter score and charitable giving promoter score payment terms cash flow
New ways of working
. Creating better outcomes
Why we exist for ali our stakeholders

@ How we act

Purpose

alues & |Operiting Cade of
Behaviours

Model | Conduct

Making Capita people-first,
stronger and more effective

Focus on digitally-enabled services and software

Strategy: simplify, strengthen and succeed

Becoming more predictable,
more profitable and
sustainably cash-generative

05
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Chairman’s introduction

It's been a
significant year

{MAGE REMOVED

“Positive steps have been taken towards the creation
of a truly diverse, responsible, sustainable and
digitally-enabled organisation.”

Sir lan Powell, Chairman

Every day, Capita affects the
lives of millions of people, either
directly orindirectly. Itis a
systemically important business,
with an integral role as a services
provider across many areas of the
economy and society.

Capita is in transition as, under new
leadership, our people restructure and
rebuild the business. A major turnaround,
affecting every aspect of the business, is
being undertaken. A corporate purpose
has been defined for Capita far the first
time. We are working towards our stated
objectives of a return to organic growth
and sustainable free cash flow.

As we've previously explained, thereis a
long way to go to complete the Capita
transformation The Board is very conscious
that shareholders have been supportive and
patient ~ and that the actions taken and
progress made are, as yet, to be evidenced
in terms of financial performance

During 2018, trading conditions and the
economic and political environment in which
we operate remained uncertain. At the same
time, the company has had to recognise and
confront a number of challenges. However,
much good work has been done and,

despite the challenges, real progress made.
We've drawn a line under the past, simplified
and strengthened, and are regaining forward
momentum. | believe we can now look
forward paositively to what a transformed
and repositioned Capita can truly become.

Progress and performance

It’s been a significant year in the story
of Capita, with positive steps taken
towards the creation of a truly diverse,
responsible, sustainable and digitally-
enabled organisation.

We've made progress in a number of key
areas. There is a clearly articulated strategy
in place, underpinned by our newly defined
purpose that 'we create better outcomes”.
A rights issue, backed by healthy praceeds
from a series of disposals, has helped address
the debt side of the balance sheet and is
already funding new investments. We have
also agreed a pension deficit recovery

plan, and a new operating model has been
rofled cut



In terms of financial performance, Capita
reported adjusted revenue of £3.9bnin
2018, a decline year-on-year, while adjusted
profit before tax was sightly ahead of our
expectations at £282.1m.

The Board fully supparts the multi-year
transformation plan and is monitoring
its progress closely. We have again
recornmended that dividend payments
will rernain suspended until sufficient
sustainable free cash flow is generated.

Governance and diversity

Governance at Capita has been further
overhauled in the past year; and not just at
Board level, as the changes have gone much
wider. The whole organisation is undergoing
a fundamental transformation and, as part of
that, how it is governed - frem the divisions
and functions to individual businesses and
contracts - has been reviewed and redrawn.
Everyone in Capita now has a personal
responsibility to help it transform as

a purpose-led business

At an executive level, several more senior
managers have arrived in post to provide the
company with a first-class new leadership
team capable of delivering profound,
professional, disciplined change. It's work
in progress, but the company-wide controls
being put in place will lead to a more stable
and efficient Capita; they will enable the
business to provide services to the benefit
of clients and deliver financial results in a
much more effective and predictable way.

The directors and | will continue to review
the constitution of the Board; we will ensure
it matches the overall purpose of Capita

and its new strategic direction. We want a
Board with a global perspective and diversity,
and we want this reflected throughout the
company; that’s why the appointment of
two employee directors is so significant.

We are determined that the perspective

of employees is represented at Board

tevel. I'm canfident it will mark us out as a
forward-looking organisation and help us
attract, recruit and retain employees.

As I've insisted since | joined, diversity
matters at Capita, and we have made
progress, but not enough. In particular,

the gender pay gap across the organisation
remains disappointing but we are loaking
at the most effective ways of addressing
the problem,

Corporate governance Financial statements 07

The need for increased diversity is becoming
recognised much more as essential across
Capita and will continue to be a major focus
for me and the leadership team. We are a
digitally-enabled company, and require a
waorkforce that reftects thase technologies.
But innovation increases with diversity of
thought, so we need people with different
backgrounds, experiences and voices, all
given the opportunity to succeed, if the
company is to have a sustainable future.

We realise that social mobility and social
responsibility are crucial to our business.

At Capita, we are well placed to deliver
programmaes that support the communities
we serve. We are involved in numerous
schemes, with the specific aims of
improving digital education and supporting
social mobility, particularly through our
graduate and apprenticeship schemes, and
community volunteering programmes. It is
increasingly clear that encouraging social
mobility is not only the right thing to do
but will hetp our business succeed. Being a
responsible business also means being open
and transparent in the way we manage our
operations and deliver our services. We need
to be more aware of the effect we have on
the communities that we serve and our role
in society.

Culture and values

To really transform Capita, we have to
achieve cultural and behavioural change

- both internally and in all of our external
interactions. All our people need to know
how to make the right choices for the right
reasons, take decisions in the right way and
be guided by our new corparate approach,
which is no longer based on short-term
decisions in pursuit of near-term growth
and in-year profitability.

That is why a clear set of values and
behaviours has been put in place,
underpinned by our purpose and supported
and embedded through the new operating
model. The purpose goes much further than
being simply an over-arching corporate
theme. Everything the company does in

the years to come must relate back to this
purpose in a real and practical way.

Qur purpose must act as our guiding star;
it's what we're working towards, but it

also has to be shown in everything we do.

It should challenge every person and every
decision, including how and where we invest
our money, to achieve better outcomes for
each other, our shareholders and clients, and
the communities we serve Delivering on
this purpose will enhance the long-term
sustainability of the business.

Looking forward

Capita is on the way to becoming a fully
transformed business; and | would like
to offer my sincere thanks to Jon Lewis,
his leadership team and ali of our people
for warking so hard, with such energy
and commitment, through a time of
significant change.

We must make sure we deliver consistently
on our contracts and commitments,

and follow through with our corporate
purpose. There needs to be a relentless
focus on earning the respect and trust

of all our stakeholders, including our
fellow shareholders, to wham we

remain grateful and who have been

very supportive throughout the many
changes and challenges of the past year.
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Chief Executive Officer's review

Our transformation
is on track

IMAGE REMOVED

"Our operating model is our single biggest lever of change.
It’s the blueprint for how we run the company and makes
the reforming Capita real for all stakeholders.”

Jon Lewis, Chief Executive Officer

it's now been more than a
year since | joined Capita and
the company has achieved

a considerable amount.

We have launched a multi-year
transformation process and are rebuilding
the organisation. Qur mission is to become
'One Capita’, an integrated and refocused
business, successful and sustzainable, with
stronger client relationships. We want to
make a positive, responsible cantribution
to society and be a force for good. From the
financial perspective, the business will be
more predictable, more profitable and
sustainably cash-generative.

This has meant going back to fix the
fundamentals and devising a new strategy,
underpinned by a company-wide purpose
and clear new operating model. We are
continuing to execute our strategy — to
simplify, strengthen and succeed — and have
made real progress on remedying many of
the basics. Over the past year, our thousands
of people, in the UK and abroad, have proved
very resilient. Important work has been

done every day, aimed at delivering better
outcames for all stakehaolders — cur people,
shareholders, ctients, supptiers and the
communities we serve.

Fixing the basics

As outlined in last year's Annual Report,
Capita had become overly complex

and inefficient, focused on short-term
performance, characterised by a lack of
long-term planning and investment, and
challenged by execution issues on several
major contracts.

We made a strong start in 2018 to turning
the company around and are on track

with the execution of our transformation
plan. We started to rebuild, redefining the
divisions and creating robust, accountable
and centralised functions which define how
we do things company-wide.

Further top-level talent has been recruited
to senior leadership positions, and a clear
sense established of what Capita is and
should be, and of how it can succeed.

We have intreduced a purpose-driven and
values-based culture, alongside our operating
model. it provides managerial discipline
and a corporate blueprint, and is designed
to deliver the highest standards of service,
delight clients and deliver value for all

our stakeholders.




We raised, with shareholder support, £701m
gross proceeds in a rights issue, and £408m
from disposals; we have de-leveraged our
balance sheet. We delivered on our cost-
competitiveness initiatives. We agreed a
pension deficit reduction plan. We have
updated our payment terms for suppliers

in the UK and Irel2nd to build better
relationships with our partners.

Our corporate risk profile has stayed largely
the same as in 2017. However, we are
continually improving the way we manage
our risks; effective risk management will be
key to the successful delivery of Capita's
strategic objectives.

It’s 2 mark of good management teams
that they deliver what they said they
would deliver, and I'm pleased with our
achievements over the past year. We are
fundamentally in a much better place.

At the end of year one of our three-year
turnaround, we are where we expected to
be and have a clear plan laid out for 2015.

Purpose and operating model

We recently unveiled Capita's purpose -

‘we create better outcomes’ - allied to a
refreshed set of values and behaviours.

For the first time, the company's true
purpose has been defined. It is the single
reason we exist; it directs and motivates

all of us; and shapes all cur decisions and
actions. Capita never had this before — that is
why we had to change, swing the pendulum,
and provide direction and clarity.

Cultural and behavioural changes will
inevitably take time to become fully
integrated into the organisation. But our new
purpose and re-emphasised values will be the
driving forces behind Capita's transformation
into a collaborative business, founded on
robust governance. As a responsible business,
we've refocused our approach to addressing
the most material challenges that we and
society face.

1 Redertp alternauve performance measures on pages 197198
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How Capita carries out its purpose and
delivers better outcomes is now defined
by our new operating madel, It constitutes
the blueprint for how together we run

the company - underpinned by a clear
strategy, an organised structure, stronger
governance and controls, and well-
defined accountabilities,

| believe our operating model represents
the single biggest lever of change the new
leadership team has introduced at Capita.
It’s truly self-reinforcing, joins everything
together corporately, and makes the
reforming Capita real for all stakeholders.

Despite being a major step forward, the
operating model will also take some time

ta becomne truly embedded. | don't expect
everything to happen easily. But what | do
expect is for every leader and everyone in the
company to start making the changes that
will reform Capita as a truly purpose-led,
values-driven business This is the journey we
are on together and I'm committed to seeing
us get there.

Financial performance

Far the full year ending 31 December 2018,
Capita reported adjusted revenue® of £3.9bn.
Revenue declined year-on-year, due to the
limited benefit from cantract wins being
outweighed by contract losses and scope
and volume changes in Government Services,
Customer Management and Specialist
Services, including the re-shaping of our
Defence Infrastructure Organisation (D10)
contract and Home Office escorting, on
which we chose not to re-bid. There was also
a dedline in transactional revenue in People
Solutions and IT & Networks.

Adjusted profit before tax! of £282.1m
was slightly ahead of our expectations.
As expectad, we had a free cash
outflow in 2018, before rights issue
and disposal proceeds.

Net debt was £466.1m, down from £1,117.0m
in 2017, reflecting the completicn of the
rights issue, the receipt of the proceeds

from dispasals and the free cash outflow.
The adjusted net debt to adjusted EBITDA
ratio' at 31 December 2018 was 1.2 times.
Maore details about our financial performance
can be found in the Chief Financial Officer's
review on pages 15-20.

Cost competitiveness

Capita has identified a significant, multi-year
opportunity to reduce costs and improve
operaticnal efficiency, including:

+ Reductions in general and administration,
IT and property expenses.

+ Centralising more of our procurement
and driving value from our ~£1bn external
spend with suppliers.

Operational excellence, increasing
the use of offshoring and automation,
and improving the consistency of

our operations.

Adopting lean methodaologies and being
smarter in terms of how we work.

We made a strong start on executing these
cost competitiveness initiatives in 2018,
delivering in-year savings of £70m. We plan
to accelerate the realisation of savings

from our programmes, and now expect to
realise £175m of cumulative savings from
these initiatives by the end of 2019. We will
invest some of these savings in building

our capability to drive growth. The cost of
achieving these savings was £55min 2018
and is expected to be £95m in 2019, making
a total of £150m which is included as part of
the total restructuring costs.
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Chief Executive Officer's review continued

Targeted investments

Since April, we have formed an investment
review committee, chaired by me, for capital
allocation. It is part of the disciplined system
putin place to ensure more predictable
outcomes. The committee supports our goal
of investing a total of up to £500m over
three years, addressing historical under-
investment and, increasingly over time,
facilitating organic growth.

We have subsequently approved a number
of investments including:

IT systems and infrastructure

* An organisation-wide custorner
relationship management (CRM]) system,
giving a holistic view and understanding
of our customers, providing robust and
granular data to better predict future sales
and monatise customer relationships.

A new human resources system, to
imprave engagement and development
opportunities for all our people.

Services and products

+ Software - completing the development
of the naxt version of SIM5 (School
Infarmation Management System) for
secondary schools; an education software
parental engagement app; the creation
of a cloud-based public safety platform
for emergency services praducts to
facilitate new sales opportunities; an
initial investment in a payment facilitation
solution for Pay360 and the re-platforming
of our Retain resource management
software to a new SaaS-based {software
as a service) solution

People Solutions — next generation of
the candidate portal; automation of our
pre-employment screening systent; and
the development of a digital on-boarding
product to complemnent our suite of 'hire
to retire’ services

Customer Management ~ a new digital,
omni-channel contact platform to support
webchat, automation and messaging.

Government Services - developing
business processing as a service
capabilities to provide scalable, replicable
services to a wider customer-base.
Targeted investments in robotic process
automation (RPA) and machine-learning
technologies to support the execution

of contracts.

IT & Networks - modernising and
strengthening our IT infrastructure;
developing new products for cloud services,
cybersecurity and workspace agility;
autornating and improving IT service desk
customer experience,

The above are in addition to our ongaing
investment in the upgrading of our financial
system - {0 improve our reporting, processes
and controls.

Challenging contracts

t have talked previously of three 'problem’
contracts which continued to present Capita
with some challenges in 2018. But we

have made encouraging progress with

fixing the performance of these contracts
and are delivering against more of the key
performance indicators. it is part of how

we have introduced a more disciplined,
company-wide contractual process.

First, we've completely rebuilt Capita's
relationship and partnership with the

British Army, and re-set our Recruiting
Partnering Project (RPP) contract. We remain
committed to making a success of RPP and,
thanks to great work being done by our
partnership, the contract is starting to show
signs of improvement. The number of regular
soldier recruitment applications are at a five-
year high and we're working hard to reduce
the amount of time it takes to join the Army
We have been open about mistakes made

in the past and we know there is still a lot

for us to da to deliver on cur commitments
But RPP is a critical pubtic service to the
Armed Forces and we're determined to get
itright.

Second, we took firm action towards the end
of 2018 over issues relating to our Primary
Care Support England (PCSE) contract with
NHS England. This followed the discovery
of delays in the issuing of cervical screening
correspendence, which forms part of the
PCSE contract, to thousands of women,

We apologised to all the women affected by
this administrative error and, following an
investigation of the managerial handling of
the matter, appropriate internal disciplinary
action was taken. We have improved quality
processes, and other operational service
delivery levels on the contract continue to
be stable

Finally, the transformation of our seven-
year custorner services contract with
mobilcom-debitel - one of Germany's largest
mobile, internet services and telecoms
products providers — is now progressing well.
All revised transformation milestones have
been met, including the launch of 105 and
Android mobile custamer-service apps

Executing and delivering on our commitments to simplify, strengthen and succeed

2018 - fix, stabilise and set direction

2019 — build momentum

2020~ deliver our targets

- Rights issue completed
+ Strategy in place

= Leadership and
governance strengthened

« Disposals executed ahead of ptan
» Pension deficit addressed
+ Delivered £70m cost-out

- Operating model launched and
purpose, values and behaviours defined

» Increase investment

+ Build organic growth engine and start
shift to consultative selling

« Acceleration of cost competitiveness
« Accelerate offshoring and automation
+ Technology and procurement

« Launch our purpose and embed
operating model

+ More consistent and predictable
+ Double digit EBIT margins
+ +£175m of cost savings

« At least £200m sustainable free
cash flow




The aggregate financial loss from these
challenging contracts reduced from over
£50m in 2017 to araund £30m in 2018.
We plan to generate an aggregate profit on
the contracts in 2020, including reaching
break even on the PCSE and mobilcom-
debitel contracts by the end of 2020.

Sales and growth

Qur transformation programme will
continue through 2019 and, in fact, be
intensified. All six Capita divisions now
have clearly defined value propositicns, a
simpler set of offerings and, in some cases,
a fresh methadology by which to create
growth opportunities. While there are early
signs that we can make real progressin
2019, there is still much more to do; and
we must demonstrate that we can again
grow organically.

Transformation of our growth function
under a new Chief Growth Qfficer will be a
crucial factor in how we wiil pivot to growth.
We need to become more agile in our
thinking, approach and skill-sets.

I have personal experience of running
consulting businesses in software tech

and the oil and gas industry. At Capita, we
atready have consulting services — providing
insight and expertise in our chosen markets
~ but they have been run in silos and not
leveraged across the business. | am convinced
that a stronger consulting capability at
Capita is going to remove our revenue
dependency an tenders and help create
new growth opportunities with existing
and new clients. A stronger consulting
capacity will also provide opportunities

for consultative selling.

A shift to consultative selling, based on
industry knowledge, will transform Capita

in the sales and marketing area — and leave
no-one in any doubt that what we now have
instead is a modern-day growth function.

The performance assessment of our existing
sales resources and the establishment of

a focused customer account management
structure, with well-honed consultative
selling skills, is helping change how we
engage with clients. We are aiming to
understand our clients better and build
stronger, long-term partnerships, providing
the best of Capita to create better outcomes
and realise growth opportunities.

Corporate governance Financial statements n

This has already seen progress, including

in our partnership with Transport for
London (TfL). Core to this is the London
congestion charge 20ne, low emissions

zone and enforcement contract which
involves service provision from five Capita
divisions — Government Services (to run the
contract), IT & Networks {the underlying

IT infrastructure and network provision),
Customer Management {customer accounts
and enquiries), Software (payment
platforms) and Specialist Services ({document
services). This contract led in turn to the
opportunity to provide ultra-low emissions
zone charging. More widely, we provide core
network, asset, workplace and enforcement
services to TfL, as well as infrastructure
consultancy. It shows how we can work
successfully across divisions and functions,
and is a good example of getting account
management right.

In 2018, we formed a new pre-bid contract
review cammittee, which is operating well.
The committee reviews all contracts above
certain financial thresholds, evaluating the
risks and commitments to ensure complete
alignment with cur operational and financial
goals. We strike an appropriate balance
between delighting the customer, growing
operating profit and the risk profile.

Order intake in the year was £1.8bn, largely
comprising contract wins and renewals

in Custorner Management, which won a
£300m extension and expansion of aur
existing contract with Germany’s largest
integrated telecornmunications provider,
and in Software.

We also announced a number of new
contracts, some of which were delayed from
earlier in the year, which are discussed in
more detail in the divisional performance
section on pages 21-33.

Capita’s order book at 31 Decernber 2018
stood at £71bn, compared with £8.2bn at

31 December 2017, reflecting that order
intake was lower than revenue recognised in
the year and low levels of bid activity in 2077,
The decline in our order book in 2018 was
driven by two parts of the business:

+ Life Insurance, which is running off and was
impacted by the loss of Prudential.

+ Local government, where the market
has structurally changed and clients are
shifting from long-term multi-activity
contracts to buying processes as a service

The order book for the rest of the business
- largely digitally-enabled services and
software - was stable. This part of Capita
operates in growth markets and includes
higher value-added services that we are
investing in and want to grow. | expect

to see these trends continue this year,

as Life Insurance and local government
continue to decline and our investment

in core propositions begins to bear fruit.
Capita continues to plan for a return to year-
on-year arganic growth in 2020, driven by
digitally-enabled services and software,

Digital capabilities

Getting back onto a growth trajectory, and
optimising our portfolio, are part of our
multi-year transformation process, which
we have clearly set out for all stakeholders.
The facus of the leadership team at

Capita remains firmly on delivering that
transformation and prosecuting our strategy
of simplify, strengthen and succeed. But we
will also need to look ahead carefully to
the Capita of the future, based increasingly
around our digital capabilities.

The lior's share of the contracts we have
today involve a deep understanding of the
business processes of a client and the use of
technology to provide insight, reduce risk,
drive productivity and produce a superior
experience for clients’ customers. Digitally-
enabled transformation is a common thread
running through all this,
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It’s why we are investing more in digitat
technology and entering into strategic IT
partnerships. For example, we agreed a five-
year strategic partnership with Microsoft

for the use of Azure, its cloud computing
service, to support the roll-out of our cloud
services, particularly in our Software and
Customer Management businesses. This will
help facilitate the roll-out of the next version
of our education software SIMS8 and make it
easier to internationalise the business.

We have significantly increased the
capacity of our Indian digital development
centre in Pune, near Mumbai, which now
employs more than 1,100 people developing
standardised software, alongside more than
500 colleagues there in IT & Networks.

We also agreed a digital partnership with
McKinsey to accelerate our analytics and
digital transformation capabilities.

There are big epportunities in a fast-changing
world — with digitally-based services being
purchased in a much mare flexible way

- which Capita is well equipped to take
advantage of. But we need to make sure that
our tech solutions are designed and marketed
to provide ctients and their customers with
superior experiences and better outcomes.
We have to identify the nature of clients’
work, and define the potential for them and
us from new digitat technology, data and
analytics-focused solutions, based on deep
industry knowledge.

Investment in our people

Capita is a people-focused business and the
leadership team is committed to putting our
people at the very centre of how we operate,
and on respecting and valuing alt of them.
We are determined to instil a much stronger
commitment to how we attract, develop,
reward and retain our talented employees;
and for them to start to really experience
the positive changes taking place within the
business. We want our people to feel part of
the company’s success, and to be excited and
motivated to work hard to help achieve it.

This is why we appointed a Chief People
Officer for the first time to run the new
people function. We are investing in
training and development, and succession
and talent management, and have - for

the first time at Capita - introduced a
performance management and assessment
system. Such moves are reflective of being
a responsible business and constitute a vital
part of how we will succeed.

| am disappointed that our gender pay

gap increased in 2018; this is simply not
good enough, but we are taking steps to
understand and eventually eliminate the
gap. We're investing in activity to improving
gender and pay equality through our people
and responsible business strategies. At the
same tire, | am very proud that our ranking
in the Hampton-Alexander Review of the
FYSE 250 has improved, up from 219 in 2017
to 1N0; it represents progress, though there is
clearly still a lot of work to do.

As the Chairman has highlighted, we are also
very serious in the leadership team about
widening diversity We want a workforce that
is inclusive and refiects the diversity of aur
communities — as shown by the imminent
appointment of two employee directors to
the Board, the first such move by a FTSE 250
company since the late 1980s. 8ut, as | have
stated previously, this is not a case of gesture
politics: employees on the Board does not
feel radical to me; it's just the right thing for
our company to do.

At a leadership level, we have further
strengthened the executive committee to
support the delivery of our new strategy

As well as a new Chief Growth Officer,

we now also have a Chief Digital Officer;
these new growth and digital roles are
enormeously important in underpinning our
strategy. Our Chief Financial Officer joined
us in January ta form part of our world-class
new leadership team, which also includes a
Chief General Counsel and leads for the new
transformation, corporate development and
corporate affairs functions. We now have a
mature and disciplined team running Capita
in a responsible, sustainable way - with
stronger controls and risk-rmanagement,

and improved quality and assurance.

Global perspective

Capita is clearly not a multinational company
in the conventional sense, but we do have

an international dimension that | think has
been underestimated in the past. While we
are the UK's [argest business processes
outsourcing provider, we also have a growing
international operation and sales focus.

Almost 20,000 of our people are based
outside the UX and we have employees as far
afield as the United States, lreland, Germany,
Poland, Switzerland, India and South Africa.
We have myriad capabilities within our global
network, with mare than 8,000 employees
in India and 3,000 peaple in Cape Town.

Indeed, our workforce in South Africa

- where we've been winning new work —

is set to expand over the next two years.
We currently deliver services including
customer service, sales, debt coliection
and technical support frorm two centresin
Cape Town. South Africa represents a new
and exciting services destination, offering
a unique combination of talented people
and commercial advantages. It alsg has a
mature domestic market and an attractive
investment climate — with strong public
sector support and excellent telecoms
infrastructure, South Africa is a people-
centric culture; and our presence there is
reflective of how we are helping facilitate
social mobility




Overall, our aim is to evolve into a
digitally-enabled services, software and
consulting business with an increasingly
international footprint, which delivers for

all its stakeholders and values all its people,
whatever their roles and wherever they woark.

Responsible business

The transformation of a purpose-driven
Capita must be placed in the context of our
becorning a truly responsible business.

I've talked about our new strategy, the
sense of a refreshed culture and values, and
our initiative to put two employees on the
Board. The phased £176m pension deficit
reduction plan, agreed with the trustees,
was in line with a commitment we made in
January 2018 and is an important milestone
in Capita's transformatian, It's a reflection
of the importance we place on good
corporate responsibility.

We have been working with the Cabinet
Office to develop reforms on how the
Government partners with the private
sector to provide public services, We have
welcomed the opportunity to work openly
towards the development of a practical
framework and approach to procurement
and delivery that brings real value to

all concerned.

We need to make sure we continue to focus
on minimising operational issues and must
ensure we are effective in engaging with our
new ways of working and operating systems.

However, there is a fresh sense of a reforming
Capita with & leadership team that is
properly accountable to all its stakeholders,
facused on fulfilling contractual obligations,
meeting expectations, cultivating better
relationships with clients and delighting

our customers.

We've also refocused aur approach to how
we are responding to the most material
challenges that our business and society face
- youth unemployment, digital exclusion,
gender equality, climate change, business
governance and ethics.

Corporate governance Financial statements 13

We are calling our approach responsible
business, as it defines how — true to our
purpase ~ we operate, serve society, respect
our people and the environment, and deliver
a fair return to our investors. We have,

for example, recently launched two new
charity partnerships with Teach First and
Young Enterprise where we aim to empower
100,000 young people to progress into the
world of work. Our social credentials are
outlined in more detail in the responsible
business section on pages 39-43.

But we must improve in these and many
other areas, if Capita is to become a
genuinely accountable leader within UK
plc and help set the agenda for responsible
business. The country is grappling with low
productivity, slowing economic growth,

an ageing population and limited social
mobility. Business will have to step up

and be part of the solution, be it through
technology, including that designed to
enhance productivity, innovation, training
apprentices and graduates, or by simply
providing good jobs.

However, a legacy of the financial crisis is
that big companies are still treated with
suspicion at best, outright hostility at worst.
Business won't get a seat at the table to
shape these solutions unless it is trusted and
takes its broader role in society seriously,
approaching challenges with honesty. t want
to show how and why Capita — and big
business in the UK - can actually be a force
for good in society, and start to change
public perceptions.

The way ahead

Overall, I'm pleased with how far we have
come at Capita on our transformation
journey. After the first of three years, we are
on track.

Looking forward, Capita has a clear plan

for 2019, including embedding our first

ever operating model which defines the

way we work as 'One Capita’, accelerating
our cost-competitiveness programme and
investing more in the business to support
sustainable growth. These are important
stepping stones as we work towards a return
in 2020 to organic grewth and sustainable
cash generation.

Capita still faces a number of challenges;

the political and economic environment and
trading and market conditions clearly remain
uncertain. Yet my confidence in Capita
remains undimmed. We want to becorme a
more profitable, sustainable and responsible
business, creating long-term value for
shareholders - and externat challenges will
only serve to intensify our attention on the
task ahead.

As a more simplified and strengthened
company, Capita will be well prepared to
take advantage of the opportunities that

lie before us in a fast-maving world. | am
confident we will maintain our reforming
momentum over the coming year —and am
excited about the prospects for a successful,
technology-driven, digitally-enabled Capita.



Key performance indicators

Measuring our progress

14 Capita plc Annval Report 2018

Financial key performance indicators (KXPls)

Adjusted profit befgre tax'
) Aim: Achieve long-term .+ -

Adjusted operating margin'
Aim: Maintain adjusted

growth in profit operating margin
m %
£282.1 8.7%
2017: £383.1m 2017:10.9%
Adjusted earnings Adjusted free cash flow?
per share (EPS)' Aim: Achieve sustainable,
Aimy: Achieve long-term growth in EPS long-term free cash flow growth

16.37p

2017: 27.99p

£(82.5)m

2077: £75.4m

W -

Return on capital
employed (ROCE)'
Aim: Deliver ROCE in excess
of our cost of capital

17.9%

2017:18.4%

Refer 1o al perfarmance

on pages 157138
Refler wonate 29 of the consolidated financlal statements.

Gearing: adjusted net debt

to adjusted EBITDA'

Aim: Keep ratio of adjusted net debt
to adjusted EBITDA in the range of 1.0
and 2.0 times over the long term?

1.2X

2017:2.2x

As announced on 31 January 2018, the Board's preliminary view is that the appropriste leverage for Capita over
the medium term thould be between 10 and 2 0 umes adjusted net debt to adjusted ESITDA, bafore the adoption

of IFRS16.

Non-financial KPls

SME supplier payment terms'
Aimn: SME suppliers to be
paid within 30 days

7%

2007: N/A

Employee retention %

Aim; Improve employee
retention rate

2%

2017:79%

Carbon footprint reduction
Aim: Reduce our carbon footprint annually

4%

2017: 1%

Community investment?

Aim: Invest and engage with our local communities
to deliver programmes for local needs

£1.5m

2077: £1.9m

1 Suppliers where our annual spend is E1m or greater. SMEs include
all husinesses wath 250 employees or Lets. Data includes all invoices
paid through Capita companies, axcluding Capits Resourcing, Capita
Travel and Events and Computer Land

2 Using the Lundon Benchmarking Group methodolagy.

Note: following the aunch of our new strategy and transformation
plan, the current financial #5d non-financlal key pesformance
indicators used to measure performance will be reviewed

and amended.
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We are simplifying
and strengthening

t joined the Board in January
this year, and have spent time
meeting our people, clients,
suppliers, shareholders and other
stakeholders to gain a better
understanding of the business.
What has struck me most is the
importance to our clients and
customers of the services we
provide and the commitment
of our people to creating

better outcomes.

In 2018 we developed and started to deliver
on the strategy — simplify, strengthen and
succeed - as part of which we launched a
multi-year transformation plan, started

to simplify Capita and progressed wark

to make our cost base more competitive.
We strengthened the balance sheet by
raising new equity and disposing of some
non-core businesses. We delivered adjusted
prafit! in line with the January 2018 trading
update and remain on track with work

to deliver our 2020 financial targets.

We revised our non-statutory reporting
measures ta improve transparency and
make it easier for the readers of our Annual
Report to understand the Group's financial
performance. Capita is a large and complex
set of businesses, has recently implemented
IFRS 15, with IFRS 16 to came, and is at -
the end of the first year of a three-year
business transformation. As a result of these
factars, work will be done during 2019 to
identify additional improvements to the
clarity and transparency of the presentation
of our financial performance, position

and prospects.

As part of our plan to strengthen the balance
sheet, we launched a rights issue on 23 April,
which received shareholder approval on

9 May and successfully completed later that
month. The rights issue raised £701m gross
proceeds and £663rm after expenses, with a
take-up rate of 97.3%.

£408m was raised from non-core disposals
in 2018, ahead of the target of £300m.

This included £157m from the disposal of
Supplier Assessment Services, including
Constructionline, £232m from the disposal
of ParkingEye, and an aggregate £19m from
the disposal of a number of small businesses.

1 Refer to alternative performance measures on pages 197-198.

IMAGE REMOVED

“What has struck me most is the importance to our
clients and customers of the services we provide and the
commitment of our people to creating better outcomes.”

Patrick Butcher, Chief Financial Officer

We also strengthened Executive Committes
oversight of financial reporting, including
enhanced monthly perfarmance reviews,
with clearer financial and operational KPis
at business, division and business unit
level, and new governance committees.
These include: the Contract Review
Committee, set up to review proposed
new and amended customer contracts
prior to making formal bids; and the
Investment Review Committee to approve
investment cases and budgetary release
for division, function and transformation
investment proposals.
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Summary of financial performance

Financial highlights

Adjusted’ results ~ continuing operatians

Reported results - cantinuing operations.

| mn ew oml vml vm amy

£m Em | tm| £m %

i 3,867.6| 4,091.8 s) | 3,919.4 4,23456 {7

Operating profit/{loss) { 335.3] 4475 (25) | 34.9 (420 +{108)

Profit/({loss) before tax i 2821| 3833 (26) | 2726 | (513.) +(153)

Earnings/{loss) per share ] 16.37p| 27.99p 42 | 17.99p | {48.82)p +{137)

Total dividend per share } -pi Mip (100} —pl Mg (100}

Free cash flow? { {82.5) 754 {209) (250.5) 66.6 {491)
1 Refer to the alternative performance measures an pages 197-198. Further details of our performance are c d 1n our d incorne ard m notes 3, 4 and 6 to the consolidated

financial statements

2 The Grouphas repraserited and restated its 2017 cash flow statement, Aefer to nate 24 of the consalidated financial statemants far decails,

Adjusted profit' was in line with the January
2018 trading update. Revenue declined
year-on-year, due to the limited benefit frem
contract wins being outweighed by contract
losses and scope and volume changes in

a number of divisions. The decline in profit
was largely due to revenue decreases from
contract losses and volume and scope
changes, and the non-repeat of a supplier
settlement and the impact of the reshaping
of the Defence Infrastructure Organisation
(D10} contract in 2017. This was partially
off-set by savings achieved from the cost-
out pragramme, along with the full-year
benefit of restructuring begun in prior
periods, and certain one-off items in 2018,
including contract-related profits that arose
on the earlier than planned terminations

of contracts.

Reported profit was affected by a number
of items, including the costs of the
transformation plan and the amortisation
and impairment of acquired intangibles and
goodwill. An explanation of the major items
contributing to 2018 financial performance
is provided later in my report.

As expected, we had a reported free cash
outflow in 2018, before rights issue and
disposal proceeds. This reflects the cash
outflow from the final elimination of
period-end cash management activity,

the continued reduction in deferred
income and spend in relation to known
commitments, including the Connaught
settlement, the separation of Capita Asset
Services (including a pension contribution],
and restructuring costs and professional
fees in support of the transformation plan.
We also fully phased out the non-recourse
trade receivables financing which was
expected in 2019 and made agreed deficit
reduction payrments into our main defined
benefit pension scheme.

1 Referto alternative performance measures on pages 197-198

Net debt at 31 December 2018 was
£466.1m (2017 £1,117.0rn), reflecting the
completion of the rights issue, the receipt

of the proceeds from dispasals and the free
cash outflow highlighted above, The Board's
view is that the appropriate leverage ratio
for Capita over the medium term should be
between 1.0 and 2.0 times adjusted net debt
to adjusted EBITDA’ (priar to the adoption of
IFRS 16). At 31 December 2018, our adjusted
net debt to adjusted EBITDA’ covenant ratia
was 1.2 times {2017: 2.2 times).

Changes to non-statutory
reporting

We have simplified our non-statutory
reporting measures to improve
understanding of the Group's financial
performance. Historically, the Group
separated underlying, non-underlying results
{comprising business exits and specific
iterns) and reported these on the face of the
income statement. In the notes, underlying”
results before significant new contracts and
restructuring were disclosed.

There are a nurnber of items that influence
the profit reported in any one year.

These can lead to significant differences
between reparted profit and the generation
of free cash flow, including:

+ IFRS 15 and the timing of reported
profits compared to the receipt of cash,
Under IFRS 15, revenue is more evenly
distributed aver the life of contracts, with
the timing of profits re-profiled. There are
typically lower profits in the early years on
contracts, with significant restructuring
costs or higher operating costs prior to
transformation, with a compensating
Increase in profits in later years, Typically,
cash receipts are aligned ta when the costs
are incurred. This results in income being
deferred and released as we continue to

deliver against our obligation to provide
services and solutions to our clients,
Further reporting improvements are being
considered to make the impact of this
more transparent,

Contract terminations which can tead
to major gains or losses in the year of
termination, and where cash inflows/
outflows have occurred in prior years

Additional pension contributions to address
pension deficits are not reflected in our
adjusted’ or reported profit, in accordance
with 1AS 18, but will reflect a significant
future cash commitment, totalting £176m
to 2021, as described below.

To provide better understanding of our
financials, we will continue to provide
guidance on our sustainable free cash
flow targets, with disclosures where the
Company has committed to future cash
outflows, as was done in relation to the
cash contributions to the Group's defined
benefit schemes.

The revised presentation provides reported
results on the face of the income statement,
with a footnote detailing adjusted results,
and a note to the accounts providing a
reconciliation between reported and adjusted
results {note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements). Those items which relate to
the ordinary course of the Group’s operating
activities remain within the adjusted results.
In the Directors’ judgement, a number of
items need to be disclosed separately by
virtue of their nature, size and/or incidence,
in order for users of the financial statements
to obtain a proper understanding of the
financial information and the underlying
performance of the business. Accordingly,
aur presentation of the performance of

the divisions does not comment on these
adjustments, as they do not impact our
consideration of in-year performance.

We have treated items consistently with the
approach adopted at the time of the rights
issue in 2018. We will be giving consideration
to further improvements in 2019



New organisational structure

In April, a new organisational structure was
put in place at Capita, with six divisions:
Scftware, People Solutions, Custommer
Management, Government Services,

IT & Networks and Specialist Services.

The businesses within Specialist Services are
mostly stand-alone and are being managed
on a portfolio basis to maximise value.
These divisions are supported by a common
set of Group capabilities and functions,
which have been strengthened. The Group’s
segmental reporting has been modified to
align with management’s view of divisional
performance, and the 2017 disclosures
represented ta provide comparability.

2018 financial performance

The major items contributing to 2018
performance are detailed in the following
surnmary of financial performance.

Revenue

Adjusted revenue', excluding results from -
businesses exited in both years, was
£3,867.6m (2017: £4,091.8m), an organic

~ dedline of 5%.

This was due to the limited benefit from
contract wins being outweighed by
contract losses and scope and volume
changes in Government Services, Customer
Management and Specialist Services,
including the re-shaping of our DIO contract
with the Ministry of Defence, and Home
Office escorting, on which we chose not

to re-bid. There was also a decline in
transactional revenue in People Solutions
and IT & Networks.

Adjusted revenue' year-an-yesr

207 4,092
Contract wins 25
Contract losses (172)
Scope and volume changes (3]
Transactional business (62)
One-offs 48
Qther {2)
2018 3,868

Reported revenue decreased by 7%
to £3,918.4m (2017: £4,234.6m).

1 Referto aiternative performance measures on pages 197-198
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Operating profit

Adjusted operating profit’ decreased

by 25.1% to £335.3m (2017: £447.5m),
as a consequence of the revenue decline
year-on-year, due to the limited benefit
from contract wins being cutweighed by
contract losses and scope and volurme
changes in Gavernment Services, Customer
Management and Specialist Services,
adecline in People Solutions margin,

the re-shaping of the DIO contract in
Government Services and & one-off
supplier settlement in the prior year

in IT & Networks. These were partially
off-set by cost savings achieved from the
transformation plan announced earlier
in 2018 along with the full-year benefits
of restructuring begun in prior years, and
one-off contract-related prafits of £6m an
Prudential and £9m on Marsh that arose
on the earlier than planned terminations
of contracts in Specialist Services.

These contract profits arose as a result of
the Group's revenue recognition policy
under IFRS 15, where revenue is deferred
over the expected life of a contract.
Where a contract is terminated early,

all deferred revenue is pulled forward

and recognised in the year of termination.
Similarly, any associated contract-specific
assets that were being amortised over the
expected life of the contract are written
off in the year of termination, unless there
are alternative uses on other contracts.

Adjusted operating margin' was 8.7%
{2017: 10.9%). We continue to target double
digit adjusted EBIT margins in 2020.

Adjusted operating profit’ is before charging
a number of specific items detailed
further below.

The table below pravides a reconciliation
for 2018 and 2017 between reported and
adjusted profit".

Reported operating profit for the year was
£34.9m (2017: loss £420.1m). Further detail
of the specific items charged in arriving at
reported operating profit for 2018 is provided
in the notes to the financial statements,

The Group’s policy is to disclose significant
restructuring separately so users of the
financial statements can more clearly
understand the financial performance of the
business. As announced in 2018, the Board
has launched a multi-year transformaticn
plan to support the objectives of simplifying
and strengthening Capita. The plan includes
restructuring, property rationalisation,
procurement centralisation, finance
transformation and operational excellence.
Activities are designed to improve the cost
competitiveness of the Group and secure
Capita’s position in the markets it serves.

Operating prafit Frafitbefore tax
Adjusted’ ta reported profithridge ‘ zu&: l zm 2l'l£1': 22::
Adjusted’ 335.3 4475 2821 3831
Amortisation and impairment .
of acquired intangibles {143.5) {(138.3) {143.5) (138 3)
Impairment of goodwill (33.8)l (551.6) (33.3)' {5516)
Impairment of other non-current assets . {63.5) - (63.5)
Impairment of Life & Pensions assets - {61.2) - (61.2)
Impairment of ioans and investments (1.6) (9.0) (1.6} {2.0)
Litigation and claims 18 | (30.0) 1.8| {30.0)
GMP and retirement age equalisation (5.4) - (5.4}.‘ -
Net finance costs - - (18.8) 21
Contingent consideration movements ’
(and acquisition costs in 2017} 5.0 08 5.0 0.8
Business exit - trading 16.8 168 16.8 16.7
Business exit — non-trading expenses (29.7) {137 (29.7) (13.7)
Business exit - (gain)/loss on disposals - - 300.7 l (30.6)
Significant restructuring {110.0) (17.9) (110.0) (17.9)
Reported | 349]  faz0n) )  2r28] (513.9)
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In prior years, the Board disclosed profit
before ‘significant new contracts and
restructuring”. This altered the previous
presentation of significant restructuring,

We have further simplified our reporting and
now exclude significant restructuring costs
from adjusted operating profit’. The Board
recognises that this reflects achange in
presentation but, given the critical nature

of the multi-year transformation plan,
concluded that this new presentation met
the objectives of simplifying the Group's
structure. The Board also considered other
itens that impact the reported results

and the consolidated finandcial statements
presented in note 7 to the consolidated
financial statements that have a material
impact on in-year performance. This policy
will rernain under review by the Audit and Risk
Cornrittee and the costs will be reported
over the life of the plan. The costs incurred

in 2018 totalted £110.0m and full details are
set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial
staternents. An update will be provided at the
next reporting period at 30 june 2019.

The impairment and amortisation of
acquired intangibles, including goodwill,
amounted to £177.3m (2017: £689.9m).

The amortisation of acquired intangibles,
and any impairment charges, are reported
separately, due to the size of the annual
charges and because tha performance of the
acquired businesses is assessed through the
adjusted operating profit' which, for internal
purposes, excludes any amounts associated
with the acquired intangible assets.

During the year, impairment charges were
recorded in relation to businesses of £95.5m
(2017: £565.6m). As noted in 'divisional
performance’ on pages 21-33, the local
government market for large BPO contracts
is declining, with a significant drop-off in the
number and size of oppertunities coming to
market and existing clients chaosing to end
contracts early and take services back in-
house. These events and circumstances led to
the recognition of the goodwill impairment
charge of £33.8m, as set out in nate 15 to
the consolidated financial statements,

The Board has considered the appropriate
guidance and FRC thematic review on
alternative performance measures and
concluded that it is appropriate to exclude
the above items in arriving at adjusted
profit before tax.

1 Referto alternative performance measures an pages 157-198

Finance costs

The adjusted interest charge' in 2018,
excluding the fair value movement on mark-
to-market fixed rate swaps, was £53.2m
(2017 £64.4m), reflecting the benefit from
the repayment of debt following the rights
issue and disposals. Interest cover was

8.2 times for the year (2017: 8 & times).

Profit before tax

Adjusted profit before tax' decreased by 26%
to £282.1m (2017 £383.1m). Reported profit
before tax increased by 153% to £272.6m
{2017: toss £513.1m). Both reported and
adjusted profit' in 2017 were impacted

by significant impairment.

Discontinued operations

The disposal of the Capita Asset Services
businesses in 2017 was treated as 3
discontinued operation as stipulated by
IFRS 5. The profit on the disposal of these
businesses was £445.4m, This profit is
specific to the disposed businesses and is
therefore excluded from both the adjusted’
and reported results of the continuing
operations. Adjustments in 2018 to
provisions related to this disposal are also
disclosed as discontinued.

Taxation

The income tax charge of £27.4m on
adjusted profit! resulted in an adjusted

tax rate of 9.7% (2017: income tax charge
of £65.8m and adjusted tax rate 17.2%).
This is a reduction year-on-year as a result
of deferred tax credits arising from a re-
assessment of the recognition of deferred
tax assets and true-ups of positions to filed
tax returns, together with an unremitted
earnings charge, as detailed further in nate
10 to the consolidated financial statements.
It is expected that the adjusted tax rate will
return to a level closer to the UK tax rate of
19% in 2019.

The income tax credit of £0.9m on reported
profit resulted in a tax rate of (0.3%) .

(2017 income tax credit of £14.0m and

tax rate (2.7}%). The reported tax rate will
generally vary from the adjusted tax rate
year-on-year due to the items excluded

from adjusted profit' in a period, for example
non-taxable profits/losses on disposals

or non-deductible impairment of certain
acquired intangible assets.

Capita has an open and positive working
relationship with HMRC, has a designated
customer compliance manager, and is
cormmitted to prompt disclosure and
transparency in all dealings with HMRC

and overseas tax authorities. The Group does
not have a complex tax structure, nor does

it pursue aggressive tax avoidance activities.
The Group has a low-risk rating from HMRC.
The Group has operations in a number

of countries outside the UK All Capita
operations in non-UK junsdictions are trading
operations and pay the appropriate local taxes
on these activities. Further detail, regarding
the tax strategy, can be found on the Policies
and Principles area of the Capita website
{capita.com/about-us/policies-and-principles).

In total, Capita contributed £164.3m
(2016: £204 8m) in taxes from its UK
operations in the year. This cansisted of a
net refund of £37.5m {2017: £12.7m) of UK
corporation tax; £16.0m {2017: £21.4m)

in irrecoverable VAT payments; £143.1m
{2017: £155.5m) in employer NIC; and
£42.7m (2017: £40.6m) in other levies
including business rates, import duties,
the apprenticeship levy and environmental
taxes. Additionally, the Group collected and
remitted to the UK Government £360.5m
(2017: £409.9m) of VAT and £333.3m
(2017: £367.7m) of Capita employee

PAYE and NIC. Capita entities in overseas
jurisdictions paid £4.6m (2017 £6.4m}

of tax on local profits.

Earnings per share

Adjusted basic earnings per share’ for
continuing operations decreased by 42%
to 16.37p (2017: 27.99p) as a result of
the performance explained above.

The reported basic earnings per share
for continuing operations was 17.99p
{2017: loss 48.82p).

Dividend

The Board is not recommending the payment
of a final dividend (2017: £nit). However, the
Board recognises the importance of regular
dividend payments to investors in forming
part of their total shareholder return and will
consider the payment of dividends when the
Group is generating sufficient sustainable
free cash flow.




Cash flow

Adjusted free cash flow? from continuing
operations was an outflow of £82,5m

(2017: inflow £75.4m). The Group has
represented and restated its 2017 cash

flow statement — refer to note 29 of the
consolidated financial statements for details.

The Group's free cash flow was affected by
the aforementioned dectine in praofit and

a £372.4m working capital cutflow from
continuing operations. The change in working
capital reflected the final elimination of
period-end cash management activity, having
historically optimised the working capital
position at the end of reporting periods, and
a £110m outflow from the phasing-out of
non-recourse trade receivables financing.
Deferred income declined due to limited new
large contract wins, termination of contracts
and a change in mix of licence sales in our
Software division. Net capital expenditure

on continuing operations was £139.9m in
2018 {20%7: £110.2m), mainly attributable

to an increase of investments in systems

and infrastructure.

adl

Ing profit to adjusted free cash How!
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We continue to expect to deliver at least
£200m of sustainable free cash flow in 2020,
befere exceptional and restructuring charges,
and the pension deficit recovery payments
set out below.

Reported free cash flow was an outflow
of £260.5m (2017: inflow £66.6m).

This reflected spend in relation to known
commitments, including the Connaught
settlement, the separation of Capita
Asset Services, pensian contributions,
{which the Directors consider to be

debt like in nature), restructuring costs,
professional fees, contingent and deferred
consideration, litigation and other items.

Net debt

Net debt at 31 December 2018 was

£466,1m (2017- £1,117.0m), reflacting the
completion of the rights issue and the
receipt of the proceeds from the disposal

of Supplier Assessment Services, including
Constructionline, and ParkingEye, which
were partially offset by the free cash outflow.

0a 2017
£m £m

Adjusted operating profit'

3353 4475
Add back Depreciation 59.1 56.4
Add back: Amortisation of intangible assets 27.9 15.4
Add back: Impairment of property plant and equipment 6.1 -
Adjusted EBITDA 428.4 519.3
Working capital: | @ (263.2)
Non-recourse receivables financing cleared n D.Of (23 8)
Full normalisation of period-end cash management (126.3)’ (85.0)
Deferred income (243.4)' (75.2)
Accrued income 248 (52.2)
Other movements in working capital 825 (27.2)
Interest (29.0) (54.2)
Taxation 26.6 9.5
Capital expenditure {139.9) {110.2)
Provision movernents and non-cash items 13.8' (25.8)
Adjusted free cash flow? | (82.5) 75.4
Adjusted to reported free cash flaw I 2(2:! 22:'?"
Adjusted {82.5) 75.4
Pension deficit contributions (46.9): -
Significant restructuring {100.8) (45.0)
Business exits (S.Ef 19.5
Other 3.7 167
Reported l (ZGD.Sf 66.6

1 Referto alternative performance measyres on pages 157-198

2 Refer o note 29 of the consolidzred financial statements {or deeals

At 31 December 2018, the Group had
£1,108,0m of private placement notes

which mature over the period up to 2027.

In addition, the Group has £100.0m of bank
debt which matures in 2019, and an undrawn
£600m revolving credit facility of which
£81m matures in August 2020 and £519m

in August 2021.

The Board's view is that the appropriate
leverage ratio for Capita over the medium
term should be between 1.0 and 2.0 times
adjusted net debt to adjusted EBITDA' {prior
to the adoption of IFRS 16} At 31 December
2018, the Group's adjusted net debt to
adjusted EBITDA' covenant ratio was 1.2
times {2017 2.2 times) and interest cover'
was 8,2 times (2017: 8.6 times).

At each reporting date, the calculation of
the Group's debt covenants is assessed,

both for that period and subsequent ones
These covenants are calculated based an the
adjusted' performance of the Group, in that
they exclude exceptional items. The Group
has been consistent with previous years in
its treatments of these items.

Capital management

The Group’s policy is to hold cash and
undrawn committed facilities at a level
sufficient to fund the Group's operations and
its medium-term plans. The Group holds
cash and undrawn committed facilities to
enable the Group to manage its liquidity risk.
At 31 December 2018, the Group held cash
and cash equivalents net of overdrafts of
£642.7m, and had available to it a committed
Revolving Credit Facility of £600m.

The Group agreed comprehensive
amendrnents with the holders of its US
private placement notes, euro fixed rate
bearer notes and the Schuldschein loan to
address certain issues which arose from the
early adoption of IFRS 15 and the Group's
strategy of disposal of certain non-core
businesses. The amendments established

a robust framework supporting the new
corporate strategy Further details of the
terms of the amendments are set out in note
26 to the cansclidated financial statements.

MNate 24 to the consolidated financial
statermnents details the Group’s future
minimum rental payments under its
lease arrangements which highlight gross
cormmitments of £736.0m.
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Pension

In November, the Group announced that
it had agreed a deficit recovery plan with
the Trustees of the Capita Pension and Life
Assurance Scheme (the 'Scheme’).

This pension deficit recovery plan is in line
with the commitment made by the Group
in january 2018 to reduce the deficit over
the medium term as a priority. The actuarial
deficit at 31 March 2017, the date of the last
triennial valuation, was £185m, before the
impact of the recent High Court ruling on
Guaranteed Minimum Pension equalisation

The agreed deficit recovery plan, with
payments totalling £176m, aligns with
the Group's transfarmation plan, reflects
the higher than expected proceeds the
Group received in 2018 from its disposal
programme, and incorporates steps to
continue to lower the level of investrnent
risk in the Scheme, benefiting the Scheme
and the Group.

The expected pension deficit recovery plan
payment schedule is:

2018 2019 020 200 Total
£m £m £m £m £m
42 71 59 4 76

The current deficit is supported by an asset-
backed funding arrangement of ¢.£70.0m,
the value of which is not included in the [AS
19 deficit of £219.0m at 31 December 2018
{31 December 2017: £406.8m} Refer to note
32 to the consolidated financial statements
for further detail on the arrangement.

In addition, further contributions totalling
£21.5m were paid in January 2018,
camprising £17.0m following the disposal of
Capita Asset Services, and £4.5m following
closure of the Scheme in 2017 to future
accrual for the majority of members of

the Scheme

1 Refer to altemative perlormance measures on pages 197158

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 was effective for the Group from
1 January 2019 and replaced IAS 17 Leases.
The standard wilt have a material impact
for the Group as it introduces a single
lessee accounting model and requires the
recognition of assets and liabilities for all
leases. Rental costs currently recognised
in operating profit will be replaced

by depreciation of the assets and net
finance costs on the liability. The total
cash outflow for lease payments will not
change. However the payments related
to the principal liability will be presented
as cash outflows from financing activities,
as opposed to the current treatment as
cash outflow from operating activities.

At 31 December 2018, the Group held a
significant number of operating leases for
which the future minimum lease payments
amount to £736.0m as disclosed in note 24
to the consolidated financial statements.

On adoption of IFRS 16, the expected effect
an the balance sheet is the recognition of

an asset in the range of £579m to £591m,

a liability in the range of £640m to £650m,
and an increase in retained deficit in the
range of £23m to £25m. The expected effect
on the income statement for 2019 is an
improverent in EBITDA of £130m to £135m,
an improvement in operating profit of £19m
to £21m as rental payments are replaced by
a lower depreciation charge, and an increase
in finance costs of £28m to £30m, resulting
in a reduction in prafit of £8m to £10m.

The above changes are expected to increase
our leverage ratio by 0.6 times. However, the
impact on our adjusted net debt to adjusted
EBITDA' covenant ratio is expected to be
neutral to positive as the Group covenants
are on frozen GAAP, with the exception of
the US private placement notes. The US
private placement notes cavenant test
includes the income statement impact

of IFRS 16, but not the balance sheat.

Due to the Group transformation plan,
which includes a consolidation of Capita's
properties, the Group’s lease portfolio is
expected to materially change over the next
few years. Any changes to the lease portfolio
will be accounted for when transacted.

The costs arising from the property
rationalisation programme will be excluded
from adjusted’ profit in line with the current
Group policy.

The Group will continue to implement and
refine procedures and processes to apply

the new requirements of IFRS16. As a result
of this ongoing work, it is possible that

there may be some changes to the adoption
impact outlined abave, befare the 30 June
2019 results are issued, However, at this
time these are not expected to be material.
Further detail of IFRS 16 is provided in note 2
to the consolidated financial staternents.

Financial outlook

Capita is entering the second year of a major
transformation and the successful delivery
of this programme is critical to the future
performance of the Group. We expect
adjusted net finance costs to be in the region
of £40m and adjusted profit before tax to

be between £265m and £295m in 2019,

We expect our headline net debt to ERBITDA
ratio to be in the top half of our stated range
of 1.0 times to 2 0 times before adoption of
IFRS16.

Our 2020 targets of £175m initial cost
savings, double-digit adjusted’ EBIT margins
and at least £200m of sustainable annual
free cash flow, befora exceptional and
restructuring charges and additional pension
contributions, remain unchanged.
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Divisional strateg
Divisionat structure
We report our financial performance across six operating divisions: five are focused on key growth markets; and the sixth contains
a portfolio of stand-alone businesses being managed for value,
Growth platforms Value platform
People Customer Government IT& Specialist
Software Solutions Management Services Networks Services
Specialist, high- Integrated Transforming Tech-enabled, Enabler for therest of | Stand-alone businesses
margin enterprise human resources customer axperience public sector Capita - with upside managed for value
products market presence for aur clients business services from client sales

o Central services: operational, technology, commercial, support functions

Divisional strategy

underperformance in our divisions.

Our multi-year transforrnation and strategy - simplify, strengthen and succeed — are driving a change programme across our six divisions.
It is focused on strengthening the underlying operating model, creating shared resources and infrastructure, optimising value from
the existing partfolio, and investing in our products, services and capabilities. It aims to address underinvestment in the functions and

Simplify > Strengthen > Succeed
Soft Develop a shared backbone Invest in adjacent product Drive profitable growth and
oftware P ac offerings, pilot US market expand internationally
People Leverage integrated Invast in products, platforms, Outperform market and
Solutions business structure partnerships and analytics improve cash generation
Customer Roll out best Invest in analytics, infrastructure Extend UX market leadership,
YUCs, p
M anagement practice consistently and tools; expand into new sectors | | turn around Europe margin
Government | Focus our portfolio on proven, Build out partnerships Deliver contracts and refiable
Services scalable offerings and innovation cash flow
IT & Leverage single platform; Upgrade data centres, invest in Fix the basics and support
Networks focus on customer cloud and SD Wan Capita's technology ambitions
Spec-lallst 16, mostly stand- Managed on a portfolio basis Delivering plan to maximise
Services alone, operating units value for each

The following divislonal financial performance Is presented an an adjusted revenie and aperating profit basis The 2017 adjustedrevenye and operating profit have been restated for the impact of buinesses exited
in 2018 Reported profit s notinduded, as the Board assesses divisional performance on adjusted results, The calculation of adjusted figuras and our KPls are contained in the APMs an pages 197-198.
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Divisional strategy and performance continued

Software

IMAGE REMOVED
Adjusted revenue Order book
£396.4m £559.6m
2017: £401.7m 2017: £543.4m
Adjusted operating profit Adjusted operating margin
£112.4m 28.4%
2017 £1711.7m 20M7:27.8%
Employees Key regions

» UK - Us
41000 + India « Australasia

Key products Key markets
Education - Payments * Education + Transport
+ SIMS + Pay360 * Local + Payments
Public safety Resource planning government - Financial
« ControlWarks « Retain, « Public safety services
finance & Workforce « Uhilities « Private sector
housing Managerment
« Integra Utilities 8
transport
+ FieldForce
IMAGE REMOVED IMAGE REMOVED

Capita’s Software division
is one of the UK's largest
software companies.

Our specialist enterprise software products
serve sector specific and cross-sector
markets in the UK and overseas. We develop
and deliver specialist application software
and wider solutions for education, local
government, public safety, utilities and
transport, consulting and legal, and
payments. As a software products provider,
our deep industry expertise and functional IP
supports critical public services and business
processes. Qur software and technology
expertise forms a differentiating component
of Capita’s wider digitally-enabled

services offering.

Revenue is generated from licence

sales, maintenance and support, and
implementation. Over 70% of our revenue
is recurring and aver 80% of licence revenue
is recognised over the term of our client
relationships, smoothing our revenue profite,
irrespective of whether it is a perpetual
licence or a 'pay as you go', software as a
service (Saas) model.

——— - i —m— e s See e s s vy

[Key P"'d";'-‘ } I

5IMS

Cloud-based MIS systern for managing administrative
funictions in 22,000 primary, secondary and Academy
schools, with optional parental engagement,
payment and finance modules,

ControlWorks

The UK's leading Contact Management and Control
Room solution used by Public Safety Agencies.

A single fully integrated application for all Emergency
and Non-Emergency contact via a range of channels
indluding voice, web, email, SMS and social media.

Capita One Suite

Enterprise solution for managing all revenue,
financial and critical business functions within local
autharities, housing sector, social care and education.

Integra

A suite of financial accounting and purchasing
software solutions, with the capability to integrate
with further systemns to provide an end-to-en

ERP capability.

Affinity Suite

A powerful enterprise suite of products helping
utilities, energy and infrastructure industries
manage complex and evolving business challenges.

Retain

A resource planning and management solution used
worldwide by professional services and legal firms,
providing a consclidated view of engagements,
projects or jobs to resources

Pay360

Multi-channel payment provider providing solutions
across payment, fraud, digital collections and
compliance capabilities acrass both private and
public sectors.




Strategic priorities 2018-2020:
- Accelerate investment in key products
and platforms.

Transform the software life cycle
operations across all products.
Create a software development
centre of excellence for production
of standardised software.

- Create scaled, integrated shared
service functions.

Create a market-aligned, high-
performing sales force and
marketing capability.

Selective sales drive in UK vertical
and international markets.

+

2018 progress against
strategic priorities:

+ Defined and commenced
investment strategy.

Established digital developrnent
centre in [ndia.

» Introduced product management
capability across product portfolio.
Executed cost competitiveness
and offshoring targets.

Executed US entry strategy for
selected products

Introduced standardised core praocesses
across 29 businesses.

Our strategy

Our strategic priorities are focused on
creating a world-class specialised software
products business, investing in our core
products with distinctive offerings and
providing best-in-class solutions for clients in

the UK and in targeted international markets.

The division is implementing the Group's
strategy - simplify, strengthen and succeed
- and transforming what was once a division
of 29 siloed businesses into a single software
business. This transformation was started in
2017 and during 2078 many of the structurat
and operational changes required to create

a single business were put in place. We have
built a best-in-class digital delivery centre

in India for the production of standardised,
repeatable software and to support the rest
of Capita and are creating scaled, integrated,
shared service functions. We are investing

in both our existing and new products and
markets to defend and grow the business,
with the aim of achieving mid to high single
digit revenue growth in 2020,
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Divisional financial summary

2018’

2017 change

£m ! £m %

Adjusted revenue 396.4; 407 (13)

Adjusted operating prefit 112.4] mz 06
Adjusted operating margin 28.4% 278%

Order baok 559.6, 543.4 3.0

Our markets and

growth drivers

We are a top-five provider of enterprise
software products in the UK, a market
currently valued at £17bn and expected to
grow at 8% CAGR through 2022 (source.
Cartner). Qur products compete in a wide
range of market sectars, primarily in the UK,
and in many sectors we have market-leading
positions. We mainly compete with ather
specialist product software providers.

Overall market growth is being driven by
software's deepening role in every aspect

of business and consumer life. The drive for
automation and demand for apps to engage
with end-users is set to continue in a digital-
first world. In response to slower growth

in our more mature markets — particularly
in education and secure software ~ we are
focusing on cross-selling opportunities in
existing and adjacent markets and strategic
expansion into new markets, In response to
shrinking education budgets and increasing
demand for access to cloud services, we

are expanding our offering to schools of
complimentary cloud products such as SIMS
Pay and SIMS Finance. The payments market
is consolidating and growth in e-commerce
is driving this demand. The growth of doud
solutions has increased the accessibility

of our products and allowed us to offer
alternative commercial models for our
customers to suit their requirements

Financial performance

Adjusted revenue fell by 1,3%, reflecting
good growth in AMT-Sybex and growth

in our cross-sector products, including
Payments, which was offset by declines in
Healthcare Decisions, as a result of the end
of our NH524 Scotland contract, and Secure
Solutions. Education Software was flat.

Our book-to-bill ratio was 104%, reflecting
an encouraging improvement in order intake,
and we expect revenue to grow in 2019,

Adjusted operating profit increased

by 1%, due to the aforementioned
changes in revenue, investments in sales,
including the US pilot, and benefits from
transformation actions.

Sales and operational

performance

Over the course of 2018 we have

been increasing our focus an sales and
standardising our sales processes and
demand generation marketing, which is
resulting in a stronger qualified pipeline.

There were a number of notable wins in

the year. In partnership with Motarola
Solutions, we were awarded a contract

to supply our ContrelWorks solution to a
major metropolitan police service in Asia.
We were also awarded a contract to provide
ControlWorks to West Midlands Police,
worth £6m over 10 years, and renewed our
contract to provide support and maintenance
to the Ministry of Justice for digital radio
networks across the prison estate in England
and Wales for the next five years. Pay360,
our payment platform, wen a significant
contract with Luxon Payments, to support its
global e-wallet launch. SIMS won a contract
with City Montessori School (CMS) in India,
the warld's largest private school with more
than 56,000 pupils.

We piloted the next cloud-based version

of our main education software praduct
SIMS8, launched SIMS Finance, a cloud-
based financial reporting product and started
development of a 'light-touch” smartphone-
enabled version of SIMS for emerging
markets. We also set up a marketing and
sales operation in the US to roll out selected
products, including AMT Sybex, Retain,
Pay360 and 917eye, and consolidated
multiple support desks into an integrated
shared service.

The increasing focus on application
development offshoring led us to buitd a
strong development skill base in India at a
lower cost base, with particular focus on

key technologies such as cloud and digital
transformation, This will enable us to fully
support our multi-year product development
cycles, critical to supporting our future

sales pipeline,
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People Solutions

IMAGE REMGVED

Adjusted revenue

£498.3m

2017 £520.5m

Order book

£715.3m

2017: £786.5m

Adjusted operating profit

£40.7m

2017: £62.7m

Adjusted operating margin

8.2%

2017:12.0%

Employees

5,800

Key regions
« UK + India
- Us » Europe

Key services and contracts

Key markets

+ Screening » Corporate » Financial + Technology
« Recruitment benefits services - Utilities
* HR services ’ P;ns_io.n . » Central - Defence
. Learning administration government . Education
services . Army. * Local
recruitment government
IMAGE REMOVED IMAGE REMOVED

Peaple Solutions provides a full
suite of HR offerings across the
employment life cycle.

They include leading market positions in
recruitrment process outsourcing {RPO),
learning process outsourcing, HR service
(inctuding payroll}, and pensions and benefits
administration, which are supported by our
proprietary digital platforms, Orbit, Hartlink
and Tessello.

We also provide attraction, screening
and performance management services,
and best-in-class fire prevention and
protection training facilities from the Fire
Service College.

Our strategy

In April 2018, we brought our existing HR
businesses together under a single leadership
team for the first time, to create the People
Solutions division

Our strategy is to derive benefits from the
new structure, by creating and leveraging a
single sales engine and realising cost savings.

We are investing in our core products

and platforms, developing a suite of new
products and solutions, strengthening our
analytics capability and growing our scalable,
repeatable solution.



Strategic priorities 2018-2020:

« Integrate multiple HR businesses into a
single end-to-end HR services business.

Upgrade core products and technology
platforms across key client services

« Develop an enhanced external

and cross-divisional sales function

and culture.

Invest in value-add advisary and
analytics services to enhance core

HR offering.

Build on and replicate existing solutions
to achieve scale.

2018 progress against

strategic priorities:

+ Creation of a new division with new
leadership team and aperating model.

Investments in people and process

to address specific operational

under performance,

investments made in sales, technology
platforms and digital.

Met cost-out targets.

Identified additional opportunities for
automation and offshoring.

« Cultural change programme aligned
with Capita-wide, refreshed values
and behaviours.

-
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Divisional financial summary

I
Adjusted revenue 498.3 520.5 4.3)
Adjusted operating prafit 40.7 627 (35.1)
Adjusted operating margin 8.2% 120%
Order book 715.3 786.5 {9.1)

Our markets and

growth drivers

The UK market for people services was
valued at £6bn in 2018 and is expected to
grow at an annual growth rate of 5% through
to 2022 (source: Nelson Hall). Capita is a
leading provider in most segments, including
benefits administration where we have

an 8% market share, learning process
outsourcing with 21% market share and
recruitment process outsourcing with 12%
market share. The market is being driven

by a customer propensity to buy digital
self-service, a move away from large-scale
contracts to modular product buying, where
custorners require expert advisory support as
they transition to digitally-enabled operating
models. In the learning market there is

a shift away fromn traditional classroom
training to online persconalised and informal
development, and the market is experiencing
consolidation. Players with digital platforms
and access to data and analytics are likely to
innovate and win market share.

Financial performance

Adjusted revenue fell by 4.3% as a result

of declines in our transactional businesses
Capita Resourcing and Learning Services,
which were impacted by the transition to

a new public sector training framewark,
previously Civii Service Learning, and the
transfer of the Contingent Labour One (CLY)
public sector resourcing contract to a new
provider in the second half.

Adjusted operating profit decreased,
reflecting the above decline in revenue,
investment to strengthen the business
and lower margins in Employee Solutions,
which have yet to be offset by cost
reduction actions.

Sales and operational

performance

Our forward order book was £715m at year-
end. We signed a number of new contracts in
the year, including the provision of resourcing
services for the Home Office and German
energy company Innogy, the management

of apprenticeships for the Department of
Work and Pensions and provision of learnings
services for Vodafone. We also extended

our tearning services contract with a major
retail bank.

We started investments in: the development
of a digital onboarding product to
complernent our suite of 'hire to retire’
services; the next generation of the Orbit
benefits platform, onte which a number of
clients were migrated; our KnowledgePool
learning booking system; and the candidate
portal of our pre-employment screening
system to improve customer experience.

We have re-set our partnership with the
Army on the Recruiting Partnering Project
(RPP) at a senior level and the contract is
starting to show signs of improvement.

The number of regular soldier recruitment
applications were at a five-year high at the
time of writing this Annual Report and we're
working hard to reduce the amount of time

it takes to be offered a job in the Army.

The contract aims and performance were the
subject of an National Audit Office report in
December 2018, the findings of which related
to what are now largely historical contract
issues, and we attended a Public Accounts
Committee with the Army in January 2019.
We have been open about mistakes made in
the past and we know there is still a lot for us
to do to deliver on our commitments.
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Customer Management

IMAGE REMOVED

Adjusted revenue

£794.2m

Z2017: £828.9m

Order book

£2,011.8m

2017: £1,843.6m

Adjusted operating profit

£39.6m

2017: £57.8m

Adjusted operating margin

50%

2017:7.0%

Employees

30,000

.

-

+ South Africa

Countries of operation

UK + India
Germany * Poland
Switzerland - Argentina

+ Bulgaria

Key services and contracts

Services + Digital

+ Customer transformation.
experience Contracts
enhancement . 02

* Revenue « TV Licensing
Ee"“‘““:" , - Bitsh Gas

« Escalated case
complaints npower
management

Key markets

Retail « Automotive
Telecoms « Financial
and media services
Utilities « Travel and
leisure

IMAGE REMOVED

IMAGE REMOVED

Capita is a leading provider

of multi-channel customer
engagement services, underpinned
by full-service business
management capabilities, in the
UK, Switzerland and Germany. - - -

We primarily serve customers in the
telecommunications, retail and utility sectors,
from a mix of enshore locations in Europe
and offshore locations in India, Poland, South
Africa, Argentina and Bulgaria.

The division alsa provides remediation,
complaints management and collections
services, including TV Licensing,

Qur approach is to build shared outcorne
partnerships, increasingly based on
partnering for value, not transactional
supply. The value we bring to our clients is
increasingly built around transforming the
custorner experience through the application
of data insight and analytics These enable us
to manage complex, high-value interactions,
drive positive quality improvement, and
improve financial benefits for clients

Our strategy

We have a differentiated strategy and
core-value proposition in our markets; our
approach is customer experience-led, tech-
enabled and underpinned by contracted
commitment {o business outcomes. We are
building capability to underpin our core value
proposition that we 'make great customer
experience happen’. Our commercial model
increasingly includes a cammitment to

client outcomes such as improvements in
the net promoter score, revenue generation,
custormer acquisition and cast-to-serve,
deploying a range of operational, technology
and process capabilities from within both
Customer Management and the wider Capita
group, This cammitment to outcomes and
‘making great experience happen’ is core

to our differentiation in the marketplaces

in which we operate. Our operational scale
allows us to derive meaningful insight from
our customer interaction data, driving
business improvement across our operations.
Consequently, we are able to build longer-
termn, more strategic partnerships, with
richer solutions.



Strategic priorities 2018-2020;

« Invest in our infrastructure to ensure
consistent, high-quality service delivery,
including facilities, core technology
and tools.

Build new digital platforms to support
all channels and customer on behalf
of clients.

Build enhanced data and analytical
platforms and capabilities to enable
the business to drive insights from
customer interactions into our
client engagements.

implement a stronger operating
framework to standardise our
operational routines and transfer
best practice across our operations,
both an and offshore.

* Invest in improved consultative selling
capability to increase origination,
pipeline and order book

* To standardise best practice, improve

our infrastructure, invest in people,

increase our use of technology

and offshoring.

Diversify and accelerate growth in

some of our secondary sectors, notably

financial services and travel and leisure.

2018 progress against
strategic priorities:
« Investment in sales resource to drive

origination and consultative selling,
reflected in order book growth in 2018,

Pilots built for both omni-channel and
new automation technologies, ahead of
full production in 2018, underpinning
our differentiated customer

experience approach,

Customer Experience Improvement
methodology proposition embedded
and rolled out to first tranche of clients.
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Adjusted revenue 794.2 8289 (4.2)
Adjusted operating profit 39.6 57.8 (31.5}
Adjusted operating margin 5.0% 7.0%
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Our market and Sales and operational

growth drivers

We are the largest provider of customer
managernent services in the UK with
a14% market share. The UK market is
estimated to be worth £4bn a year and

is expected to grow at approximately 4%
per annum through 2022 (source: Nelson
Hall). The German and Swiss customer
management markets are estimated to be
valued at £4bn per annum and are expected
to grow at around 5% per annum through
to 2022.

In bath the UK and Europe, Capita competes
with a range of local and global players for
transactional contracts, typically priced en
a price per FTE hour basis, and a smaller
number of strategic players for outcome-
based cantracts. in Germany, the market
has consolidated following a period of low
growth and pricing pressure. Clients are
seeking partnerships which are characterised
less by FTE numbers and more by a range of
value-adding services: revenue generation,
complaints management, digital channels
and data/insight. This increasingly complex
service offering provides opportunities for
players with deeper outsourcing capabilities.
Customer experience is getting wide
organisational attention from our clients,

as they seek more sustainable models for
attracting and retaining customers and
driving revenue growth.

Financial performance

Adjusted revenue fell by 4.2%, dueto
contract scope changes and lower volume
in the UK retail and energy sectors and
Switzerland. Adjusted operating profit
decreased due to: the aforementioned
decline in revenue; a weaker performance
in Europe, which was impacted by lower
profits in Switzerland, and a slightly higher
loss on our contract with mobilcom-debitel;
increases in some cost items including

the adoption of General Data Protection
Regulation; and the dropping-out of a
one-off contract modification benefit in
2017, Excluded from 2018 adjusted profit is
a charge of £61.7m from the impairment of
acquired intangibles {refer to note 3 of the
consolidated finangal statements)

performance

Our order book increased by 10% to £2.0bn
in 2018, due to the extension and expansion
of existing contracts and signing of new
contracts to deliver high-quality services
for a number of leading clients, including:

- The extension and expansion of our
existing contract with Germany's largest
integrated telecommunications provider,
taking over the operation of three contact
centres and 640 employees. This contract
is estimated to be worth £300m (€340m)
to Capita to Decernber 2022,

British Airways selected us to deliver a new
five-year contract to deliver enfanced
customer services from our global centre

in Cape Town, South Africa.

Expanded contract with Southern
Water for end-to-end custorner services
~including the management of back-
office billing processes, correspondence-
handling, print and mait ~worth £30m
over five years.

Expanded contract with the Financial
Services Compensation Scheme (FSCS)

- to consolidate all its claims handling
services, in¢luding all inbound and
outbound customer contact - worth £37m
over four years and nine months.

Extensions of our contracts with: npower,
worth £41m over three years; Marks &
Spencer, worth £70m over five years;
and BBC Audience Services for five years.

The transformation of our seven-year
custamer services contract with mabilcom-
debitel — one of Germany's largest mobile,
internet services and telecoms products
providers —is naw progressing well.

During 2018, the investment of management
time has improved contract performance,
and we delivered all transformation
milestones on time. This included the
roll-aut of a new multi-channel telephony
platfarm and the launch of 1CS and Andraid
mobile apps. We continue to plan to reach
break even on the mobilcom-debitel contract
by the end of 2020.

.
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Divisional strategy and performance continued

Government Services

IMAGE REMOVED

Adjusted revenue

£745.5m

2017: £861.7m

Order book

£2,187.5m

2017: £2,660.6m

Adjusted operating profit

£35.2m

Adjusted operating margin

4.7%

2017: £78.7m 2017:9.1%
Employees Key regions
8 700 « UK + India
’
Key services and contracts Key markets
» Local « Electronic - ocal = Defence
government Monitering government + Education
business process . primary Care = Central and health
management Support England government
and transactional | o oo ion
services ngestio
Charging and
« DWPPIP ULEZ
+ DCC Smart v STA
Metering = Gas Safe Register

Capita is a trusted strategic
partner to central government
for the delivery and
transformation of technology-
enabled business services.

It includes the operation of {arge, complex
contracts that underpin the achievement of
policy autcornes.

We are also a leading provider of support
services such as revenues, benefits and
back-office processing, IT, HR, and finance
to local authorities, and education and
health organisations.

Our strategy

Cur strategy is to focus on and leverage areas
where Capita has core expertise, invest in our
transformation, technology and operational
capabilities, package more of our services
making them simpler to procure, improve
the performance of challenging contracts,
and implement structured client account
management. We are also discontinuing
smaller non-core activities such as facilities
management angd focusing on core areas of
collections and disbursement, regulatory

and planning services, and customer and
digital services. Since April, we have begun

a programme to drive operational excellence
and put in place continuous improvernent
plans for all businesses.

| Key contraces! _,,1 ’

Personal Independence Payments (PIP}
Administration of personal independence payments
in twa regions n England and Nerthern Ireland

Primary Care Support England (PCSE)
Support services for GPs, pharmacies,
opticians and dental practices

Home Office Electronic Menitoring
Administration of tagging for offenders

Transport for London
Administration of Congestion Charge
and Ultra Low Emissions Zone

DCC Smart Matering
Management, implementation and development
of the national smart metering infrastructure

Birmingham City Council
IT and digital services

IMAGE REMOVED

IMAGE REMOVED

Staffordshire County Council (Entrust)
Provisions of support services to schools

London Borough of Barnet
Customer services, finance, HR and property
strategic partnership

1 Contracts over 1% of 2018 annual revenue



Strategic priorities 2018-2020:

+ Develop existing core service
capabilities as repeatable product
propositions to drive growth.

Continuous programme of operational
excellence to improve service delivery.

Transformation of local government
business away from a traditional
outsourced contract medel to
business process as a service {BPaa$)
where clients pay for services as they
consume and are not tied into lengthy
contract commitments.

2018 progress against

strategic priorities:

« Local government strategy reviewed
and reset to address accelerated market
and contract decline.

Commenced local government
transformation programme to change
service model.

Investment in establishing delivery
excellence partnership relationships
with key government departments.
Focused resources on securing re-bids
with targeted accounts.

Delivered cost-out targets.

»

Our market and
growth drivers

Capita is ane of the largest providers to
government in the UK with an estimated
market share of 13%. The UK market for
central and local government services is
valued at £6.7bn a year and estimated to

be growing at approximately 3% per annum
(source: Nelson Hall). However the local
government market for large outsourced
contracts is declining with a significant drop-
off in the number and size of opportunities
coming to market and existing clisnts
choosing to end cantracts early and take
services back in-house. This accelerated
decline is being driven by fiscal pressures,
the expectation that this will provide a more
flexible cost and delivery model but also an
ideclogical shift away from outsourcing by
some council [eaderships. This structural
decline has proved challenging for the
division in the year, and a greater focus has
been put on redefining and simplifying our
core capabilities alongside managing the
declining contracts.

Brexit is still affecting the volume of

new policy initiatives by Government
departments, resulting in fewer new
opportunities for private sector contractors.
Following the collapse of Carillion, 2018
was a challenging year for the outsourcing
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Adjusted revenue 745.5 861.7 (135)
Adjusted operating profit as.2, 78.7 (55.3)
Adjusted operating margin 4.7%, 9.1%
Order book 2,187.5 2,660.6 (17.8)

sector, but engagement by Capita with the
Cabinet Office has increased and improved
as it embarked on a review of contracting.
After consultation across the sector, the
Government has pledged to take on a greater
share of the risk on autsourced public sector
contracts, as part of a new set of rules drawn
up in February 2079 to improve stability in
the sector.

Despite these challenges, Government
departments are still actively engaging with
the private sector and continue to renew
existing contacts and award new work.

Financial performance

Adjusted revenue fell by 13.5%, due to the
re-shaping of our Defence Infrastructure
Organisation {DIO) contract, which benefited
from the recognition of previously deferred
income in the prior year, and a decline in

our local government long-terrn strategic
partnerships, reflecting the aforementioned
market weakness. Adjusted operating

profit decreased due to the dropping-out

of the £22m one-off benefit from DIO, as
previously disclosed, and weakness in local
government, which were partially offset by

a reduction in loss on Primary Care Support
England (PCSE). Excluded from 2018 adjusted
profit is a charge of £33.8m from the
impairment of goodwill {refer to note 15 of
the consolidated financial statements),

Sales and operational

performance

Despite the difficulties faced by the company
in the earty part of 2018, we remain a
strategic partner to the Cabinet Office.

We won, renewed and extended a number
of contracts in 2018, including:

- Department for Education's Standards and
Testing Agency - new contract to manage
the administration, processing and support
for all primary schoel national curriculum
assessment tests in England.

- Transport for London - implementation
and management of the Central London
Ultra Low Emission Zone.

+ Renewed contracts with Westminster
City Council to manage the authority’s
revenues and benefits services, and the
Health and Safety Executive to continue
to manage the Gas Safe Register,

In 2018 Capita’s subsidiary, SmartDCC,
went live with its GB-wide infrastructure
for the rollout of second-generation smart
meters. Alongside this service, SmartDCC

is delivering key programmes of work for
the government and energy industry to
integrate first-generation smart meters inta
its network and deliver next-day consumer
switching in the energy retail market.

We took firm action towards the end of 2018
over issues relating to our PCSE contract with
NHS Engtand. This followed the discovery

of delays in the issuing of cervical screening
correspondence, which forms part of PCSE,
1o thousands of women. We apologised to all
the women affected by this administrative
error and, following an investigation of

the managerial handling of the matter,
appropriate internal disciplinary action was
taken. We have improved quality processes
and other operational service delivery

levels on the contract continue to be stable.
We continue to expect the PCSE contract to
reach break even by the end of 2020.

The local government market for large,
multi-year deals, declined at an accelerated
rate during the year. Southampten, Sheffield
and Birmingham City Councils have notified
us of their intention to end contracts with
them ahead of their contracted end-dates.
Barnet Council has agreed to take a small
number of services back in-house.

Capita is committed to the local government
market and is working closely with all our
council partners to agree and manage a
smooth transfer of services back to local
authority management.
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Divisional strategy and performance continued

IT & Networks

IMACE REMOVED

Adjusted revenue

£404.0m

2017: £415.4m

Order book

£380.4m

2017: £508.3m

Adjusted operating profit

£45.3m

Adjusted aperating margin

1.2%

2017: £62.0m 2017:14.9%
Employees Key regions
3 400 - UK » Poland
[ - India
Key services Key markets
+ Managed *+ Managed + Local » Financial
networks IT suppart governmant services
- Data centre » Testing + Central + Telecorns
and cioud « Cybersecurity government - Aerospace
infrastructure and consulting - Defence * Transport
- Education

IMAGE REMOVED

IMAGE REMQOVED

Capita is one of the top 10
suppliers of IT Services and
networks in the UK, focused on
the mid-sized market.

Our |T services business acts as a technology
enabler across all of Capita's services both
internally and externally. We provide
end-to-end enterprise IT services and
solutions focused around four key areas:
digital transformation and innovation; core
platforms - cloud, hosted and on-premise
and services; LAN and WAN connectivity
solutions, and professional services - advising
and running iT solutions for our customers,
testing, data consulting and cybersecurity.

We operate across the UK and from our
operations in India, supporting clients at a
local and national level. We have strategic
partrerships with leading global IT vendars,
have invested in cur own portfolio of hosted
platforms and operate our own UK-wide
network and data centres

Our strategy

Our strategy is to consolidate separately run
entities into single IT & Networks businesses.
We will: simplify the service catalogue and
professionalise internal relationships; invest
in our infrastructure, cloud and people,

and build technical and sales capabilities to
improve customer experience.

In 2018, we launched the 'One ITS'
programme, which is expected to realise
significant cost savings over the next three
years and includes the introduction of shared
service centres with common processes and
an increase in the use of offshoring.

We also started a programme to invest in
our data centre network to simplify and
consolidate the existing environment and
improve performance and consistency.



Strategic priorities 2018-2020:

« Consolidation of multiple stand-alone
IT business into a single of integrated IT
& Networks business,

+ Upgrade and consolidation of data
centres to create an enhanced resilient
and secure client infrastructure.

« Invest in key client propositions across
networks, ctoud, cyber and digital.

+ Develop our people.

2018 progress against

strategic priorities:

» improved our conduct and

control envircnment.

Upgraded ouriegacy IT infrastructure

(data centres) and technicat capabilities.

+ Achieved cost competitiveness targets.

+ Revamped our brand and client

value propaosition,

Impraved our services, internal

relationships and customer experience,

« Simplified our organisation and our
service/product offering.

Strategic report Carporate governance Financial statements n

Divisional financial summary

R .

wmom
Adjusted revenue 4040 415.4 27
Adjusted operating profit 45.3 ‘ 62.0 {268}
Adjusted aperating margin 1M.2% 14.9%
Order book 380.4 | 508.3 (25.2)
Our markets and Sales and operational
growth drivers performance

The IT infrastructure services market in

the UK was estimated to be worth £28bn
in 2018. The overall market is expected

to grow at 2% a year to 2021 (source:
TechMarketView). However, this is highly
polarised with high growth in cloud services
and shrinking client device suppart.

While the market is large and growing, it is
atso changing, providing both opportunities
and threats to our current business,

{n IT services, the demand for customer
value creation is driving digitisation and
automation across the sector. Large, fully
managed legacy service contracts are being
replaced by a ‘pick and mix’ service model
driving a need for a standardised offering
with modular add-ons. In Networks, the
global shift to digital cormes with enormous
data, security and network resource
requirements. New product areas, such

as SD-Wan, are opening up new market
opportunities for smaller players to compete
with the large telcos.

Financial performance

Adjusted revenue fell by 2.7%, due to
contract losses and lower volume in
Managed IT Solutions and Enterprise
Services. Adjusted operating profit decreased
due to the dropping-out of a £9m cne-off
supplier settlement in the prior year and
lower margins in Networking Solutions,

2018 was a year of fixing the basics across
the division, bringing together the separate
operating businesses and stabilising them.
This 'One ITS’ programme is expected to
realise significant cost savings over three
years and includes the introduction of shared
service centres with common processes and
an increase in the use of offshoring.

Following an IT data centre outage in

2017, we have invested significantly in our
existing data centre estate to simplify and
consolidate the environment and improve
perfarmance and consistency. Plans are
progressing for the phasing of legacy clients
onto a new cloud infrastructure.

We began work on simplifying our product
and service portfolio into six key product
lines to position the division for improved
client retention and growth. As part of

this review, we retired a nurmnber of legacy
brands and brought all cur services together
under the Capita brand. In November, a new
divisional sales and marketing arganisation
was created, with additional resource
focused on praduct cross-sell and key
account management.

We began the implementation of the
Transport for London networks contract
in March and successfully went live in late
August. Transformation of the network is
ongoing and is due to be completed by the
end of 2020.

Contract wins and renewals in the year
included the NHS Business Services
Authority, Ministry of Defence, Kent Public
Service Network, North Essex Partnership,
Driver and Vehicle Standards Agency, and
Transport for London.
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Divisional strategy and performance continued

Specialist Services

IMAGE REMOVED

Adjusted revenue

£992.2m

2017: £1,022.7m

Order book

£1,241.4m

2017: £1,844.8m

Adjusted operating profit

£139.5m

Adjusted operating margin

14.1%

2017: £140.6m 2017:13.7%
Employees Key regions
-]1 0 00 + UK + India
' = Dubai - Poland
Key services and businesses Key markets
« Life & pensicns  + Real estate and » Financial + Housing
administration infrastructure services « Healthcare
« Insurance + AXELOS - Central - Technology
services + Fera and local . Utilities
* Mortgage * Managed print government « Environment
processing + Translation & + Education and transport
» Travel & events interpreting + Defence
« Enforcement - Hardware
- Legal services re-selling

IMAGE REMOVED

IMAGE REMOVED

Our Specialist Services division
comprises a portfolio of 16
businesses, delivering a range of
services offerings through joint
ventures, trading businesses and
traditional IT-enabled legacy
BPO contracts.

The division includes those businesses which
either are not within Capita's growth markets
and/or have little in common with our other
divisions and/or are at an early phase in their
development but may be scaled up in the
future. These businesses are mostly stand-
alone operations and are actively managed
on a portfolio basis in order to maximise
value and include Life Insurance, Insurance
Services, Mortgage Services & Collections,
Optima, Travel & Events, Evolvi, Real Estate
& Infrastructure, AXELOS, Fera, Managed
Print, Hardware Reselling and Enforcement.

Our strategy

Due to the varied nature of the activities
i the division, each business has its own
strategy uniquely tailored to their service
offerings and the needs of their clients
which has been defined through a ‘value
optimisation’ programme.

This programme, which involved a detailed
review of each business and its market
position, identified strategic and tactical
opportunities to improve value generation
from them

We enjoy strong market positions in many

of the verticals sectors, with strong brands
and positive client perception of our services.
This provides an ongging opportunity

to leverage Capita's wider client base

better, and to simplify and strengthen the
portfolio. The focus across the portfolio is
on operational excellence, cost-optimisation
and leveraging Capita-wide infrastructure,
clients and capabilities where possible,




Strategic priorities 2018-2020:

+ Manage as a portfolio and focus on
continuing 'value optimisation’,

+ Ratianalise service lines, processes,
properties and IT.

+ Leverage cross-sell opportunities across
portfolio and wider Capita.

2018 progress against

strategic pricrities:

Restructured a number of businesses
and closed unprofitable service lines.

+ Introduced tightly managed investment
process and governance.

Delivered cost competitiveness targets
in 2018.

tavestment in a number of product/
service enhancements.

Our markets and
growth drivers

Specialist Services includes a range of
businesses serving public and private dlients
across multiple vertical sectors, which

are generally mature. Our closed book

Life Insurance administration business is

in structural decline as books run off and
sormne customers, with legacy [T systems,
are switching to supphiers who can provide a

single digital platform for all their life books.
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Financial performance

Adjusted revenue decreased by 3%.

This reflected good growth at AXELOS and
modest growth at Fera and Enforcement,
which was outweighed by declines in Real
Estate & Infrastructure, Insurance and Life
insurance. Revenue included a £38m release
of deferred income on the early transfer of
Prudential UK'’s life insurance business to

a new supplier in the second half of 2018.

Adjusted operating profit fell by 1%, as

a result of increases in AXELOS and Real
Estate, which benefited from restructuring
actions, which were offset by declines in
Managed Print and Mortgage Services.
Profits included a £9m one-off benefit on
the end of the general insurance contract
with Marsh and a £6m one-off benefit
on the end of the Prudential contract,
which were partly offset by one-off write
downs and provisions.

Sales and operaticnal

performance

During the year we disposed of a number
of businesses, notably Supplier Assessment
Services (including Constructionline) and
Parkingkye, delivering over £400m in
disposal proceeds.

The Life and Insurance Services business was
impacted by the loss of the Prudential UK
and Marsh contracts. We are focusing the
business on supporting our customer services
clients, where we are delivering high quality
services for open book products.

We have restructured our real estate and
infrastructure business, invested in our
IT infrastructure and client portals and
enhanced our security and compliance
in our regulated businesses,

New sales wins in the year included:

the award of a new courts enforcement
contract by the Ministry of Justice; Travel
& Events contracts with the Department
for International Trade, and Rolls Royce;
and a Customer Solutions win with Electric
Ireland, providing collection and credit-
control services.
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Our people

A new people strategy

With more than 63,000 employees
across Capita, a people-focused
strategy is fundamental for
creating an engaged workforce,
who will act as ambassadors

for the company, and for

creating better outcomes for our
colleagues, clients, customers

and communities.

The appointment of Capita’s first Chief
People Officer in April 2018 offered the
opportunity to define our new *HR2020’
peaple strategy and strengthen the people
leadership team - to enable us to deliver
this strategy across the arganisation.

The company-wide aperating model aligns
to and underpins the people strategy, which
is itself made up of six key pillars and aims to
nurture a culture at Capita of development,
inclusivity and wellbeing, in which people
are proud to work.

Employee engagement

Improving the culture and engagement

with employees at all levels within Capita
was one of the company's transformation
workstreams throughout 2018 and continues
to be a focus in 2019. The objective was

to develop a culture where our people feel
they matter and understand how their role
contributes ta the success of the business.

A robust process was undertaken during

the autumn of 2018 to define the purpose

of Capita, refresh the corporate values,

and define the behaviours and manager
commitments which underpin the culture

of the company. Our purpose - ‘we create
better outcomes' — was launched in January
this year. It states why we exist as a company
and, through many proof points both internal
and external, we are already starting to bring
this purpose alive and create a motivating
and inspiring guide by which, beyond just
generating profit, decisions and actions

are taken.

The Capita values remain the same — gpen,
ingenious, collaborative and effective.
However, their refreshed explanation, and
the new behaviours and management
commitments expected of our employees
are at the core of the programme which
wilt follow through into 2020 - to embed
how we act and drive an improvement in
employee satisfaction.

Following on from the McKinsey
Organisational Health Index undertaken at
the company in December 2017, a further
survey of how our people feel about Capita
was carried out between September and
October 2018. We had a strong response
(66%) to the new Our Pecple Survey,
showing that our people recognised the
change in the direction and leadership of
the company and valued it. One of the
outputs was the ‘employee net promoter
score’ (eNPS"), which will be a measure of
our business performance. The eNPS was
selected as one of the five performance
metrics for the company’s 2018 long-term
incentive plan (LTIP) for senior management,
with a positive swing of between 6 and

12 points required for the condition to

be met. We will monitor the progress

of the eNPS clasely over the three-year
performance period.

1 Theemployee net promoter seore {@NPS) s calculated based on one question® "On a scale of 0-10, bow Lkely Is 1t that
you would recommend us ta a friend or collaague.” Based on the number an employee setects, they are categonsedas a:

promater {scare besween 9-10); passive {7-8); or detractor (0-5). The final eNPS [5 the dif#

we b the

of promoters 2ad detcactors, The lowest pessible scoreis 100, the highest 100, Because the biggest range of scores s for
detractors, final totals are requently negarwe. A total score above zere canbe consldered ‘good’, while any positive swing

Indheates an improving business,

A focus for Capita during 2019, as we
continue to reshape the organisation, will
be on a continued programme of wark
which will drive further investment in our
empioyees, their careers and training.
This will include developing the employee
value proposition which sits alongside the
company's branding, purpase and values.

Resourcing

Having the right calibre of people at Capita
is critical to succeeding in delighting our
clients, customers and communities

As part of the HR2020 strategy, resourcing
has now been aligned to the current and
future transformation activities across the
business, ensuring the company attracts

the right mix of people, and that there is a
broad mix of skills and diversity of thought
to continue to drive success. Over the past
year, Capita has recruited more than 20,000
people across its global operations but,
with a highly competitive and continually
changing marketplace, attracting and
retaining employees requires more than
just a job. Current and future employees

are now increasingly interested about the
additional benefits affered to support their
working and home lives To stay competitive
and improve our ability to attract and retain
the best people, the HR2020 strategy will
deliver initiatives, such as a revised market
competitive benefits package, as well as
defined career pathways, and improved
access to learning and development
opportunities through the Capita Academy.



To reduce attrition rates and retain our

best people, we are also making it easier
and more attractive for employees to move
internally within the business. We have
been promoting Capita's unique and diverse
market offering and highlighting the vast
array of opportunities within different
sectors and divisions. The Talent Hub allows
current employees to explore and apply for
pew opportunities internally before roles are
advertised externally; and gver the past year
16,000 people at Capita have found their
next job internally.
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Since 2017, overall employee retention rates
have reduced, from 79% to 72%, which can
be attributed to the significant, ongoing
change acrass the business.

In addition, to help retain great peaple and
understand future resourcing requirements,
waorkforce planning has been developed
and deployed company-wide. This is to
encourage the business to think about
long-term workforce needs, aligned to the
corporate strategy. Our resourcing team
can now prepare and build virtual talent

pools that help to deliver the right skills and
capabilities for future business requirernents.
The process also supports our current
workforce, as we can identify where we need
to develop our people with the right skills to
support the needs of the business through
our multi-year transformation.

People strategy pillars

Employee engagement

We want all our peaple to feel like
they matter and understand how they
contribute to the success of Capita.

Responsible business

We want to do the right thing for
our people, the environment and
the communities we serve,

Reward

We want to rebuild employee trust
through a transparent meritocracy
which recognises our people for
bath how and what they contribute.

Resourcing

We want to ensure an appropriate
pipeline of talent, so we have the right
people in the right positions, for now
and for the future,

Performance and
development
We want to create the climate and tools

that help our pegple be all that they
can be.

Systems, process
and administration
We want simple and consistent systems,

and processes that are easy to use and
drive efficiency.
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Our people continued

Performance and
development

Strengthening leadership

After the arrival of jon Lewis as Chief
Executive Officer in Decemnber 2017, a
seniar leadership review was undertaken
to assess the appropriateness of the

team to drive forward the magnitude of
change required for Capita. As part of this
review, a new Executive Committee has
been set up, comprising some existing
management together with a nurnber of new
appointments. The Executive Committee
is now made up of six divisional and eight
functional executive officers, as well as the
Chief Financial Qfficer, all of whom report
in directly to Jon and meet at least once
amonth,

The introduction of key roles such as Chief
People Officer, Chief General Counsel

and Chief Transformation Qfficer has
created a balanced new leadership team.
Strong functional leads are now able to drive
change by setting an appropriate strategy
with clear governance for their business area,
as well as defining the functional framework
and agenda to drive adoption of new
governance, structure and compliance across
the business.

A focus of the Executive Committee is to
identify the desired culture and imprave
engagement across Capita’s skilled
63,000-strang workforce, with the aim of
harnessing the collective strength of our
talent pool across all levels of the business.
The newly strengthened executive team -
with the right calibre of people from a variety
of backgrounds and sectors - brings together
in one team the greater diversity of thought
required to drive transformational change

To embed change successfully throughout
the organisation, there has also been a
strong focus on developing leaders and
managers — to highlight the importance

of the right values and behaviours for a
successful business. The Capita Academy
was launched in 2018 and in Decernber ran a
successful pilot, equipping existing managers
with the appropriate tocls to support the
development of our talented people and to
consistently embed the new purpose, values
and behaviours across the business.

Learning and development

The diverse market offering at Capita creates
a variety of apportunities for our pecple

- across different sectors, businesses and
industries — which supports our ability to
attract and retain our great people. A critical
role of the people function at Capita is to
ensure that we can provide all our employees
with access to varied career opportunities,
whether that be progressing upwards,
moving laterally into a new business or
making a complete change of career path.
We will be working on developing these
paths across the business through 2019.

The Capita strategy creates a requirement
to bring new skills into the business. At the
same time, we need to ensure we can
develop current employees to be abte to
take on new roles and help implement and
drive forward the changes required for

our success. Where new roles have been
identified, managers are required to consider
current employees for positions and post
these internally on the Tatent Hub before
opening up the role externally. The hub has
been successful in improving mobility within
the business and the 'Look closer, go further
campaign’ continues to promote this at all
tevels and areas within the business. In 2018,
10,306 employees were successful in finding
their next career move internally.

IMAGE REMOVED

Operating model workshop
Discussions among Capita employees
on shaping the future structure of
our business




Workforce development is also critical

to ensure we are able to satisfy external
market demands, while continuing to delight
our clients with innovative solutions and
impraving service standards. We continue

to invest in our people as a priority, so that
learning and development opportunities are
accessible across our global operations to all
employees, regardless of level or location.

The Capita Academy wilt be deployed
fully in 2019 and made accessible to all
employees. The purpose of the academy
is to provide better quality training and
focus capability development into key
strategic skill-sets deerned vital for the
company's transformation and future
success. The academy will initially comprise
five business-wide learning programmes,
using a variety of means to deliver content
and develop capability across sales,
people management, IT, finance and
project management.

Reward

Rewarding our people fairly, transparently
and in line with the market is critical for
building trust, and ensuring that we retain
our great people and remain competitive in
the job marketplace.

A full audit and assessment of the current
benefits offered globally at Capita was
carried out in 2018 in order to help improve
our offering. We want to ensure we are
able to provide benefits which are market-
competitive, flexible and suitable for all
employees in a range of locations across
the world.

In addition, to provide employees with
greater transparency around employment
structuring, remuneration and career
development, work was started with 1BM

in 2018 to implement a consistent, global
job framewark. A job framework is a critical
component of any organisation and will
enable cur people to understand how they
can progress their career at Capita, while
providing benchmarks and guidance around
rernuneration for all roles in the business.
This project will be completed by the end of
2019, with all employees mapped to a job
family and framewark.
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Systems, process and
administration

To support the significant changes being
undertaken throughout the business,
investment was secured to implement a

new global HR system which will simplify
processes and improve efficiency for all
employees. Workday was selected as the new
system to be deployed in 2019, alongside

a newly established project team that has
mapped all company-wide processes to
ensure that the new HR system can improve
and simplify the way our people work
globally. The outcome of the new systern will
empower our people to take ownership of
their own data and better utilise our global
delivery centres with the digitisation of more
standard processes

Responsible business

Inclusion and wellbeing

In 2018, we committed to increasing our
focus on diversity, inclusion and wellbeing,
so that we were able to strengthen our
approach and deliver tangible outcomes that
make a positive difference to our people.

We are delivering on our promise, with
inclusion and wellbeing being a key focus
theme for our new responsible business
strategy and a common thread thraughout
our pecple strategy We are committed to
having a workforce that reflects the diversity
of our communities and is inclusive, so that
all employees can bring their ‘'whole selves’
to work. Our updated values and behaviours
also place a greater emphasis on the inclusive
culture and behaviour we expect of all our
employees and those working on behalf

of Capita.

To achieve our goal, we've investedin a
systematic review of our data, and insights
from employee and client feedback. We've
assessed what's worked well and what could
work better to develop a new inclusion

and wellbeing strategy, which sets out

our priorities and key metrics on how we
measure our progress, as detailed below

+ Valuing difference —because every single
one of us is different, be that how we look,
speak, act, or where we come from.

Gender parity — 48% of our global
waorkforce at all levels is female, but this
proportion is not yet reflected at the
leadership level.

Improve data intelligence and reporting
across the business — so that we can
identify where we need to invest, and what
roles and skills are needed to reflect the
diversity of our communities.
Geographically relevant targets - to reflect
the differences between the regions in
which we operate.

L

This approach will enable us to deliver our
inclusion and wellbeing activity in a way that
accelerates the pace of change and provides
sustainable and embedded inclusive practices
which focus on delivering better outcomies
for all our people and our communities.

This is an exciting time for Capita and our
inclusion and wellbeing agenda. We're doing
things differently, opening up employee
engagement and development opportunities
through our employee networks, embracing
the leadership of our Executive Committee
and, importantly, working with our business
leads so that inclusion and wellbeing are
integral components of how we do business
and how we live inclusively at Capita.
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Our people continued

Gender pay gap

Capita's workforce profile has an effect, as at
many other organisations, on our gender pay
gap. We are disappointed that our pay gap
has increased since last year and recognise
that this is simply not good encugh. We have
a long way to go but are committed to
understanding, proactively reducing and
eventually eliminating our gender pay gap.

Since we last published our gender pay gap
results, we've started investing — through
our people and responsible business
strategies — in activity that will shift the
dial positively in improving gender equality.
Our Chief People Officer and new Inclusion
and Wellbeing Director are responsible

for creating an inclusive workplace for all
our peaple. We recognise that achieving
gender parity is part of the solutien and, as
such, is a key pillar of our new indusion and
wellbeing strategy.

Qur gender pay differential for Capita for
2018 compared with 2017 is detailed below.

Hourly pay ' T Z-t-n-l-] 2017
Mean ’average] ! ’

pay differential » 31.2% . 26.8%
Median {mid-point) i

pay differential . 234%, 253%

Despite an increase in our pay gap from 2017,
our ranking within the Hampton-Alexander
Review 20118 has improved and we are now
ranked 190 in the FTSE 250 (up from 219
in 2017). The Hampton-Alexander Review
is an independent review body which aims
to increase the number of women on FTSE
boards, with an important focus to improve
wormen’s representation in senior leadership
positions. As a business, Capita recognises
and is committed to our role in achieving the
review's objectives. Our improved ranking is
predominantly due to having more women
on our Board and in our newly formed
Executive Committee. To achieve this, we
ensured that at least one female candidate
was included an the shortlist of all Executive
Committee recruits. This is a step in the right
direction, but we recognise we still have a
way to go to really change and achieve real
gender parity acrass Capita.

More detail is disclosed in our Gender

Pay Gap Repart on our website at
www.capita.com/responsibility

Employee gender diversity

IMAGE REMOVED
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1 Senior management includes directors of subsidiary legal entities as per regs

and 414C{109(b)-

of the Comg: Act section 414 C(8)(c}ii)



Responsible business
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Working responsibly for
all our stakeholders

Responsible business is integral to
our company purpose, operating
mode! and strategy, With our new
leadership team in place, we have
strengthened our commitment to:
be a trusted, accountable partner;
create an inclusive culture where
our people are proud to work; and
operate our business with full
regard for the needs of society
and the environment.

With the launch of our purpose, backed by

a clear set of values and behaviours, we've
refocused our approach to addressing the
most materiat challenges that our business
and society face. We're calling it our
responsible business strategy as it defines
how — true to our purpose — we create better
outcomes for our people, our communities
and the environment.

We have already made some significant
commitments: deciding to put two
employees on our Board; agreeing a UK
pension deficit recovery plan; updating

our supplier payment terms in the UK and
Ireland; and refocusing our charitable giving.
Many of our people across our business

are sharing their skills and expertise to
address plobal issues.

Last year, we invested £1.5m in our local
communities and our people volunteered
more than 5,000 hours.

In addition to the progress achieved in 2018,
we have committed to tackling issues which
directly affect our clients and communities,
such as youth unemployment, digital
exclusion, gender equality and climate
change As a business, we understand the
magnitude of these issues and recognise
that, with the support and dedication

of our people, we can make a significant
contribution and be part of the sclution.

Defining responsible business

At Capita, we affect the lives of millions of
people, either directly or indirectly, every
day. Through our customer conversations,
business operations, digital solutions and
responsible business programmes, we have

a unique oppartunity to be a force for good,
helping address global challenges and making
a positive contribution to society.

Our five-year responsible business strategy
was defined in consultation with colleagues,
clients, investors and community groups

to identify the most relevant sustainability
issues that Capita should be addressing.
Our strategy prioritises our actions around
these issues through one cross-cutting
theme and four focus thermes.

Our cross-cutting theme of ‘operating
responsibly’ covers our approach to
governance, business ethics, supplier
management, client relations, and health
and safety.

The four focus themes are:

» Youth skills and jobs: more than

200 million young people globally are
unemployed or working white living in
poverty'; we will empower 100,000
young people in the communities we
serve to progress into the world of

work through our business operations,
products and services, and responsible
business programmes.

Digital inclusion: as many as 11.3 million
people in the UK are lacking basic digital
skills?;, we will equip 10,000 people in the
communities we serve with the digital skills
required for today's world.

Inclusive workplace: so that all employees
can bring their "whole selves’ to work and
to address gender equality which still
holds women and girls back, especially

in the technology sector; we will have a
workforce that reflects the diversity of our
communities and is inclusive.

Sustainable innovation: climate change
is now affecting every country on every
continent?; we will reduce our contribution
to climate change and support our clients do
the same through our products and services.

Embedding responsible business across our operations

We're responding to the relevant global challenges our business and society
face through a cross-cutting theme and four focus themes.

Operating responsibly

Governance, business ethics, supplier management, client relatians, and health and safety

©

© ©

e

Youth skills and jobs Digital inclusion Inclusive workplace Sustainable innovation
Empower 100,000 peaple Equip 10,000 pecple We will have a workfarce that We will reduce our contribution
pragress towards the world with digital skills reflects the diversity of aur to climate change and support
of work communities and is inclusive our clients to do the same
IMAGE REMOVED IMAGE REMOVED IMAGE REMOVED IMAGE REMOVED

Our strategy demonstrates ous contribution towards achieving the United Mation's Sustainable Development Goals, as shown above

1 higsfhwwwilo org/globalfrepics/yauth-employment/lang--en/index htm
b b ; Fovrik Floaal

2 hitps/iwww g z: an,arg/ g}
A https//www unorg/sustainabledevelopment/climate- change-
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Responsible business continued

Governance

Accountability for our responsible business
strategy sits with our Chief People Officer
and the Executive Committee who report bi-
annuzlly to the Board on progress against our
strategy and goals. The Executive Committee
provides oversight of the strategy, ensuring
appropriate resaurce is in place to deliver the
programmes. A central responsible business
function oversees the strategy, developing
and delivering business-wide programmes,
monitoring perfermance against stated

goals and raising awareness of responsible
business practices across all the functions
and divisions. As we deliver our strategy
through 2019, we will be strengthening our
gavernance and creating action groups which
will be responsible for delivering detailed
action plans for each of our focus themes.

Delivering our strategy
Youth skills and jobs

At Capita, we are a support services leader
in the education sector, delivering a range
of services to schools and academies.

Our software solutions support 21,000
schools and 160 universities and colleges
in the UK, to help them access information
on emerging trends and highlight areas of
excellence and underperformance.

As our products and services support schools
to thrive, we also support young people to
develop the abilities and skills to prepare
them for the workptace, By 2023, we want
to have empowered 100,000 young people
to progress towards work with the help

of our products and services, and through
aur business operations. Our new charity
partnerships with Teach First and Young
Enterprise will enable our people to volunteer
their skills in local schools and cofleges.

We continue to bring talented people into
our organisation through our apprenticeship
scheme. In 2018, we had 456 apprentices
working across our businesses.

Tackling youth unemployment in South Africa

Capita South Africa is committed
to supporting two of the country's

greatest challenges - education and
youth employment. The Capita South
Africa Scholarship Prograrmme is our

commitment to assisting our empl
children with access to education,
In 2018 we had 86 beneficiaries in

programme with 15 graduating from

our Life Skills programme which gives
them the opportunity to access life-
skills training, such as goal-setting,
conflict management and study skills.
We continue our partnership with
oyees’  Sinenjongo High School to support the
lack of work readiness skills, helping
the create meaningful opportunities and
careers for young South Africans.

IMAGE REMOVED
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Charity partnership with the
Alzheimer's Society

We had a successful year of fundraising
and volunteering for our charity
partnership with the Alzheimer’s
Society. Qur one-year partnership, IMAGE REMOVED
which ended in june 2018, created
more than 1,300 new Dementia
Friends and delivered dementia
awareness training to 60 employees.
The goodwill of our people saw us raise

more than £218,000, which is used to

support the invaluable services that o

the Alzheimer's Society delivers. Salford, l?lgltal _Efagies .
Urban Vision, our joint venture with

Salford City Council committed to

tackling digital exclusion by signing

up to the Salford City Council

Digital Eagles scheme. The council

is the first in the country to tearn

up with Barclays to train employees

IMAGE REMOVED tophelp their :glleagues emb?acz

new technology. Digital Eagles aim

to improve thousands of lives by

equipping and supporting people ta

reap the benefits of the digital world —

such as surfing online safely, improving

job prospects or keeping in touch with

loved ones. We currently have three

Digital Eagles involved in the scheme.

Digital inclusion

At Capita, we are at the forefront of the
digital revolution, unlocking value for our
clients through digital transfarmation, data
analytics and automation. Alongside this,
we understand that rising digitisation can
make products and services less accessible to
some pepple. We have therefore committed
to equipping 10,000 people with digital
skills, enabling them to reap the benefits of
the digital world we live in. Partnering with
locat community groups and charities,

we will develop and deliver a digital skills
programme that helps community centres
reach more people, while we will also train
our people to become 'digital champions’,
sharing their skills in local communities.

Enabling social mobility

Many paople never get the chance to
succeed simply because of where they
were born or lacked the epportunities
to progress in life. Lack of social
mobility is a global issue and at Capita,
we are well placed to encourage

and drive action. Therefore, a focal
point of our responsible business
themes is social mobility - delivering
programmes that support all the
communities we live and wark but
more specifically those areas with

low social mability. This year, we

were the proud sponsors of the UK
Sacial Mobility Awards - an awards
programme delivered by the charity
Making the Leap.

Inclusive workplaces

Last year, we committed to increasing our
focus on diversity, inclusion and wellbeing.
The purpose of our commitment was to
create an environment where our people
can bring their whote selves to work and
enhance diversity of thought across the
business to create better outcomes for our
clients and customers. We are delivering
on our promise and have developed an
inclusion and wellbeing strategy alongside
the wider Paople transformation plans — all
underpinned by the updated values and
behaviours, All of these now place a greater
emphasis on how managers, leaders and
their teams can create a more inclusive
envirgnment far everyone.

For more information about our approach

and gender pay gap, please refer to page 38
in our people section.
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Responsible business continued

Sustainable innovation

As a business with more than 300 sites

and 63,000 people worldwide, we have

an impact on the environment. This is
aresult of the energy we use to run our
buildings, the waste we generate and the
business travel we conduct. We measure
our environmental performance through
reporting our carbon faotprint annually in
terms of tonnes CO; equivalent {tCOze) and
tonnes CO; equivalent per person. We have
set a goal to reduce our contribution to
climate change and support our clients ta do
the same through our products and services.

We have successfully reduced our emissions
between 2017 and 2018 by 4% and will strive
to improve this further by continuing with
our energy reduction programme acrass

our UK portfolio. This programme was
launched in 2015 and has already provided
Capita with savings of £4.4m. In addition,
we will improve the quality and scope of our
environmental performance data, with the
ambition to set a science-based target in
2020 to reduce emissions even further.

We will also be working with our six divisions
to identify the products and services we
deliver that already help our clients respond
and adapt to climate change.

Annual greenhouse gas emissions

We measure our environmental performance
through reporting our carbon footprint
annually in terms of tonnes CO; equivalent
{tCO2e) and tonnes CO; equivalent per
person. We report separately on our direct
emissions from Capita controlled and owned
sources {Scope 1), indirect emissions from
consumption of electricity, heat or steam
(Scope 2) and emissions from third parties
{Scope 3). This ensures our compliance to
Part 7 of The Companies Act 2006 (Strategic
Report and Director's Report) Regulations
2013 which requires certain disclosures in
respect of greenhouse gas emissions (the
Strategic Report GHG Emission disclosures).

Annual greenhouse gas emlssfons M '2018 1 207 2016
Scope 1 . 1997568 22,605.38 18,137.00-
Scope 2 : 4517451 54,26161 65,094.00
Scope 3 i 36,277.00] 29,264.29 34,317.00
Total gross tonnes of COze ! 10185096  106,131.29 117,485.00
Total gross tonnes of COze/£1m revenue ) 26.33 { 25.56 2697
Total gross tonnes of COze/headcount . 1.52, 1.52 1.61

Notes:

Restated 2017 emissions data to Impreve th accuracy of reporting, using actual data to replace estimations.
Scope 1 Emissions from Capita sources that are controlled by us, induding the combustion of fuel, company owned vehides and the

operation of gur facilities,

Scope 2: Emissions from the consumprion of purchased electricity, heal or steam.

travel.

Scope 3: Emissions kam tated 1o Capita's Juding busk
Methodology
Our disclosures cover saurces of our g from our op

Austria), India and Sauth Africa. Caplta-converes the eansimption data Into.a casbon factprint with consid
's (WBCSDIWR)) Greenbouse Gas Protocol, together with the latest

Coundil for Sustainable Developmenz and Warld R

in UK, Ireland, Europe (Poland, Germany, Switzerland,
ion ta the Waorld Busi

emissions factors from the UK Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs {Defra) or, where available, the latest industry lactars,

such as hotel stays from the Green Tourism Board Schemme.,

IMAGE REMOVED

Helping London to lead on
climate change

Capita’s Zero Carbon Housing

Team, part of Capita Real £state and
Infrastructure, is leading the delivery
of the Mayor of London’s domestic
energy efficiency programme,
RE:NEW. The programme aims to
reduce emissions from existing

homes in London threugh energy
efficiency and renewable energy
investments. Our Zero Carbon Team
has been working closely with the
Greater London Authority te design,
develop and deliver the pan-London
programme and has so far supported
the investment of more than £130m in
energy efficiency measures in 37,000
homes in London. This has reduced the
equivalent of 32,000 tonnes of carbon
dioxide per year, lowered the energy
costs of an estimated 4,500 fuel-
poor households, while water-saving
measures in more than 1,000 homes
has saved the equivalent of 16 million
litre water bottles,




Operating responsibly

For Capita to operate as a responsible
business we are now educating our managers
and leaders about their part to play, with the
introduction of managers’ commitments.
The commitments identify ways which
managers and leaders can ensure we are
operating in the right way for our customer,
clients and people, We are committed to
embedding responsible business practices
across our global operations,

Supplier relations

With 34,657 suppliers, we recognise that
Capita's supply chain is critical to the
company's success, and the agility, speed and
value we need to be competitive. In addition
to the work we do for people in our local
communities, we aiso want to support local
businesses to grow and succeed. 68% of our
suppliers are classed as small and medium-
sized enterprises (SMEs), which equates to
19% of supplier expenditure across Capita

We aim to saurce responsibly, working with
our suppliers to enhance the sustainability
of what we buy. Over the past year,

we enhanced the questions we ask of our
new and renewing suppliers to ensure

we work with suppliers who uphold our
ethical principles. In addition, to help stamp
out modemn slavery, we cantinue to audit
our material and high-risk suppliers.

In October, we updated our supplier
payment terms, committing to pay small and
micro businesses (<50 employees, <£10m
turnover) within 14 days and SMEs (<250
employees, <£50m turnover) within 30
days. In the year ended 2018, we paid 76% of
micro organisations within 14 days and 77%
of our SME suppliers within 30 days or less.
In bath cases, over 95% were paid within

60 days.

Client relations

We take a holistic approach to the way

we support our clients, listening to their
needs and requirements to provide the

right solutions to help them deliver their
services more effectively and efficiently,
solve challenges and maintain their
competitive positions. We aiso look to work
collaboratively with our clients, tackling local
socio-economic issues and delivering long-
term value to their communities.
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Over the last two years, we have conducted
a survey of our key clients to provide a view
of their satisfaction. This survey is intended
to help us identify where there is potential to
add further value to aur clients’ operations.
One of the outputs is the ‘customer net
promoter score’ (cNPS'), which will be a
measure of our business perfermance.

The cNPS was selected as one of the five
performance metrics for the company’s
2018 long-term incentive plan (LTIP) for
senior management, with a positive swing
of between 6 and 12 points required for the
condition to be met. We will monitor the
progress of the cNPS closely over the three-
year performance period.

Protecting our information and data

Protecting the data of our clients, our
company and our people is one of the most
fundamental and important responsibilities
we have Qur Data Protection and Information
Security Policies, Standards and Procedures
ensure we treat personal information correctly,
in accordance with the law and best practice.
When we process personal information
(including sensitive personal information), we
ensure that we comply with these policies,
standards and procedures including its
collection, storage, use and safe destruction.

In order to ensure compliance with the Data
Protection Act 2018 (and General Data
Protection Regulations), we have implemented
a comprehensive programme including a
network of trained privacy professionals who
provide expert help and assistance for anyone
handling data within our business or on behalf
of our clients.

We continue to raise awareness of the
importance of data protection and privacy
through our mandatory data protection
training and ongoing training prograrnmes,
in particular the Think Privacy, Think
Security campaign.

Health and safety

We conduct our business activities ina
manner that aims to prevent the injury and ill
health of our people and others, Our global
health and safety management systern sets
the required standards across the company
to ensure that our people and businesses

understand the right protocols and procedures;
and ensure that we are creating a safe

working environment, which reduces the risk
of accidents and ilt health. The system has
enabled Capita to reduce its accident rate year-
on-year, with a reduction of 25% from 2017

to 2018; and we are committed to continuing
this improvement annually in all areas of the
business Ta encaurage a better work-life
balance, we also provide opportunities for
flexible working (14 of our employees are
part-time) and have introduced technology

to enable employees to work rernotely.

Bribery

We do not tolerate bribery and corruption
Qur Anti-Bribery and Carruption Policy applies
to all Capita businesses and employees.

The Risk and Compliance teams maonitor
compliance against this policy, ensuring

all parts of the business are aware of their
responsibilities in terms of charity donations
and sponsorships, and facilitating payments,
gifts and hospitality All employees must
complete Financial Crime training annually.

Human rights

We aspire to conduct business in a way that
values and respects the human rights of all
our stakeholders. Our Human Rights Policy
details our commitrments to uphalding the
principles of human rights, as set out in the
LN Dedlaration of Human Rights and the
international Labour Organisation Core
Labour Principles. We comply with all relevant
legislation, including the UK Modern Slavery
Act which is detailed further online.

Code of Conduct and speaking up
{whistleblowing)

We are due to launch a new Code of Conduct
that will build on and replace our Ethical
Code, to set out what is expected from every
person working for, and with our businesses,
anywhere in the world,

The Code will be underpinned by our global
policies including our Speak Up Policy which
sets out the channels available to any person
who works for or with us to raise any concerns
{'blow the whistle’) that our policies are not
being followed correctly or that something is
iltegal, unethical or does not comply with our
Code of Conduct.

*On a scale of 0-10. how likely is it that you would

1 The custorner aet p score (cNPShs calculated based

oneq

recommerd us 16 8 friend or colleague?” Based en the Aumber & cient selects, they are categarised 25 a promoter (score between 9-10j,
passiee (7-8), or detractor {0-5) Tha final CNPS ks the difference bevwaan the percentages of promotars and detractors, The lowest
passible score is <100, tha highast 100, Because the biggest range of scores Is for detractors, final totals are fraquently negative.

A total score above zera can be considered ‘good’, while any positive swing indicates an impraving business.

Note: The informatian required ta be containad in the ngn-financial reparting statementunder section 414CA Companies Act 2006 s set
out 1n this responsible business section. Other relevant information about Capita's business madel, key performance indicators and approach

1o risk managemesnt are detailed in the strategic report on pages 1-52.
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Internal control and risk management

Our risk management
is continually evolving

Effective risk management will
be key to the successful delivery
of Capita’s strategic objectives.
The company faces a range of
business uncertainties and, by
using a structured approach to
risk management, we are able
to understand, assess, mitigate
and manage these risks.

The events of early 2018, which led to the
rights issue, are a timely reminder of the
importance of continually improving the way
we manage our risks The diverse nature of
our businesses, the sectors we serve, and the
geographical reach of our aperations are all
key factors in the risk environment facing
the Group.

A number of the Group's subsidiaries are
regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority
(FCA), with others regulated by OFCOM,
while some of the healthcare business

are covered by health sector regulation.
Compliance with regulatory requirements
helps set standards for the Group, which

are in some cases appropriate for both the
regulated and the non-regulated businesses.

To underpin execution of our 'simplify,
strengthen and succeed’ strategy, work on
defining and delivering a new operating
model started in 2018, This included
reviewing the risks to the successful
delivery of this strategy.

Notwithstanding the redefined strategy, the
risk profile (shown on page 46) has stayed
targely the same as in 2017 However, the
changes during the year have allowed us

to understand more fully the risks being
managed and to plan better and more
effective mitigating actions.

The focus on risk through formalised
business and executive risk committees
continued throughout 2018, with areas of
attention flexing to the requirements of the
different businesses as well as the wider
corporate exposures, We have improved and
broadened the information presented by the
divisions at monthly business performance
reviews to better track a range of financial,
non-financial, operational and conduct
metrics. These meatings are the primary
vehicle for managing corporate perfarmance
and the inclusion of these risk indicators
demonstrates the standard of behaviours,
conduct, culture and level of control
expected across the business.

However, there is more to do and in 2019 we
will develop and implement a control and risk
self-assessment approach (comman in many
companies) as a core part of improving our
risk management framework and approach.

Risk management approach

At Capita, risks are identified and

managed across the business, using the

risk management framework (RMF).

This supports the Board and executive team
in embedding effective risk management.
The RMF sets out our risk management
framework and is maintained by the Risk &
Compliance function.

The application of a consistent approach
across all business activities should ensure
that effective control measures are in place
for the risks that have the highest potential
impacts. Experience shows that controls
have not been embedded consistently within
the business and this has resulted in failures
and external scrutiny over delivery of our
PCSE and RPP contracts

The Board takes assurance about the
management cf risk from the ‘three lines

of defence’ model, as shown in the graphic
below right. The model is not consistently
embedded and somne lines of defence are not
yet working as they should. Improvements to
ensure that the three lines model is effective
are underway and will continue during 2019.



Risk governance
arrangements

The Board is uttimately responsible for

the management of the risks that Capita
faces. The risk management framework
and the Group's associated risk appetite
and tolerance are reviewed by the Board.
Significant risks are introduced, if new, or
escalated, if changed for specific attention
at any time. for example, in 2018 we added
a risk related to the overall transformation
programme taking place across the Group.

The Board delegates responsibility for
regular reviews of the risks managed by
Capita through formal terms of reference

to the Audit and Risk Committee. The risk
management process is overseen by the
Audit and Risk Committee, |t approves the
annual plans for both Group internal Audit
and Risk & Compliance and is pravided with
regular updates on progress throughout the
year with reports on findings, issues, risk
incidents and themes for its attention. it sets
the external audit scope and receives reports
on findings.
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The Executive Risk Committee has the
oversight of Capita's averall residual risks.
Itin turn reports the residual position with
narrative from the Executive to the Audit
and Risk Committee to allow full sight of the
corporate risk profile and material issues.

To ensure there is sufficient oversight of the
regulated financial services businesses, a
Financial Services Risk Committee is being
established in 2019. Capita recognises

the importance of the financial services
businesses it operates, and the particular
risks associated with financial services
operations, The Committee will be chaired
by an independent Non-Executive Director
and will report to the Executive Risk, and
Audit and Risk committees.

The company made progress during 2018 to
address some of the risks, as well as putting
in place the enablers to drive a stronger risk
management approach for Capita's principal
risks. The progress included:

- Enhanang executive leadership team
over a 12-month period with stronger
functional leadership.

+ Reorganising the business and introducing

anew operating model.

Completing the rights issue.

* Working with the FCA to ensure that the
regulated businesses are compliant with
the relevant requirements.

+ Enhancing the monthly business
perfaormance review process to include
review of risk.

We are working to provide greater consistency
in risk management; in particular, an enhanced
control and risk self-assessment process is
being developed. We are also adapting our
risk management framewaork. Both these
enhancements, targeted for 2019, 2im to
ensure the risk framewaork remains fit for
purpose and further embeds the commitment
of the organisational leadership to work
within a strong controls culture,

Risk Governance

P S
Board
Audit and Risk
Committee

a Executive Risk
E Committee
8
K] Risk, compliance and

governance

Divisional and business
unit management

Local risk committees

umop do|

1# line of defence .

Day-to-day responsibility for operating the controls and risk
management processes to ensure compliance with legistation,
regulation, contractual obligations and policy

2"line of defence

Executive and committees to provide oversight and challenge. Risk & Compliance
(including privacy, information security, business continuity and financial crime),
establish policy and limits of autharity in line with the Company’s risk appetite,
provide guidance on implementing and monitor adherence.

Group functions (e.g. people, finance, legal and commercial) provide strategic
advice, aversight and challenge on controls and risk management.

3 line of defence

Assurance of the effectiveness of the first and second line
controls through independent internal and external audit,
reporting to the Audit and Risk Committee.
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Internal control and risk management continued

Principal risks

Current assessment of principal risks

1 Failures of internal systems of control 8 Failure to achieve financal expectations

Failures in information security controls 9 Lack of corporate financiat stability

Increased business complexity 10 Failure ta innovate

Operational IT 11 Adverse changes in political landscape

(¥, I - N I YV R I N ]

Failure to effectively manage 12 Reputation

our people

6 Weaknesses in acquisition 13 Transformation

and contracting

7 Legal and regulatory

Risk assessment — exposure to the business if risk materialises:

@ Critical: a crisis event; of immediate critical concern; and the maximum level of risk Capita
can bear while remaining effective at delivering its strategy.

@ Uncomfortable causing problems that are beginning to put uncomfortable pressure
on delivery.

© Tolerance: a bearable, business-as-usual level of risk; recognised as an early-warning indicator;
but manageable with the right people and processes in place to respond to the threat.

The graphic above shows the risk position at the end of 2018. There was lmited mavement of the risk position during the year
Tha transformauon programme which 15 underway will need to be effective In changing the approach te the 2reas of risk to
be effectrve.

Principal risk categories

Our risk management framework is based
around risk categories against which our
businesses measure their risk exposure and
report on incidents and issues. The ‘critical’
risk exposures are reported directly to the
Audit and Risk Committee te provide clear
fine of sight. The principal risks represent
the main risks to the strategy and objectives
of Capita.

The principal risks and uncertainties which
are considered to have a material impact
on Capita's performance and achievement
of its strategy are set out on the following
pages. External and internal risk factors
are considered. This is not intended to be
an exhaustive and extensive analysis of

all risks which may affect our businesses.
Additional risks and uncertainties not
presently known to management, or
currently deemed to be less material, may

also have an adverse effect on our objectives.

To repeat, Capita is in year one of a
fundamental transformation plan.

The principal risks reflect this; in particular,
Capita’s ability to meet financial
expectations, deliver sales growth and
protect its reputation, so as to continue

to do business. The integrated nature of

the transformation plan is designed to
mitigate these risks as effectively as possible.
Accordingly, such mitigation is dependent on
the successful implementation of this plan.
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Principal risk

Patential impact

How we manage the risk

1. Failure of internal
systems of control

Controls do not operate effectively
or do not operate at all

Assessment at year-end

This risk has partly materialised
due te some control failings

in parts of the business,

However, the control environment
is assessed as sufficient to avoid
material misstatement.

2. Failure in information
security controls

Information held in systems
is accessed or shared in breach
of palicy

Assessment at year-end

During the first half of 2018,

some incidents occurred due

to inadequate maintenance of
infrastructure controls. The cyber-
resilience programme is being
redesigned to address the highest
priority outstanding risks as soon
as practical.

3. increased business
complexity

Business has grown into many
diverse business areas

Assessment at year-end

During 2018, the Group developed
a new strategy, simplified its
structure and sold some businesses.

Key @Critical @ Uncomfortable

» Increased costs associated

.

+ Lack of clear accountability

Mitigating actions in 2018:
+ Governance, boards and committees in place to review

Increased fraudulent activity

Increased risk of
financial malpractice

+ Internal Audit programme of wark
Increased repulatory serutiny

+ Monitoring of regulatory requirements

with remediation activities - Monthly perfoermance tracking of risk indicators

Reputational damage

Service detriment to cur
clients or end-customers

Financial loss

Future actions:
« Controls and risk self-assessment
- Financial Services Risk Committee put in place

+ Implementation of a new finance system supported
by standard processes and controls

Mitigating actions in 2018:
+ Capita operates and holds certifications for 1SO 27001

Significant loss of data

Loss of customer confidence
Failure to win new business
Regulatery censure/fine

Remediation programme
at Capita’s expense

« External review of cyber-resilience
« Programme of work to remediate issues

+ Detective controls in place and regularly reviewed
to consider new threats

+ Preventative cantrols in place and regularly updated
to detect new threats

« Data protection programme of work carried out

Future actions:

Comprehensive review of current status of resilience against
group and contract requirements

Simplify our cybersecurity through the creation of a single
cyber-operations centre

Strengthen our cyber-posture by developing and mandating
additional capabilities, including organisational awareness
and enhanced training of our people

Work with organisations, such as Security Alliance {a Gartner
company}, to help assess the threat to Capita by looking from
an external viewpoint

Run continuous vulnerability assessments across the estate
to proactively identify weaknesses that need to be addressed
Run executive cyber-training to ensure all our senior
employees are aware that cybersecurity is a business
responsibility and not just an IT responsibility

Mitigating actions in 2018:
» Reorganised business into coherent divisions

+ Implernented a clear operating model with
supporting governance ta clarify accountabilities

- Simplified the range of market offerings

» Strengthened corporate and divisional management
+ Disposal of non-core businesses

Future actions:

- Embed operating models across business

= New customer relationship management tool
to be put in place
« Financial models agreed where divisions introduce each other

within the business

Risk and performance
management are more
difficult to operate
effectively, leading to
sub-optimal outcomes
for all stakehalders

Divisions not working
together, duplicating effort
and driving up costs
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Internal control and risk management continued

Principal risk

Potential impact

How we manage the risk

4. Operational IT

IT infrastructure is not fit
‘|-for purpose -

Assessment at year-end

During the year, a programme to
address ineffective maintenance
of the technical infrastructure
was established.

5. Failure to effectively
manage our people

Unable to recruit and retain
key employees

Assessment at year-end

The professionalisation of -
the people function provides

a platform to address the
ineffactive controls in this area.

6. Weaknesses in
acquisition and
contracting

Entering into poorly worded
contracts to our detriment

Assessment at year-end

Past weaknesses with contract
initiation and management
are being addressed through
stronger governance,

Key @ Critical € Uncomfortable

.

.

+ Increased cost of recruitment

.

Disruptions to service lead
to loss of revenue

Service credits payable
to clients -

Loss of confidence in
Capita’s IT systems

Loss of key employees

Unable to attract the right
people with the right skills

Lack of skiiled,
competent resource

due to high attrition rates

Unable to deliver
Capita’s strategy

Lack of continuity at
Executive Commuttee level

Loss of contracts

Lack of ability to acquire
new business

Contract terms are punitive
Contract terms are not
met ar understood

Loss of profits

Exposure to unexpected
costs or onerous terms
Brand and reputation
damage if not

managed effectively
Acquisition synergies
are not realised

Mitigating actions in 2018:

- Upgrade technical abilities

+ Investment in data centre network

+ Simplified existing IT environment

+ Change management processes help
reduce risk and unplanned outages

Future actions:

= Continued activity on simplifying data centre
network Continued investrment in IT resilience

Mitigating actions in 2018:

+ Chief People Officer appointed

- Focus on culture from the top

+ Strengthened senior leadership team

- People strategy defined

+ Improved engagement across the business
+ Capita Academy launched

Future actions:

+ Focus on succession planning and development of employees

« Talent reviews, enabling employees to identify new
opportunities and to move to new roles within Capita

* Investment into new MR systems

Mitigating actions in 2018:
+ Contract Review Commit{ee in place to better understand
contract risks in new or existing arrangements

Future actions:
» Delivery of a ciearly defined Contract Management process
« Transactions committee to be put in place
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Principal risk

Potential impact

How we manage the risk

7. Legal and regulatorj

Breaking the law or not
meeting regulations

Assessment at year-end .

The environment is more
complex and work is underway
to strengthen our response

in all areas.

- Censure or fine from

a regulator

Reputational damage

Lack of confidence from

investors and customers

Data Subject Access

requests not completed

within required timescales

Increased costs due to

remediation activities

+ Increased regulatory
scrutiny which could limit
potential for grawth

Mitigating actions in 2018:

« Regular risk committee meetings held throughout the year,
including the Audit and Risk Committee

+ Engagement with regulatory bodies

+ Specialist team monitoring and engaging with regulators
aver proposed regulatory or legal changes

+ Chief General Counsel appointed

« Legal team in place across the divisions to manage potential
and actual issues

Future actions:

- Financial Services Risk Committee to focus on financial
services risk M .

+ Development of controls and risk seif-assessment tool

+ Refresh and roll-out of a revised risk framewark

8. Failure to achieve
financial expectations

Adverse performance against
our stated business plans

Assessment at year-end .

The Group has clear targets

for 2020 and is strengthening
business management to secure
their delivery.

Loss of revenues, profits and/
or cash flows

Failure to retusn to organic
revenue growth

» Loss in shareholder value
Undermines

investor confidence
Erodes corporate position
in the market

Weakens our ability to
attract and retain the

best people

9. Lack of corporate‘
financial stability

Failure to manage financial
exposures and access to finance

Assessment at year-end .

The balance sheet is stranger
and more resilient, with mare
todoin 2019.

Key @ Critical @ Uncomfortable

Increase in leverage
Inflexible balance sheet
» Lack of cash to invest

* Inability to grow

« Lack of confidence from
investors and customers

Mitigating actions in 2018:

« Move to a multi-year strategic planning range

» Detailed bottom-up Board-approved business plan
for 2019 and 2020

» Enhanced monthly performance reviews

« Clearer financial and operational KPis at business,
divisional and functional level

+ New Executive Committee governance committees
- Appointed Chief Growth Officer

Future actions:

- Delivery of upgraded finandial systems,
pracesses and controls

+ Deep-dive review of businesses to assess
progress against the new strategy

» Plan to drive revenue growth

Mitigating actions in 2018:

+ Launched new strategy

+ Completion of the rights issue

+ Disposal of non-core businesses

« Reduction in leverage

» Early repayment of debt

- Targeted investment

« Achieving £70m of cost-out savings

+ Develaped a plan to address pension deficit

Future actions:
+ Further repayment of debt
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Internal control and risk management continued

Principal risk Potential impact

How we manage the risk

+ Inability to grow and develop

into new markets

Loss of new and existing

business to competitors

Erodes corporate position

in the market

+ Weakens our ability to
attract and retain the
best people

- Unable to compete with
athers who are innovative

10.Failure to innovate

Not keeping up with technology
or other changes

Assessment at year-end

During 2018, more governance
and structures were set up
to support innovation,

+ Fewer outsourcing

11. Adverse changes in Ls¢
opportunities offered

political landscape

by the public sector
Unable to operate under a different | + Existing business no
political regime longer outsourced

« Exposure to markets with
limited growth opportunities

+ Loss of revenues, profits and/
or cashflows

Assessment at year-end

2018 saw seme changes but the
environment remains uncertain.

12. Reputation * Loss of confidence in Capita
Poorly thought of by " Clients g uffer
our stakeholders reputational damage

+ Fewer or no new contracts
* Loss of revenues, profits and/
or cash flows

* Unattractive proposition for
shareholders to invest in

Assessment at year-end

There were some issues with
challenging contracts in 2018 but
the building blocks for a better
reputation are in place.

Mitigating actions in 2018:

+ Strengthened the executive team with a Chief Digitat Officer
and Chief Growth Officer

* Working with external technology partners to develop
our digital offering

+ Share market innovation best practice internally

Mitigating actions in 2018:

« Engagement with Government and other parties
(e.g. regulators) to understand current thinking

+ Preparations made in relation to Brexit

+ Understanding of client requirements for Brexit if there
is a transition period or no deal with Europe

Future actions:

» Build a broader base of understanding about Capita as
a transforming business, committed to delivery of service

- Demonstrate value delivered in public sector

Mitigating actions in 2018:

- Director of Corpaorate Affairs appointed

+ Reactive and proactive management of media stories

+ Working with selected media to promote Capita’s
positive image

Future actions:

- Deliver new corporate affairs strategy

+ Ensure Capita's multi-year transformation is understood
and clearly communicated to all stakeholders

+ Embed new corporate purpose, and refreshed values
and behaviours

_

13. Transformation + A rmore complex business

. that is unmanageable
Making the business fit for - Loss of revenues, profits
the future

and/or cash flows

+ Money spent on
transformation is wasted

« Business is not fit
for the future

This was a new risk in 2018 due to
the scale and pace of the company
transformation underway.

Assessment at year-end

w—
Mitigating actions in 2018:
+ ‘Blueprint’ used to ensure-consistent approach to
operating model across divisions and functions

+ Chief Transformation Officer appointed

+ Focus by Executive Committee on risks

+ Simplification is the way to strengthen the business
Future actions:

+ Complete operating model work

+ Embed the new madel

Key @Critical @ Uncomfortable
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Emerging risk

Impact of Brexit

While the details around the UK's scheduled departure from the
EU remained unclear at the time of writing this Annual Report,
Capita has continued to review a range of Brexit scenarios

and conducted contingency planning. We have taken steps to
manage risk in specific areas and are not aware of any material
company-specific impacts from Brexit. We are therefore
confident that there will be no significant disruption to the
services we offer clients.

Capita employs a significant number of EU natianals, and we
want to see maximum certainty for our valued employees and
colleagues. We are providing guidance and support for those
who are applying for settled status in the UK.

Our preparations for any Brexit scenario, including 2 'no deal’
exit, include safeguards to ensure resilience around potential
changes to data protection rules, procurement rules and
immigration requiremnents. As with other companies, Capita
would be subject to any deterioration in the economy accurring
as a result of Brexit.

We continue to monitor political developments and consider
scenarios as the Government's plans and positions develop.
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Other risk factors

Protecting our information and data

Protecting the data of our clients, our company and our people
is one of the most fundamental and important responsibilities
we have. Our Data Protection and Information Security
Policies, Standards and Procedures ensure we treat personal
information correctly, in accordance with the law and best
practice. When we process personal information (including
sensitive personal information), we ensure that we comply with
these policies, standards and procedures including its collection,
storage, use, retention, transfer, deletion and safe destruction.

In order to ensure compliance with the Data Protection Act
2018 (and General Data Protection Regulations), we have
implemented a comprehensive programme, including a network
of trained privacy professionals who provide expert help and
assistance for anyone handling data within our business or on
behalf of our clients.

We continue to raise awareness of the importance of data
protection and privacy through our mandatory data protection
training and ongoing training programmes, i particular the
Think Privacy; Think Security campaigns.

Cyber-attacks
Cyber-attacks continue to negatively impact all industry sectors.

Capita fully recognises the persistent cyber-threat posed
by criminals and nation-states, and that cyber-attacks are
increasing both in their number and in their sophistication.

The Board remains focused on ensuring our businesses and
systerns are resilient against the [atest cyber-threats and

have instigated a cyber-resilience programme. Supported by
external and internal cybersecurity subject matter experts, the
cyber-resilience programme liaises with our businesses and

IT providers to implement and maintain robust preventative
security controls throughout Capita's IT estate, As 2 managed
service provider, we recognise our role within our client’s supply
chain, and the increasing cyber-threat posed by nation-state
resourged actors targeting our clients.

We continue to work closely with UK Government agencies
and our partner organisations, to help protect our clients’
digital assets and services, and the key parts of the national
information infrastructure with which we are entrusted.




52 Capita ple Annual Report 2018

Viability statement

The transformation plan described
earlier in the strategic report
underpins the viability of the
Group and parent company.

As noted on page 65, for the going concern
assessment, the Board has considered
base-case projections for the period to

31 December 2020 which are derived

from the 2019-2020 business plans
Provision C 2.2 of the 2016 revised Code
requires the Directors to also consider the
viability of the Group over a longer-term
period and for this viability statement the
Board has assessed the prospects for the
Group using the base-case forecasts over

an extended period to 31 December 2021.
The Board considers this three-year period to
- be appropriate, as there is sufficient clarity to
consider the business prospects and the base
case over this period provides a foundation
to stress test against severe but plausible
downside scenarios.

In assessing the going concern assumption,
the Board has undertaken a robust
assessment of the forecast out-turns and
assessed identified downside risks on a
probability-weighted basis and mitigating
actions, The downside risks include a number
of severe but plausible scenarios, also on 2
probability-weighted basis, incorporating
under-performance against the business
plan, execution risk associated with the
transformation plan and unexpected

cash outflows. These financial downsides
{Scenario 1) capture political, economic and
reputation risks.

In considering the viability of the Group, the
Board has extended the financial downside
scenarios above to include stress testing and
sensitivity analysis of the impact of various
severe but plausible potential scenarios
involving the threats posed by other principal
risks. These have included (but are nat
limited to) scenarios in respect of:

Scenario 2: An information security breach
—a significant loss of data or release of a
significant amount of sensitive personal
client data. The Board has considered, among
other items, the potential impact to cash and
profits arising from potential penalties and
fines, compensation payments and negative
impacts from such reputational damage in
terms of an inability to win new business or
retain existing contracts.

Scenario 3: Regulatory risks — serious
breach of FCA or other regulators rules
impacting large number of clients and/

or causing systematic damage to financial
services system; and failure of financial
crime controls around anti-money
laundering (AML) assessment, due diligence
and sanction assessment leading to a
significant AML incident and investigation.
The Board has considered among other items
potential fines, and any actions taken that
may prohibit or suspend the Group fram
operating within certain regulatory regimes,

Scenario 4. The efficacy of [T and
infrastructure systems and controls - a
significant IT incident causes failure to key
systemns for hosted services to major clients
with failure of recover solution causing a
‘black-out’ for up to two weeks. The Board
has considered among other items any
contractual penalties that may arise, capitat
costs required to address any immediate
infrastructure improvernents, potential
contract terminations and the negative
impact on new contract wins,

Scenario 5: A wider economicimpact on
Group financial stability — uncertainty

of earnings as a result of a change in the

UX Government to a party with a strong
mandate for radical policy change and/or the
UK’s withdrawal from the European Union.
The Board has considered among other items
new barriers to entry, changes to corporate
taxation, and the termination of public
sector contracts.

The Board has conducted stress tests against
each individual scenario in order to test the
resilience of the Group taking into account
the efficacy of possible mitigating actions

In addition to testing individual scenarios,
the Board also considered the impact of a
combination of the scenarios, again using a
probability weighting, over the assessment
period. This was in order to stress test an
aggregation of severe but plausible risks
occurring that would represent the greatest
potential financial impact but in the short-
term and longer-term viability period.

The Directors considered mitigating factors
that could be employed when reviewing
these scenarios and the effectiveness of

the actions at their disposal, which were
applied to the models An example of the
actions identified included adjusting the
Group's investment in discretionary and
maintenance capital projects, having due
regard to the need to ensure the integrity of
the Group's IT systems is not compromised
nor the security of the data he!d therein; and
further reduction in discretionary operating
expenditure. The Board also considered the
Group's current financing arrangements and
potential ability to replace the revolving
credit facility with a bank facility of a

size consistent with one of the scenarios
modelled, should this be required. The Board
was satisfied that this, and other ritigating
actions identified, were appropriate in

reviewing the impact of the scenarios arising.

Based on this assessrment and assuming

the successful implementation of the
transformation plan, the Directors have a
reasonable expectation that the Group and
parent company will be able to continue in
operation and meet their liabilities as thay
fall due over the period of their assessment.

The strategic report was approved by the
oard and signed on behalf of the Board:

@%e
Francesca Todd

Group Company Secretary
13 March 2019
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Chairman’s report
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"Our plan to appoint two employees
to the Board is further evidence

of our commitment to inclusivity
and engagement.”

Sir lan Powell
Chairman

| am pleased to present this report on the work of the Board during
2018, formed of this section (pages 54-63) and the section headed
‘Other statutory and regulatory information’ (pages 63-68),

Results for 2018

In the Chief Executive Officer's review on pages 8-13 we have detailed
the results for the year. It has been a significant year for Capita and
the Board and we remain confident that the transformation
programme we are pursuing will deliver the right outcomes.

Board activities in 2018

"The Board has a standing schedule to meet nine times a year but holds

further meetings as required, operating with an open culture. In 2018,
the Board has had to deal with many key rnatters, as it seeks to set the
Group on a sustainable path for the future and address historical
issues.

A structured approach is taken when setting Board and Committee
meetings — they are aligned with the Company's financial calendar. We
set an agenda to cover the wide range of matters that are brought to
our attention, ensuring each is given appropriate time and focus.

Governance has a key role to play in the culture of the organisation
and | believe the Board and senior management changes we have
made in 2018 wilt drive improved governance and performance across
the whole of the business, Patrick Butcher was appointed as Chief
Financial Officer at the end of 2018 and datails of the new Executive
Commuttee are set out below.

Senior management

Capita currently cornprises six divisions and we continue to review the
structure of our businesses and management to ensure it is
appropriate. An Executive Committee, under Jon Lewis’s leadership,
was formed during the year, This committee brings together the six
|eaders of the new divisional structure and a number of new functional
roles, including chief officers for Corporate Development, Digital,
Growth, People, and Transformation, a Chief General Counsel and
Director of Corporate Affairs. These new roles include several new
hires to Capita. The committee’s focus is on improving culture and
engagement across the workforce, with the aim of harnessing the
collective strength of Capita's talented pool of peaple across all levels
of the organisation. The Board believes that the management tearm as
a whale now have the credibility, knowledge, values and behaviours
required to drive Capita’s business forward and achieve success across
its chosen markets. Further detail about the Executive Committee can
be found on pages 58-59.

Engagement and diversity

Our plan te appoint two employees to the Board is further evidence of
our commitment to inclusivity and engagement. We received a large
number of applications and are following a rigorous selection process,
which includes external independent review. The intention is for the
successful candidates to be announced shortly and | look forward to
welcoming them onto the Board in due course.

Over the last two years, we have brought focus to the diversity
agenda at Capita and have made some progress, but not enough. We
are fully committed to improving diversity and details of how this is
being addressed are included in the strategic report on page 37-38,

As an organisation of more than 63,000 people and ane of the UK's
targest employers, Capita must recruit, retain, develop and reward its
people well, if it 1s to achieve its goals. Its purpose, culture, values and
behaviours have to empower and encourage all of Capita's people to
ensure everyone has the opportunity to fulfil their potential,
irrespective of background.



Board effectiveness

Corporate governance principles

We continue to pursue the highest standards of corporate gavernance
and business practice, including the principles embodied in the UK
Corporate Governance Code 2076 (2016 Code}, which permeate all
aspects of the Board's activity.

In particular, the principles in the 2016 Code relating to leadership and
effectiveness are addressed through a strong and experienced group of
independent Non-Executive Directors together with the ongoing
division of responsibility between running the Board and running
Capita’s business. Furthermore, the Board's effectiveness was subject
to an external evaluation in 2018, details of which are set out below.

The 2016 Code principles relating to accountability and remuneration
are addressed through the wark of the Audit and Risk Committee and
Remuneration Committee respectively and those committee reports
are set out on pages 71-79 and 80-98. The principles in the 2016
Code regarding relations with shareholders are addressed through the
ongoing programme of sharehalder engagement activity, a summary
of which can be found on pages 62-63.

In july 2018, the Financial Reporting Council {FRC) refreshed and
updated the 2016 Code and published the UK Corporate Governance
Code 2018 {2018 Code) which will apply to Capita in respect of the
2019 financial year. Where appropriate, disclosures relating to the
2018 Code are included in this Annual Report and Accounts 2018.

Board evaluation

Board evaluation is undertaken annually, with external evaluation
every three years. In late 2018, an externat evaluation of the Board
and its committees was undertaken by Independent Board Evaluation,
who have no other relationship with Capita. This comprised a series of
interviews with Board members and key stakeholders who regularly
interact with the Board, induding Executive Committee members and
senior management, auditors, brokers, external legal counsel and the
Group Company Secretary. The findings of the review were presented
to the Board. Reports on committees were presented to the
committee chairmen and circulated to the Board.

The review took place against a backdrop of considerable change, bath
in terms of Board composition and activity. During 2018, new
appointments strengthened the Board and Executive Committee,
including the appointment of Patrick Butcher as Chief Financial Officer
and Claire Chapman as Chief General Counsel. As part of developing a
new strategy for Capita, the Board led the delivery of a rights issue in
April 2018. The review also included a report on the performance of
individual directors and of the Chairman.

The evaluation concluded that, cverall, the Board had performed well
through the period, demonstrating good leadership, an ability to
support and challenge, with a high level of engagement and
commitment,

The evaluation has given the Board an opportunity to review its
practices, and set a base-line standard from which to pragress and
measure going forward.
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A separate meeting of the Board took place to discuss fully the
evaluation and its findings, focusing on the following themes and
developing actions for 2019, .

+ Longer-term vision and strategy — extending the time-frame of
strategic discussion and emerging risks during the year, with an
annual deep focus on strategy and risk appetite.

« Improve the Board's understanding of employees’ views — through

the appointment of Employee Directors, site visits and working with

the Chief People Officer on top talent, succession planning and
diversity.

Succession planning - a skills and capabilities matrix would be

developed by the Nomination Committee to help enhance Board

succession planning.

- Board programme - to ensure the Board programme and agendas
facilitate appropriate exposure to Capita's business and senior
management.

Risk & Compliance and Internat Audit

On pages 44-51 of the strategic report we have described the roles of
Group Risk & Compliance and Group Internal Audit together with the
rik framework and internal controls for Capita.

fn order for the Board to ensure that the strategic direction of Capita
is appropriate and has the appropriate risk oversight, numerous
meetings are held throughout the year, These include individual
meetings between the Chief Risk & Compliance Officer and the Group
Internal Audit Director with the Chairman of the Audit and Risk
Committee, as well as normal scheduled meetings. Risks are identified
and categorised in & humber of ways and are prioritised and delegated
in accordance with the risk ratings provided to the risk owner.

Both the Chief Risk & Compliance Officer and the Group Internal
Audit Director report to the Chief Financial Officer and independently
to the Audit and Risk Committee, Both report respectively on the
internal audit programme and risk and compliance management
activities and on the internal audit programme across Capita. They
have access to ail members of the Board and hold regular meetings
with the Executive Directors and meet with the Audit and Risk
Committee Chainman at least every quarter,

Directors

The Directors of the Company currently in office are listed on pages
56-57.

All members of the Board will stand for re-election (Patrick Butcher
for election} at the forthcoming AGM. All Board members have
received a formal performance evaluation, as described, which
demonstrates that each Director continues to be effective and
committed to the role.

John Cresswell has informed the Board of his intention to step down
as Chairman of the Remuneration Committee, but he will remain on
the Board as a Non-Executive Director. John took up a new CEO role
in 2018 and feels he can no longer provide Capita with the time and
attention the Committee Chairman’s role requires. He will continue to
chair the Committee until a replacement is appointed.

The following pages in this section consist of our corporate
governanice and rernuneration reports. | hope that you will find these
and the entire Annual Report and Accounts informative. The Board
will be happy to receive any feedback you may have.

Sir lan Powell
Chairman
13 March 2019
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Board members

At 31 December 2018, the Board comprised seven Directors, made up
of the Chairman, Chief Executive OFficer and five independent Non-
Executive Directors,

We have an experienced team in place to support our strategy and ta
meet the opportunities and challenges that the Group faces. As the

"Croup develops, we will regularly review the Board composition to

ensure it meets the needs of the business

At 31 Decernber 2018, we had two fernale Directors and five male
Directors. By the end of January 2019, we had two female and six
male Directors, following the appaointment of Patrick Butcher as Chief
Financial Officer. It is expected that diversity at both Board and senior
leadership level will continue to be a focus of the Board.

.
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Chairman

The Chairman is responsible for leadershup of the Board and ensuring its effectiveness
on all aspects of its role This includes setting the Board's agenda and ensuring that
adequate time is available for discussion of all agenda rtems, in particular strategic
issues The Chairman should also promote a culture of openness and debate, by
facilitating the effective contnbution of Non-Executive Directors in particular and
ensuring constructive relations between Executive and Non-Executive Directars.

The Chairman is responsible for ensurmg that the Directors receive acourate,

timely and clear information, and should ensure there is effective communication
with-sharehalders.

Sir lan Powelt |N

Chairman

Appointed to Board: September 2016

Independent at appointment: Yes

Xey skills and experience Sir lan was appointed Non-
Executive Director in September 2016 and Chairman in
january 2017, He 15 a chartered accountant and, before
retring in Jung 2016, was Chairman and Senior Partner
of PwC UK for eight years, responsible for leadership 2nd
management of PwC UX He joined PwC in 1977, serving
ins various roles of increasing respensibility, including
Head of Advisary, before being elected Chairman and
Senior Partner.

Other current appointments: Chairman of Police Now;
trustee of The Old Vic, and of Wellbeing of Women;
member of the Development Committee at The
National Gallery: board member at London First
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Executive Directors

The Executive Directors are respornisible for the day-to-day running of all aspects of the
Group's business. This respansibility is different fram the Chaimman's role in running the
8oard. The role of Chief Exeartive Officer is separate from that of Chairman ta ensure
that no ane individual has unfettered powers of decision-making.

Jon Lewis
Chief Executive Officer

Appointed December 2017

Key skills and experience: Before joining Capita, Jon was
Chief Exeautive Officer of Amec Foster Wheeler, the
multinational consultancy, engineenng and project
management business. Priar to that, he had a 20-year
career at Halliburton Cormpany Incn the United States,
ane of the warld's largest oil field service companies,
where he held a number of senior rales, including Senior
Vice-President and member of the Halliburton Executive

IMAGE REMOVED

Committes. Jon has a doctorate in geology from the
University of Reading, ran 2 contract research
organisation at Heriot-Wakt University, and attended
the Executive Program at Stanford University Graduate
Schaol of Business

Board responsibilities: Managing and developing Capita’s
business to achieva the Company’s strategic objectives.
External appointments: Board member of Equinor

Patrick Butcher

Chief Financia! Officer

Appointed: January 2019

Key skills and experience: Before joining Capita, Patrick
was Group Chief Financial Officer at Go-ahead Group
He is a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accounants {South Africa) and has more than 17 years’
experience as a finance director at board level in
transport and infrastructure companies He was formerly
Group Finance Director of Network Rail, as wall as

IMAGE REMOVED

holding finance director roles at English, Welsh and

Scottish Railways {now DB Schenker), and London
Underground. Patrick has extensive expesience from
working as a management cansultant and auditor for
Deloitte LLP. He is a former member of the British
Transport Police Autharity.

Board responsibilities, Qverall cantrol and responsibliity
for all financial aspects of the business's strategy.

Additional responsibilities: Property; Pracurement,
Commercial relationshups and Supplier relationships.

External appointments; Nong



Non-Executive Directors

The Non-Executive Directors should constructively challenge and help develop
proposals on strategy, They should scrutinise the performance of management in
meeting agreed goals and objectives, and moniter the reporting of performance. They
should satisfy themselves an the integrity of financial information and that financial
controls and systems of risk management are robust and defensible. They are
-responsible for determining appropriate (evels of remuneration of Executive Directors
and have a prime role in appointing and, where necessary, removing Executive
Directars, and in succession planming,
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Gillian Sheldon | ANR
Senior Independent Director

Appointed: September 2012

Independent: Yes

Key skills and exparience: Gillian was appointed to the
Board in September 2012, before being made Senior
tndependent Director in January 2013 She is a senior
adviser in Credit Suisse UX's irvestment banking division
where she has gained substantial experience of advising
boards across a wide range of complex situations and
transactions. Prior to joining Credit Suisse, Gillian
worked for seven years at NM Rathschild & Sons.

Other current appawntments: Serhor adviser at Credit
Suisse; trustee of BBC Children in Need; member of
Covporate Advisory Board of the Royal Academy of Arts.

Matthew Lester | ANR
Non-Executive Director

Appointed: March 2017

Independent: Yes

IMAGE REMOVED | Key skills and experience: Matthew 15 a charterad
accountant with over 20 years’ experience in senior
finance roles, He was Group Chief Financial Officer of
Royal Mail plc from Novernber 2010 to July 2017,
Matthew has also served as Group Chief Finaneial
Officer for ICAP plc from May 2006 to Navember 2010,
Before this, he held senior roles at Diageo ple and
Kleinwort Benson.

Other current appoiniments: Non-executive director of

IMAGE REMOVED

John Cresswell | ANR
Non-Executive Director

Appointed, November 2015

Independent: Yes

Kay skifls and experience: John is Chief Executive Officer
of Bibby Line Group Limited, He has substantial
experience leading, growing and advising media and
broadcask arganisations at CEC and executive director
levels, having worked in the technology, media and
telecormmunications sector for 25 years. Jahn is &
chartered accountant and attended the Advanced
Management Program at Harvard Business School Most
recently, he served feor four-and-a-half years as CEO of
Argiva, Before thaz, he held a number of executive

Man Group plc and Barclays ple.
director roles on the board of ITV plc, and was formerly
a director of Liverpao! Football and Athletic Grounds plc
and of Ambassador Theatre Group.
Other current appeintments: Chief Executive Officer of
Bibby Line Group Limited,

Andrew Williams ] ANR Baroness Neville-Rolfe psg ¢cMG | ANR

Non-Executive Director Non-Executive Director

Appainted: January 2015 Appointed December 2017

Independent: Yes Independent: Yes

IMAGE REMOVED | Keyskills and experience: Andrew has been Chief
Executive of Halma plc. a leading speciatist in safety,
health and environmental technologies since 2005, He
started his career at Halma in 1994 as manufacturing
director of a subsidiary company and went on to hold a
wide range of senior management pasitans across the
group. Andrew is a chartered engineer and a production
engineenng graduate of Birmingham University.

He attended the Advanced Management Program at
Wharton Business Schaol, University of Pennsylvania,
in 2004.

Other current appaintments: Chief Executive
of Halma ple.
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Key skills and experience Baroness [Lucy) Nevilie-Rolfe
has been a member of the House of Lords since 2013,
and served between 2014 and 2017 as a Govemment
minigter in the Business and Culture departments, and as
Commercial Secretary to the Treasury, She has a senior
background in intermational retail, governance, legal and
regulatory issues, and communications. She worked at
Tesco plc from 1997 to 2013, serving on the board fram
2006. Before joining Tesco, Lucy was # civil servant,
serving in the Prime Minister’s Policy Unit at Number 10
batween 1992 and 1994, and finally as Director of the
Deregulation Unit Her non-executive directorships have
included ITV ptec and Metro AG,

Other current appointments: Charman of Assured Food
Standards; non-executive director of Secure Trust Bank
ple, Thomson Reuters Founders Share Company, and
Health Data Research UK; and governor of London
Busingss School,

Key to committees

A Audit and Risk N Nomination R Remuneration ANR Committee chair

Changes in the year

Nick Greatorex Chris Sellers
Chief Financial Officer Group Business Development Director
Appointed to Board March 2015 Appmnted 1o Board: january 2017

Stepped down from Board: September 2018 Stepped down from Board: January 2018
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Executive Committee

Capita's Executive Commnittee is chaired by Jon Lewis, the
Company's Chief Exacutive Officer, and comprises 15 executive
officers and functional heads, who are entirely accountable for their
particular division or function.

The divisions are aligned around cur key growth markets: Software,
People Solutions, Customer Management, Government Services and
IT & Networks, Alongside them sits our sixth division, Specialist
Services. All are aligned with Capita’s overall strategy — to simpiify,
strengthen and succeed.

1. Patrick Butcher

Chief Financial Officer i

Patrick, who joined Capita at the start of 2019, is responsible for
developing and implementing financial strategy and policy to
support the sustainable growth of the business in a stable and
predictable way

2. Garry Dryburgh

Chief Transformation Officer

Garry is responsible for developing, orchestrating and
communicating our multi-year transformation programme.

3. Jim Vincent

Executive Officer, Specialist Services

Jim leads the division which comprises a portfolio of unique
businesses and commercial ventures, providing a diverse range
of services to private and public sector clients.

4, Ismail Amla
Chief Growth Officer

Ismail is responsible for supporting our transformation and organic
growth plans, including the simplification of business development
and marketing, and driving change in the sales model.

5. Chris Baker

Executive Officer, Software

Chris leads this division which comprises a group of diverse
businesses, creating digital and software solutions to make our
clients’ businesses more efficient and cost-effective.

6. Mike Barnard

Executive Officer, Customer Management

Mike leads the division which provides market-leading contact
centre, data, analytics and digital services. He is also responsible
for support operations across multiple sectors.

7. Katja Hall

Director of Corporate Affairs

Katja is responsible for both internal and external communications,
including employee engagement, reputation strategy, media
relations, and public affairs and policy.
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8. Rupert Green

Chief Corporate Development Officer
Rupert is responsible for cur strategy development and execution,
investor relations, and for mergers, acquisitions and divestments.

9. Serge Taborin
Chief Digital Officer

Serge is responsible for developing our tachnology offering, driving
innovation and identifying how digital technologies will shape future
customer propositions and business models.

10. Jon Lewis

Chief Executive Officer

Jon is respansible for the overall managernent and development
of Capita, to achieve the Company’s strategic objectives — and
return the business to organic growth and sustainable free cash
How in 2020.

11. Erika Bannerman

Executive Officer, People Solutions

Erika leads the division and has responsibility for a portfolio of
market-leading HR businesses across resourcing, learning services,
pensicns administration and employee benefits.
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12. Will Serle

Chief People Officer

Will is responsible for the delivery of the HR and people strategy,
supparting and advising the organisation to evolve Capita’s culture
and ways of working for all our employees.

13. Joe Hemming
Executive Officer, IT & Networks
Joe leads the division which provides market-leading IT outsourcing

and network solutions to key clients, including within central and
local government, and in the education and healthcare sectors.

14. Claire Chapman

Chief General Counsel

Claire is responsible for providing expert and strategic legal advice
to the leadership team and the Board, with a focus on legal and
regulatory risk management, M&A, corporate projects, governance
and contracts.

15. Patrick Elliott
Interim Executive Officer, Government Services

Patrick leads the division which delivers technology-enabled
business services for a broad spectrum of central government,
tocal authority, healthcare and other public sector clients.

IMAGE REMOVED
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Corporate governance statement

Corporate Governance Code

Capita plc and its subsidiaries {the Group) remain committed to
maintakning high standards of corporate governance, The UK
Corporate Governance Code 2016 (the Code) applies to accounting
periods beginning on or after 17 June 2016. Throughout the
accounting period to which this report relates, the Company complied
with all relevant provisions set out in sections A to £ of the Code. -
The UX Corporate Govemnance Code 2018 {the 2018 Code) was
published in july 2018 and applies to accounting periods beginning
on ar after 1 january 2019. Where appropriate, additional voluntary
disclosures have been made in compliance with the 2018 Code.
Copies of the Code and the 2018 Code are available from the
Financial Reporting Council's website www.frc.org.uk.

Board changes during the year

The following changes to the compasition of the Board took place
during the year:

Name Date Pasition

Chris Sellers 23 January 2018 Stepped down as Group
Businass Development Director

Nick Greatorex 30 September 2018 Stepped down as Chief

Financiat Officer

Further information on changes to the Board is set out in the
Nomination Cornmittee report on page 70. Patrick Butcher, Chief
Financial Officer, was appointed as a Director on 1 January 2019.

Board composition

The composition of the Board at 31 December 2018 and from
1 January 2019 is shown below:

Independent Mon-Executive

Executive Directors Directors

At 31 December 2018 Jon Lewis

Sir lan Powell’

Gillian Sheldon

Matthew Lester

John Cresswell

Andrew Williams

Baroness Lucy Neville-Rolfe

At 1 January 2019 Jon Lewis Sir lan Powell’
Patrick Butcher Gillian Sheldon
Matthew Lester
John Cresswelt
Andrew Williams

Baroness Lucy Meville-Rolfe

1 Independent on appointment in accordance with the 2016 Code.

Board meetings and attendance

During 2018, the Board held nine scheduled meetings, excluding ad
hoc meetings. Attendance of the Directors is shown below; the
maximum number of meetings a Director could attend is in brackets.

Board meetings

Sir lan Powell - - - 9(g)
Jon Lewis 9(9)
Gillian Sheldon 9{9)
Matthew Lester 9(9)
John Cresswell 8(9)
Andrew Williams 9(9)
Baroness Lucy Neville-Rolfe 5(9)
Nick Greatore’ §(7)
Chris Sellers 0

1 Nick Greatorex stepped down from the Board on 30 September 2018
2 Chris Sellers stepped down from the Board on 23 January 2018.

Additional ad hoc meetings were held in the first half of 2018 in
connection with the rights issue and various related matters. Meetings
held outside the normal schedule need to be ftexible and are often
held by telephone.

Any Director’s absence from Board meetings was previously agreed
with the Chairrnan of the Board or the Chief Executive Officer.

During 2018, the following formal Director meetings took place:

+ The Chairman held one-to-one individuat review sessions with each
Executive Director and each Non-Executive Director.

The Non-Executive Directors met without Executive Directors.

The Non-Executive Directors met with just the Chief Executive
Officer.

The Non-Executive Directors met without the Chairman, led by the
Senior Independent Director.

.

.

Board leadership

There is a clear division of responsibility between the running of the
Board by Sir lan Powell as Chairman and responsibility for the running
of the Group’s business by jon Lewis as CEQ

During the year, Sir lan as Chairman and Gillian Sheldon as Senior
Independent Director held meetings comprising solely the Non-
Executive Directors. Gillian also met with the Non-Executive Directors
without Sir lan. Both Sir lan and Gillian are available to meet with
significant sharehaolders when requested.

Governance and strategy

The Group recognises the contribution made by pood governance
to the Company’s success and changes made at both Board and
Executive Committee level demonstrate the importance of
embedding the right structures with the right people to deliver
the Graup's strategy.
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The Board

Role of the Board

To pramote Capita's long-term sustainable success,
generating value for shareholders and contributing to wider society.

* Strategy and management
* Structure and capital
+ Major contracts

Matters reserved for the Board
+ Financial reporting
+ Internal controls

« Shareholder communication
« Board membership

”

”

~~

Nomination Committee

Audit and Risk Committee

Remuneration Committee

» Board and committee composition

+ External audit

« Remuneration policy

« Succession planning
+ Diversity

- People strategy

« Internal audit

Read more on page 70.

+ Financial reporting .

+ Risk management and .
internal controls

Read more on pages71to 79,

Remuneration principles

Incentive design and setting
of targets

+ Executive and senior
ranagement remuneration

Read more on pages 80 to 98.

In addition to their statutory duties, the Directors must ensure that
the Board focuses effectively on all its accountabilities.

Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 requires Directorsto actina
way they consider, in good faith, would be most likely to promote the
success of the Company for the benefit of shareholders as a whaole,

In doing so, the Directors must have regard (among other matters} to:

+ The likely consequences of any decision in the fong term.
+ The interests of the Company's employees.

- The need to foster business relationships with suppliers,
clients and others.

= The impact of the Company’s operations on the community
and the environment.

* The desirability of the Company maintaining a reputation for high
standards of business conduct.

- The need to act fairly towards all shareholders of the Company.

The Board determines the strategic objectives and policies of the
Group to best support the delivery of long-term value, providing
overall strategic direction within an appropriate framework of rewards,
incentives and controls. The Board is collectively responsible for the
success of the Company: the Executive Directors are directly
respansible for running the business operations; and the Non-
Executive Directors are responsible for bringing independent
judgement and scrutiny to decisions taken by the Board. The Non-
Executive Directors must satisfy themselves on the integrity of
financial information and that financial controls and systers of risk
management are robust. Fotlowing presentations by executive and
divisional managemenit and a disciplined process of review and
challenge by the Board, clear decisions on policy or strategy are
adopted, and the executive management are fully empowered to
implement those decisions.

Stakeholder interests and the matters listed above are factored into all
Board discussions and decisions,
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Corporate governance statement continued

Board independence

Non-Executive Directors are required to be independent in character
and judgement. All relationships that may interfere materially with
this judgement are disclosed as required under the conflicts of interest
policy. The Board has determined that all the Non-Executive Directors
who served during the year were independent and that, before and
upon appointment as Chairman, Sir lan Powell met the criteria of
independence as outlined in the Code.

The Board does not believe that a Non-Executive's tenure interferes
materially with their ability to act in the best interests of the Group.
The Board also believes that each of the Non-Executives has retained
indeperidence of character and judgement and has not formed
associations with management or others that may compromise thair
ability to exercise independent judgement or act in the best interests
of the Group.

The Board is satisfied that no conflict of interest exists for any
Director. This matter is a standing agenda item at Board meetings.

Matters reserved for the Board

A formal schedule of matters reserved for the Board has been adopted
and these include, but are not limited to:

« Strategy and management, including responsibility for the overall
leadership of the Group, setting the Group’s values and standards,
and overview of the Group's operational management.

= Structure and capital, including changes relating to the Group's
capital structure and major changes to the Group's corporate
structure, including acquisitions and disposals, and changes to
the Group's management and control structure,

Financial reporting, including the approval of the Annual Report
and Accounts, half-yearly report, trading statements, preliminary
announcement for the final results and dividend, treasury and
accounting policies.

= Internal controls, ensuring that the Group manages risk effectively
by approving its risk appetite and monitoring aggregate risk
exposures.

+ Contracts, including approval of all major capital projects and major
investrnents, including the acquisition or disposal of interests of
more than 3% in the voting shares of any company or the making
of any takeover offer.

- Ensuring satisfactory cornmunication with sharehalders.

» Board membership and other appointments, including changes to
the structure, size and composition of the Board, and succession
planning for the Board and senior management.

Board of Directors’ inductions and training

Following appointment to the Board, all new Directors receive an
induction tailored to their individual requirements. They are
encouraged to meet and be briefed on the roles of key people across
the Group and have open access to all business areas and employees
to build up an appropriate level of knowledge of the business that
extends beyond formal papers and presentations to the Board. All
Directors have received an appropriate induction for their roles within
Capita, including sorne or all of the following.

+ The nature of the Group, its business, markets and relationships.

* Meetings with the external audster, lawyers, brokers and relevant
operational and functional senior management.

+ Board procedures, including meeting protocals, committee activities
and terms of reference, and matters reserved for the Board.

+ Owerviews of the business via Monthly Performance Review (MPR)
reports.

+ The Group approach to risk management.

Ongoing training and briefings are also given to all Directors, including
external courses as required.

Group Company Secretary

All Board members have access to independent advice on any matters
relating ta their responsibilities as Directors and as members of the
various committees of the Board at the Group's expense.

Francesca Todd, as Group Company Secretary, is available to all
Directors and is responsible for ensuring that all Board precedures
are complied with.

The Group Company Secretary has direct access and responsibility
to the chairmen of the standing committees and open access to all
the Directors. The Group Company Secretary has been appointed as
Secretary to the Audit and Risk, Remuneration, and Nomination
committees to ensure that there are no canflicts of interest.

The Group Company Secratary meets regularly with the Chairman
of the Board, the chairmen of the Audit and Risk, and Remuneration
committees, and briefs them on areas of governance and
committee requirements.

During the year, a new role of Chief General Counsel was created to
oversee the Group's legal and regulatory capability, as a separate
function from the role of Group Company Secretary. The two roles
collaborate closely but, in order to avoid a conflict of interest,

the Group Company Secretary is solely responsible for Board and
Group governance.

Shareholder engagement

There is an active engagement programme with the Company's
investors. The Executive Directors meet regularly with institutional
investors ta discuss and obtain feedback on the business,
performance, strategy and corporate governance, and address any
issues of concern. This is undertaken through a combination of
roadshows, group or one-to-one meetings and attendance at Support
Services conferences. The Chairman and Non-Executive Directors are
also available to meet with existing institutional shareholders
throughout the year.

The Investor Relations team has day-to-day responsibility for
managing investor commurmnications and always acts in close
consultation with the Board. All members of the Board, including the
Non-Executive Directors, receive a report on any significant
discussions with shareholders and anonymous feedback that follows
the annual and half-yearly presentations to investment analysts and
institutional investors. All analyst reports concerning Capita are
circulated to the Directors and the Board is kept informed of changes
in the share register.

Following the rights issue in April 2018, the Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer, Head of Investor Relations and Chief Carporate
Development Officer engaged extensively with existing and potential
institutional investors, ensuring all investors fully understood the new
strategy, the transformation programme and the planned use of the
rights issue proceeds

in fuly 2018, the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee consulted
with Capita's top 30 investors on proposed targets and measures for
the 2018 long-term incentive plan. Further details are set out in the
Directors’ remuneration report.

In September 2018, the Chairman, Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and Senior Independent Director held a governance forum
attended by the Company’s tep 30 investors. This enabled Capita’s
largest shareholders to engage directly with Non-Executive Directors
on the Company's strategy, transformation programme, employee
Board directors and wider corporate governance issues,



2018 calendar of investor events

January Trading update
April Rights issue
2017 full-year results
UK and US investor roadshows
June Annual general meeting
August 2018 half-year results
UK mvestor roadshow
September  US investor roadshow
Governance forum
Novemnber P Morgan 'Best of British’ investor conference

Shareholder meetings

All shareholders are encouraged to attend the annual general meeting
(AGM) and information for shareholders is available on the Company’s
website www.capita.com. The Non-Executive Directors are available
to meet with shareholders to understand their views more fully. The
Chairman is available to the significant sharehotders of Capita.
Directors, including chairmen of the various committees, are present
at the AGM to answer any questions. The Board particularly
encourages communication with, and the participation of, private
investors at the AGM.

Shareholder communications

In addition to attendance at the AGM, shareholders can also access
up-to-date information through the Group’s website at
www.capita.com. A telephene helpline, 0871 664 0300, provides a
contact point directly to the Group's registrars, Lines are open
between 9.00am and 5.30pm, Monday to Friday, excluding public
holidays in England and Wales. Private shareholders can also raise
queries by email to enquiries@linkgroup.co.uk.

Remuneration Committee

Details of the Remuneration Committee and its activities are given in
the Directors’ remuneration report on pages 80-98,

Risk management and internal control

The Board monitors the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems and carries out an annual review of their
effectiveness. The Audit and Risk Committee report contains further
details. The monitoring and review includes all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls. This process
is regularly reviewed by the Board. The Group's key internal control
procedures are fully documented within the strategic report on pages
44-45,

Furthermore, through the operation of the risk governance process,
the Directors confirm, for the purposes of provision C.2.1 of the Code,
that they have carried aut a robust assessrnent of the principal risks
facing the Group, including those that would threaten its business
model, future performance, solvency or tiquidity. A description of
those risks, together with haw they are being managed or mitigated,
is set out on pages 46-51.

Other statutory and regulatory information

Strategic report

The Company is required to prepare a fair review of the business of the
Group during the financial year ended 31 December 2018 and of the
position of the Group at the end of the financial year, and a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group
{known as a ‘strategic report’). The purpose of the strategic report is to
enable shareholders to assess how the Directors have performed their
duty under Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 (duty to pramote
the success of the Company). The information that fulfils the
requirements of the strategic report can be found on pages 1-52.
Details of the Group's business goals, strategy and model are

on page 4.
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Corporate governance report

The corporate governance statement as required by Rule 7.2.1 of the
Financial Conduct Authority's Disclosure Guidance and Transparency
Rules {DTRs} is set out on pages 60-67.

Management report

For the purposes of Rule 4.1.5R{2) and Rule 41.8R of the DTRs, this
Directors' report and the strategic report on pages 1-52 comprise the
management report.

Post-balance sheet events
There have been no material events since the balance sheet date.

Election to apply FRS 101 - Reduced Disclosure
Framework

The parent company continues to apply UK GAAP in the preparation
of its individual financial statements in accordance with FRS 101 and
these are contained on pages 178-195. FRS 107 applies IFRS as
adopted by the Eurapean Union with certain disciosure exemptions.
No objections have been received from shareholders.

Appointment, re-appointment and removal of Directors

Directars ara appointed and may be removed in accordance with the
Articles of Association of the Company and the provisions of the
Companies Act 2006.

All Directors are subject to election at the first AGM after their
appointment and, in accordance with Provision 18 of the 2018 Code,
to annual re-election thereafter. A resolution to re-elect each Director
will therefore be proposed at the AGM on 14 May 2015.

No person, ather than a Director retiring at the meeting, shall be
appainted or re-appointed a Director of the Company at any general
meeting unless he/she is recormmended by the Directors.

No person, other than a Director retiring at a general meeting as set
out above, shall be appointed or re-appointed unless between seven
and 35 days’ notice, executed by a member qualified to vote on the
appointment or re-appointment, has been given to the Company

of the intention to propose that person for appointment or re-
appointment, together with notice executed by that person of histher
willingness to be appeinted or re-appointed.

Group activities

Capita is one of the UK's ieading providers of digitally-enabled
business services and software, with a growing international operation
and sales focus. We seek to solve the complex challenges of clients,
enhancing the use of technology and data, increasing productivity, and
improving customer and public services. Our portfolio, delivered fram
six divisions, comprises specialist functions of sector-specific software,
digitally-enabled business process management, IT and networks
services, customner services, HR, and specialist business support
services. We aim to create better outcomes for all our stakeholders,
and add value to the ecanornies and communities we serve.

A review of the development of the Group and its business activities
ddring the year is contained in the strategic report on pages 1-52. The
operational and financial performance of our divisions are detailed on
pages 21-33.

Results and dividends

The Group's reported profit before tax amounted to £272.6rn (2017
loss: £513.1m). As previously announced, the Directors do not
recommend the payment of a final dividend (2017: nil). The totat
dividend for the year was nil (2017: 11.1p per share). The employee
benefit trust, which halds shares for the purpose of satisfying
employee share scherne awards, has waived its right to receive
future dividends on shares held within the trust.
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Conflicts of interest

Under the Companies Act 2006, Directors are under an obligation to
avoid situations in which their interests can or do conflict, or may
possibly conflict, with those of the Company. A policy and procedures
are in place for identifying, disclosing, evaluating and managing
conflicts so that Board decisions are not compromised by a conflicted
Director. The Company's Articles of Assaciation give the Board power
to authorise matters that give rise to actual or potential conflicts.
Procedures are reviewed annually to ensure they are operating
effectively.

Major shareholders

At 31 December 20118, the Company had received notifications in accordance with the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules (DTRs) that

the following were interested in the Company's shares:

Mo other material conflicts of interest have been declared Al
conflicts of interest are reviewed annually by the Board and included
in year-end attestations by the Directors. None of the Directors of the
Company has a material interest in any contract with the Cornpany or
its subsidiary undertakings, other than their contracts of employment.

Prior to his resignation, the Board had authorised Nick Greatorex's
conflict as a trustee of the Capita Pension and Life Assurance Scheme
and gave specific guidance on this conflict going forward. Nick
Greatorex did not participate in the discussion or vote on the

guidance given.

Number of % of voting rights at Number of Number of
Shareholder shares 31 December 2018 shares direct shares indirect
Veritas Asset Management tLp! 199,998,295 1199 — 199,998,295
Invesco Ltd 186,602,551 m18 - 186,602,551
Investec Asset Management Ltd 149,745,521 898 - 149,745,521
RWC Asset Management LLP 124,238,334 745 — 124,238,394
Schroder Investment Management 104,619,507 6.27 — 104,619,507
Woodford Investrnent Management LLP 93,362,659 560 93,362,659 -
Caltrane Asset Management, LP 82,388,589 4.94 5,140,000 77,248,589
BlackRock, Inc. 73,282,516 439 - 73,282,516
Marathon Asset Management LLP 66,623,803 399 — 66,623,803
Veritas Funds PLC 55.077,146 330 - 55,077,146
Vanguard Group 53,669,912 3.22 $3,669,912 -
Jupiter Asset Management 53,335,560 3.20 — 53,335,560

1’ This includes the holding of Veritas Funds PLC,

At 5 March 2019, the Company had received notifications in accordance with the DTRs that the following were interested in the Company’s shares:

Number of % of vating rights at Number of Number of
Shareholder shares 5 March 2019 shares direct shares indirect
Veritas Asset Management LLP' 192,533,863 11.54 192,533,863
Invesco Ltd 191,409,105 11,47 191,409,106
Investec Asset Management Ltd 153,805,729 9.22 153,805,729
RWC Asset Management LLP 127,012,876 7.61 127,012,876
Schroder fnvestment Management 101,030,829 606 101,030,829
Woodford fnvestment Management LLP 93,562,659 $.60 93,562,659
Coltrane Asset Management, LP 82,388,589 494 5,140,000 77,248,589
BlackRock, Inc. 74,230,358 4.45 74,230,358
Marathon Asset Management LLP 64,756,810 3.88 64,756,810
Veritas Funds PLC 55,009,900 330 55,009,900
Vanguard Group 54,711,874 3.28 54,711,874
Norges Bank Investrnent Management 54,273,873 325 54,273,873
Jupiter Asset Management 53,573,060 3.21 53,573,060

1 This includes the halding of Ventas Funds PLC.



Directors’ interests

Details of Directors’ interests in the share capital of the Company
are listed on page 95.

Rights issue

During the year the Company undertoock a three for two rights issue
at 70p per new share to raise £701m which was fully underwritten by
Citigroup Global Markets Limited and Goldman Sachs International
The majority of shareholders (approximately 97.25%) took up their
rights and subscribers were procured for the remaining 2.75%.

Share capital

At 7 March 2019, 1,671,273,523 ordinary shares of 2 1/15p each were
in issue, fully paid up and quoted on the London Stock Exchange.
There are 2,858,331 shares held in treasury (representing 0.17% of
total issued share capital) and the total number of voting shares is
1,668,415,192. During the year ended 31 December 2018,
1,001,032,281 new ordinary shares were issued in connection with
the rights issue; options exercised pursuant to the Company's share
schemes were satisfied by the transfer of shares from treasury
{28,057 shares) and from the Employee Benefit Trust (32,367 shares).
No shares have been allotted under the Company's share option
schemes since the end of the financial year to the date of this report.
Of the total issued share capital, 12,030,742 shares (representing
0.72%} are held within the Employee Benefit Trust used for satisfying
employee share options.

The share price at 31 December 2018 was 112.25p. The highest share
price in the year was 428.6p and the lowest was 100.7p. The highest
share price in the year does not reflect the dilutive impact of the issue
of new ordinary shares in Capita's 3 for 2 rights issue, which would
result in an adjusted high share price of 261.36p.

The Company renewed its authority to re-purchase up to 10% of its
own issued share capital at the Annual General Meeting in June 2018.
During the year, the Company did not purchase any shares (2017: nil).

Viability statement
This statement is detailed in full on page 52.

The Directars have assessed the viability of the Group over the three-
year peried to 31 December 2021, taking into account the Group's
current position and the potential impact of the principal risks set out
in the strategic report. Based on this assessment, the Directors have
areasonable expectation that the Group is and will continue to

be viable.
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Going concern

The Group's business activities, together with the factors likely to
affect its future development, performance and position are set out

in the strategic report on pages 1-52. The financial position of the
Group, its cash flows, liquidity position and borrowing facilities are
described on pages 100-104. In addition, note 26 to the financial
statements on pages 144-152 includes the Group’s objectives, policies
and processes for managing its capital, its financial risk management
objectives, details of its financial instruments and hedging activities,
and its exposures to credit risk and liquidity risk.

In determining the appropriate basis of preparation of the financial
statements for the year ending 31 December 2018, the Directors are
required to consider whether the Group can continue in operational
existence far the foreseeable future.

Having taken decisive action to strengthen the balarnice sheet through
the raising of new equity and the disposal of non-core businesses, and
undertaking a rigorous assessment of the financial forecast, the Board
have concluded that the Group will continue to have adequate
financial resources to realise their assets and discharge its labilities

as they fall due.

Accordingly, the Directors have formed the judgement that it is
appropriate to prepare these consolidated financial statements on the
going concern basis.

Auditor review

The auditor has reviewed the statements regarding going concern (see
page 65) and longer-term viability (see page 52) and those parts of
the statement of compliance with the Code relating to: (i} Directors’
and auditor’s responsibilities; {ii} the ‘fair, balanced and
understandable’ statement: (iii) confirmation of robust risk
assessment and manitor and review of effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems; and (iv) Audit and Risk
Cammittee composition, role and responsibilities. Further details

are in the avditor's report {pages 166-177).

Disabled persons

it is the Group's policy to give full consideration to suitable
applications for employment of disabled persons and to ensure that
any reasonable adjustments are made to either the workplace or job
content to accormmodate a person's disabilities. Employees with a
disability are eligible to participate in career development
opportunities available to all employees and will be supported to do
50. Opportunities also exist for employees of the Group who become
disabled to continue in their employment with any reasonable
adjustments being made or to be retrained for other positions in
the Group.
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Employee development and engagement

In the second half of 2018, Capita launched a plan for the peaple
function which focuses on all 63,000 people within the Group and
covers various topics, including development and engagement. This
represents a new commitment and a new way of managing our
people. A key facus in employee engagement has bean on halping our
employees understand Capita's purpose and how their rote
contributes to the overall success of the organisation. Further details
about Capita’s new purpose, which was launched in January 2019, are
on pages 1and 9. In addition, we worked with over 1,000 employees,
at all levels and in various locations worldwide, to bring our values to
life, identifying five behaviours for each of the four values that help
our employees understand what is expected of them and what they
can expect of others, Finatly, we launched a series of eight manager
cammitments which identify key expectations for all our managers,
describing our expectations of how they should manage their teams.
All of this was launched using a variety of channels, including Yammer,
the internal social networking channel, and 'town hall’ meetings,
which gave an opportunity to listen to our people.

Employee surveys were conducted in 2017 and 2018 allowing us to
moniter changes in how our people feel about warking for Capita and
providing the opportunity to suggest how the employee experience
could be improved. We will continue to ask our emplayees every year,
as it fs a key method of assessing the impact of the HR plan.

Employees receive corporate news through: internal notice board
statements; the employee intranet, Capita Connections; Yammer; and
regular email updates on business performance from both divisional
Executive Officers and the Executive Directors. Capita Connections
enables employees to find out what is happening in the wider Group
and to share infarmation within and between business units, and
employees are encouraged to contribute news, views and feedback.
Capita maintains a strong communications network and employees
are encouraged, through its open door policy and ‘Ask Jon' partal, to
ask questions and discuss with management matters of interest to the
employee and subjects affecting day-to-day operations of the
Company. The ‘Ask Jon’ portal was launched in early 2018 and
provides a platform for all employees to submit to the CEO their
questions and thoughts across a range of different business-related
topics and have their questions answered by Jon.

Capita has an established UK employee share purchase plan designed
to promote employee share ownership and to give employees the
opportunity to participate in the future success of the Company. An
international share incentive plan is available to employees in Ireland
and Poland.

In keeping with its belief that employees are the Company’s most
valuable asset, Capita operates emplayee recognition schemes both at
central and divisional level. In addition, the Local Heroes campaign
gives our people and senior management the opportunity to celebrate
each other and recognise how people across Capita have contributed
to the success of the business. Each month, Capita celebrates the
individuals who are helping the Group to simplify, strengthen and
succeed, be innovative and have a positive effect on our lacal
compunities and environment,

Our peaple plan also has a clear focus on performance and
development. This will be driven by the launch of Capita Academy,
which will focus on introducing consistent approaches to managing
performance and developing our people, while ensuring we recruit and
develop for the future by sourcing and developing graduates and
apprentices. These activities will ensure we have not only the correct
quality of people delivering to our customners, but also an appropriate
teadership pipeline far the future. We have already started on this
journey, with the pilot of an academy programme focused on
equipping managers with the leadership skills and behaviours
necessary for success.

Political donations

The Group did not make any political donation or incur any political
expenditure during the year (2017: £nil}.

Greenhouse gas emissions

Details of the Group’s greenhouse gas emissions, including metrics
and methodology, are set out on page 42 of the strategic report.

Financial instruments

The Group's financial instruments comprise primarily loan notes,
bearer bonds, bank loans, finance leases and overdrafts. The principal
purpose of these is to raise funds for the Group's operations. In
addition, various other financial instruments such as trade creditors
and trade debtors arise directly from its operatians. From time to
time, the Group also enters into derivative transactions, primarily
interest rate swaps, currency swaps and forward exchange contracts,
the purpose of which is to manage interest risk and currency risk
arising frorm the Group's operations and its sources of finance,

The main financial risks, to which the Group has exposure, are interest
rate risk, liquidity risk, credit risk and foreign currency risk.

The Group borrows in selected currencies at fixed and floating rates of
interest and makes use of interest rate swaps and currency swaps to
generate the desired currency and interest rate risk profile.

In respect of liquidity risk, the Group aims to maintain a balance
between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
multiple sources of funding with a broad spread of maturities. In
respect of credit risk, the Group trades only with recognised,
creditwarthy third parties. It is the Group's policy that atl clients who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an
ongoing basis with the result that the Group's exposure to bad debt is
not significant.

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the
Group, such as cash, financial investments and derivative instruments,
the Group'’s exposure is the potential default of the counterparty. The
Group manages its operations to avoid any excessive concentration of
counterparty risk and takes all reasonable steps to seek assurance that
the counterparties can fulfil their obligations.

The Group is not generally exposed to significant foreign currency risk,
except in respect of its overseas operations in Europe, India and South
Africa, which generate exposure to movements in EUR, CHF, INR and
ZAR exchange rates The Group seeks to mitigate the risk of this
exposure by entering forward cusrency instruments, including non-
deliverable forward contracts, to fix the GBP cost of highly probable
forecast transactions denominated in INR and ZAR. A proportion of
exposures to EUR is mitigated through borrowings in that currency.
Further details of the Group's financial instruments can be found in
note 26 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 144-152.



Qualifying third-party indemnity provisions for the
benefit of Directors

Under the Companies Act 2006, companies are under an obligation to
disclose any indemnities which are in force in favour of their directars.
The current Articles of Association of the Company contain a provision
that enables the Company to indemnify the Directors of the Compary
in respect of certain liabilities and costs that they might incur in the
execution of their duties as Directors. Such provisions have been in
force duning the year and are in force at the date this report is
approved. Copies of the relevant extract from the Articles of
Assaciation are available for inspection at the registered office of the
Company during normat business hours on any weekday and will be
available at the venue of the 2019 Annual General Meeting from 15
minutes before the meeting until it ends.

All Directars have deeds of indemnity. These witl be available for
inspection at the Annual General Meeting with the service contracts.

Powers of Directors

The business of the Company is managed by the Directors who are
subject to the provisions of the Companies Act 2006, the Articles of
Asseciation of the Company and any directions given by special
resolution, including the Company’s power to repurchase its own
shares,

The Company’s Articles of Association may only be amended by a
speciat resolution of the Company's shareholders.

Change of control

All the Company's share schemes contain provisions in relation to a
change of control. Qutstanding options and awards would normally
vest and becorne exercisable on a change of control, subject to the
satisfaction of any performance conditions at that time.

Capita has a number of borrowing facilities provided by various banks
and cther financial institutions. Capita's bank debt contains a change
of control provision under which the banks may raquire immediate
repayment in full on a change of control of Capita plc. The loan notes
issued by Capita contain a change of control provision which is likely
to require the Group to offer to prepay in full if a change of control
event occurs.

There are 2 number of significant client agreements which contain
provisions relating to change of control, which in some cases could
present a right of termination of the contract.

Rights and restrictions attaching to shares

Under the Cormpany’s Articles of Association, holders of ardinary
shares are entitled to participate in the receipt of dividends pro rata to
their holding. The Board may propase and pay an interim dividend and
recommend a final dividend in respect of any accounting period out of
the profits available for distribution under English law A final dividend
may be declared by the shareholders in general meeting by ordinary
resolution, but no dividend may be declared in excess of the amount
recommended by the Board.

At any general meeting, a resolution put to vote shall be decided on a
poll, and every member who is present in person or by proxy shall
have one vote for every share of which they are the holder.

Mo person holds securities in the Company carrying special rights with
regard to control of the Company. The Company is not aware of any
agreements between holders of securities that may result in
restrictions on the transfer of securities or on voting rights.
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Restrictions on transfer of shares

The Company's Articles of Assaciation allow Directors to, in their
absolute discretion, refuse to register the transfer of a share in
certificated form unless the instrument of transfer is lodged, duly
stamped, at the registered office of the Company, or at such other
place as the Directors may appoint and (except in the case of a
transfer by a recognised person where a certificate has not been issued
in respect of the share} is accompanied by the certificate for the share
to which it relates and such other evidence as the Directors may
reascnably require to show the right of the transferor to make the
transfer. They may also refuse to register any such transfer where it is
in favour of more than four transferees or in respect of more than one
class of shares.

The Directors may refuse to register a transfer of a share in
uncertificated form in any case where the Company is entitted to
refuse (or is exernpted from the requirement) under the Uncertificated
Securities Regulations to register the transfer.

Annual general meeting

The 2019 annual general meeting (AGM) of the Company will be held
at Linklaters LLP, One Silk Street, London EC2Y 8HQ on Tuesday 14
May 2019. At the AGM a number of resolutions will be proposed. The
resolutions are set out in the Notice of Meeting, which is sent to
shareholders with the 2018 Annual Report and includes notes
explaining the business to be transacted. The Notice of Meeting is also
available on the Company’s website at wwwi.capita.com

In June 2018, shareholders granted authority for the Company to
purchase up to 166,838,714 ordinary shares. This authority will expire
at the conclusion of the 2019 AGM. No shares were purchased during
2018. A resolution to renew this authority will be put to shareholders
at the 2019 AGM,

The Directors consider that each of the resolutions is in the best
interests of the Company and the shareholders as a whole, and
recommend that shareholders vote in favour of all of the resolutions.

For other general meetings the natice given would be 14 clear working
days.

Cross-references

For the purposes of LR 9.8.4R, the following information is located a3
set out below:

Listing Rule Subject Page No
9.8.4 (1) Capitalisation of interest L
9.8.4 (12-13) Sharehalder waiver of dividends 63
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Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the
Annual Report and the financial statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the
Graup and parent company financial statements, in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and parent
company financial statements for each financial year. Under that

law they are required to prepare the Group financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
as adopted by the EU and applicable law, and have elected to prepare
the parent company financial statements in accordance with UK
Accounting Standards and applicable law (UK Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice) including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework.

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group and parent company and of their
profit or loss for that period. In preparing each of the Group and
parent company financial statements, the Directors are required to.

+ Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently.

Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent.

State, for the Group financial statements, whether they have been
prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU.
State, for the parent company financial statements, whether
applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to
any material departures disclosed and explained in the parent
company financial statements.
Assess the Croup and parent company's ability to continue as a
" going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern.
* Use the going concern basis of accounting unless they intend either
to liquidate the Group or the parent company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records
that are sufficient to show and explain the parent company's
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the parent cornpany and enable themn to ensure
that its financiat statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.
They are responsible for such internat cantrol as they determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably
open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent
and detect fraud and other irregularities.

Under applicable law and regulations, the Directors are also
responsible for preparing a strategic report, Directors’ report,
Directors’ remuneration report and corporate governance statement
that comply with that law and those regulations.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of
the corporate and financial information included on the Company’s
website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ fromn legislation

in other jurisdictions.

Directors’ responsibility statement

We, the Directors of the Company, confirm that to the best of our
knowledge:

- The financial statements, prepared in accordance with the
applicable set of accounting standards, give a true and fair view of
the assets, liabilities, financial position, and profit or loss of the
Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken
as a whole.

+ The strategic report includes a fair review of the development and
performance of the business and the position of the Company and
the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole,
together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties
that they face.

« The Annual Report and Accounts, taken as whole, are fair, balanced
and understandable, and provide the information necessary for
shareholders to assess the Company’s position and performance,
business model and strategy.

The Directors’ Report (pages 54-98) has been approved by the Board
On behalf of the Board.

rancesca Todd
Group Company Secretary
13 March 2019
Capita plc
Registered in England and Wales No 2081330



Committees

Terms of reference

The terms of reference of the Nomination, Remuneration, and Audit
and Risk committees (standing committees) were reviewed during the
year. The terms of reference are surmmarised below and, along with
the matters reserved for the Board, are displayed in full in the investor
centre at www.capita.com/investors,

Yerms of reference Brief description of respansibilities
Nemination + Reviews composition of the Board
Committee + Recommends appointrment of new Directors.

+ Considers succession plans for Board and senior
management positions

« Oversees development of diverse pipeline for
succession

Audit and Risk
Committee

Reviews accounting policies and contents of financial
reports Monitors intemal control environment.
Considers adequacy, effectiveness and scope of
external and internal audit programme.

+ Owersees relationship with external Auditor

= Maonitors risk profile and obtains assurance that
principal risks have been properly identified and

.

appropriately managed
Remuneration + Sets policy for Board and senior management
Committes remuneration
+ Approves individual remuneration awards, Agrees
changes to serior executive incentive plans.
Disclosure + Comprises any two of the Chairman, Senior
Committee Independent Director and the Executive Directors.
Responsible for the :ppn.;priate identification and
management of inside information, including any
decision to delay public disclosure.
Membership

Membership of the Company's standing committees at the end of the
vear is shown below:

Baroness

Dot Shellon Lo Cres Wil Nevile-Rolf
MNomination C X X X X X
Audit and Risk X C X X X
Remuneration X X C X X

{C) Chairman
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Frequency of meetings and attendance

During 2018, the Nomination Committee met four times, the
Remuneration Committee met 12 times and the Audit and Risk
Committee met nine times. A number of unscheduled carmrnittee
meetings took place during the year in connection with the rights
issue and significant changes to senior management. Some Directors
were unable to attend every additional ad hoc meeting due to prior
commitments Attendance of Directors at committee meetings is
shown in the following table:

Audit and Risk H Nomil

Committes Committee Committes
Number of meetings 9 12 4
Sir tan Powell” nfa nfa 4
Gillian Sheldon 8 12 4
Matthew Lester 9 ] 4
John Cresswell 7 12 4
Andrew Williams 9 n 4
Baroness Lucy Neville-Rolfe 8 1 4

1 Sirlan Powell Is not a member af the Audit and Risk, and Remuneration committees,
but was invited to, and attended, all meetings.

Consideration of meeting times has to include flexibility to hold

meetings outside this timetable and meetings of this nature tend to

be held by telephone.

Any Director's absence frurm meetings of the Audit and Risk,
Remuneration or Nornination committees was previously agreed with
the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer ar the
chairman of the refevant committee.
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Nomination Committee

Members:

+ Sirian Powell

+ Gillian Sheldon

+ Matthew Lester

« John Cresswell

+ Andrew Williams

+ Baroness Lucy Neville-Rolfe

IMAGE REMOVED

“Capita sees significant business
benefit from the diversity of thought
that comes from people with a wide
range of backgrounds at all levels in
the Group.”

Sir lan Powell

Chair
Nomination Committee

The Committee met four times in 2018 and members’ attendance
record is shown on page 69.

The Group Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the Commiittee
and is available to assist the members of the Committee as required,
ensuring that timely and accurate information is distributed
accordingly.

The Committee reports and makes recommendations to the Board
in relation to its activities and deliberations. It is authorised under
its terms of reference to obtain the advice of independent search
consultants, The Committee’s terms of reference were reviewed
and updated during the year and can be found on Capita's website
at www.capita.com/investors.

Responsibilities and activities

Key responsibilities

Diversity

Capita's equality and diversity policy, which includes the Board, is
based on the belief that success is a direct result of the experience and
quality of its people. Inherent within this approach is an acceptance
and embracing of diversity in all its forms and an endorsement that
the entire workfarce, inctuding the Board, be representative of the
community in which Capita operates. Key aims of the policy are to
ensure equality, diversity and inclusion in the workplace and to
promote a culture where everyone is treated with respect and dignity.

Capita sees significant business benefit from the diversity of thought
that comes from people with a wide range of backgrounds at all levels
in the Group. Only by encouraging this diversity and by fostering
talent througheout the business can the Group expect to achieve
further diversity in senior management. Capita has a network of
diversity champions across the businesses and the Group's training
and mentoring initiatives actively support the fostering of talent at

all levels in the business across the Cormnpany’s diverse workforce.

The Board and senior management teams across Capita are fully
committed to working to provide an environment where everyone has
the opportunity to fulfil their potential. The Group will continue to
appoint and promote people on merit and in line with the skilts and
attributes identified for each post. Further information on diversity,
inclusion and wellbeing is on pages 37-38 of the strategic report.

Gender balance

At 31 December 2018, female reprasentation on the Board and
Executive Cormnmittee was 29% and 20% respectively. From 1 January
2019, following Patrick Butcher's appointment to the Board, female
representation is 25% and 19% respectively. At 31 December 2018,
female representation among senior management” and their direct
reports was 28%.

1 The 2018 Code defines senior management as the Executive Committee and the Group
Company Secretary.

Activityin 2018

+ Identify and nominate appropriate candidates for appointment to the
Board, having due regard to the provisions of the 2018 Code and, in
particular, the batance of skills, knowledge and experience on the Board
and the diversity of its composition.

+ Keep the structure and size of the Board and the leadership needs of the
organisation under review and ensure that plans are in place for orderly
succession and appointrrent to the Board

- Review the time cormnmitrment required from Non-Executive Directors,
the performance of Girectors and all declarations of interest made
by Board members.

» Consider Capita's diversity positicn.

+ Succession planning for the Board generally and for other senior positions
below Board level,

+ Recruitment ard appointment of new Chief Financial Officer: the external

search agency, bygon Group, was used for this appointment and it has ne

other connection with the Group.

Consideration of Directors’ performance, length of service, interests and

potential conflicts to ensure independence of NEDs and that ail Directors

could stand for re-election or election at the AGM

Discussed and approved the resignations of Nick Greatorex and

Chris Sellers.

.
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Audit and Risk Committee

Members:

+ Matthew Lester
+ Gillian Sheldon

« john Cressweil

= Andrew Williams

« Baroness Lucy Neville-Ralfe IMAGE REMOVED

“A key area of focus will be to ensure
the Group's new operating model
delivers a more efficient control and
risk process.”

Matthew Lester

Chair
Audit and Risk Committee

This year's independent evaluation of the Committee has concluded
that the Committee fulfils its role of supporting the Board in its review
of the integrity of the Group's financial reporting, monitoring the
effectiveness of the Group’s systems of risk management and internal
controls, and overseeing the activities of the Group’s internal audit
function and its external auditar.

In line with Capita's multi-year transformation, the Committee
meetings have changed to go deeper into relevant issues. However,
more is required if the Committee is to becorne really effective. Now
that the senior leadership team is complete and Capita is on a saunder
footing, this is an achievable objective. The other key area of focus for
the Committee will be to ensure the Group’s new operating model
delivers a more efficient control and risk progess.

Committee membership and attendance

All members of the Committee are independent and | am considered
to have recent and relevant financial experience for the purposes of
the UK Corporate Governance Code 2016.

To encourage effective communication, in addition to the above
members, the Board Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial
Officer, Chief General Counsel and Director of Group Finance are
invited to attend Committee meetings along with certain members of
the senior management team, the Group Internal Audit Director, the
Chief Risk & Compliance Officer, and representatives from KPMG, the
Group's external auditor. Opportunity exists at the end of each
Committee meeting for the representatives of the internal and
extemnal audit teams to meet with the Committee in the absence of
managernent and both have access to the Committee should they
wish to voice any concerns outside format meetings.

Committee performance was assessed as part of the externally
facilitated Board evaluation {see page 55 for more information). The
Board is satisfied that the combined knowledge and experience of its
members is such that the Committee discharges its responsibilities in
an effective, informed and challenging manner and that, as a whole,
the Committee has competence relevant to the sector in which the
Company operates.

The Group Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the Committes
and is available to assist the members of the Committee as required,
ensuring that timely and accurate information is distributed
accordingly.

How the Committee operates

The Committee has established an annual farward agenda to cover
the key avents in the financial reporting cycle, specific risk matters
identified by the Committee and standing items that the Committee
is required to consider in accordance with its terms of reference.

The annual agenda is supported by agenda setting meetings held in
advance of each Committee meeting, led by me and attended by
senior management. Their purpose is to identify key issues impacting
the business that may require consideration by the Committee.

Reports are received from the Group Risk & Compliance and Group
Internal Audit departments and new sales wins and their contract
terms are reviewed from a risk and accounting perspective as
appropriate At each Committee meeting, the members may receive
other reports and presentations covering key financial reporting, risk,
compliance and audit matters which are delivered by key senior
persennel who attend by invitation to enable any clarification or
queries to be provided ta the Comimittee. | report to the Board the
key matters of discussion and make any significant recommendations
as necessary.
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Audit and Risk Committee continued

Role and responsibilities

The Audit and Risk Committee is respensible for carrying out the audit functions as required by DTR 71.3R and assists the Board in fulfiiling its
oversight responsibilities in respect of the Company and the Group. The Committee's key responsitilities are:

Financial reporting + Ta review the reporting of financial and other information to the shareholders of the Company and monitor the integrity of
the financial statements, including the application of key judgements in determining reported outcomes to ensure that they

are fair, balanced and understandable.

Risk management, internal - To review and assess the adequacy of the systems of internal control and risk management and monitor the risk profile of

controls and compliance the business.

Internal audit + Toapprove the annual internal audit plan, review the effectiveness of the internal audit function and review alt significant
recommendations and ensure they are addressed in a timely manner.

External audit + To review the effectiveness and objectivity of the external audit process, assess the independence of the external auditor and
ensure appropriate policies and procedures are in place to protect such independence,

Cybersecurity + To review and assess cybersecurity risk and governance including IT security for the Group and monitor risks within this area

Effectiveness + To report to the Board on how 1t has discharged its responsibilities.

The Audit and Risk Committee’s terms of reference set out in full the role, responsibilities and authority of the Committee and can be found on
the Company's website at www.capita.com/investors. These were reviewed and updated during the year.

How the Committee discharged its roles and
responsibilities in 2018

The Committee met nine times during the year and attendance at
each meeting is shown on page 69. Meetings are planned around the
Company'’s financial calendar. Additional meetings were held during
the first part of the year to discuss the impact of the new strategic
plan and the rights issue, and to consider certain additional financial
reporting in respect of the rights issue.

Financial reporting

Accounting judgements and significant accounting
matters

As part of the process of monitoring the integrity of the financial
information presented in the half-year results and the Annual Report
and Accounts, the Committee reviewed the key accounting policies
and judgements adopted by management to ensure that they were
appropriate. The significant areas of judgement identified by the
Committee, in conjunction with management and the external
auditor, together with a number of areas that the Committee deemed
significant in the context of the financial statements are set out in the
tables on pages 73-75.

The Committee is assisting the Board to review the key metrics to be
used ta measure the value creation for Capita’s shareholders,
recognising that historical measures such as profitability may not be
as relevant as free cash flow, given the impact certain policies have on
the timing of recognition of profits and cash inflows. The Chief
Financial Officer’s review sets out the key areas where current
accounting requirements separate profit recognition from cash flows.

During 2018, the Committee received presentations from the
Executives and divisional management on the performance of major
contracts. This included an analysis of the IFRS 15 reported profits and
highlighted the particular challenges of measuring performance for a
contracting business. For certain projects the contract lifetime models
benefit from the recognition of deferred income, for which there is no
future cash inflow, as the associated cash has been received in prior-
year transformation milestene receipts.

The recognition of deferred income is a positive reflection of

the Group’s delivery against its future performance obligations.

This 'business as usual’ activity is a core value, as it underpins the
continued delivery of valuable services and solutions to the Group's
customers. The flip-side comes when the Group's transformation plan
successfully secures new contract wins, as the early cash milestones
are likely to be significant, generating new deferred income and with
cash in excess of profits in the early years

Accordingly, the Committee s reviewing with the Board how free cash
flow can be used to reflect the value creation for shareholders,
recognising that outside the core contracting activities there are other
commitments, and in particular the pension deficit repayment plan;
free cash flow will not always be reflected in the reported profits (refer
to note 29 to the consclidated financial statements). The Board will
continue to review how tha different measures are presented and

the Committee has requested management that carries out a
fundamental review of how frae cash flow is disclosed, so the reader
can obtain a clear understanding of the key value drivers

Fair, balanced and understandable

At the Board's request, the Committee considered whether the half-
year results and the Annual Report and Accounts were fair, balanced
and understandable and whether the information provided was
sufficient for a reader of the statements to understand the Group's
position and performance, business model and strategy. The
Committee reviewed both the narrative and financial sections of the
reports to ensure they were consistent and gave a balanced view of
the performance of the business in the year and that appropriate
weight was given to both positive and negative aspects. The
Committee also assessed whether important communications issued
during the year were presented clearly.

The Committee considered whether the Annual Report and Accounts
enable readers to understand the Company's financial position

and prospects, as well as assess its going concern status and
longer-term viability.
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Significant issues in relation to the financial statements considered by the Audit and Risk Committee

{Revenue and profit recognition |
Matter considered Action Outcome
There is significant risk on long-term contracts The Committee received regular updates on alt The revenue recognition poticy includes disclosure
related to revenue recognised from vanations or major contracts during the year and specifically of the significant judgements and estimates in
scope Cglaﬂ es, where significant judgementis reviewed the material judgements as part of the relation to its application and the Committee is
required ta be exercised by management. There is a year-end close process. satisfied that these have been properly disclosed.

risk that revenue may be recognised even though it
is not prabable that consideration will be collected, The Committee has also considered the recognition The Committee is satisfied that the disclosures

which could be due to uncertainties aver of onerous provisions, where appropnate, and the  given within the accounts are sufficient to gain a
C‘?”l:" ;ctual terms and ongoing negotiations lifetime profitability of contracts. proper understanding of the methodology of
with chents. . " accounting for revenue across the Group, including
the recognition of deferred income at the balance
sheet date.
| Contract fulfilment assets |
Matter considered Action Qutcome
The adoptian of IFRS 15 has led to the recognition  As part of the adoption of IFRS 15, the Committee  The Committee is satisfied that appropriate
of contract fulfilment assets (CFAs). judgements  has considered and challenged the significant ~ judgements and estimates have been made in
are invoived in assessing whether the costs incurred  judgements and estimates involved in determining  determining the cammying value of CFAs and the
on a contract, or an anticipated contract meet the  the camying value of CFAs. extent of impairment of CFAs recognised in these
capitalisation criteria as set out under the standard. statements 15 appropriate. The Committee is

As part of the review of all major contracts, the

In addition, the amortisation of these assets Committee has also considered the recoverability

involves estimation of the expected life of the of CFAs. During the year, the Committee discussed
certain CFAs where their recoverability was in

satisfied that the accounting policy note provides
sufficient clarity as ta the new policy adopted.

cantract. doubt. Management agreed not to capitalise these
until the necessary actions to underpin the
contracts’ profitability had taken place.
[[mpairment of intangible assets, goodwill and parent company’s investment in subsidiaries ]
Matter considered Action Outcome
The Group carries significant asset balances in The Cormmittee has reviewed the robustness of the The Committee is satisfied that the impairment of
respect o ill and intangible assets related to  impairment model and challenged the goodwill and intangibles recognised in these
its acquisition activity. In addition, the parent appropriateness of assumptions used to calculate  statements is in line with expectations given the
company carries a material balance of investment  and determine the existence of impairment. erformance of certain areas of the Group's
in subsidiaries on its financial statements The usiness in the year and the update on the trading
impairment assessment requires the application of The Committee considered the events and outlook.
judgement concerning future prospects and circumstances that have led to the impairment
forecasts, charges since the publication of the interim results  The Committee is also satisfied that the
in August 2018. In particular, the Committee assumptions, methodology and disclosure in note
considered the continuing challenges both 15 to the consolidated financial statements are
operationally and within the market served, the sufficient to give the reader an understanding of
continued attrition in sales and the more significant  the action taken and the sensitivities within t
contract terminations experienced ﬁ_.Dwam and intangtble assets balance to any
rther impairment risk,
The impairment of goodwill and intangible assets
at Group level indicates that there may also be Of particular importance to the Committee was
impairment of investment in subsidiaries on the the inclusion of sufficient disclosures to set out the
parent company's financial statements events and circumstances that have led to the
Accordingly, the Committee has reviewed the impairment charges recorded in the year.
assumptions and calculation of impaimment of
these investments, The Committee also considered that any

impairment of investment in subsidiaries at the
parent company level were appropriate and
properly accounted for, :
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{items excluded from adjusted results ]
Matter considered Action Outcome

As stated in its accounting policies, Capita The Committee has reviewed the individual items  The Committee concurs with management's view
separates its results between adjusted and reported  excluded from adjusted results, in particular the that the presentation of items excluded from

to provide useful disclosure to aid the iterns relating to pensions. The Committee has adjusted results provides useful disclosure to aid
understanding of the performance of the Group. requested further information conceming the the understanding of the perfarmance of the Group
The Committee needs to ensure a fair and balanced igination of the items where they felt it was and apree that the items excluded meet with the
treatment of what is and is not included necessary to enable a conclusion to be drawnasto  stated policy for recognition

ALTIENL at is and is not includes as an whether the chosen presentation achieved the
adjusting item. stated principal. Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements

sets out the items that are separately presented,
The Committee has considered the accountins and the Committee is satisfied that this provides
|:aolic¥I by reference to guidance issued by the FRC  sufficient information to inform a reader on each
and the need to ensure any alternative category presented, The Committee atso notes that
performance measures are presented with equal the approach is consistent with that used for the
g;ominence to reported figures and on a consistent  rights issue in 2018, The Committee has asked the

sis year-on-year, Enew CFO to continue to review the approach in
019

The Committee considered the appropriate
presentation to apply for the costs associated with
the transformation plan which are presented asan .
‘adjustrnent’ to the reported results. The plan is
extensive and covers a number of Capita-wide
initiatives to address the cost competitiveness of
the businesses and to simplify and strengthen the
Group, ’

Categories of expenditure include costs typically
associated with major restructuring such as
severance anmems, but also include costs related
to the offshoring of activities and the introduction
of automatien and digital solutions, a Group-wide
property rationalisation and finance transformation
projfect To support these activities, external
professional fees are being incurred in addition to
dedicated internal costs. Where such costs are
incremental and directly related to the
. transformation plan, the Committee has concluded
that such costs should be included in the averall
transformation costs that are separately presented.
In agreeing this presentation, the Committee was
mindfut of the guidance issued by the FRC in
November 2017 in terms of multi-year major
‘restructuring’ programmes. This directs boards to
define the costs to be presented separately, set
barders to capture only relevant casts, an
emphasises tﬁat disclosures to explain the costs
must be transparent and of high quality.
The Committee considers that this guidance has
been applied and note 3 to the consolidated
financial staternents provides details of the costs
incurred in 2018. The Committee will continue to
review this policy in 2019 and beyond, as the
- transformation prograrnme continues.

{Provisions and contingent liabilities )
Matter considered Action ! Outcome

There is judgement applied in the tevel of The Committee has reviewed the disclosure in the  The Committee is satisfied with the fact patterns
provisianing across the Group. This involves making financial statements, in particular it has challenged  underlying the provisions, with both the treatment
an assessment of the size, timing and probability of Management to justify rovisioning levels wherea  and levels of prowision being properly justified.
ecanomic outflows due to the oceurrence of a past  (@Nge of outcomes has been identified.

event. It is therefore important to understand the

judgement being made as well as the estimate of

any accompanying outflow of funds
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IPensions B
Matter considered Action Outcome

The measurement of the defined benefit liability n  The Committee has reviewed the disclosure as The Cornmittee is satisfied that the estimation of
respect of defined benefit pension schemes presented in the accounts The Committee also the Group's pension liabilities and the namative
operated within the Group is a complex area, challenged the key assumptions and reviewed the  that accompanies them gives the required level of
relying on assumptions en inflation, mortality, sensitivity to changes in sorne of the key information for a reader of the accounts to

corporate bond yields, expectations of retums on  assumnptions both on a stand-alone basis as well as . . - .
assets and a nurmber of other keyinputs, Thereis  inthe Context of defined benefit schemes across  GELermine the impact on the Group of its pension
arisk that any one of these could lead to other external benchmarks. obligations.
misstatement of the Grol.:jp's liability in respect
of pension obligations and the pension charge ar
movement recognised in the income staterment
or statement of comprehensive income

|Goir|g concern - J

Matter considered Action ’ Outcome

Consideration of the going concern assumptionis  The going concern assertion has a significant The Cormmittee is satisfied that page 65 includes
the responsibility of the Board, and the Committee  impact ori the basis of preparation of the financial  detailed disclosures conceming the going concern
conducted an assessment as part of its support statements. The Committee considered the assertion and key assumptions applied to inform
role, given the inherent judgements required tobe  business plan projections that cover the two years  the users of the assessment undertaken by the
made in relation to the forecasts and definitions to 31 Decernber 2020. Board.

within the covenant calculations.
The Committee considered the assumptions behind
the plausible but severe downside scenarios used
for stress testing the Group's ability to meet its
obli%ations as they fall due. It also considered and
chailenged the mm‘gating actions proposed
management The Committee has challenged the
key assumptions, as set out on page 65.

The Comrnittee considered compliance with the
key covenants included in the Croup's committed
facitities and private placement notes, including
maxirum ratios of adjusted net debt to adjusted
EBITDA.

The Committee considered the judgements made
bg management in calculating the adjusted
EBITDA. In particular, consideration was given to
consistency of treatment with the prior year,
including the exclusion of restructuring.

Applying the downside scenarios, the Committee

) concluded that, assuming no mitigating actions are
taken, the availabte headroom is sufficent to
cperate within the 3.0 times adjusted net debt to
adjusted EBITDA ratio.

) The Comenittee considered the going concern
assumption disclosures.

The Committee considered the requirements of the
Code as it applies to the Group's viability
statement including the three-year period of
assessment which aligns with t¥|e Group's planning
horizon and the processes supporting the viability
statement. ARter significant discussion and having
considered the various stress testing scenarios that
were presented as part of the viability assessment
alangside the liquidity and debt positions of the
business, the Committee determined that the
three-year measurement period cantinued to be
appropriate and that the viability statement (as sat
out on fpage 52) should be recommended to the
Board for approval. .




78 Capita plc Annual Repart 2018

Audit and Risk Committee continued

Other issues considered in relation to the
financial statements

Materiality

Materiality 1s important in determining the risk attached to any
judgement. The Committee considers the audit materiality set by the
external auditor to ensure that the Audit and Risk Committee is
informed of individual items above a certain threshold that are most
likely to have an impact on the financial statements. The Audit and
Risk Committee reviews the external auditar’s repart and the
individual items that breach the materiality thresholds and assess
their relative impact on the reported statements. These are: income
statement, balance sheet, statement of changes in equity and cash
flow, as well as the notes to the accounts. :

- The Committee requests further clarification from both the external
auditar, the Chief Financial Officer and Director of Group Finance as
to the nature of these items and also their relative importance in the
financial statements

After having made such enquiries, the Audit and Risk Committee is
satisfied that materiality has been applied correctly in the accounts
and that material items brought to its attention remain unadjusted
where its inclusion would not cause detrirment to the overall reading
of the financial statements.

Disclosure of information to the auditor

The Directors who held office at the date of the approval of this
Directors’ report confirm that, so far as they are each aware, there is
na retevant audit information of which the Company’s Auditor is
unaware; and each Director has taken all steps that they ought to
have taken as a Director to make themselves aware of any relevant
audit infermation required for the audit and to establish that the

. Company’s auditor is aware of that information.

Statutory auditor

The Committee provides a farum for reporting by the Group's auditor
(KPMG) and it advises the Board on the appointmant, independence
and objectivity of the auditor and on fees ¢arned for both statutory
audit and non-audit work. The Committee discusses the nature, scope
and timing of the statutory audit with the auditor and, in making a
recommendation to the Board on auditor reappointment, performs
an annual, independent assessment of the auditor's suitability and
performance.

The external auditor attends meetings of the Committee and provides
updates on statutory reporting, non-audit fees and ongoing audit
items.

The auditor has opportunity to raise concerns with the Chairman
separately and in private session with the Committee. Specifically, the
Committee asks the auditor if discussion of business performance in
the strategic report is cansistent with the impression of Capita the
auditors have gained. Any material discrepancies are discussed (refer
to the independent auditor's report).

Auditor independence

The Committee takes seriously its responsibility to put in place
safeguards to auditar objectivity and independence. The Company is
committed to ensuring appropriate independence in its relationship
with the auditor and the key safeguards are:

+ The Chief Financial Officer monitors the independence of the
auditor as part of the Group's assessment of auditor effectiveness
and reports to the Audit and Risk Committee.

« The Chief Financial Officer monitors the level and nature of non-
audit fees accruing to the auditor, and specific assignments are
discussed in advance with the auditor and fiagged for the approval
of the Audit and Risk Committee, as appropriate, and in accordance
with the Company’s policy on the provision of non-audit services by
the auditor. The Audit and Risk Commitiee reviews, in aggregate,
non-audit fees of this nature on a six-manthly basis and considers
implications for the objectivity and independence of the
relationship with the auditor.

« The auditor provides confirmations of its independence to the Audit
and Risk Cormittee every six months.

Ensuring conflicts of interest are aveided is a fundamental criterion in
the selection of any third-party auditor. Such conflicts may arise
across public or private sector clients and key supplier relationships,
for example, and are a key determinant in the award process for
external audit assignments.

Non-audit services and fees

The Committee has established a policy on the provision of services by
the Group's auditor. The palicy describes the circumstances in which
the auditar may be permitted to undertake non-audit work for the
Group. The Committee oversees compliance with the policy and
considers and approves requests to use the Auditor for non-audit
work. Any assignment where the expected fee is above £150,000
requires specific approval from the Committee or a member of the
Committee. The Group Company Secretary deals with day-to-day
administration of the policy, facilitating requests for approval by the
Committee. All work with the external auditor outside of the audit has
to be pre-approved by the Chief financial Officer. The auditor
undertook various non-audit work in 2018 primarily related to their
role as Reparting Accountant in connection with the rights issue, and
the Interim Review. Only the Audit and Risk Committee can authorise
the scope and policy on non-audit fees.

Non-audit fees this year are 23% (2017: 17%) of all fees paid to the
external auditor. The Cornmittee continued to receive updates
throughout the year on approval of fees exceeding the threshold
stated above,

The policy is reviewed annuatly by the Committee. During 2018, our
external auditor, KPMG, announced a new policy with regard to the
provision of non-audit services to FTSE 350 audit clients and this is
therefore applicable to non-audit services provided to Capita ple.

With effect from 1 January 2019, to avoid the perception of a conflict,
KPMG will not perform, and will not approve requests from other
KPMG member firms to perform, non-audit services for FTSE 350
listed audit clients other than services closely related to the audit.
Such services include those required by laws and regulations, or where
it is more practical for the external auditor to perform the service

{e.g. reporting accountant role related to certain public company
transactions). KPMG will also continue to deliver the Interim Review
which though technically dlassified as a non-audit service, relates
closely to the audit.

Details of audit and non-audit fees are given in note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements and a summary of non-audit fees is

shown in the table below.
2018 2017
I £m EFm

Nan-audit services

Taxation compliance services — 01
Services related to corporate finance transactions — 01
Other assurance services 1.6 08

i,
=
-]

Total non-audit services 10

P



External auditor performance

The Committee discussed the performance of KPMG during the period
and was satisfied that the level of communication and reporting was
in line with requirements. This atso included a review of effectiveness
and quality of the audit process, audit planning and a post-audit
evaluation,

The Committee has ensured that the evaluation is integrated with
other aspects of their role related ta ensuring the quality of the
financial statements — obtaining evidence of the quality of the
auditor's judgements made throughout the audit, in identifying audit
risks, determnining materiality and planning their work accordingly,

as well as in assessing issues.

Financial Reporting Council: audit quality inspections

Each year the Audit Quality Review team (AQR) of the FRC issues
a report that sets out the principal findings arising from the audit
quality inspections conducted in the previous calendar year across
a sample of audits for all major audit firms. The AQR's objective is
to monitor and promote improvemnents in the quality of auditing.
The reports highlight improvements required to promote audit
quality, and areas of good practice. The FRC publishes separate
reports on the individual firms, including KPMG.

The Committee received a presentation from the KPMG lead audit
partner on the findings from the FRC Audit Quality Inspection Report
for KPMG and the proposed improvernent plans put forward by KPMG
in response, including details of the Audit Quality Transformation
Programme initiated by KPMG. The Committee will closely monitor
progress against these plans.

AQR review of the Capita 2017 audit by KPMG

During the year, the 2077 audit of Capita plc by KPMG was reviewed
by the FRC's AQR.

Certain matters for improverment were identified, including how
KPMG evidenced all areas of the audit work performed, and the
conclusions reached, conceming the Company's impairment models.
The AQR also highlighted good practice cbservations in relation to
KPMG’s challenge aver going concern and the approach adopted to
auditing Capita’s long-term contracts. The Audit and Risk Committee
and KPMG have discussed the review findings and the identified
improvement observations, and are satisfied with responses to be
implemented by KPMG in the 2018 audit.

Overall, the results of the review raised no issues which cast doubt on
the fundamental quality of Capita's external audit and the Committee
remains satisfied with the efficiency and effectiveness of the audit.
KPMG LLP have also discussed more generally the firm's process for
enhancing audit quality which includes internal quality reviews. KPMG
LLP reported to the Audit and Risk Committee as part of their April
2018 report on these matters, with the Audit and Risk Committee
concluding that the findings were being addressed.

External audit tender

The Company's audit services were last subject to a tender process

in 2010, at which time XPMG Audit Plc, subsequently KPMG LLP,
replaced Ernst & Young LLP as the Group's auditor. The lead audit
partner is rotated on a five-yearly basis. The current lead audit partner
rotated on to the audit at the conclusion of the 2016 audit. There are
ne contractual abligations which restrict the Carnmittee's choice

of auditor.

Under the requirements of the Statutory Audit Services Order and the
EU Audit Directive and Audit Regulation, the provision of audit
services should be re-tendered every 10 years. The complex nature of
the Group requires that a knowledge base is built up year-on-year by
the incumbent to ensure that the external audit is conducted with a
proper understanding of the Group's operations and the nature of the
risks that it faces. This is an important factor in ensuring audit quality.

Strategic report Financial statements

The Group has complied with the provisions of the Statutory Audit
Services Order.

A pre-selection process was carried out in preparation for the tender.
Pre-qualification questionnaires were completed to identify those
firms with sufficient FTSE experience, sector expertise, and resources
to provide a good cultural fit and which were not conflicted by virtue
of substantial ongoing non-audit work. Following detailed reviews and
preliminary rmeetings with potential firms, a shortlist was identified
and firms asked to submit proposals against a detailed invitation

to tender.

Following review and agreement on a final shortlist, partners of two
firms met with management and members of the Committee to
outline further the skills and attributes expected of an external audit
teamn, The selection criteria were developed into a scorecard for the
Audit Committee. The categories were:

+ technical competency and experience
» high-quality tailored audit

- culture and teaming

+ innovation and technology.

The final short-listed firms met with divisional and central services
management, and the CEQ and Cormmittee Chairman met with key
partners for one-to-one discussions. Following feedback from
management, each of the two firms presented to the Committee
Chairman, Baroness Lucy Neville-Rolfe, CFO, Director of Group
finance, Head of Procurement and Director of Cormmercial & Financial
Accounting in December 2018, ahead of the Committee making its
final decision for recommendation to the Board. Following the

detailed tender process, the Committee recommended to the Board
that KPMG be re-appointed as external auditor.

External auditor re-appointment

A resolution to re-appaint KPMG as the extemal auditor of the
Company will be put forward at the farthcoming annual general
meeting. If approved, KPMG will hold office from the conclusion of
this meeting until the conclusion of the next general meeting at which
accounts are laid before the Company, and their remuneration wilt be
fixed by the Committee,

Review of risk management and internal control

The Committee is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of the
Group's system of internal control and risk management. The risk
management framework and processes are set out on pages 44-51.

Effectiveness and efficiency of risk management

During the year, the Committee focused on key risk themes such as IT
resilience, cyber-risk, management of client money, regulatory risk,
information security and data management, The Committee received
reparts on the following themes during the year:

= IT resilience and ensuring that customer data was kept safely and in
a controlled manner.

- Financial Services regulated businesses, in particular, conduct
matters, the significance within the Group of the regulated
environment and co-operation with the Financial Conduct
Authority.

= Primary Care Support England contract with NHS England where
some performance obligations had not been correctly identified in
line with the contract.

As a consequence of the above areas, a review of the first line control
framework has been instigated to ensure that lessons are learned
across the business and that appropriate controls are in place.

This together with other matters reported to the Committee
highlighted areas where there is a need for improvement in
operational risk management and verification by internal audit.
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However, the Committee concluded the risk management processes
were materially adequate and there were no material weaknesses
requiring specific disclosure.

Effectiveness and efficiency of financial controls

As noted in the Annual Report and Accounts 2017, Capita has
embarked on a finance transformation which it expects will drive
improved data quality, standardisation of activities performed by the
finance community and optimise the use of offshoring and shared
service centre delivery models, These actions are designed to develop
and deliver better pracesses and controls across the business,
improving the financial risk framework employed by the business.

As part of this programme, in the year under review, an evaluation of
financial controls was undertaken by the senior finance team to review
the material financial controls that are in place and to identify areas
where these might only be partially effective or be inefficient in
achievement of their purpose. The results of the review completed by
management was shared with KPMG to ensure the combined
approach delivers value within the context of an external audit and
the robustness of the financial statements. Any material issue was
dealt with through mitigating activities.

Learnings gained from the review will be considered by senior
managerment within the construct of the wider finance transformation
to ensure that the financial risk framework is improved and
strengthened. This is expected to deliver vatue to both the business
and its stakehoiders by improving the safeguarding of the Group’s
financial position and additionally to our external auditor in relation to
the scoping, efficiency and planning of their audit.

As part of its remit to ensure the robustness of the Group's internal
control frameworks, the combination of the findings from the above
exercise and the scoping of the programme will be monitared by the
Committee,

The Committee concluded financial controt pracesses were materially
adequate and there were no material weaknesses requiring specific
disclosure.

Internal audit

The Group Internal Audit function has an administrative reporting line
to the Chief Financial Officer and an independent reporting line to me
as Chairman of the Committee. The function has in place a co-
sourcing arrangement with PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP which adds
expertise and breadth to the work of the in-house audit team.

During the year, a programime of internal audits was completed The
scope of audit work generally focuses on assessing the adequacy and
effectiveness of controls including management oversight and the
degree of management risk awareness within the businesses that are
subject to audit.

Throughout the year, the Group Internal Audit function provides
written reports to the Group Audit and Risk Committee on the work
carried out to date and the in-flight work to be completed. A verbal
update accornpanies each report submitted to the Committee. An
annual report is provided each year summarising the key matters
arising. The representations given set out strengths and weaknesses
identified during the work, together with any recommendations for
rernedial action or further review,

The Group Internal Audit team reported weaknesses in compliance
with Group policies, particularly the Group Security Standards,
controls over data management, system access and measures to
safeguard both employees and the public. In all cases, managemnent
has responded with appropriate action to mitigate the assaciated risks
and Divisional Executive management have increased visibility on
those 1ssues of significance. In addition, there has been facus by senior
management to improve the contro! environment through the closure
of previously overdue audit actions.

The Committee reviews management's response to the matters raised
and ensures that any action is commensurate with the level of risk
identified, whether real or perceived.

Through the regular interaction between the Committee and Group
Internal Audit Director, as well as the reports received from the
function, the Committee is able to assess and satisfy itself that the
Group's provision of internal audit is effective. At the request of the
Committee, a review of the function is currently under way as part of
Capita’s wider transformation programme, in order to ensure the
function provides assurance in an efficient as well as effective manner.
In particular, this will seek to leverage the control and risk self-
assessment process, referred to in the ‘internal control and risk
management’ section of the strategic report, and focus 'on business
unit key-control reviews. This review is being undertaken by the Group
Internal Audit Interim Director who joined Capita in October 2018
following the departure of the previous incumbent Head of Internal
Audit during the year.

Anti-bribery and whistleblowing

Capita has a Group-wide anti-bribery and corruption policy, which is in
cempliance with the Bribery Act 2010. Procedures are reviewed
periadically to ensure continued effective comnpliance in Group
businesses around the world.

A 'Speak Up' policy provides the framework to encourage and give the
workforce confidence to 'blow the whistle’ and report irregularities.
Employees are encouraged to raise concerns with designated
individuals and there is a dedicated email hotline to make it easy to
raise concerns, These are investigated on behalf of the Board and
reported to it, together with details of corrective action taken.
Foltowing the introduction of the 2018 Code, oversight of these
arrangements is now a matter reserved for the Board.

Matthew Lester

Chairman
Audit and Risk Committee

13 March 2019




Group Executive Risk Committee

The Group Executive Risk Comnmittee (ERC) assesses risk across all
Capita businesses and reports to the Audit and Risk Committee. It
holds scheduled meetings on a quarterly basis. Membership comprises
the CEQ, CFO, Chief General Counsel, Group Commercial Directar,
Chief Risk & Compliance Officer and the six divisional Executive
Officers. The Group Internal Audit Director has a standing invitation,
and the Non-Executive Directors have an open invitation, to attend all
meetings. Following the resignation of Tim Brooke as independent
committee chairman in August 2018, the role of chairman was
assumed by the CEQ, Jon Lewis,

The ERC's role is to oversee and challenge the key risk and compliance
activities and issues in Capita’s businesses by:

+ Reviewing the residual risk profile of Capita businesses, along with
ensuring appragriate remedial actions are taken in line with Group
objectives and risk appetites.

Reviewing and monitoring Group control function activity and
oversight plans.

Tracking key regulatory changes affecting the Group’s businesses.

Tracking key business developments, including bids, acquisitions and
offshoring developments.

» Receiving updates on regulatory capital issues, e.g. Internal Capital
Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP).

Receiving updates on conduct risk issues.

 Reviewing, and recommending for adoption, policies applicable to
the Group's businesses.

Identifying itemns for the attention of the Board or Group Audit and
Risk Committee.

The scope of the Committee covers all Capita businesses, including
regulated activity in all jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

The Committee structure was reviewed during the year and, in
November 2018, the Group Technology & Security Risk Committee,
which focused on risk relating to information systems and security,
and IT infrastructure, was merged into the ERC to simplify risk
oversight. However, in order to retain an element of independent
oversight of risk within Capita's regulated businesses, the former
Financial Services Risk Cornmittee will be reconstituted during 2019 to
take on this responsibility, with an independent chairman, as a
committee of the ERC. Where appropriate, matters will be escalated
to the ERC, which reports regularly to the Audit and Risk Comimittee,
and feedback from both cammittees will be provided to the Audit and
Risk Committee on a regular basis.

During 2018, the ERC met four times and the Group Technology &
Security Risk Committee met three times prior to being merged into
the ERC. Membership and meeting attendance are set out in the
tables on this page. The maximum number of meetings that could be
attended is shown in brackets.

Strategic report Financial statements 79
Group Executive Risk Committes:
Number of
Name of member Title meetings attended
Jon Lewis {Chairman)'  Chief Executive Officer 4(4)
Patrick Butcher Chief Financial Officer (o}
Mike Barnard Executive Officer,
Customer Management 4(4)
Joe Hernming Executive Officer, IT & Networks 3(4)
Patrick Elliott Interim Executive Officer,
Government Services 101}
Erika Bannerman Executive Officer,
People Solutions 4{4}
Jim Vincent Executive Officer,
Specialist Services 4{4)
Chris Baker Executive Officer, Software 2(4)
Claire Chapman Chief General Counsel 4(4)
Rob Tolfts Group Commercial Director 4(4)
Sue Williams Chief Risk & Compliance Officer 2{2)
Nick Greatorex® Chief Financial Officer 2{2)
Tim Brooke* tndependent Chalrman 2{2)
Stephen Sharp® Executive Officer,
Covernment Services 3(3)
Peter Hepwarth® Executive Officer,
Professianal Services . 101}
Chris Terry’ Group Risk &
Compliance Director 2(2)

1 Jon Lewis chaired two of the four meetings following Tim Brooke's resignation.
2 Patrick Butcher was appainted as a Director of Capita plc, and joined the ERC,
on 1 January 2015,
3 Nick Greatorex, former Chief Financial Officer, resigned from the Board and all
commuttees on 30 September 2018,
4 Tim Brooke, former independent Chairman, resigned as chairman of the ERC
on 31 August 2018,
5 Stephen Sharp, former Executive Officer for Government Services, left Capita
on 7 November 2018,
6 Peter Hepworth, former Exeautive Officer for Prafessional Services, left Capita
on 21 May 2018
7 Chris Terry, former Group Risk & Compliance Director, left Capita on 27 August 218,

Group Technology & Security Risk Committee:

Number of
Name of member Title meetings attended
Sue Williams
{Chairman) Chuef Risk & Compliance Officer 1)
Jon Lewis Chuef Executive Officer 3{3)
Mark Brown Chief Information Officer 2(3)
Claire Chapman Chief General Counsel 1(2)
Nick Greatorex' Chief Financial Officer 2(2)
Chris Terry” glr(c:::;t)okrmk 8 Compliance 2

1 Nick Greatorex, former Chief Finandial Officer, resigned fram the Board and al
comrittees on 30 September 2018,
2 Chris Terry, former Group Risk & Compliance Duector, left Capita on 27 August 2018
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“Our incentive plans are aligned with
our business transformation to drive
better outcomes for all stakeholders.”
John Cresswell

Chair

Remuneration Committee

Annual statement

I am pleased to present the Remuneration Committee report for the
year ended 31 December 2018. As Sir lan Powell notes in his
introduction, Capita is a business in transition as our leadership team
and people restructure and build. The Remuneration Committee has
invested significant time working with the CEO in building the
leadership team, with Patrick Butcher joining as CFO and seven new
appointments to the Executive Committee.

We received strong support for our 2017 Annual Report on
Rernuneration and we have spent significant time considering
performance measures and targets for 2018 and 2019 to ensure they
are meaningful, robust and aligned with our strategy.

Context to the Committee’s decisions in the year

Since the arrival of Jon Lewis in late 2017, the business has begun a
major transformation, with a rights issue, the formulation of a new
business strategy and a series of disposals. Capita is now a much
stronger business with a solid balance sheet, and a clear strategy for
transformation that will see the business simplify, strengthen and
succeed Qur overall remuneration framework has a number of
specific objectives. It is designed to focus on value creation and share
ownership to align the high-calibre executives appointed in 2017

and 2018 with the completion of the transformation and the delivery
of the outcomes promised to shareholders. There are multiple
considerations in the design of the overall framework to. ensure
long-term shareholder value creation; and recognise Group
performance and the individual's specific contribution to it, through an
appropriate balance of short and long-term reward, as well as
consideration of the level of reward available to employees in the
wider Group. A good example of this is the pension contribution {or
cash in lieu} for our CEO and CFQ, which is the same level as is offered
to other employees in the UK at 5% of salary.

We consulted with major sharehoiders to obtain their views on the
design of our long-term incentive plan. Feedback received has been
incorporated into the plan design for 2019; further detail is shared
below. The Committee has also decided to introduce an additional
two-year holding period for all share awards from 2019 anwards.

In addition, the Committee has incorporated a discretion allowing the
Cornmittee ta override formulaic outcomes in line with the changes
to the new Corporate Governance Code.

remuneration report

Committee membership and attendance ,

All members of the Committee are Independent Non-Executive
Directors. None of the Committee members have day-to-day
involvernent with the business nor do they have any personal financial
interest, except as shareholders, in the matters to be recommended.
The number of formal meetings held and the attendance by each
member is shown in the table on page 69. The Committee also held
informal discussions as required.

To encourage effective communication, in addition to the above
members, the Board Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, and senior
human resources personnel are invited to attend all or part of
Committee meetings along with representatives from Deloitte, the
Group's remuneration advisers.

The performance of the Committee is assessed as part of the Board
performance evaluation undertaken annually.

The Group Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the Committee
and is available to assist the members of the Committee as required,
ensuring that timely and accurate information {s distributed
accordingly.

How the Committee operates

The Committee has an annual agenda to cover the key planning and
decision events in the annual remuneration cycle.

Each meeting is supported by an agenda-setting discussion held in
advance with the Chief People Officer, Group Reward Director, Group
Company Secretary and Deloitte to identify issues impacting
remuneration that may require consideration by the Committee.

Regular reports including updates in corporate governance and
regulatory developments are received from Deloitte. At each
Committee meeting the members may receive other reports and
presentations covering the annual pay review, incentive scheme
arrangernents, gender pay reporting, salary proposals for members
of the senior team and approval of remuneration packages for naw
members of the CEQ's team.

The Remuneration Committee’s terms of reference set out in full the
role, responsibilities and authority of the Committee and can be found
an the Company's website at www.capita_com/investors. These were
reviewed and updated during the year.

How the Committee discharged its roles and

responsibilities in 2018

The Committee met 12 times during the year and attendance at each
meeting is shown on page 69. In 2018, the Committee held a number
of unscheduled meetings to both consider and approve the
termination arrangements of exiting Directors and consider and
approve the remuneration package for the incoming CFO.

Board changes in 2018

There were a number of changes at Board level in 2018: Chris Sellers
stepped down from the Board on 23 January 2018, and left the Group
on 31 January 2018; and Nick Greatorex stepped down from the Board
and left the Group on 30 September 2018.

The termination arrangements are set qut on page 97. The terms are in
accordance with our remuneration policy and contractual obligations,
and were considered equitable in the circumstances.

The 8oard canducted a thorough external search for our new Chief
Financial Officer which resulted in Patrick Butcher being appointed to
the Board with effect from 1 January 2019. The Remuneration
Committee agreed a remuneration package for Patrick that reflected
his considerable experience, comprising an annual salary of £430,000
and, in lieu of a pension scheme contribution, a cash contribution
equivalent to 5% of base salary in line with our wider warkforce.



Patrick will also be eligible to participate in the Comnpany's annual
bonus plan and long-term incentive plan (LTIP) in line with our policy.
Buy-out remuneration awards were granted in relation to Patrick’s
appointment to compensate him for deferred share awards that he
forfeited when he left Go-Ahead Group plc. Full details of these
awards which are consistent in value and structure with the forfeited
awards can be found on page 94,

Variable pay outcomes for 2018

Annual bonus

The maximurn annuat bonus for the Executive Directors that could be
earned in relation to 2018 performance was 200% of salary
(unchanged from 2017}

As reparted in the Annual Report 2017, the Remuneration Committee
exercised discretion in respect of 2017 bonus payments and
determined that no bonus would be paid to Executive Directors for a
second consecutive year. In this context, and with a new CEO recently
appointed, the Executive Directors bonus plan for 2018 was
redesigned to align with the transformation plan. Accordingly, the
bonus plan was based on a rounded assessment of Group financial
performance, incorporating free cash flow, cost-out measures
alongside adjusted profit before tax (PBT)' as well as a set of individual
non-financial objectives that directly align to what is required to
deliver the transformiation plan. Based on the assessment of
performance against targets, the achievement of the financial element
is 75% of maximum.

in 2018, under the teadership of Jon Lewis, the Group reported
adjusted profit before tax ahead of expectations. Jon oversaw a
strategic review of the business, built a new leadership team, and has
shown highly effective and visible leadership. He has delivered
significant progress in establishing a culture that places importance on
integrity, transparency, accountability, collaboration and inclusion.
The transformation of the business continues at pace and significant
improvements have been delivered in efficiency and competitiveness.
There was unanimous support for the decision ta make an award to
reflect the contribution that the new CEC has made to strengthening
the business and positioning it for success. Based on this achievement,
the Remuneration Committee has determined that the CEO should
receive a bonus of 85% of the 200% opportunity, of which 50% is
payable in shares vesting after three years and the remainder as cash
and subject to the usual statutory deductions of tax and national
insurance,

Nick Greatorex, the former CFO, delivered a very successful rights
issue and completed the US debt negotiation. He also set up the
programme that resulted in very strong performance against the cost-
out target, which exceeded expectations, and delivered what was
required to allow the launch of the finance transformation
prograrnme. The Remuneration Committee determined that Nick
delivered against the personal elernent of his bonus in full, before
leaving Capita on 30 September 2018. Therefore, the total banus paid
to Nick for the period to 30 September 2018 was 87 51% of the
maximum of his pro-rated banus opportunity.

1 Adjusted profrt before tax before significant new contracts and restructuring,

Vesting of 2016 LTIP award

Vesting of the LTIP Award granted in 2016 was determined by a
combination of earnings per share (EPS) and return on capital
employed (ROCE) performance and absolute share price, all assessed
over the three-year period to 31 December 2078. As the share price
performance target was not met, these awards will lapse in full
during 2019.
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Performance measures for 2018 LTIP award

Qur corporate strategy aims to simplify and strengthen the business
so that it is more focused and predictable - with improved returns,
stronger client relationships and sustainable free cash flow, The
Committee set five, equally weighted perforrmance measures for the
2018 LTIP award which are directly aligned to successful delivery of
this strategy. Any pay-out against these measures is subject to
satisfaction of a general performance underpin focused on underlying
and operational performance The Committee can therefore, inits
discretion, reduce the level of vesting from than that achieved based
an the formulaic application of the five applicable performance
measures alone

The three financial measures {underpinned by financial/operational
performance assessment) are key deliverables of the new strategy.
The 'target’ level of performance for each measure is stated on page
96 and reflects the targets stated in the April 2018 strategy
announcement and rights issue prospectus:

+ Annualised cost savings — part of Capita's new strategy involves
improving cast competitiveness and operational efficiency, which
includes reducing general and administrative expenses, centralising
pracurement, standardising and investing in processes and systems,
and increasing the use of offshoring and automation. The Board is
targeting annualised initial cost savings of £175m by the end of
2020 from these initiatives compared to the prior forecasted cost.
If this was achieved, there would be a 50% vesting of this
proportion of the award.

- Free cash flow — the successful implementation of the new strategy
is expected to generate at least £200m of sustainable annual, post-
tax free cash flow in 2020 before exceptional and restructuring
charges, and additional pension contributions. If the free cash flow
target is met, 50% of this proportion of the award would vest,

- EBIT margin — successful delivery of the strategy is expected to
deliver a double-digit EBIT margin within three years, which would
result in at least 50% vesting of this proportion of the award. The
EBIT margin range has been set between 9% to 12%.

To complement the financial measures, the LTIP awards are also
subject to two key non-financial deliverables of the new strategy
{again underpinned by financial/operational performance assessment)
in order to drive cultural change and emphasise their importance to
management, employees and other stakeholders:

+ Customer satisfaction - client demands are changing with fewer
long-termn, large-scale deals and more incremental sales on existing
contracts, or smaller new contracts in which companies prove their
value and grow over time. Improving the client experience is
therefore fundamental to Capita's long-term success. The customer
net promaoter score is used to assess this metric, A threshold target
of a six-point positive swing in the customer net promoter score
would allow for a 25% vesting of this proportion of the award. The
maximum would vest if there was a 12-point positive swing in
customer net promater score.

+ Employee engagement - a key focus of the new strategy is
improving culture and engagement across all levels of the
organisation and producing better aligned behaviour around
winning and execution of contracts. The employee net promoter
score is used to assess this metric. If a six-point positive swing in-
emptoyee nat promoter score was achieved, 25% of this praportion
of the award would vest. The maximum would vest, if there was a
12-point positive swing in employee net promoter scare.

For both of these non-financial measures, the Remuneration
Committee has set targets that require significant impravement over
the three-year performance period.
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Pay decisions for 2019

Base salaries

Base salary for Jon Lewis is fixed at £725,000 and will be reviewed in
2021, Patrick Butcher's base salary of £430,000 will be reviewed in
2020 and annually thereafter

Annual bonus

The Remuneration Committee has reviewed the annual bonus plan to
ensure it continues to align with the Group’s transformation
programme. As there has been no material change in our new
corporate strategy, the structure of the propased financial
performance measures for the 2019 annual bonus remains broadly
unchanged, although some minor adjustments have been made.

For 2019 there is no cost-out target and organic revenue growth is
being included. This reflects the momentum gained on transformation
in 2018, and the need to shift the focus to organic revenue growth and
profit improvement. The non-financial performance measures support
the delivery of our three strategic pillars which are simplify, strengthen
and succeed. Adjusted PBT, free cash flow, organic revenue growth and
strategic/personal targets will be stretching for the 2019 financial
year. The Committee deems the specific details of the performance
measures and targets to be commercially sensitive, as they are directly
linked to the forward-looking strategic plans of the business. Full
disclosure will be provided in the Annuat Report on Remuneration

for 2019, provided these details are na longer cansidered sensitive.

The maximum bonus oppertunity will remain at 200% of salary for
Jon Lewis, and Patrick Butcher will have a maximum bonus
opportunity of 175% of salary, which is a reduction to the prior CFO
maximum of 200% of salary. The split between Group financiat
metrics and personal and strategic measures will be two-thirds
financial and one-third non-financial which represents a greater
weighting on financial measures compared to 2018. Any bonus
pay-outs will be conditional upon Capita achieving an adjusted PBT
underpin target. If warranted by the circumstances at the time,

the Remuneration Committee may consider exercising its discretion
in relation to bonus pay-outs.

Performance measures for 2019 LTIP award

As there has been no further material change in our new corporate
strategy, the structure of the proposed performance measures for
2019 LTIP awards remains broadly unchanged from that used for 2018
LTIP awards. However, our proposal does contain three changes, which
were informed by feedback from shareholders:

Addition of organic revenue growth as a performance measure

As outlined in our April 2018 strategy update, Capita's reported
growth has been largely driven by acquisitions and organic growth has
had less emphasis. A return to stronger organic revenue growth is an
important goal in the next phase of our business transformation and
accordingly has been added as a performance measure for the 2019
LTIP award cycle.

Removal of annualised cost savings as a performance measure
Business simplification is a key element of the initial phase of our
strategic transformation. As we expect 2020 to represent the end of
the initiat simplification phase, we have concluded that it would be
inappropriate to retain cost savings as a performance measure for the
2019 LTIP award where the performance period runs to the end of
2021. This change also avoids the risk of executives potentially being
rewarded twice for delivery of the same cost savings.

Reduction of the weighting for customer and employee
performance measures

When we consulted with shareholders about the 2018 LTIP award,
there was widespread support for our use of customer and employee
measures as being fundamental to Capita's long-term success.

However, some shareholders expressed concern about the proportion
of the award subject to these non-financial measures
{notwithstanding the performance underpin which locks at underlying
financial and operational performance). Recognising these concerns,
the Committee has reduced the weighting on customer/employee
measures to 25% of the 2019 LTIP award (2018:40%), with the
proportion to be reviewed again for future awards.

Perfy derpi Perf weighting
201a LTP 2019 TP
wward awa

Free cash flow 20% 25%
Assessment of the EBIT margin 20% 25%
underlying N
financial and Organic revenue growth - 25%
operational - B
performance of Annualised cost savings 20%
Capitaover the  Cystomer satisfaction 20%  125%
performance
periad. Employee engagement 20% 12.5%

Further details of the targets are on page 91. For awards made from
2019 onwards, there will be a requirement for Executive Directors to
hold shares for an additional two-year period following the three-year
perforrance period. Jon Lewis's LTIP award will be in respect of shares
worth 300% of salary. Patrick Butcher's award will be worth 200% of
salary (agreed as part of his appointment) and consistent with awards
granted to his predecessor.

Shareholding guidelines

Following the decision in 2017 to increase the minimum shareholding
guideline for Executive Directors, the minimum requirement is 200%
of salary far the Chief Financial Officer and 300% for the Chief
Executive Officer. Directors are expected to retain at least half of
vested share awards (post-tax) until they are compliant with the
guideline. The Committee is in the process of developing a post-
employment shareholding policy which will be disclosed in the Annual
Report 2019. '

Shareholder views

During 2018, we consulted with our top 30 shareholiders to obtain
their views on the proposed performance measures and targets for the
2018 LTIP award We received a wide range of feedback, which was
helpful to the Committee in coming to the decision te implement the
measures and targets as detailed on page 96. Further feedback from
shareholders has been reflected in the measures and weightings for
the 2019 LTIP, as set out above, which in consultation received strong
support from majar shareholders. Details of voting on remuneration
resolutions at the AGM in June 2018 are set out on page 89.

I hope you will find this report to be clear and helpful in understanding
our remuneration practices and that you will be suppertive of this
year's advisory vote to approve the Annual Report on Remuneration at
the AGM (set out on pages 89-98). The Committee will continue to
consult widely with shareholders to respond to their expectations of
remuneration policy and reporting and welcomes feedback.

Committee Chair

| have inforred the Board of my intention to step down as Chair of
the Committee after three-and-a-half years, but will remain on the
Board as a Non-Executive Director | took up a new CEO role in 2018
and feel | can no longer provide Capita with the time and attention
the Chair's role requires. ! will remain as Chair until a replacement is
appointed to ensure a smooth handover.

John Cresswell

Chair
Rermuneration Committee

13 March 2019




Remuneration policy

At the AGM in June 2017 shareholders approved, with a 89.2%
majority, the remuneration policy which sets out the Company's
policy on the remuneration of Executive and Non-Executive Directors.
The remuneration policy becarne effective from the conclusion of the
AGM and will apply untit 31 December 2020 unless a revised palicy is
approved by shareholders and comes into force before that date.

For the benefit of shareholders we have included the remuneration

policy on the following pages Textual changes have been made, where .

appropriate, to ensure the report is relevant within the context of this
Directors’ remuneration report. The original remuneration policy, as
approved by shareholders, can be found in the Directors’ remuneration
report of the 2016 Annual Report 8 Accounits {which can be found in
the Investors section of our website).

The Committee is responsible, on behaif of the Board, for establishing
appropriate remuneration arrangements for the Chairman, Executive
Directors, Executive Committee and Group Company Secretary. The
remuneration of Non-Executive Directors is determined by the Board.

The information provided in this section of the remuneration report is
not subject to audit.

Responsibilities and activities of the Remuneration
Committee

The Committee is responsible for determining and agreeing with the
Board the policy on Executive Directors’ remuneration, including
setting the over-arching principles, parameters and governance
framework and determining the initial remuneration package of each
Executive Director. In addition, the Committee monitors the structure
and level of remuneration for the senior management team and, when
setting remuneratiaon Executive Directors, take into account workforce
remuneration and alignment of incentives and rewards with culture.

B3
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In setting the remuneration policy for the Executive Directors, the
Committee ensures that the arrangements are in the best interest of
both the Group and its shareholders, by taking into account the
following general principles-

+ To ensure total remuneration packages are simple and fair in design
so that they are valued by participants.

+ To ensure that total remuneration is clear, predictable and highly

performance orientated, without being excessive.

To balance performance-related pay between the achievement of

financial performance objectives and delivering sustainable

performance; creating a clear connection between performance and
reward and providing a focus on sustained improvements in
profitability and returns.

« To provide a significant proportion of performance-linked pay in
shares allowing senior management to build a significant
shareholding in the business and, therefore, aligning management
with shareholders’ interests and the Group's performance, without
encouraging excessive risk-taking.

Consideration of shareholder views

The Company is committed to maintaining good communications
with investors, The Committee considers the AGM to be an
opportunity to meet and communicate with investors, giving
shareholders the opportunity to raise any issues or concerns they may
have. In addition, the Cornmittee will seek to engage directly with
major shareholders and their representative bodies should any
material changes be propased to the policy.
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Remuneration policy table
The fallowing table sets out the key aspects of the policy.

|Base salaries

—

Purpose and link to strategy

Operation

Maximum opportunity

Perfarmance framework ’

ensuring base salaries are sufficiently

competitive,

+ -~Normally reviewed annually in

December, with any changes usually

effective in January. The Committee

may award salary increases at other

times of the year if it considers it ta

be appropriate.

The review takes into account:

« Salaries in similar companies and
comparably-sized companies

+ Remuneration Policy

= Economic climate

« Market conditions

« Group performance

+ The role and responsibility of the
Individual Director

« Employee remuneration across the
broader workforce.

There is no prescribed maximum
manetary annual increase to base
salaries.

Any annual increase in salaries is at
the discretion of the Committee,
taking into account the factors stated
in this table and the following
principles.

+ Salaries would typically be
increased at a rate consistent with
the average salary increase (in
percentage of salary terms) for the

- broader workforce.

Larger increases may be considered
appropriate in certain
circumstances (inctuding, but not
limited to, a change in an

.individual's responsibilities or in the
scale of their role or in the size and
complexity of the Group}.

Larger increases may also be
considered appropriate if a Director
has been initially appointed to the
Board at a lower than typical
salary.

.

Individual and business perforrance
are considerations in setting base
salaries.

{Annual bonus and deferred annual bonus (DAB) Plan

Purpose and link to strategy

Operation

Maximum oppertunity

Performance framewaork

Performance measures are selected to
focus Executives on delivery of the
Group business plan for the financial
year

The bonus scheme is reviewed
annually to ensure that bonus
opportunity and performance
measures continue 1o support the
business plan. Stretching targets are
set at the start of each finandial year.
Performance against targets is
reviewed following completion of the
final accounts for the period under
review.

50% of any bonus earned is normally
delivered in shares deferred far three
years under the DAB plan, with the
remainder delivered in cash or
Deferred Shares at the Executive
Directer's discretion.

An additional payment may be made
at the time of vesting in respect of
dividends that would have accrued on
Deferred Shares during the deferral
periog.

Malus and clawback provisions apply
to all annual banus and DAS awards
for a period of up to three years after
the determination of the annual
bonus,

Maximum oppertunity of 200% of
salary,

Executive Directors’ performance 15
measured over a one-year period
relative to challenging targets for
setected measures of Group financial,
strategic or individual performance.
The majority of the bonus will be
determined by measure(s) of Group
financial performance.

A shiding scale is set for each Group
financial measure. 50% of the bonus
will be paid at target performance,
increasing to 100% for maximum
performance.

Any bonus pay-out is ultimately at
the discretion of the Committee.
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Long-term incentive plan (LTIP)

.

Purpose and link to strategy

Operation

Maximum opportunity

Performance framework

Designed ta reward and retain

_ Executives over the longer term while
aligning their interests with those
of shareholders.
To link reward to key longer-term
business targets
To encourage share ownership.

LTiP awards are usually granted in the
farm of nil cost aptions.

Award levels for each award are set by
the Committee at a level appropriate,
in the Committee’s opinion, with the
individual's performance and
experience. Performance targets
applying to LTIP awards are relevant
to business plan priorities and aligned
with shareholder interests.

Vesting is dependent on the
achievement of performance
conditions usually measured over a
three-year period.

Awards from 2019 must be retained
for a further two years after vesting.
An additional payment may be made
at the time of vesting in respect of
dividends that would have accrued on
LTIP awards during the vesting period
Malus and clawback provisions apply
to all LTIP awards for a period up to
the fifth anniversary of grant,

The maximum annual award
permitted under the LTIP is shares
with a market value (as determined by
the Committee) of 300% of salary.

Performance is measured relative to
selected measures of Group financial
or share price performance, with the
precise measures and weighting of
the measures determined by the
Commitiee ahead of each award.
Performance targets are reviewed
annually by the Committee and are
set appropriate to the economic and
political outlook and nsk factors
prevailing at the time, ensuring that
such targets remain challenging in the
circumstances, while remaining
realistic enough to motivate and
incentivise management

25% of the awards vest at a threshold
vesting point, rising to 100% vesting
at a maximuim vesting point.

|Benefits

Purpose and link to strategy

Qperation

Maximum opportunity

Performance framework

Designed to be consistent with
benefits available to employees in the
Group.

Benefits include car allowance, private
medical insurance, travel and property
hire. Executive Directors can also
participate in all-employee share
plans.

The Cornmittee has discretion to add
additional benefits which are not
currently provided, such as refecation
expenses,

Benefit provision varies between
different Executive Directors

While there is no maximum level set
by the Committee, benefits pravision
will be set at a level the Committee
cansiders appropriate and be based on
individuat circumstances.

Participation in the Carmpany’s
HMRC-approvad all-employee share
plan will be limited by the maxirmum
level prescribed by HMRC.

Not performance-related.

{Pension

—

Purpose and link to strategy

Operation

Maximum opportunity

Performance framework

Desi%ned to be consistent with
benefits available to employees in
the Group

Penston contributions are paid into
the Greup’s defined contribution

5% of salary

Not performance-related.

scheme and/or as a cash allowance,
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INon-Executive Director (NED) fees

Purpose and link to strategy Qperation

Maximum opportunity Performance framework

fReviewed penodically by the Board.

Fee levels set by reference to market
rates, taking into account the
individual’s experience,
responsibilities, time commitment
and pay decisions for the broader
workforce
NED fees comprise payment of an
annual basic fee and additional fees
for further Board responsibilities such
as
* Senior Independent Director
- Audit Committee Chairman
+ Remuneration Committee
Chairmmnan.
The Chairman of the Board receives
an all-inclusive fee.
No NED participates in the Group's
incentive arrangements or pension
plan ar receives any other benefits
other than where travel to the
Company's registered office is
recognised as a taxable benefit in
which case a NED may receive
grossed-up costs of travel as a benefit

Market competitive fees are set so as
to attract and retain Non-Executive
Directors with required skills,
experience and knowledge so that the
Board can effectively carry out its
responsibilities.

As for the Executive Directors, there 15 Not performance-related.
no prescribed maximum menetary
annual increase.

An aggregate annual surn of £1m
increased only to take account of the
effect of inflation as measured by the
Retail Price Index or such index as the
Directors consider appropriate or such
other amount as the Company may
by ordinary resolution decide.

Malus and dawback provistons apply to all incentive awards granted to Executive Directors, These provisions permit the Committee to recover bonus awards for up to three years after

the determination of the anaual bonus and up to the fifth anniversary of the grant of LTIP awards. The potential aircumstances in which malus or clawback provisions can be appled

include a material misstatement of the Group's finandial msults, if an individual deliberately misleads refevant parties regarding financial performance or if their actions cause
reputational damage or amount to serious misconduct or conduct which causes significant finandial loss.

The annual banus perfarmance measures are Group financial, strategic or individual measures which are selected annually so as to be cansistent with key priorities for the Group.

The LTIP performance measures are chosen to provide alignment with our longer-term strategy of growing the business in a sustainable manner that will be in the best interests of

shareholders and ather key stakeholders in the Company,

Targets afe set on sliding scales that take account of internal strategic planning and external market expectations for the Company. Only modest rawards are avaitable for achieving
threshald performance with maxumum rawards requiring substantial outperformance of chailenging strategic plans approved at the start of each year.

Share incentive plans incorporste the right to receive an amount {in cash or additional shares) equal to the value of dividends which would have been paid on the shares under an award
that vests up to the time of vesting/release, This amount may be calculated assuming that the dividends have been re-invested in the Company’s shares on a cumulative basis.

The Committee aperates incentive arrangements for the Executive Directors in accordance with their respective rules, the Listing Rules and the HMRC rules where relevant, The
Committee, consistent with market practice and the scheme rules, retains discretion over a number of areas relating to the operation and adrainistration of the plans. These include

(but are not limited to) the following.

Who participates
The form in which the award is granted and settled (eg shares, nil cost options, cash)
The timing of the grant of award and/or payment

Discretion relating to the measurement of performance in the event of a 'good leaver scenario or a change 4f contro! or reconstruction of the Company

Cetermination of a good leaver {in addition to any specified categories) for incentive plan purposes "

Adjustrnents required in certain Grcumstances {e.g. share capital variation, rights issues, demerger, corporate restructuring, special dividendsa

The ability to vary or substitute any performance condition(s) if circumstances occur which cause it to determine that the original condition{s) have ceased to be appropriate,
provided that any such variation or waiver is farr, reasanable and not materially less difficult to satisfy than the osiginal condition (in its opinion) In the event that the Committee
were ta make an adjustment of this sort, 3 full explanation would be provided in the next remuneration report.

«  Thesize of an award {up to individual and plan limits) and/or a payment

The Committee reserves the right to make any remuneration payments and/or payments for loss of office {including exercising an{ discretions available to it in connection with such
b

payments) notwithstanding that they are not in line with the Poli

set gut above where the terms of the payment were agreed:

before the 2014 AGM (when the Company's first

shareholder-approved Directors’ Remuneration Policy came into effect); (ii) before the Policy set out above came into effect, provided that the terms of the payment were consistent
with the sharehalder-spproved Directors’ Remuneration Policy in force at the time they were agreed; or i) at a time when the relevant indridual was not a Director of the Company
and, in the cpinion of the Committee, the payment was rot in consideration for the indvidual becoming & Director of the Company For these purposes 'payments” includes the
Committee satisfying awards of variable remuneration and, in relation ta an award over shares, the terms of the payment are "agreed" at the time the award is granted.

The Comrittee may make minos amendments to the policy set out in this Policy Report (for regulatary, exchange control, tax or administrative purposes or to take account of a change

in legistation) without obtaining shareholder approval for that amendment




Application of our remuneration policy

When determining Executive Director remuneration policy and
practices, the Committee reviews workforce remuneration and
related polices and the alignment of incentives and rewards
with culture.

LTIP awards are granted across the senior management population in
order to encourage a high level of employee share ownership. While
vesting of regular LTIP awards made to Executive Directors is always
subject to performance conditions, awards to other senior
management may, where appropriate (such as to assist in retention
of key talent), be subject anly ta continued employment. Another key
difference in the policy for Executive Directors is that remuneration is
more heavily weighted towards long-term variable pay than other
employees. This ensures that there is a clear link between the value
created for shareholders and the remuneration received by the
Executive Directors. The Committee did not formally consult with
employees in respect of the design of the policy, although the
Committee will keep this under review.

Directors’ recruitment and promotions

The Committee takes into account the need to attract, retain and
motivate the best person for each positian, while at the same time
ensuring a close alignment between the interests of sharehalders
and management.

tf a new Executive Director were to be appointed, the Committee
would seek to align their remuneration package with other Executive
Directors in line with the policy table. However, flexibility would be
retained to offer additional remuneration on appointment outside
the policy if the Committee believe it may be appropnate to make
"buy-out’ awards or payments in respect of remuneration
arrangernents and contractual terms forfeited on leaving a previous
employer. The Committee would look to replicate the arrangements
being forfeited as closely as possible and in doing so, would take
account of relevant factors including the nature of the remuneration
and contractual terms, performance conditions and the time over
which they would have vested or been paid.

The Committee would seek to structure awards on recruitment to
be in line with the Company's remuneration framework so far as
practical but, if necessary, the Committee may also grant such
awards outside of that frarmework as permitted under Listing Rule
9.4.2. If appropriate, a new appointee’s incentives in their year of
joining rnay be subject to different targets to other Executive
Directors. The Committee may also agree that the Company will
meet certain relocation and incidental expenses as it considers
appropriate.

The maximurm level of variable remuneration which may be granted
{excluding awards to compensate for remuneration arrangements
and contractual terms forfeited on leaving the previous employer) to
new Executive Directors in the year of recruitment shall be limited to
500% of salary (the maximum limit allowed within the policy table).
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The initial notice period for a service contract may be up to 24
maonths, which is lenger than the policy of a 12-month notice period,
provided it reduces to 12 months within a short space of time,

for an internal appointment or an appointment following the
Company's acquisition of or merger with another campany, any
incentive amount awarded in respect of a prior role may be allowed
to vest on its original terms, or adjusted as relevant to take into
account the appointment. Any other ongoing remuneration
obligations or terms and conditions existing prior to appointment
may continue.

The Committee retains discretion to make appropriate remuneration
decisions outside the standard Policy to meet the individual
circumstances of recruitment when:

- Aninterim appointment is made to fill an Executive Director role on
a short-term basis.

» Exceptianal circumstances require that the chafrman or a Non-
Executive Director takes on an executive function on a short-term
basis.

In the event of the appointment of a new Non-Executive Director,
remuneration arrangements will normally be in line with the
structure set out in the policy table for Non-Executive Directors.
However, the Committee (or the Board as appropriate) may include
any element listed in the policy table or any other element which the
Committee considers is appropriate given the particular
circumstances excluding any variable elements, with due regard

to the best interests of shareholders.

Directors’ service agreements and payments for loss
of office

The Committee regularly reviews the contractual terms of the service
agreement to ensure these reflect best practice.

The service contracts for Executive Directors are for an indefinite
period and provide for a 12-month notice period. They do not include
provisions for predetermined compensation on termination that
exceed 12-months’ salary, pension and benefits. There are no
arrangements in place between the Company and its Directors that
provide for compensation for toss of office following a takeover bid.
All Directors are appointed for an indefinite period but are subject to
annual re-election at the annual general meeting,

In circumstances of termination on notice, the Committee will
determine an equitable compensation package, having regard to the
particular circumstances of the case, The Commitiee reserves the
right to make payments in connection with a Director’s cessation of
office or emplayment where the payments are made in good faith in
discharge of an existing legal obligation (or by way of damages for
breach of such an cbligation) or by way of a compromise or
settlement of any clairn arising in connection with the cessation of
a Director’s office or employment. Any such payments may include,
but are not limited to, paying any fees for outplacement assistance
and/or the Directer's legal and/or professional advice fees in
connection with his cessation of office or employment. The
Committee has discretion to require notice to be worked or to make
payment in lieu of notice or to place the Director on garden leave for
the notice periad.
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The annual bonus may be payable in respect of the period of the
bonus plan year warked by the Directar, there is no provision for an
amount in lieu of bonus to be payable for any part of the notice
period not warked. The Remuneration Committee has some
discretion on bonus pay-outs

DAB deferred shares will vest on the date of leaving, other than in
circummstances of dismissal for gross misconduct.

For entitlement to unvested LTIP shares, the rules contain
discretionary provisions setting out the treatment of awards where a
participant leaves for designated reasons {i.e. participants who leave
early on account of injury, disability or ill health, death, a sale of their
ermployer or business in which they were employed, statutory
redundancy or any other reason at the discretion of the Committee}.
In these circumstances, a participant's awards will not be forfeited on
cessation of employment and instead will continue to vest on the
normal vesting date or earlier at the discretion of the Committee,
subject to the performance conditions attached to the relevant
awards. The awards will, other than in exceptional circurnstances, be
scaled back on a time pro-rated basis.

In the event of a change of control, all unvested LTIP awards would
vest, to the extent that any performance conditions attached to the
retevant awards have been achieved, LTiP awards will, other than if
the Committee determines otherwise, be scaled back pro rata for the
proportion of the performance period worked by the Director prior to
the change of control. Unvested DAB deferred shares would vest in
the event of a change of control.

Non-Executive Directors’ terms of engagement

Non-Executive Directors are appointed by letter of appointment for
an initial period of three years. Each appeintrnent is terminable by
three months® notice on either side, At the end of the initial period,
the appointment may be renewed by mutual consent, subject to
annual re-election at the AGM.

The service agreements and Non-Executive Directors’ letters of
appointment are available for inspection during normal business
hours at the Company's registered office, and available for inspection
at the AGM.
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Annual Report on Remuneration

This part of the remuneration report has been prepared in accordance with The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and
Reports) (Amendment) Regulations 2013 and paragraphs 9.8.6R and 9.8.8 of the Listing Rules The Annual Report on Remuneration will be put
ta an advisory sharehalder vate at the 2019 AGM. The infarmation on pages 92-97 has been audited as indicated.

External advice received

Deloitte LLP was, following a review, appointed by the Remuneration Committee during 2012 to provide advice on Executive remuneration
matters. During the year, the Committee received independent and objective advice from Deloitte primarily on market practice, disclosure
within the accounts and stakeholder liaison. Deloitte was paid £160,100 in fees during 2018 for these services (charged on a time plus expenses
basis). The Committee considers Deloitte's advice on remuneration to be independent and objective, and notes that Deloitte is a founding
member of the Remuneration Consultants Group. As such, Deloitte operates voluntarily under the code of conduct in relation to Executive
remuneration consulting in the UK. In addition, other practices of Delaitte, separate from the Executive remuneration practice, have provided
services to the Group in respect of tax, property, advice to intemal audit and other ad hoc advisory projects during the year.

The fees were considered appropriate for the work undertaken. Where appropriate, fees were tendered with other providers to ensure that the
fees were in line with market practice and standards.

The Carmmiittee also consulted with Jon Lewis to provide further information to the Committee on the perfermance and proposed
remuneration for the Chief Financial Officer and other senior management, but not in relation to his own remuneration.

Shareholder voting at the AGM

The 2018 Directors’ remuneration report will be presented to shareholders at the annuat general meeting in May 2019. At the AGM in 2018, the
actual voting in respect of the ordinary resolution to approve the remuneration report for the year ended 31 December 2017 was as set out
below. Details of the [ast shareholder vote on our remuneration policy are also set out below.

Vates cast for’ Votes cast ‘aguinst’ Abstentions'

Remuneration repart: for the year ended 31 December 2017 1,268m 13.8m 3.61m
98.9% 11% -

Remuneration policy: voted on in June 2017 503.8m 60.8m 0.09m
89.2% 10.8% -

1 Avote abstained 15 not a vote in law and is not counted in the calculstion of the proportion of votes ‘for’ and ‘against’ a resolution.
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Statement of implementation of the remuneration policy for 2019

The value and compesition of the Executive Directors’ remuneration packages under the policy for the year ending 31 December 2019 at a
minimum, target and maximum perfarmance level are set out in the charts below,

The charts are far illustrative purposes only and actual outcomes may differ from that shown.

Each chart is broken down to show how the total under each scenario is made up of fixed elements of remuneration, the annual banus and
the LTIP. Ve e

IMAGE REMOVED IMAGE REMQVED

Basic includes the base salary, benefits and pension (i.e the fixed elements of remuneration)

Notes
The scenarios in the above charts are defined as follows:

Minimum Performance in line with expectstions (target)  Maximum

Fixed elements of remuneration Base salary at 1 january 2019

Estimated value of benefits provided
under the remuneration policy

5% of salary pension provision
Annual bonus: pay-out shown
as a maximum opportunity 0% 50% of maximum 100% of maximum
LTIP: pay-out shown
as a maximum opportunity 0% 50% of maximum 100% of maximum

As set out in the policy table above, the maximum permitted annual banus appartunity is 200% of salzry and the maximum permitted LTI awand is 300% of salary The charts above
reflect the maximum bonus (200% af satary for the CEO and 175% of salary for the CFO) and maximum LTIP award (300% of salary for the CEQ and 200% of salary for the CFO) that
could be earned in 2019. The maxsmum that can be earned by the CFO 1n 2019 is lower than the maximum permitted under the policy

In these charts, deferred shares are presented within the bonus and dividend equivalents have been excluded.

In these charts, LTIP awards have been shawn both at face value with no share price growth and a 50% share price growth across the performance period under the maximum scenario.
All-employee share plans have been excluded.

Basesalary

Base salary for Jon Lewis is unchanged and fixed at £725,000 until 1 January 2021. Patrick Butcher joined Capita on 10 December 2018 and the
Board on 1 fanuary 2013; his salary is £430,000.

Accordingly, base salaries for 2019 are:

Base salary fram 1 January 2015

Jon Lewis £725,000

Patrick Butcher £430,000
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Fees for the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors
A summary of the fees for 2019 are as follows:

Fae fram 1 January 2019 or date of sppointment

Sir lan Pawell, Chalrman £325,000
Gillian Sheldon, Senior Independent Director £75,000
Matthew Lester, Audit and Risk Committee Chairman’ £75,000
John Cresswell, Remuneration Committee Chairman’ £75,000
Andrew Williams £64,500
Baroness Lucy Neville-Rolfe £64,500

1 Chairmen of Committees have had a fee increase fram £64,500 following 3 review of the time commitment associated with these roles. Other Non-Executive Directors' fees are
unchanged.

At the 2019 AGM, shareholders will be asked to approve the election and remuneration of two Employee Directors. They witl receive a basic fee

of £64,500 each and further details of their remuneration will be set out in an explanatory memarandum which will be available 15 days before

the AGM con the Company's website and at the Company’s registered office, and will be available for inspection at the AGM itself,

Annual bonus for 2019

The CEQ’s maximum bonus opportunity for 2019 will be 200% of base salary and the CFO’s maximum bonus opportunity for 2019 will be
175% of base salary, with 50% of any bonus normally deferred into shares for three years.

As explained in the Remuneration Committee Chairman’s statement, the Executive Director bonus plan for 2019 continues to align with the
transformation plan, with a combination of financial and individual non-financial objectives that support the delivery of our strategy,
Accordingly, the following weightings and measures have been agreed by the Committee:

Weighting
Jon Lewis Patrick Butcher
Group financial performance measures &67% &67%
{Adjusted PBT, free cash flow, (Adjusted PBT, free cash flow,
organic revenue growth) organic revenue growth)
Group strategic and individual performance measures 33% 33%

The Rernuneration Committee may consider exercising discretion on annual bonus pay-outs. No payment would be made if Capita failed to
achieve an adjusted PBT target for 2019.

Details of the Group strategic and individual performance measures and the targets for the Group financial performance measures are
considered commercially sensitive by the Board and so will be disclosed retrospectively in the 2019 remuneration report.

Any bonus payments will be subject to malus and clawback provisions as outlined in the Directors’ remuneration policy.

Long-term incentive to be granted in 2019

Awards will be granted over shares worth 300% of salary to Jon Lewis and worth 200% of salary to Patrick Butcher. Awards will vest subject to
(i) assessment by the Remuneration Committee of the underlying financial and operationat performance of Capita over the three-year period
to 31 December 2021 (the ‘underpin'), and {ii) subject to satisfaction of the underpin, organic revenue grawth, free cash flow, margin
enhancement, custormer satisfaction and employee engagement performance over the same three-year period to 31 Decernber 2021.

Performance measures, weighting and targets for the 2019 LTIP award, and the performance underpin, are as follows:

Performance underpin Performance measure Weighting Thresheld Target Stretch
{25% vests) (50% vests) {100% vests)
Free cash flow’ 25% £190m £210m £250m
EBIT margin’ 25% 9% 10% 12%
Assessment of the Organic revenue gn-.'n»\rth1 25% £3,900m £3,950m £4,050m
undertying financial and 6 point pasitive swing in B point positive swing in 12 point positive swing
operational . Customer satisfaction 12.5% NPS NPS in NPS
performance of Capita
over the performance 6 point positive swing in 8 point positive swing in 12 point positive swing
period Employee engagement 12.5% NPS NPS in NPS

1 For the financial year 2021.

The Committee has actively considered how it may ensure executives do not benefit from share price valatility in the timing of the 2019 LTIP award, and the implications for ensuring
future gains are reflective of underlying performance. The Commuttee has therefore decided that the number of shares in the 2019 LTIP award will be calculated using the tugher of
either the closing price on the day immediately prior to the award,or the post-rights issue price of 122.08p

As stated in the notes to the Policy table, the Committee retains disaetion to make adjustrnents required in certain circumstances including varying the pesformance conditions i
circumstances occur which cause it to determine that the original conditions have ceased (o be appropriate, provided that any such variation or waiver is fair, reasonable and not
materially less difficult to satisfy than the anginal condition {in its opinion). In the event that the Committee were to make an adjustment of this sort, a full explanation would be
provided in the next remuneration report.

The Committee also has a general discretion to override formulaic outcomes in line with the changes to the UK Corperate Govemance Cade.

Any vested LTIP awards will be subject Yo malus and clawback provisions as outlined in the Directors’ Remuneration Policy

The net number of shares received on vesting of LTIP awards will be subject to an additional twa-year holding pericd after the initial three-year vesting period
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Directors’ remuneration earned in 2018 -~ single-figure table {audited)
The table below summarises Directors’ remuneration recsived in 2018

Singte figure remuneration

Pension or
"’.2?‘;:3 Benefits All::vr'asrl;:: Anmunl Bonus* e K:munm::i::
ian Powell 2018 325,000 347 - - - 325,347
207 325,000 216 - - —_ 325216
Jon Lewis' 2018 725,000 24,809 36,250 1,228,150 — 2,014,209
2017 60,417 41,216 3,021 - — 104,654
Cillian Sheldon 208 75,000 153 - — — 75153
2017 75,000 216 — — -— 75,216
Matthew Lester 2018 64,500 770 — —_ — 65,270
' 2017 53,750 216 - - - 53,966
John Cresswell 2018 64,500 229 — - - 64,729
2007 64,500 216 - — — 64,716
Andrew Williams 2018 64,500 . 154 — — — 64,654
' 2007 64,500 - - - - 64,500
Baroness Lucy Neville-Rolfe 2018 64,500 13 — — — 64,513
2017 4,607 — - - — 4,607
Nick Greatorex™ 2018 307,500 25,543 15,375 538,125 - 886,543
2017 454,048 30,163 20,500 — - 504,711
Chris Sellers™ 2018 30,000 5,555 1,500 - — 37,055
2017 360,000 83,714 18,000 — -_ 461,714

1 Jon Lews was appointed Chief Executive Officer on 1 December 2017, He is also a Non-Executive Director of Equinor ASA and received and retained a fee of NOK 212,623.

2 Nick Greatorex was appointed interim CEC in respect of the period from 16 Septernber 2017 ta 30 November 207 and was paid an allowance of £12,500 per month in respeet of his
additional responsibilities up to 31.December 2017 (including a one-month handover period 10 Jon Lewis). This is reflacted in the 2017 figure for base satary.

3 Chris Selters and Nick Greatorex stepped down from the Board on 23 January 2018 and 30 September 2018 respectively Amounts shown in the table for Chis Sellers and Nick
Greatorex relate to the period of time during which they served as Directors.

4 50% of Jon Lewis's borus will be deferred into shares under the Deferred Annual Bonus Plan.

5 2077 comparatives updated to present the value of the final matching shareg award under the UK all-emplayee scheme for Nick Greatorex £279 and Chyis Sellers £310.

For 2017, n addition to the amounts noted above, total remuneration was also paid to the following Directors who left during 2017: Paul Bowtel! £27,091; Andy Parker £494,070; and
Vic Cysin £416,931.

Base salary includes base salary plus fixed cash allowances which are a normnal part of the fixed remuneration package and usual local practice Benefits include all taxable benefits as
defined by paragraph 11(1) of Schedule 8 to the Accounts regulations. This includes private medical insurance, company car allowance, work travel, accommodation and the value of
matching awards under the UX afl-employee scheme. In 2077, for Jon Lews, this figure alsa included one-off legal fees associated with the negotiation of his service contract. Employes
entertainment has also been included under benefits and in some cases this cost will be for more than the individual Director themselves

Performance targets for the 2016 LTIP awards were, for awards of mare than 20,000 shares, EPS growth of 6% (18.75% vest) to 12% (75% vest), average ROCE 14% (6.25% vest) to
16% (25% vest) over the three-year period to 31 Dacember 2018 and average share price at vesting must not be lower than at grant. For awards of 12,001 to 20,000 shares and awards
up to 12,000 shares the targets were identicat except that 50% and 75%, respectively, of the award would vest at 6% EPS. As the share price at vesting was lower than grant, the award

did not vest,
No Director waived any fees or salary for 2078,

Patrick Butcher commenced employment with Capita on 10 Decernber 2018 and became an Executive Director on 1 January 2019, accordingty, he has not been indluded in the single
figure table for 2018.
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Annual bonus for 2018 (audited)

The maximum annual bonus for the Executive Directors that could be earned in relation to 2018 performance was 200% of salary'(unchanged
from 2017).

The annual bonus that could be paid to Executive Directors in respect of 2018 performance was determined by a combination of Group
financial performance alongside an adjusted PBT threshold target underpin and Executive Directars’ personal contributions. For Jon Lewds, the
split between Group financial metrics and personal and strategic measures was 6(:40 and for Nick Greatorex it was 50:50. 50% of the bonus
was payable for achieving target performance with 100% payable for achieving the maximum target. 25% of bonus was payabte for achieving
the threshold target,

The table below illustrates the components of the financial metrics at maxirmum and actual pay-outs for the targets set for the period to
31 December 2018 There Is a straight-line outcome calculation between the threshold target and on-target performance and between on-
target and maximum performance, Actual adjusted PBT of £282 1m exceeded the threshold underpin of £245m and therefore based on the
assessment of performance against the targets, the achievernent on the financial element is 75% of maximurn.

Achievement

Threshold agninst measure

Finaneral target On-targer Maximum Actual performance {% maximum

perfanmance performance performance  performance and cpﬁnunity for

weighting (25%) {50%} {100%) bonus pay-out this measure)
Adjusted profit before tax (pre bonus and includes disposals/ 50% £245m £275m  £297.5m £282m 66%

HFS businesses)

Free cash flow (adjusted cash position} 25% £1m £21m E41m £27.5m’ 66%
Cost-out 25% E69.9m £80.0m £120m £120m 100%
Financial metrics bonus pay-out 75%

1 Adjusted free cash flow changed for earlier-than-planned dlearance of non-recourse trade receivables financing.

In respect of 2018, 40% of Jon Lewis’s annual bonus was payable on three equally weighted personal and strategic objectives set on joining
Capita which were:

Percentage
Objective Delivery Weighting achievad
Completing a full In the absence of any prior strategy, and in order to secure a rights issue necessary to address the balance sheet 1334% 100%
strategic review  issues discovered upon his arrival at Capita, Jon undertook a strategic review of the business that resulted in
-delivera Board  Board approval of our simplify, strengthen and succeed strategy, components of which include.
agreed strategy
and three-year - The definition of our five growth platfarms; and a pontfalio of non-core {value maximisation) businesses,
Elans for the managed within Spedialist Services.
usiness by
September 2018 - A set of unambiguous financial commitments for 2020.
« Divisional strategic imperatives that focus leadership efforts and guide resource allocation.
» Completion of key disposals to further strengthen the balance sheet.
Jan successfully communicated the strategy to employees (the 2018 intérnal survey found that 81% understood
our strategy). The strategy and its assaciated rights issue, together with the necessary focus on operational
imperatives in 2018, have created a much-needed stable foundation on which to embark an the next phase of
strategic simplification and focus, which will be undertaken in 2019. There has been positive evolution of the
share register, as our strategy is now shaping the markets we focus upon and the allocation of resources to grow
the business. The Remuneration Committee deemed performance to exceed expectation for the first 12 manths
in role and so awarded the maximum achievement to the non-financial element relating to this objective.
Driving cultural  The Committee deemed performance to be very strang. Jon has shown highly effective and visible leadership 13.33% 100%
change - through throughout 2018 and over the course of the last 12 months has delivered siﬁniﬁcant progress in establishing a
behaviour and culture that places importance on integrity, transparency, accountability, collaboration and inclusion. Changes in
leadership the executive teamn and a new approach to managing business reviews was implemented and embedded
demonstrate alongside high levels of engagement with wider stakeholders inctuding employees, suppliers and partners, A new
positive impact  purpose, refreshed values with underpinning behavioues, a revised code of conduct and several new governance
on the values and leadership forums have been established which operationalise the culture change being driven: from the top.
and culture of Recent survey results indicate 94% of ernployees feel they can ask Jon any question, which speaks to a culture of
the Company trust The improvernent in the Hamptan-Alexander gender diversity rankings year-on-year (from below 200 in
across the year 2017 up to 110 and a green status for the first time in 2018). All stakeholders {':lcluding clients and external
bodlesfare now vaicing recognition of a reforming Capita Based on Jon’s achievemnent, the Remuneration
Committee has awarded the maximum achievement to the non-financial element relating to this objective
Building the Jori toak decisive action very early on, regarding chan%les required In the executive team, Proven capability was 13.33% 100%
leadership team  brought into Capita within the first month to ensure the business had the expertise necessary to address

~restructure the operational imperatives, definie strategy and launch the rights issue. Through the year, and shaped by the new

senior strategy, Jon built an experienced Executive Committee (which included seven new roles} with the required
management professional competencies, values and behaviours necessary to create a coliegiate and effective team. Members
team and bring in  of the executive team are making a material contribution, have been well received b?\r the broader crganisation,
top team as including by the Board, and are working well as a team under Jon's leadership. Stakefiolders (internal and
appropriate externaS recognise the strength of team now in place. The Remuneration Committee deemed performance to be

very strong and awarded the maximum achfevement to the non-financial element relating to this objective.
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The Remuneration Committee has determined that Jon Lewis has achieved the full 40% of his personal and strategic measures. Therefore, the
total bonus paid to Jon Lewis for the period to 31 December 2018 was 85% (£1,228,150) of the maximum bonus opportunity, of which
£614,075 will be deferred into the shares to be held for three years under the Deferred Annual Bonus Plan. The remainder will be paid as cash,
subject to the usual statutory deductions of tax and national insurance

In respect of 2018, 50% of Nick Greatorex’s annual bonus was payable on four equally weighted strategic and personat abjectives which are
listed below:

+ Complete rights issue in 2018 raising £707m from investars including five-year planning, strategy and investor roadshow.

Complete the US PP debt renegotiation in 2018 prior to the launch of the rights issue, including the covenant changes as required by IFRS 15

and the pre-approval of the divestment programme,

+ Set up and lead the cost campetitiveness workstream of the transformation programme to deliver the 2018 cost programme, delivering the
£70m cost savings set out in the rights issue.

+ Ensure the finance transformation programme receives a satisfactory internal audit rating in 2018 and the key milestones for 2018 remain on
track for a November 2019 go-live date.

Nick delivered a very successful rights issue, completed the US debt negotiation, set up the programme that resulted in very strong
performance against the cost-out target that exceeded expectation, and delivered what was required to allow the launch of the finance
transformation programme. The Remuneration Committee has determined that Nick Greatorex achieved the full 50% of his personal and
strategic measures before leaving Capita on 30 September 2018. Therefore, the total bonus paid in cash with no deferral to Nick Greatorex for
the period to 30 September 2018 was 87.51% {£538,125) of his pro-rated maximum bonus opportunity.

Long-term incentive awards in 2018 (audited)

Number of shares
Name of Birector TP award nghrtl:imdfj:us:wmm (£) ’t%'»":it‘.‘.:‘ Perventage of salary’
Jon tewis 1,202,986 1,972,776 2,175,000 300%
Nick Greatorex 453,539 743,758 820,000 200%

1 The date of the grant was 24 April 2018 The dosing price on the preceding day of £1.8080 was used to determine the number of shares,

2 Percentage caleulated using base salary as at date of award (jon Lewas — £725,000; Nick Greatorex — £410,000).

LTIP awards are granted as nil-cost options and awarded as a percentage of salary. Awards will vest three years from the date of grant subject to
(i) assessment by the Remuneration Committee of the underlying financial and operational performance of Capita over the three-year period
to 31 December 2020 (the "underpin’), and {ii) subject to satisfaction of the underpin, annualised cost savings, free cash flow, margin
enhancement, customer satisfaction and employee engagement perfarmance aver the same three-year period to 31 December 2020. 25% of
LTIP awards vest for achieving threshold performance. Performance targets for the 2018 award were set following consultation with major
shareholders. Full details of the performance conditions relating to these awards are outlined on page 96.

Buy-out remuneration awards in 2018

Number of shares
Name of Director 2018 award Total
Patrick Butcher 288,078 288,078

1 The date of the grant was 17 December 2018. The closing price on the preceding day of £1,06 was used to determine the number of shares

Patrick Butcher was granted a buy-out award under the LTiP as part of his remuneration package on appointment, which will vest in two
tranches - 15 November 2019 and 15 November 2021 - subject to continued employment. The award is equal to the value of 6,770 Go-Ahead
Group ple shares on 10 December 2018, using their close price of £15.80, and £198,398 representing the value of his forfeited deferred share
award which were subject to continued employment.

Directors’ interests and shareholding guidelines (audited)

In line with the new remuneration policy approved in 2017, Executive Directors are expected to hold 200% (300% for the Chief Executive
Officer) of salary in shares in the Company. This must be built up over a period of five years from appointment. The guidelines include shares
hetd beneficially and also shares within the DAB that have been deferred over the three-year period Any shares in the DAB used for this are
calculated net of tax. Share awards that are subject to performance conditions are not included.
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- Directors” interests and shareholding guidelines {audited}

Interests in Interests in

interestsin Interests 1a share share Interests in Interests in Percentage of

shargincentive  shase incentive incentive incentive share aption share option sharehalding

schemes, schames, schemes, schemes, schemeswherer  schemes where Fmt:rlnfc of Target

ded ded ded ded perf performance  shwrehalding  requirement

Beneficially  Beneficially without without subject to subject to  conditions have  conditions have target at

held held  performance pert prt pr been met but been metbut  requirement 31 December

interestsat _interests at ditiqns at ditions at fitions at ditians at  not isedat not ed at at 2018 ~based

¥ D b H e b D b 31D b 3D b I D b no b D b 310 b oncost of

Director 2018’ 207 2018 2017 2018 17 2018 2017 2018 iavestment

|an Powell 30,000 8,400 —~ - - - — - - -
Jon Lewis 402,030 — — — 1872776 - -_ — 21% 2%

Gillian Sheidon 12,500 3,000 - — - — — - — -—

Matthew Lester 21,745 8,698 - - - — — - - -

John Cresswell 10,500 3,000 — —_ - — —_ — - -

Andrew Williams 160,000 10,000 — - — — -_ - - -_

Lucy Neville-Rotfe 13,842 — - —_ - - - - - -

Nick Greatorex™* 54426 21,125 28,057 17109 1176789 337726 - - - -

Chris Sellers™* 21380 21337 -~ — 259943 259,943 - - - -

1 Stepped down from the Board on 30 September 2018,

2 Stepped down from the Board on 23 Janwary 2018,

3 Beneficially held interests includes those held by connected persons,

4 2018 interests are shown as at date of resignation from the Board,

Between the end of the financial year and 13 March 2019, Jon Lewis acquired 437 shares under the Capita UK all-employee share incentive plan,

increasing their beneficial interest in ordinary shares of the Company to 402,467
Share plans (audited)

Plan name: deferred annual bonus {DAB) plan

Deferred award — this is the deferred element of an individual's bonus. Any deferral is made on a gross basis into defesred shares or as a net
restricted share award. The deferred shares are held for a period of three years from the date of award. This part is not subject to perfarmance
conditions. As no bonus was awarded in 2017 and 2018, there is no corresponding DAB deferred award.

Unvested DAB deferred/restricted awards at 31 December 2018

Number of shares
Name of Directar 2016 wevard 2017 aweurd’ 2018 sward’' Tatal
Jon Lewis N/A N/A N/A N/A
Nick Greatorex” 28,057 N/A N/A 28,057

1 No bonus was awarded in 2017 and 2018 {in respect of 2016 and 2017 performance) therelore no daferred award was made.
2 Figures 25 at date of resignation from Board (30 September 2018) and adjusted to reflect the sffact of the rights issue.

Plan name: long-term incentive plan (2017 LTIP)
At the annual general meeting in 2017, the LTIP was approved by shareholders. Under the plan rules the Committee can award up to three
times salary.

The vesting of awards will depend on perfermance measured over a thrae-year period.

Unvested LTIP awards at 31 December 2018

Number of shares
Name of Director 2016 award 2017 award 2018 award Total
Jon Lewis N/A N/A 1,972,776 1,972,776
Nick Greatarex' 165,278 267,753 743,758 1,176,789
Chris Sellers® 88,685 261,222 N/A 349,907

LTIP figures for each Executive Director have been adjusted to reflect the effect of the nights issue,

1 Figures at date of resignation from Board (30 September 2018).

2 Figures at date of resignation frarm Board (23 |anuary 2018) befare any pro-rata reductions,

Capita adopted IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers with effect from 1 January 2017, resulting in revenue and profits being
recagnised later across the life of many contracts, with potentially lower profits or losses in the early years of contracts and potentially higher
profits in later years. In light of this change, the Committee considered what, if any, adjustments should be made to the EPS and ROCE targets
applicable to the outstanding LTIP awards granted 2077 and concluded this would be reviewed at the end of the performance periad 31
Oecermnber 2019 to ensure the position did not become materially easier to achieve under the new standard. The 2016 LTIP awards is subject
to a share price underpin of £10.17 and therefore will not vest,
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Unvested LTIP (buy-out)} remuneration awards at 31 December 2018

Number of shares
Name of Directar 2018 award Totsl
Patrick Butcher 288,078 288,078

Patrick Butcher was granted a buy-out award as part of his remuneration package on appointment which will vest in two tranches,
15 Novernber 2019 and 15 November 2021, subject to continued employment.

Performance criteria

2016
Performance measure Perfarmance condition
ERS - 75% of the award is measured on EPS growth EPS growth 6%~12% per annum

Vesting percentage: 18 75%-75% of award
Straight line vesting occurs between these points.

ROCE - 25% of the award is measured on average ROCE Average ROCE. 14%-16%
Vesting percentage: 6.25%-25% of award
Straight-line vesting occurs between these points,

Share price underpin Capita's average share price at the vesting date must not be below the share
price at the date of grant {£1017).

2077
rfi derpl: Perf Performance condition
Assessment of the EPS - 75% of the award is measured on EPS growth £PS growth, 3%~8% per annum
underlying financial and Vesting percentage: 18 75%~75% of award
aperational Straight-line vesting occurs between these points.
performance of Capita -
aver the perfarmance ROCE - 25% of the award is measured on average ROCE Average ROCE: 11%-15%
period. Vesting percentage: 6.25%—25% of award
Straight-line vesting occurs between these points.
2018
Threshold Target Stretch
Pert derpi Parf. Waighting {25% vests) (50% vests) {100% vests)
Assessn'_lentr of the Annualised cost savings  20% £160m £175m £205m
g;gg{fg;g, ‘“a""al.““d Free cash flow 20% £180m £200m £240m
performance of Capita  ER(T margin 20% 9% 0% 12%
over the performance - — — -
periad. Customer satisfaction 20% 6 point positive swing in 8 point positive swing in 12 point positive swing
NPS PS in NPS

Zmo | Z®

Employee engagement  20% 6 point positive swing in 8 point positive swing in 12 point positive swing
NPS PS in

A straight-lne vesting oceurs between these points

Satisfaction of options
When satisfying awards made under its share plans, the Cormpany uses newly issued, treasury or purchased shares as appropriate.

Dilution

All awards are made under plans that incarporate the overall dilution limit of 10% in 10 years. The estimated dilution from existing awards,
including Executive and all-employee share awards, was approximately 1.94% of the Company's share capital at 31 December 2018.

Executive Directors’ service agreements
Details of the service agreements are set out below

Exteutive Dircetors Date of joining the Company Notice period

Jon Lewis 1 December 2017 12 months

Patrick Butcher 10 December 2018 12 months
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Non-Executive Directors’ terms of engagement
In 2018, all Non-Executive Directors were considered to be independent of the Company.

Non-Executive Directors Date of joining the Board Expiry date of current appointment
lan Powell 1 September 2016 31 Decernber 2013
Gillian Sheldon 1T September 2012 3T August 2020
Andrew Williams 1 January 2015 31 December 2020
John Cresswell 17 November 2015 16 November 2021
Matthew Lester 1 March 2017 28 February 2020
Baroness Lucy Neville-Roife € Decermber 2017 S Decernber 2020

Payments to former Directors (audited)

No payments {other than regular pension benefits commenced in previous years and legacy share plan maturities which were reported in
previous years) were made during the year ended 31 December 2018 to any past Director of the Company.

The 2016 LTIP lapsed in full for Vic Gysin, Chris Sellers and Nick Greatorex,

As previously disclosed, Vic Gysin exercised his 2015 and 2016 DAB awards on leaving Capita and received a payment of £47,073.
Nick Greatorex exercised his 2016 DAB award over 28,057 shares on leaving Capita and retained 14,843 shares (after sales for tax).

Payments for loss of office (audited)

Chris Sellers stepped down from the Board on 23 January 2018 and left Capita on 31 January 2018. The agreed termination comprises a
payment in lieu of notice of £360,000 in respect of salary for his 12-month notice periad, £4,500 in respect of accrued holiday entitlement
and £250 in consideration for enhanced post-employment undertakings. The Remuneration Committee having exercised its discretion,

Chris's outstanding LTIP awards (as detailed on page 95) will remain capable of vesting in accerdance with the rules of the scheme, subject to
achievement of applicable performance measures and, where relevant, reduced pro-rata to reflect Chris’ period of employment {including the
notice period) as a proportion of each award’s three-year vesting period. His 2016 LTIP award did not vest and lapsed in full. Up to £16,000
(excluding VAT} will be paid directly to third-party service providers in respect of: (i} legal services relating to Chris’ settlement; and (ji)
outplacement and training services, and he will continue to receive life assurance cover {reduced to a level of two times base salary) and private
medical insurance cover consistent with current levels until 31 January 2019.

Nick Greatorex stepped down from the Board and left Capita on 30 September 2018 following market announcements on 18 July 2018 and 22
August 2018. Nick Greatorex will receive the payments set out below (less any required tax withholdings) The payments are in full and final
settlement of all claims against the Company and are in accordance with the Company's remuneration policy and where relevant, his service
agreement. The agreed termination arrangement comprises payment in lieu of notice of natice of £445,500 in respect of salary and benefits
including pension for his 12-month notice period, a final settlement payment of £403,773 arising out of ar in connection with his employment
and £250 in consideration for enhanced post-employment undertakings. He was eligible for a bonus of up to £615,000 {being his pro-rated
maximum benus opportunity, reflecting his period of service in the year). He received an actual payment of £538,125 as detailed on page 94
His DAB award of 28,057 shares vested on 30 September 2018, The Remuneration Committee having exercised its discretion, Nick's
outstanding LTIP awards (as detailed on page 95) remain capable of vesting in accordance with the rules of the scheme, subject to achievernent
of applicable performance measures, reduced pro-rata to reflect his period of employment (rounded up on a whole-year basis) as a proportion
of each award's three-year vesting period His 2016 LTIP award did not vest and lapsed in full. Up ta £25,000 (excluding VAT) will be paid
directly to third-party service providers in respect of legal services relating to Nick's departure. Nick continues to receive private medical
insurance cover consistent with current levels until 30 September 2019,

Percentage change in remuneration levels
The table below shows change in base compensation, benefits and annual bonus for the CEQ in the 2018 financial year, compared to the
average for all employees:

Chief Executive Officer’ All employees

At 3 December 2014 £ % change 2018 v 2017 % change 2018 v 2007
Base compensation 725,000 —% 372%
Benefits 24,808 {58.3)% (1.07)%
Bonus 1,228,150 (1.1)%

1 CEQ figures represent those disciosed in the single figure table on page 92. As there was no bonus payable to the CEQ in respect of 2017 no percentage change (s shown.
This atl-employee information is based on UK employees only, as it was felt that using overseas payroll data would distort the information.

Relative importance of the spend on pay
The table below shows the spend on employee costs in the 2018 financial year, compared to dividends.

2018 £m 2017 £m % change
Employee costs 19931 22185 (10.2)%
Dividends — 2n (100.0)%
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Performance graph and CEO pay

The following chart compares the value of an investment of £100 in the Company's shares with an investment of the same amount in the FTSE
All-Share Index and the FTSE 350 Support Services Index, assuming that all dividend income 1s re-invested.

IMAGE REMOVED

The Cornmittee is of the opinion that this comparison provides a clear picture of the performance of the Group, relative to both a wide range of
companies in the UK and also a specific group of companies within the same sector. Over the 10-year period to 31 December 2018, £100
invested in Capita on 1 january 2009 wouid be worth £33 at 31 December 2018 compared to £238 for an investment in the FTSE All-Share
Index and £325 for an investment in the FTSE 350 Support Services Index.

The total rernuneration figures for the CEQ during the 2018 financial year are shown in the table below. Consistent with the calculation
methodology for the single figure for total remuneration, the total remuneration figure includes the total annual bonus award based on that
year's performance and the LTIP award based on the three-year performance period ending in the relevant year. The annual benus pay-out and
LT1P award vesting level as a percentage of the maximum opportunity are also shown for this year

Year of ot oo aganst o ep Pty i masimom oppesiortty

2018 £2,014,209 85% —%
2017 £741376 —% —%
2016 £682958 —% —%
2015 £2,520,428 50% 71.365%
2014 £2.558,998 100% 57.2%
2013 £2,326,250 75% 54.5%
2012 £2,038,233 100% 47.75%
201 £1,833308 % 56 02%
2010 £1,399,675 100% 88.567%
2009 £1,621,793 75% 100%

Note the vesting rates for the long-term ncentives are averaged between the LTIP and the DAB vesting rates for 20102013 and 2015 Far 2014, this is the actual vesting for the LTI? as
there is no DAB maturity in 2014,

Note: figures for 2010-2013 are based on remuneration for Paul Pindar. Figures for 2014-206 are based on remuneration for Andy Parker Figures far 2017 are based on remuneration
paid ta Andy Parker as CEQ until 15 September 2077, to Nick Greatorex as interim CEQ from 16 September 2017 to 30 November 2017, and to Jon Lewis as CEO from 1 December 2017,
Approval of the Directors’ remuneration report

The Directors' remuneration report was approved by the Board on 13 March 2019.

John Cresswell

Chair
Remuneration Committee

13 March 2019
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Consolidated income statement
For the year ended 31 December 2018

Z018 2017
Totet Toual
reported "
Notes £m £m
Continuing operations:
Revenue 3918.4 42346
e Cost of sales - - (2,951.4)} (3.182.0}
Gross profit 967.0 1,052.6
Administrative expenses 3,4,7 {932.1)} (1.472.7)
Operating profit/{loss) 34,7 349 (420.1)
Net finance costs 9 (r2.0) (62.4)
Gain/(loss) on business disposal 4 309.7 (30.6)
Profit/(loss) before tax 3 272.6 {513.1)
Income tax credit/{expense) 10 0.9 {14.0)
Profit/{loss) for the year from continuing operations l 2735 (527.1)
Discontinued operations: ’
Profit for the year 5 5.6 416.4
Total profit/{loss) for the year 279.1 {(107)
Attributable to: ’
Owmers of the Company 269.0 (7.}
Non-controlling interests 34 10. 6.4
b 2791} (no)
Earnings/{loss) per share M
Continuing.
= basic 17.99p' (4B 82)p
- diluted 7.r7p (4882
Total operations:
- basic 18.37»‘1)1 (10.72)p
— diluted 18.15p  (10.72)p
1 i
Adjusted operating profit 3 3353 447.5
Adjusted profit befare tax 3 282.1 3831
Adjusted eamnings per share n 16.37p‘ 27.99p
Adjusted and diluted earnings per share 1 16.17p, 27.99p

The above and accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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I 2018 [ 207
Nares Em Em Em im
Profit/(loss) for the year [ 279.1 {1107
Other comprehensive income/(expense]:
Itemns that will not be raclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Actuarial gain/(loss) on defined benafit pension schemes 3z 1349 {514)
Income tax effect 10 (22.9) 88
112.0 (42 6)
! 112.0 (42.6)
ltems that will or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 20 {46) "
Net investment hedge of foreign operations — 10.4
- 10.4
Gain on cash fiow hedges 26 20 2.0
Reclassification adjustrents for (income)/expenses included in the income statement 26 {2.5) 03
Incorne tax effect 10 0.1 (0.4
) {0.4) 18
! 1.6 77
Other comprehensive income/{expensa] for the year net of tax ) 113.6 -(34.9)
Total comprehensive income/{expense) for the year net of tax 1 392.7 {145.6)
Attributable to:
Owners of the Company 382.6 (152.0)
Non-controlling interests 34 10.1 6.4
[ 392.7 {145.6)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated balance sheet
As at 31 December 2018

2018 | 200
Notes £m £m

Nan-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 13 213.6 2193
Intangible assets 1415 1587.7 18121
Contract fulfilment assets __ _ I _ . L 264.2 252.5
Financial assets T8 109.1 13237
Deferred taxation 10 144.6 159.3
Trade and other receivables 19 262 280
2,345.4 2,603.5
Current assets
Financial assets 18 18.2 Ba.7
Disposal group assets held for sale 4} — 59
Trade and other receivables 19 mz 7758
Cash 20 957.5 9217
Incomne tax receivable 10 0.9 25.6
1 17483 1,817.7
Total assets 1 40937 4,4212
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 21 668.7 7552
Deferred income 22 980.3 1,201.2
Overdrafts 20 3148 4433
Financial liabilities 23 3031 265.6
Disposal group liabilities held for sate 4] - - 14
Pravisions 25 96.8 164.1
2,363.7 2.830.8
Mon-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 21 1ne 17.0
Deferred income 22 2773 3140
Financjal liabilities 23 1,084.2 127
Deferred taxation 0 15.2 122
Provisions 25 19.4 48,5
Employee benefits 32 219.0 4068
t 1,626.7 2,520.2
Total liabilities 1 3,990.4 5.351.0
Net assets/(liabilities) i 103.3 - {929.8)
Capital and reserves
Issued share capital 27 34.5 13.8
Share premium 27 1,1433 5013
Employee benefit trust and treasury shares 27 {1.2) {0.2)
Capital redemption reserve . 1.8 18
Foreign currency translation reserve 16 (0.4)
Cash flow hedging reserve 1.5 19
Retained deficit [1,135.3)' {1,517.2)
Surplus/(deficit) attributable to owners of the Company 36.2 {999 0)
Non-controlling interests 34 67.1 69.2
Total equity 103.3 (929.8)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financal statements

March 2019 and signed on its behalf by:

- Patrick Butcher
Chief Financial Officer Company registered number: 02081330




Strategic report Corporate governance 103

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2018

Employes )
berefit . Faceign
Share Share tzj::.':;"d md:monc'p!“‘ e‘:nm:f mm?g Cf:dfg!!%w wntroINm ot
capital premium sharer)s‘ reserve (de:gtj reserve resewg Total in:eremg (;:m)
£m Em Em Em Em £m £m £m Em Em
At1 January 2017 138 5013 {0.2) 18 (1131.8) (6.2) —  (6213) 68.4  (552.9)
Profit/{loss} for the year - — — — (117} - — {117.) 6.4 (110.7)
Other comprehensive
(expense)/incorne — — - — (42.6) 5.8 19 (34.9) — (34.9)
Total comprehensive (expense)/
income for the year - - - - (159.7) 58 <19 {152.0) 6.4 (145.6)
Share based payment - - - - 28 - - 29 — 29
Equity dividends paid - - - - (21.0) - — (211.0} (s.6)  (2168)
Investrnent in non-controlling
interest - - - - [biR)] - - (1.9 - (1.1)
Movement in put options held by
non-controlling interests - - - — (6.5) - - (6.5) - (6.5)
At 1 January 2018 138 501.3 {0.2) 18 (1,517.2) {0 4) 19 (9990) 69.2  (929.8)
Profit for the year ] - — - — 269.0 — - 269.0 10.1 279.1
Qther comprehensive '
income/(expanse) — — - - mze 2.0 (0.4) 136 — Mas
Total comprehensive income/ 0 N
(expense) for the year - - - — 381.0 290 {0.4) 382.6 101 392.7
Share based payment - - - - 34 - - 34 - 3.4
Deferred income tax relating to 1
share based paymenits - - - - 04 - - 04 - 0.4
Shares issued/(purchased) {note 27) ’, 207 642.0 {1.0) - - —_ - 651.7 - 6517
Equity dividends paid { — - - - - - - - (12.2) (12.2)
Movement in put options held by |
non-controlling interests l - - - - {29) - - (2.9} — {2.9):
*Asat 31 December 2018 I 345 1,433 (11.2) 18 (1,135.3) 1.6 15 36.2 67.1 103.3 |

Share capital - The balance classified as share capital is the nominal proceeds on issue of the Company's equity share cagital, comprising 2 1/15p ordinary shares.
Share premium — The amount paid to the Company by shareholders, in cash or other consideration, over and above the nominal value of shares 1ssued to them

Employee benefit trust and treasury shares — Shares that have been bought back by the Company which are available for retirement or resale; shares held in
the ernplayee benefit trust have no voting rights and do not have entitlement to a dividend.

Capital redemption reserve - The Company can redeem shares by repaying the market value to the shareholder, whereupon the shares are cancelled.
Redemption must be from distributable profits, The Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of the shares redeemed,

Foreign currency transtation reserve - Gains or losses resulting from the process of expressing amounts denominated or measured in one currency in terms of
another currency by use of the exchange rate between the two currencies. This process is required to consolidate the financial staternents of foreign affiliates into
the total Group financial statements and to recognise the conversion of foreign currency or the settlement of a receivable or payable denominated in foreign
currency at a rate different from that at which the item is recorded.

Cash flow hedging reserve - This reserve records the portion of the gain or loss on a hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge that is determined to be an
effective hedge

Retained earnings - Net profits kept to accumulate in the Group after dividends are paid and retained in the business as working capital
Nor-controlling interests (NCi) - This represents the equity in a subsidiary that is not attributable directly or indirectly to the parent company.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated cash flow statement

Far the year ended 31 December 2018

[—-zm“ Restared' 2017

Notes £m £m
Cash generated from operations 29 (75.7) 225.4
Cash generated from/(used by) discontinued aperations g (99.2)1! 6.7
Income tax received 10 25.3 9.5
Net interest paid {52.5). (54.2)

= """ Net cash inflaw/{outflow) from operating activities - - - = 0 1 (2023) 0 - 18740 me—e—e—————
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 13 {89.4) {66.2)
Purchase of intangible assets 14 (70.1) {71.0)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment/intangible assets 713,14 19 231
Acquisition of subsidiary undertakings and businesses 16 — (24.5)
Cash acquired with subsidiary undertakings 16 — 45
Deferred consideration received 5.2 1.8
Cancellation of put options [6.8]1 -
Deferred consideration paid 23 (11.1)' (5.8)
Contingent consideration paid (19.8) {n.7n
Purchase of financial assets {0.9). {0.7)
Net proceeds on disposal of subsidiary undertakings 4 407.8 17.0
Cash disposed of with subsidiary undertakings 4 (11.2) (0.1}
Cash Aows from investing activities used by discontinued operations 5 — 825.2
Met cash inflow/{outflow} from investing activities | 205.6 7016
Cash flows from financing activities
Extemnal dividends paid 12 —i {211.0)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interest 12 (12.2) (5.6)
Purchiase of shares 27 {11.0); -
Capital element of finance lease rental payments (0.2) (2.9)
Issue of share capital net of issue costs 27 662.7 l -
Repayment of loan notes 26 {577.2) (240) °
Proceeds/(Repaymaent) of fixed rate swaps 26 103.6 (84.6)
Repayment of term debt 26 - {550.0)
Financing arrangement costs (3.7F (2.1}
Net cash inflow/(autflow) fram financing activities i 162.0 (979.5)
Increase in cash and cash equivatents 165.5 (90 5}
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 478.4 565.8
Movement in exchange rates (1.2) 3.1
Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 642.71 478.4
Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
Cash at bank and in hand 20 957.5 9217
Overdrafts 20 {314.8) (443.3)
Total I 642.7 | 478.4
Adjusted cash generated from operations 29 69.8 2303
Adjusted free cash flows 29 {82.5) 75.4

1 The Group has represented and d its cash flaw stat

t, Refer to note 29 for details,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1 Corporate information
The consolidated financial statements of Capita plc for the year ended 31 December 2078 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the
Directors on 13 March 2019. Capita ple is a public limited company incorparated in England and Wales whaose shares are publicly traded.

The principal activities of the Group are given in the strategic report on pages 1-52,
2 Summary of significant accounting policies

Changes to non-statutory reporting

The Group has simplified its non-statutory reporting measures to improve transparency and make it easier for the readers of its annual report and accounts to
understand its financial performance. Historically, the Group presented underlying and non-underlying results {comprising business exits and specific items} on
the face of the income statement In the notes, underlying results before significant new contracts and restructuring was disclosed. The revised presentation has
anly the reported results on the face of the income statement, with a footnote detailing adjusted profit and eamings per share, and a reference to a note to the
consolidated financial statenents {see note 3) providng a reconciliation between reported and adjusted profit. The presentation of the cash flow staterent and
additional cash flow information in note 29 have also been revised to show the same split

Adjusted profit

145 1 permits an entity to present additional information for specific items to enable users to better assess the entity's financial performance. In practice thase
itemns are commonly referred to as 'specific’ or ‘non-underlying' items although such terminalogy is not defined in IFRS and accordingly there is a level of
judgement required in determining what items to separately identify. The Board has adopted a policy to separately disclose those items that it considers are
outside the underdying operating results for the particular year under review and against which the Group’s performance is assessed.

Those iterns which relate to the ordinary course of the Group's operating activities remain within adjusted profit. The following items are excluded from adjusted
profit: acquired intangible amaortisation, impairment of goodwill and acquired intangibles, acquisition contingent consideration movements, the financial impact
of business exits or businesses in the process of being exited, acquisition expenses, movements in the mark-to-market valuation of certain financial instruments,
the impact of significant new contracts and restructuring (see below), and other specific non-recurring items in the income statement. in the Directars’
judgement, these need to be disclosed saparately (see notes 3, 4, 5, 9 and 10} by virtue of their nature, size and/or incidence, in order for users of the financial
statements to obtain a proper understanding of the financial information and the underlying in-year performarce of the business. The Board does not consider
these fterns when assessing the performance of the in-year performance and accordingly these items are also excluded in the discussion of divisional
performances in the strategic report.

Under IFRS 15, contracts potentially recognise lower profits or losses in their early years where there are significant upfront restructuring costs or higher operating
costs prior to transformation. As such, following the adoption of IFRS 15, the Board adopted a policy to separately disclose the operating profit/toss from
significant new contract wins in-period and significant restructuring, in order for users of the financial staterments to obtain a proper understanding of the
financial information and the performance of the underlying business. The impact of these significant new contracts and restructuring are excluded in arriving at
adjusted profit. A significant new contract is assessed as that which is significant and either entirely new to the Group, or a significant amendment to the scope
and scale of an existing contract. The Group cantinually assesses the resourcing levels, bath at a divisional level and also in relation to the management and
delivery of individual contracts. This results in restructuring in the normal course of business and any such charges are recorded in adjusted profit. A significant
restructuring is assessed as that above this normal level of restructuring As discussed in the strategic report, a major transformation plan has been launched and
costs incurred in support of this, including external adviser costs, are presented as restructuring charges. Contract terminations arising in the normal course of
business and which result in the disposal of a contract fulfilment asset and/or a true-up of revenue recognised, will be included within adjusted profit, and
separately disdlosed if considered material (see note 3).

This policy is kept under review by the Board and the Audit and Risk Committee, and is discussed in the Committee’s report on pages 71-79 The Audit and Risk
Committee will keep under review the policy for presentation significant restructuring costs separately, as the programme covers multiple years, Accordingly, the
Committee is cognisant of the need to ensure that costs are defined and that appropriate borders are set for such an extended and critical programme.

Except for the disposal of our Capita Asset Services businesses, none of our 2018 or 2017 business exits or businesses in the process of being exited meet the
definition of ‘discontinued operations’ as stipulated by IFRS 5, which requires disclosure and the restatement of comparative information where the relative size
of a disposal or business closure is sinificant. Accordingly, the separate presentation described above does not fall within the requirements of IFRS § concerning
discontinued operations. The 2017 adjusted comparatives are restated for business exits or businesses in the process of being exited in 2018 to enable better

comparability.

Assets held for sale
The Group classifies a non-current asset (or disposal group) as held for sale if its carrying amount will be recovered prindpally through a sale transaction rather
than continued use,

For this to be the case, the asset (or disposal group) must be available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and
customary for sales of such assets (or disposal groups) and its sale must be highly probable. For the sale to be highly probable, the appropriate level of
management must be committed to a plan to sell the asset (or disposal group), and an active programme to locate a buyer and complete the plan must have
been initiated. Further, the asset {or disposal group) must be actively marketed for sale at a price that is reasonable in relation to its current fair value. In addition,
the sale should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

2 Summary of significant accounting policies continued

Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The preparatian of financial statements in line with generally accepted accounting principles requires the Directors to make judgements and assumptions that
affect the reparted amounts of assets ard liabilities and disclosure of contingencies at the date of the financial statements and the reported income and expense
during the presented periods. Although these judgements and assumptions are based on the Directors’ best knowledge of the amount, events ar actions, actual
results may differ,

The key sources of estimation uncertainty that have 2 significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
niext financial year are as follows:

+ The measurement of revenue and resulting profit recognition - due ta the size and complexity of some of the Group'’s contracts, there are significant
judgements to be applied, including the measurement and timing of revenue recognition and the recognition of related balance sheet items (such as contract
fulfilment assets, capitalisation of tosts to obtain a contract, trade receivables, accrued income and deferred income) that result from the performance of the
contract (see [e) and (s} below, and the 'divisional strategy and performance’ section of the strategic report). This is particularly in respect of contracts that are
in the transformation stage and pre-inflection point, such as PCSE and mobilcom-debitel

The Group is required ta estimate the contract prafitability, including the costs to complete the contract. The ability to accurately forecast such costs involves
estimates around cost savings to be achieved over time, anticipated profitability of the contract, as well as future performance against any contract-specific
KPis that could trigger vanable consideration or service credits. The Graup first assesses whether the contract assets are impaired and then further considers
whether any onercus contract exists To rnitigate the level of uncertainty in making these estimates the Group regularly compares actual performance of the
contracts against previous forecasts and considers whether there have been any changes to significant judgements. Following this review, as outlined in note
17, contract fulfilment asset provisions for impairment of £22.2m (£2017: £14.1m] were identified relating to assets capitalised in the year and recognised
within adjusted cost of sales.

Due to the level of uncartainty and combination of variables associated with those estimates there is a significant risk that there could be material adjustrment
to the carrying amounts of onerous contract provisions within the next financial year. The future range of possible outcomes in respect of the assumptions and
significant judgements made to determine the carrying value of onerous contracts could result in either a material increase or decrease in the value of contract
fulfilment assets or onerous contract provisions in the next financial year, The extent to which actual results differ from estimates made at the reporting date
depends on the combined autcome and timing of a large number of variables associated with performance across multiple contracts, Given this wide spread of
contracts, it is not practical to provide a quantitative analysis of the aggregated judgements that are applied, and we do not believe that disclosing a potential
range of outcomes on a consolidated basis would provide meaningful information to a reader of the accounts. Due to commercial sensitwities, we do not
specifically disclose the amounts involved on any individual contract. The Board has discussed in the strategic report the outlook on the key contracts that are
pre-inflection to provide context for a reader to assess the results and performance of the underlying division.

+ The measurement of intangible assets other than goodwill in a business combination - on the acquisition of a business the identifiable intangible assets may
include licences, customer lists and brands. The fair value of these assets is determined by discounting estimated future net cash flows generated by the asset
as in most cases no active market for the assets exists and therefore no observable valve. The vse of different assumptions for the expectations of future cash
flows and the discount rate would change the valuation of the intangible assets. The relative size of the Group's intangible assets, excluding goodwill, makes
the judgements surrounding the estimated usefut lives material to the Group’s financial position and performance. Refer to (j} below and note 14,

+ The measurement and impairment of goodwill - the amount of goodwill initially recognised as a result of a business combination is dependent on the
allocation of the purchase price to the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. The determination of the fair value of the assets
and liabilities is based, to a considerable extent, on management's judgement. Allocation of the purchase price affects the results of the Group as finite lived
intangible assets are amortised. The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired on an annual basis or mare frequently if required and this requires an
estimation of the fair value less cost of disposal of the cash generating units to which the intangible assats are allocated utilising an estimation of future cash
flows and choosing a suitable discount rate (see note 15).

+ The measurement of defined benefit obligations - the accounting cost of these benefits and the present value of pension liabilities involve judgements about
uncertain events including such factors as the life expectancy of members, the salary progression of cur current employees, price inflation and the discount
rate used to calculate the net present value of the future pension payments. We use estimates for all of these factors in determining the pension costs
and liabilities incorporated in our financial statements. The assumptions reflect historical experience and our judgernent regarding future expectations
(see note 32).

The measurement of provisions and contingent liabilities - measuring and recognising provisions and the exposures to contingent liabilities related to pending
litigation or ether outstanding clairns subject to negotiated settlement, mediation and arbitration, as well as other contingent liabilities (see notes 25 and 31)
Judgement is necessary in assessing the likelihood of success of any claim and whether a liability will arise, and to quantify the possible range of the financial
settlement. Because of the inherent uncertainty in this evaluation process, actual losses may be different from the originally estimated provision.

For further details on the sensitivity of carying amounts to the methods, assumptions and estimates used, the reason for the sensitivity, the expected resalution
of uncertainties, and the range of reasonable possible alternatives for each of the above, refer to the policies and notes referenced.

The Directors apply judgement when considering the presentation of items in arriving at adjusted profit. As discussed above, the Group separately presents
specific items in the income statement, which in the Directors’ judgernent, need to be disclosed separately by virtue of their nature, size andfor incidence in order
for users of the financial statements to obtain a praper understanding of the financial information and the underlying performance of the business (see note 3).
This judgement has an impact on the catculation of covenants {refer te (b)).

(a) Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements of Capita plc (the Company) and all of its subsidiaries (the Group) have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the European Union and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

The parent company has applied FRS 101 - Reduced Disclosure Framewark in the preparation of its individual financial statements and these are contained
on pages 178-135 FRS 101 applies IFRS as adopted by the European Union with certain disclosure exemptions.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies continued

(b) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under IFRS where certain financial instruments and the pension assets have been measured at fair
value The carrying valve of recognised assets and Fabilities that are hedged are adjusted to recard changes in the fair values attributable to the risks that are
being hedged. The consolidated financial statements are presented in pounds sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest tenth of a million (Em) except
when otherwise indicated.

In determnining the appropriate basis of preparation of the financial statements for the year ending 31 Decemnber 2018, the Directors are required to consider
whether the Group can continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Having taken decisive action to strengthen the balance sheet through the
raising of new equity and the disposal of non-core businesses, and undertaking a rigorous assessment of the financial forecast, the Board have concluded that the
Group will continue to have adequate financial resources to realise their assets and discharge its liabilities as they fall due.

Accordingly, the Directors have formed the judgement that it is appropriate to prepare these consolidated financial statements on the going concern basis.
Therefore, the consolidated financial staternents do not include any adjustments which would be required if the going cancern basis of preparation 1s
inappropriate.

The Group's committed revolving credit facility, bank term loan facilities and private placement loan notes are subject to compliance with covenant requirements
including maximum ratios of adjusted net debt to adjusted EBITDA. The Group's cavenanted maximum ratic is 3.0 times or to 3.5 times depending on the debt
instrument in question. They are tested semi-annually.

The Group had net debt of £466.1m as at 31 December 2018 (2017: £1,17 0m) and adjusted net debt of £494.7m as at 31 December 2018 (2017: £1,53.0m).
Net debt is reported in note 29 - additional cash Row information. Adjusted net debt is used to calculate the gearing ratio adjusted net debt to adjusted EBITDA
{refer to the alternative performance measures on pages 197-198).

The Group's calculation of adjusted net debt to adjusted EBITDA at 31 December 2018 was 1.2 times and was compliant with the relevant ratios.

(c) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Capita ple and its subsidiaries as at 31 December each year The financial statements
of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as the parent company, using consistent accounting policies.

All intercompany balances and transactians, including unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions, have been eliminated in full

Subsidiaries are consalidated from the date on which control is transferred ta the Group until control is transferred out of the Group. Where there is a loss of
control of a subsidiary, the consolidated financial statements include the results for the part of the reporting year during which Capita plc has control and the
profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between the fair value of the consideration received and the camrying amount of the assets [including
goodwill) disposed of. Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interests even if that results in the
non-cantrolling interests having 2 deficit balance,

{d) Changes in accounting policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for the adoption: of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. In addition, the
Group has adopted the new amendments to standards and new IFRIC as detailed below

Initial adoption of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement for annwal periods beginning on or after 1 january 2018,
bringing together all three aspects of the accounting for financial instruments: classification and measuremnent; impairment; and hedge accounting. With the
exception of hedge accounting, which the Group applied prospectively, the Group has applied [FRS S retraspectively, with the initial application date of 1 January
2018. There has been no restatement to the comparative balances for the period beginning 1 January 2017 as there are no requirements under the standard to

restate comparatives.

The Group has performed an assessment to understand the requirements of IFRS 9 and how these differ from IAS 39 and has concluded there is no significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements from the date of adoption There were ro differences between previous carrying amounts and consequently
no adjustment has been made to opening retained eamings, The updated account policy 5 set out in ().

Annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2014-2016 Cycle

As part of its annual improvements cycles, the Intemational Accounting Standards Board amended various standards primarily with a view to removing
inconsistencies and clarifying warding,

Amendments to IFRS 2: Classification and Measurerment of Share-based Payment Transactions

The amendments are intended to eliminate diversity in practice, are narrow in scope and address three specific areas of classification and measurement

Amendments to IFRS 4: Applying fFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

The amendments provide two options for entities that 1ssue insurance contracts within the scope of IFRS 4: the ‘overlay approach’ or the 'deferral approach’.
The application of both approaches is optional and an entity is permitted to stop applying them before the new insurance contracts standard is applied.

Amendments to IAS 40: Transfers of Investment Property

The amendment provides clarity that an entity shall transfer a property to, or from, investment property when, and only when, there is evidence of a change in
use. A change of use accurs if property meets, or ceases to mest, the definition of investment praperty. A change in managerment's intentions far the use ofa
property by itself does not constitute evidence of a change in use

IFRIC 22: Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

These amendments are intended to eliminate diversity in practice when recognising the related asset, expense ar income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to advance consideration received or paid in a foreign currency
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

2 Summary of significant accounting policies continued

(2) Revenue
The Group generates revenue largely in the UK and Europe.

The Group operates a number of diverse businesses and accordingly applies a variety of methods for revenue recognition, based on the principles set out in IFRS
15. Many of the contracts entered into are long-term and complex in nature, given the breadth of solutions the Group offers.

The revenue and profits recognised in any period are based on the delivery of performance obligations and an assessment of when control is transferred to
the custorner.

In determining the amount of revenue and profits to record, and related balance sheet items (such as contract fulfilment assets, capitalisation of costs to obtain a
contract, trade receivables, accrued income and deferred income) to recognise in the period, management is required to form a number of key judgements and
assumptions. This includes an assessment of the costs the Group incurs to deliver the contractual commitments and whether such costs should be expensed as
incurred or capitalised. These judgements are inherently subjective and may caver future events such as the achievement of contractual milestones, performance
KPls and planned cost savings. In addition, for certain contracts, key assumptions are made concerning contract extensions and amendments, as well as
opportunities to use the contract developed systems and technologies on other similar projects.

Revenue is recognised either when the performance obligation in the contract has been performed {so ‘point in time’ recognition) or ‘over time’ as control of the
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

For all contracts, the Group determines if the arrangement with a customer creates enforceable rights and obligations. This assessment results in certain Master
Service Agreements [M5As) not meeting the definition of a contract under IFRS 15 and as such the individual call-off agreements, linked to the MSA, are treated
as individual contracts.

The Group enters into contracts which contain extension periods, where either the customer or both parties can choose to extend the contract or there is an
automatic annual renewal, and/or termination clauses that could impact the actual duration of the contract Judgement is applied to assess the impact that
these clauses have when determining the appropriate contract term The term of the contract impacts both the period aver which revenue from performance
obligations may be recognised and the period over which contract fulfilment assets and cap tatised costs to obtain a contract are expensed.

For contracts with multiple components to be delivered such as transformation, transitions and the delivery of outsourced services, management applies
judgernent to consider whether those promised goods and services are; (i) distinct - to be accounted for as separate performance obligations; (i) aot distinet -
to be combined with other promised goods or services until a bundle is identified that is distinct, or [iii} part of a series of distinct goods and services that are
substantially the same and have the same pattern of transfer to the customer.

At contract inception the total transaction price is estimated, being the amount to which the Group expects to be entitled and has rights to under the present
contract. This inctudes an assessment of any variable consideration where the Group's performance may result in additional revenues based on the achievement
of agreed KPIs. Such amounts are only included based on the expected value or the most likely outcome method, and only to the extent that it is highly probable
that no revenue reversal wilf oceur.

The transaction price does not include estimates of consideration resulting from change orders for additional goods and services unless these are agreed.

Once the total transaction price is determined, the Group ailocates this to the identified performance obligations in proportion to their relative stand-alone
selling prices and recognises revenue when (or as) those performance obligations are satisfied.

The Group infrequently sells standard products with observable stand-alone prices due to the specialised services required by clients and therefore the Group
applies judgement to determine an appropriate stand alone selling price. More frequently, the Group sells a customner bespoke solution, and in these cases the
Group typically uses the expected cost plus margin or a contractually stated price approach to estimate the stand-alone selling price of each performance
obligation,

The Group may offer price step downs during the life of a contract, but with no change ta the underlying scope of services to be delivered. In general, any such
variable consideration, price step down or discount is included in the total transaction price to be allocated across all performance obligations unless it relates
to only one performance obligation in the contract.

For each performance abligation, the Group determines if revenue will be recognised over time or at a point in time. Where the Group recoghises revenue over
time for long-term contracts, this is in general due to the Group performing and the customer simultaneously receiving and consuming the benefits provided
over the life of the contract.

For each performance obligation to be recognised over time, the Group applies a revenue recagnition methad that faithhully depicts the Group's performance
In transferring control of the goods or services to the customer. This decision requires assessment of the real nature of the goods or services that the Group has
prornised to transfer to the customer, The Group applies the relevant output or input method consistently to similar performance obligations in other contracts

When using the output method the Group recognises revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the value to the customer of the goods and services
transferred to date relative to the remaining goods and services under the contract Where the output method is used, in particular for long-term service
contracts where the series guidance is applied {see below for further details), the Group often uses a method of time elapsed which requires minimal estimation,
Certain long-term contracts use output methods based upon estimation of number of users, level of service activity or fees coltected.

If performance obligations in a contract do not meet the over time criteria, the Group recognises revenue at a point in time (see below for further details)

The Group disaggregates revenue from contracts with customers by contract type, as management believe this best depicts how the nature, amount, timing
and uncertainty of the Group’s revenue and cash flows are affected by economic factors. Categories are: ‘long-term contractual — greater than two years’;
and 'short-term contractual - less than two years'. Years based from service commencement date.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies continued

Long-term contractual - greater than two years
The Group provides a range of services in the majority of its reportable segments under customer contracts with a duration of more than two years

The nature of contracts or performance obligations categorised within this revenue type is diverse and includes: (i) long-term outsourced service arrangements
in the public and private sectors, and () active software licence arrangements {see definition below).

The Group considers that the services provided meet the definition of a series of distinct goods and services as they are: (1) substantially the same; and (ii) have
the same pattern of transfer (as the series constitutes services provided in distinct time increments (e.g. daily, menthly, quartery or annual services)) and
therefare treats the series as one performance obligation. Even if the underlying activities perfarmed by the Group to satisfy a promise vary significantly
throughout the day and from day to day, that fact, by itself, does not mean the distinct goods or services are not substantially the same. For the majority of
long-service contracts with customers in this category, the Group recognises revenue using the output method as it best reflects the nature in which the Group
is transferring control of the goods or services to the customer.

Active software licences are those where the Group has a continuing involvement after the sale or transfer of control to the customer, which significantly affects
the intellectual property to which the customer has rights. The Groug is in a majority of cases responsible for any maintenance, continuing support, updates and
upgrades and accordingly the sale of the initial software is not distinct The Group's accounting policy for licences is discussed in mare detail below.

Short-term contractual - less than two years

The nature of contracts or performance obligations categorised within this revenue type is diverse and includes: {§) short-term outsourced service arangements
in the public and private sectors; and (ii) software maintenance contracts.

The Group has assessed that maintenance and support (i.e. on-call support, remote support) for software licences is a perfarmance obligation that can be
considered capable of being distinct and separately identifiable in a contract if the customer has a passive licence. These recurring services are substantially the
same as the nature of the promise is for the Group to 'stand ready’ to perform maintenance and support when required by the customer. Each day of standing
ready is then distinct from each fellowing day and is transferred in the same pattern to the customer.

Transactional {Point in time) contracts

The Group delivers a range of goods or services in all reportable segments that are transactional services for which revenue is recognised at the point in time
when control of the goods or services has transferred to the customer. This may be at the point of physical delivery of goods and acceptance by a customer or
when the customer obtains control of an asset or service in a contract with customer-specified acceptance criteria.

The nature of contracts or performance obligations categorised within this revenue type is diverse and includes: (i} provision of IT hardware goods; (i) passive
software licence agreements; (jii) commission received as agent from the sale of third-party software; and {iv) fees received in relation to delivery of professional
services,

Passive software licences are licences which have significant stand-alone functionality and the contract does not require, and the customer does not reasonably
expect, the Group to undertake activities that significantly affact the licence, Any ongoing maintenance or support services for passive licences are likely to be
separate performance obligations. The Group's accounting policy for licences is discussed in more detail below.

Contract modifications

The Group’s contracts are often amended for changes in contract specifications and requirements, Contract modifications exist when the amendment either
creates new or changes the existing enforceable rights and obligations. The effect of a contract modification on the transaction price and the Group’s rneasure
of progress for the performance abligation to which it relates, is recognised as an adjustrnent ta revenue 1n one of the following ways:

a. prospectively as an additional separate contract;

b prospectively as a termination of the existing contract and creation of a new contract;
¢ as part of the original contract using 2 cumulative catch up; or

d. as a combination of (b) and {c}.

For contracts for which the Group has decided there is a series of distinct goods and services that are substantiatly the same and have the same pattern of
transfer where revenue is recognised over time, the madification will always be treated under either (a} or (b); (d) may arise when a contract has a part-
termination and a modification of the remaining performance abligations.

The facts and circumstances of any contract madification are considered individually as the types of modifications will vary contract by contract and may result
in different accounting outcomes,

Judgement s applied in relation to the accounting for such moadifications where the final terms or legal contracts have not been agreed prior to the period end
as management need to determine if a modification has been approved and if it either creates new or changes existing enforceable rights and obligations of the
parties. Depending upon the outcome of such negotiztions, the timing and amount of revenue recognised may be different in the relevant accounting periads.
Modification and amendments to contracts are undertaken via an agreed formal process. For example, if a change in scope has been approved but the
carresponding change in price is still being negotiated, management use their judgement to estirnate the change to the total transaction price. Importantly,
any variabte consideration is only recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that no revenue reversal will occur,

Principal versus agent

The Group has arrangements with same of its clients whereby it needs to determine if it acts as a principal or an agent as more than one party is involved in
providing the goods and services to the customer. The Group acts as a principal if it controls a promised good or service before transferring that good or service
to the customer. The Group is an agent if its role is to arrange for another entity to provide the goods or services. Factors considered in making this assessment
are most notably the discretion the Group has in establishing the price for the specified good or service, whether the Group has inventary risk and whether the
Group is primarily responsibte for fulfilling the promise to delver the service or good.

This assessment of control requires judgement in particular in relation to certain service contracts, An example is the provision of certain recruitment and learning
services where the Group may be assessed to be agent or principal dependent upon the facts and circumstances of the arrangement and the nature of the
services being delivered.

Where the Group is acting as a principal, revenue is recorded on a gross basis. Where the Group is acting as an agent, revenue is recorded at a net amourit
reflecting the margin earned,
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Licences

Software licences delivered by the Group can either be right to access {"active’} or right to use ('passive’) licences. Active licences are licences which require
continuous upgrade and updates for the software to remain useful, all ather licences are treated as passive licences. The assessment of whether a licence is active
or passive involves judgement. The key determinant of whether a licence is active is whether the Group 1s required to undertake activities that significantly affect
the licensed intellectual property (or the custamer has a reasonable expectation that it will do so) and the customer 1s, therafore, exposed to pesitive or negative
impacts resulting from those changes.

When software upgrades are sold as part of the software licence agreement (1., software upgrades are promised to the custorner), the Group applies judgement
to assess whether the software upgrade is distinct from the licence {i.e a separate performance obligation). If the upgrade is considered fundamental to the
angoing use of the software by the customer, the upgrades are not cansidered distinct and not accounted for as a separate performance abligation.

The Group considers for each contract that includes a separate licence performanice obligation all the facts and circumstances in determining whether the licence
revenue is recognised over time or at a point in time from the go live date of the licence.

Contract fulfilment assets
Cantract fulfilment costs are divided into: (i) costs that give rise to an asset; and (ii) costs that are expensed as incurrad.

When determining the appropriate accounting treatment for such costs, the Group firstly considers any other applicable standards. If those other standards
preclude capitalisation of a particular cost, then an asset is not recognised under IFRS 15,

If other standards are not applicable to contract fulfilment costs, the Group applies the following criteria which, if met, result in capitalisation: (i) the costs
directly relate to a contract or to a specifically identifiable anticipated contract; (ii) the costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will be used in
satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) performance obligations in the future; and (iii) the costs are expected to be recovered. The assessment of this criteria
requires the application of judgement, in particular when considering if ensts generate or enhance resources to be used to satisfy future performance obligations
and whether costs are expected to be recoverable.

The Group regularly incurs costs to deliver its outsourcing services in a more efficient way {often referred to as ‘transformation’ costs). These costs may include
process mapping and design, system development, project management, hardware {generally in scope of the Group's accounting palicy for property, plant and
equipment), software licence costs (generally in scape of the Group’s accounting policy for intangible assets), recruitment costs and training.

The Group has determined that, where the relevant specific criteria are met, the costs for (i) process mapping and design, (i} system development, and {ji1)
project management are likely to qualify to be capitalised as contract fulfilment assets.

The incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a customer are recognised as a contract fulfilment asset if the Group expects to recover them. The Group
incurs costs such as bid costs, legal fees to draft a contract and sales commissions when it enters into a new contract.

Judgement is applied by the Group when determining what costs qualify to be capitalised in particular when considering whether these costs are incremental
and whether these are expected to be recoverable. For example, the Group considers which type of sales commissions are incremental to the cost of obtaining
specific contracts and the point in time when the costs will be capitalised.

The Group has determined that the follawing costs may be capitalised as contract fulfilment assets: {i) legal fees to draft a contract (once the Group has been
selected as a preferred supplier for a bid), and (i) sales commissions that ase directly related to winning a specific contract.

Costs incurred prior to selection as preferred supplier are not capitalised but are expensed as incurred.

Utilisation, derecognition and impairment of contract fulfilment assets and capitalised costs to obtain a contract

The Group utilises contract fulfilment assets to cost of sales over the expected contract period using a systematic basis that mirrors the pattern in which the
Group transfers control of the service to the customer, The utilisation charge is included within cost of sales. Judgement is applied to detemmine this period, for
example whether this expected period would be the contract term or a longer period such as the estimated life of the customer relationship for a particular
cantract if, say, renewals are expected.

A contract fulfilment asset 15 derecognised either when it is disposed of or when no further economic benefits are expected to flow from its use or disposal.

Management is required to determine the recoverability of contract related assets within property, plant and equipment, intangible assets as well as contract
fulfilment assets, accrued income and trade receivables. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether or not the contract fulfilment assets are impaired
by comparing the carrying amount of the asset to the remaining amount of consideration that the Group expects to receive less the costs that relate to providing
services under the relevant contract. In determining the estimated amount of consideration, the Group uses the same principles as it does to determine the
contract transaction price, except that any constraints used to reduce the transaction price will be removed for the impairment test.

Where the ralevant contracts are demonstrating marginal profitability or other indicaters of impairment, fjudgement is required in ascertaining whether or not the
future economic benefits from these contracts are sufficient to recover these assets. In performing this impairment assessment, management is required to make
an assessment of the costs to complete the contract. The ability to accurately forecast such costs involves estimates around cost savings to be achieved over
time, anticipated profitability of the contract, as well as future performance against any contract-specific KPIs that could trigger variable consideration, or service
credits, Where a contract is anticipated to make a loss, these judgements are also relevant in determining whether or not an onerous contract provision is
required and how this is to be measured

Deferred and accrued income

The Group's customer contracts include a diverse range of payment schedules dependent upon the nature and type of goods and services being provided. The
Group often agrees payment schedules at the inception of long-term contracts under which it receives payments throughout the term of the contracts, These
payment schedules may include performance-based payments ar progress payments as well as regutar monthly or quarterly payments for ongoing service
delivery Payments for transactional goods and services may be at delivery date, in arrears or part payment in advance.

Where payments made are greater than the revenue recognised at the period end date, the Group recognises a deferred income contract liability for this
difference. Where payments made are less than the revenue recognised at the period end date, the Group recognises an accrued income contract asset for this
difference

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that accrued income assets may be impaired by considering whether the revenue
remains highly probable that no revenue reversal will occur. Where an indicator of impairment exists, the Group makes a formal estimate of the asset’s
recoverable amount. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its
recoverable amount. ’
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Onerous contracts

The Group reviews its long-term contracts to ensure that the expected economic benefits to be received are in excess of the unavoidable costs of meeting the
obligations under the contract. The unavoidable costs are the lower of the net costs of termination or the costs of fulfilment of the cantractual obligations. The
Group recognises the excess of the unavoidable costs over ecanomic benefits due to be received as an onerous contract provision,

(f) Foreign currency translation

The functional and presentation currency of Capita ple and its UK subsidiaries is the pound sterling (£} Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded
at the functional currency rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date All differences are taken to the consalidated income statement with the exception of
differences an foreign currency borrowings that provide a hedge against a net investrnent in a foreign operation. These are taken directly to equity until the
disposal of the net investment, at which time they are recognised in the consolidated income statement

Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on those borrowings are also dealt with in equity. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate as at the date of initial transactian. Non-monetary iterns measured at fair value in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

The functional currencies of overseas aperations include the eurs, Indian rupee, South African rand, and the US dollar. As at the reporting date, the assets and
liabilities of the overseas operations are retransiated into the presentation currency of Capita plc at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date and
their income statements are translated at the weighted average exchange rate for the year.

The exchange differences arising on the re-translation are taken directly to a separate component af equity. On disposal of a foreign operation, the deferred
curnylative amount recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign operation shall be recognised in the income statement.

The Group has elected not to record cumulative translation differences arising prier to the transition date as permitted by IFRS 1 as at 31 December 2004. In
utilising this exemption, zll cumulative translation differences were deerned to be zero as at 1 January 2004 and al] subsequent disposals shall exclude any
translation differences arising prior to the date of transition,

(g) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. Depreciation is catculated on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful life of the asset as follows

+ Freehold buildings and long leasehold property - over 50 years.
+ Leasehold improvements = period of the lease.
» Plant and equipment =3 1010 years,

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when avents or changes in circumstances indicate the camying value may not
be recoverable. If any such indication exists and where the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets are written down to their
recoverable amount. The recaverable amount of property, plant and equipment is the greater of net selling price and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement in the administrative expenses line item.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecagnised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of
the asset (retired). Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset {calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount
of the item) is included in the income statement in the year in which the item 15 derecognised.

(h) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the respective assets All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

The Group capitalises barrowing costs for all qualifying assets where construction commenced on or after ¥ January 2009.

(i) Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which controt is passed to the Group.

Gaodwitl

Foliowing initial recognition, goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses, Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. Goodwill arising on acquisitions prior to 31 Decemnber 1997 remains
set-off directly against reserves and does not get recycled through the income statement

As at the acquisttion date, any goodwill acquired is allocated to each of the cash-generating units which are expected to benefit from the combination’s
synergies Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and
part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the cperation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the aperation
when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation.

Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating
unit retained.

Acquisitions and disposals of non-cantrolling interests

Acquisitions and disposals of non-controlling interests that do not result in a change of cantrol are accounted for as transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners and therefore no goodwill is recognised as a result of such transactions The adjustments to non-controlling interests are based on a proportionate
amount of the net assats of the subsidiary. Any difference between the price paid or received and the amount by which non-controlling interests are adjusted
is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the awners of the parent company

Prior to the adaption of 1AS 27 (Amended), goodwill was recognised on the acquisition of non-controlling interests in a subsidiary, which represented the excess
of the cost of the additional investment over the carrying amount of the interest in the net assets acquired at the date of the transaction.
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{i) Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are capitalised at cost and those identified in a business acquisition are capitalised at fair value as at the date of acquisition.
In the case of capitalised software development costs, research expenditure is wiitten off to the income statement in the period in which it 1s Incurred.
Devalopment expenditure is written off in the same way unless and until the Group is satisfied as to the technical, commercial and financial viability of individual
projects. Where this condition is satisfied, the development expenditure is capitalised and amortised over the period during which the Group is expected to
benefit,

Following initial recognition, the carrying amount of an intangible asset is its cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses,
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. There were no indefinite-lived assets in 2018 or 2017. Amortisation is charged on
assets with finite lives and this expense is taken to the income statement through the administrative expenses line item.

Intangible assets with finite lives are only tested for impairment, either individually or at the cash-generating unit level, where there is an indicator of impairment.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and are recognised in the income statement when the asset is derecognised.

Intangible assets identified and recognised since transition to IFRS are profiled, on a straight-line basis, as follows:
Intangible assets acquired in business combinations —

+ brands are amortised over their useful economic lives of between S and 10 years

* 1P, software and licences are amortised over their useful economic lives of between 5 and 20 years

« contracts and committed sales are amortised over their useful economic lives of between 1.5 and 15 years

« dlient lists and relationships are amortised over their useful economic lives of between 4 and 10 years

Intangible assets purchased or internally capitalised —
+ capitalised software development costs are amortised over their useful economic lives of between 5 and 15 years
+ software and licences are amortised over their useful economic lives of between 5 and 20 years

- other intangibles are amortised over their useful economic lives of 3 to 15 years

(k) Recoverable amount of non-current assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that a nan-cumrent asset may be impaired. Where an indicator of impairment exists,
the Group makes a formal estimate of the asset's recoverable amount. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is
considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's or cash-generating unit's fair value less
costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets,

(1) Investments and other financial assets

Classification

Applicable from 1 January 2018, the Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

+ those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through OCI or through profit or loss); and

+ those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at fair vatue through other comprehensive income (FYOCI)

The Group redassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes.

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date (that is, the date on which the Group commits 1o purchase or selt the asset). Financial
assets are derecognised when therights to receive cash flows from thefinancial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership

Measurement
Atinitial recognition, the group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash fows are solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There
are three measurement categories into which the Group classifies its debt instruments.

Armortised cost: assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows, where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured
at amortised cost Interest income from these finandial assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising an
derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other gains/(losses) together with foreign exchange gains and losses, Impairment losses are
presented as a separate line item in the statement of profit or loss
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FVOCI: assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, are measured at FVOC|. Movemenis in the carrying amount are taken through QCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses, which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in other gains/{losses). Interest income from these financial assets is included
in finance income using the effective interest rate methad. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in other gains/(losses), and impairment expenses are
presented as a separate line item in the statement of profit or loss.

FVPL: assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FYOCI are measured at FYPL A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at
FVPL is recagnised in profit or loss and presented net within other gains/(losses) in the period in which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the Group's management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity
investments in OC|, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and lasses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends
from such iavestrnents continwue to be recognised in profit or loss as other income when the Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognised in other gains/{losses) in the statement of profit or less as applicable. Impairment losses {and
reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments measured at FVOC! are not reported separately from other changes in fair value.

impairment
From 1 fanuary 2018, the Group assesses, on a forward-looking basis, the expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost
and FYOC|. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk,

Accounting policies applied untit 31 December 2017

The Group has applied IFRS 9 retrospectively, but has elected not to restate comparative information. As a result, the comparative information provided continues
to be accounted for in accordance with the Group's previous accounting policy, as shown below:

All investments are initially recorded at their fair value. Subsequently they are reviewed for impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying
value may not be recoverable.

Investment toans are measured at amortised cast using the effective interest method.

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at their fair value with unrealised gains or losses being recognised directly in equity. When the investment is disposed
of, the cumulative gain or loss previously recorded in equity is recognised in the income statement.

Finarcial assets at Fair value through the income statement {disclosed in investment income) include financiat assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through the income statement,

Financial assets may be designated upon initfal recognition as at fair value through profit or loss if the assets are part of 2 group of financial assets which are managed
and their performance evatuated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management strategy.

(m) Trade and other receivables

The Group assesses on a forward-locking basis the expected credit losses associated with its receivables carried at amortised cost, The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by
IFRS 9, resulting in trade receivables recognised and camed at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts based on expected

credit losses,

{n) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and short-term deposits in the balance sheet comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with an oniginal maturity of 3 months or less. For
the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank
overdrafts. Managemaent has reviewed the classification of cartain line items in the 2017 cash flow and identified adjustments required. Accordingly, the cash flow
is re-presented and restated but with no change to the net movement in cash and cash equivalents.

(0) Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at their fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs.

After initial recognition, loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for instruments
designated in fair value hedge relationships. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any issue costs, and any discount or premium on settlement.

Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised, as well as through the amartisation process.

{p) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the Graup
expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when
recovery is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the income statement net of any reimbursement. If the effect of the time value
of maney is material, provistons are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at 8 pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessmenits of the
time value of meney and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time
is recognised as a borrowing cost. The Group provides, on a discounted basis, for the future rent expense and related cost of leasehold property {net of estimated
sub-lease income) where the space is vacant or cumrently not planned to be used for angoing operations,



114 Capita plc Annual Repart 2018

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

2 Summary of significant accounting policies continued

{q) Pension schemes

The Group maintains a number of defined contribution penston schemes and for these schemnes the Group has na further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as an employee benefit expense in the income statement as the related service is provided.

in addition, the Group operates a defined benefit pension scheme and participates in a number of other defined benefit pension schemes, all of which require
contributions to be made to separate trustee-administered funds. The costs of providing benefits under these schemes are determined separately for each
scheme using the projected unit credit method, which attributes entitfemant to benefits to the current period {to determine current service cost) and to the
current and prior periods (to determine the present value of the defined benefit obligation) and is based on actuarial advice. Past service costs are recognised
immediately in the income statement.

When a settlement (eliminating atl obligations for benefits already accrued) or a curtailment {reducing future obligations as a result of a material reduction in the
scheme membership or a reduction in future entitlement) accurs, the obligation and related plan assets are re-reasured using current actuarial assumptions and
the resultant gain or loss recognised in the income statement during the period in which the settlement or curtailment occurs.

Re-measurements of the net defined benefit asset/liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return an plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect
of the asset ceiting (if any, excluding interest), are recognised immediately in other comprehensive income and reflected immediately in retained eamings and will
not be reclassified to the income statement The Group determines the net interest expense/income on the net defined benefit asset/tiability for the period by
applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual pericd to the then net defined benefit asset/liability,
taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit asset/liability during the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments,

Current and past service costs are charged to operating profit while the net interest cost is included within net finance costs.

In respect of 3 of the defined benefit pension schemes in which the Group participates, the Group accounts for its legal and constructive obligation over the
pericd of its participation which is for a fixed period only.

The liability on the balance sheet in respect of the defined benefit pension schemes comprises the total for each scheme, or group of schemes, of the present
value of the defined benefit obligation {using a discount rate based on high quality corporate bonds), less the fair value of plan assets out of which the abligations
are to be settled directly, Fair value is based on market price infarmation and in the case of quoted securities is the published bid price, The value of a net pension
benefit asset is restricted to the present value of any amount the Group expects to recover by way of refunds from the plan or reductions in the future
contrbutions,

(r) Financiat instruments

interest-bearing loans and borrowings
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at their fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs.

After initial recognition, loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and
the redemption amount is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised, as well as through the amortisation process.

Derivative financial instruments .

Derivative financial instruments are used to manage exposure to the financial risks of changes in foreign exchange rates and interest rates The principal derivative
instruments used by the Group are foreign currency swaps, interest rate swaps and foreign exchange forward contracts. The Group does not hold or issue derivative
financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date that a derivative contract is entered into, and they are subsequently re-measured to their fair value at
the end of each reporting period. The accounting for subsequent changes in fair value depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument and,
if 50, the nature of the item being hedged. The Group designates certain derivatives as either:

+ hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or a firm commitment, (fair value hedges);
- hedges of a particular risk associated with the cash flows of recognised assets and liabilities and highly prabable forecast transactions (cash flow hedges); or
+ hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation {net investment hedges).

At inception of the hedge relationship, the Group documents the econoric relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, induding whether
changes in the cash flows of the hedging instruments are expected to offset changes in the cash flows of hedged items. The Croup docurnents its risk
management objective and strategy for undertaking its hedge transactions.

The fair values of derivative financial instrurments designated in hedge relationships are disclosed in note 26. Movements in the hedging reserve in shareholders’
equity are shown in note 26. The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged
item is more than 12 months; it is classified as a current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged item is lass than 12 months

In relation to fair value hedges (for example, receive fixed and pay floating interest rate swaps held as fair value hedges against fixed interest rate borrowings)
which meet the conditions for hedge accounting, any gain or loss from re-measuring the hedging instrument at fair value is recognised immediately in the
income statement. Any gain or loss on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk is adjusted against the carrying amount of the hedged item and
recognised in the income statement.

In relation to cash flow hedges, the effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in
the cash flow hedge reserve within equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recopnised immediately in the income statement, within other
gains/{losses).

When forward contracts are used to hedge forecast transactions, the Group generally designates only the change in fair value of the forward contract related to
the spot compenent as the hedging instrument, Gains or losses relating to the effective portion of the change in the spot component of the forward contracts are
recognised in the cash flow hedge reserve within equity. The change in the forward element of the contract that relates to the hedged item (‘aligned farward
elernent’} is recognised the income statement at the same time as the hedged transaction. For some hedge relationships, the Group may designate the full
change in fair value of the forward contract (including forward points) as the hedging instrument. In such cases, the gains or losses relating to the effective
portion of the change in fair value of the entire forward contract are recognised in the cash flow hedge reserve within equity
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Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss, as follows:

+ Where the hedged item subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial asset, both the deferred hedging gains and losses and the deferred forward
points, if any, are included within the initial cost of the asset. The deferred amounts are ultimately recognised in the iIncome statement, since the hedged item
affects the income statement.

If the forecast transaction or firm commitment is no longer expected to occur, amounts previously recognised in equity are transferred to the income statement,

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without reptacement or rollover, or if its designation as a hedge is revoked, amounts previously

recognised in equity remain in equity until the forecast transaction or firm commitment occurs.

Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation, including a hedge of a monetary item that is accounted for as part of the net investment, are accounted for ina
way similar to cash flow hedges.

Gains or losses on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge are recognised in other comprehensive income and foreign cumency translation
reserves in equity while any gains or losses relating to any ineffective portion are recognised in the income statement. On disposal of the foreign operation, the
cumulative value of any such gains or tosses recorded in equity are reclassified to the income staternent.

The Group uses loans and foreign exchange derivatives as hedges of its exposures to foreign exchange risks on its investments in foreign subsidiaries.

For derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting, any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value are taken directly to the income statement and are
presented as finance cost excluded from adjusted profits.

Put option arrangements

Put options on the shares of subsidiaries held by non-controlling interest shareholders that oblige the Group to purchase thase shares for cash or another financial
asset are necopnised as a financial liability far the present value of the option exercise price. When the financial liability is recognised initially, that amount is reclassified
from equity, and subsequently measured at fair valie, Changes in the carrying armount are recognised in equity.

On exercise of the put options, the Group will treat the transaction as the purchase of the non-controlling interest and will apply acquisition accounting as described
in (i) Business Combinations and Goodwill - Acquisitions and disposals of non-controlling interests.

(s) Leasing
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at inception date and is concerned with
whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent upon the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.

In assessing whether a lease is an operating lease or a finance lease, judgement needs to be exercised in determining whether or not substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the leased asset are held by the Group. Given that finance leases are recognised as liabilities, and operating leases are not, this can have a
significant effect on the reported financial position of the Group.

Group as a lessee’ Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidenta! to ownership of the leased item, are capitalised at
the inception of the tease at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payrments. Lease payments are
apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.
Finance charges are charged directly against income, Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated life of the asset or the lease term

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments are

recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Where a lease is for an asset sold by the Group to the lessor, the two transactions are accounted for separately. If the sale-and-leaseback results in a finance

lease, then any gain on the sale is deferred and recognised as income over the lease term, If the leaseback is classified as an operating lease, then any gain is

recognised immediately if the sale-and-leaseback termns are at fair value If the sale-and-leaseback are not deemed to be at fair value then the accounting is as

follows:

« If the selling price is at or below fair valuz, then the gain or loss is recognised immediately. However, if a loss is compensated for by future rentals at below-
market price, then the loss is deferred and amortised over the period in which the asset is expected to be used.

+ If the selling price exceeds fair value, then that excess is deferred and amartised over the perod for which the asset is expected to be used.

+ If the fair value of the asset is less than the carrying amount of the asset at the date of the transaction, then that difference is recognised immediately as a loss
on the sale.

As noted above the assessment of whether the sale-and-leaseback transactions are at fair value may require significant judgement. in addition to that applied to
determine whether the tease is an operating or finance lease, and the resulting accounting can have a significant effect on the reported results of the Group.

Group as a lessor: leases where the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases.
Rental income arising from operating leases is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term,

(t) Income tax

Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised far all taxable temporary differences:

+ except where the deferred tax liability arises from the initia! recognition of goadwitl;

« except where the deferred income tax liability asises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

- inrespect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures, except where the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and 1t is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses, to the extent that
it 1s probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and the carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax
losses can be utilised, except where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset

or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies continued

The carying amount of daferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow ell or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised,

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the income statement

{u) Share-based payments

The Group operates a number of executive and employee share schemes.

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees 1s measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted and is recogmised as an
expense over the vesting period, which ends on the date on which the relevant ermployees become fully entitled to the award. Fair value is determined using an
option pricing model. In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any vesting conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of the shares
of the Company {market conditions).

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest as a result of not meeting performance or service conditions. Where all service and performance
vesting conditions have been met, the awards are treated as vesting, irmespective of whether or not the market condition is satisfied, as market conditions have
been reflected in the fair value of the equity instruments,

At each balance sheet date before vesting, the cumulative expense is calculated, representing the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
management's best estimate of the achievement or otherwise of non-market conditions, the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest or, in the
case of an instrument subject to a market condition, be treated as vesting as described above. The movement in cumulative expense since the previous balance
sheet date is recognised in the income statement, with a corresponding entry in equity.

Where the terms of an equity-settied award are modified or a mew award is designated as replacing a cancelled or settled award, the cost based on the original
award terms continues to be recognised over the criginal vesting periad. In addition, an expense is recognised over the remainder of the new vesting peried for
the incremental fair valve of any modification, based on the difference batween the fair value of the original award and the fair value of the modified award,
both as measured on the date of the modification. No reduction is recagnised if this difference is negative.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any cost not yet recognised in the income statement
for the award is expensed immediately. Any compensation paid up to the fair value of the award at the canceliation or settlement date is deducted from equity,
with any excess over the fair value being treated as an expense in the income statement.

{v} New standards and interpretations not applied
The IASB have issued the following standards, amendments and Interpretations with an effective date after the date of these financial statements These are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after the date indicated:

Effective date

International Accounting Standards {IAS/IFRSs) and Interpretations {iFRICs)

Endorsed by the EU:

IFRS 9 Amendments. Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation 1 January 2019
IFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 1 January 2019
Not yet endorsed by the EL:

IFRS 17 lnsurance Contracts 1 January 2021
IAS 28 Amendments- Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures 1 January 2015
Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle 1 January 2013
1AS 19 Amendments: Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement 1 January 2015
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in {FRS Standards 1 January 2020
IFRS 3 Business Combinations 1 January 2020
Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8: Definition of Material 1 january 2020
IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 Leases (IFRS 16} was issued in January 2016, replacing IAS 17 Leases {IAS 17), and other relevant current guidance. IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases. IFRS 16 will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 [anuary 2019 with early
adoption perritted for entities that apply IFRS 15.

Under the transition rules, the Group will apply IFRS 16 using the madified retrospective approach, with the cumulative effect of applying the standard
recognised in retained earnings on 1 January 2019, The Group has elected to apply the short-term lease exemption and low-value items exemption for all lease
classes.

The Group has also elected to apply the practical expedient to grandfather the assessment of which arrangaments are leases, It will apply IFRS 16 anly to
contracts that have been classified as leases as at 31 December 2018. Contracts that have not been identified as teases under |AS 17 and IFRS 4 were not
reassessed for whether there is a lease.

As at 31 Decernber 2018, the Group held a significant number of operating leases for which the future minimum lease payments amount to £736.0m as disclosed
in note 24. As demonstrated below, the standard will have a material impact for the Group as it introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires the
recognition of assets and liabilities for all leases.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies continued
The estimated impact for the Group of adopting IFRS 16 is as follows:

Year ended Rangeof impact  Expected adoption impact |
Consalidated balseice sheet Footmote 37 December Z(:‘:: an IFRSE'I“‘| at 1 Jenuary Z()c‘l"?|
Right-of-use asset a - 565-575 565-575
Finance lease receivable b -_ 14-16 14-16
Total assets i 4,094 579-591 4,673-4,695 |
Finance lease liability el - 640-650 640-650 |
Total financial liabilities 3,990 640-650¢  4,630-4,640 |
Retained deficit d] (1,135) {23)-(25) {1,158)-(1,160} |
Total equity ] T 103 {23){25) 78-80 |
adoption impact
Consolidated income statement Foctnow el {i‘lu:
EBITDA e 130-135
Cperating profit e 19-21
Finance costs e {28-30)
Profit before tax e {8-10)

a. Right-of-use asset: total assets will be impacted due to recognition of nght-of-use assets on 1 [anuary 2019 The right-of-use assets are initially measured at
cost, which comprises the initiat amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the adoption date [ess any lease incentives
received at or before the adaption date (reclassified on the opening balance sheet). For a selaction of material long-term leases, the Group wilt apply the
modified retrospective method one approach, as if IFRS 16 had always been applied using the incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application. The
right-of-use assets will be subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method to the earlier of the end of the useful life or the end of the lease term

Finance lease receivable: total assets will be impacted by recognition of finance lease receivables where the Group acts as an intermediate lessor and has

classified the sub lease as a finance lease because the sub-lease is for a substantial amount of the remaining term of the head lease.

Finance lease liabitity: total financial liabilities will be impacted due to the recognition of finance lease liabilities. The lease liability will be initially measured

at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the adoption date, discounted using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. The lease

payments comprise fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments such as service charges and variable lease payments that depend an anindex or a

rate, initially measured using the minimum index ar rate at commencement date. The lease liability will be measured at amortised cost using the effective

interest rate method. For leases with termination and extension options, the Group has made an assessment whether the option is reasonably certain to be
exercised.

Retainad deficit: Retained deficit change represents the expected cumulative effect of applying the standard This is due to applying the modlﬁed

retrospective method one approach for a selection of properties, as explained in note a. above.

e. Income statement: Upon adopting IFRS 16, the rental costs currently recognised in operating profit will be replaced by depreciation on the right-of-use asset
and net finance costs on the finance lease liability. As the asset is depreciated straight line over the lease term and the interest is accrued using the effective
interest rate method, while EBITDA will improve, the profit will be reduced in the eardier years as a result of applying IFRS 16.

The above impacts are expected to increase the leverage ratio by 0.6 times. However the impact on the Group's adjusted net debt to adjusted EBITDA covenant

ratio is expected to be neutral to positive as the Group covenants are on frozen GAAP, with the exception of the US private placement notes. The US private

placement notes cavenant test includes the income statement impact of IFRS 16, but not the balance sheet.

Due to the changes in assets, liabilities, income and expenses that will be recognised as a result of the application of IFRS 15, there are consequent |AS 12 income

tax differences that arise on transitional adjustment. The tax impact is expected to be £4m-5m, resulting in an increase in deferred tax assets.

The total cash outflow for lease payments will not change, however the payments related to the principal liability will be presented as cash outflows from
financing activities, as opposed to the current treatment as cash outflow from operating activities.

The Group will continue to implement and refine procedures and processes to apply the new requirements of IFRS16. As a result of this ongoing work, it is
possible that there may be some changes to the adoptmn impact above prior to the 30 June 20719 results being issued. However, at this ime these are not
expected to be material.

Due to the Group transformation plan, which includes a consolidation of Capita's properties, the Group's lease portfolio is expected to materially change over the
next few years. Any changes to the lease portfolio will be accounted for when transacted. The costs anising from the property rationalisation programme will be
excluded from adjusted profit in line with the current Group policy.

o

[

A
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3 Adjusted operating profit and adjusted profit before tax

The items below are excluded from the adjusted results as the Board has concluded that it is appropriate to do so. These amounts are (or have been) material,
and require separate disclosure in order far the users of the financial statements to obtain a proper understanding of the financial information and the undeclying
performance of the business. The tax impact of the operating profit adjusting items is a £41.5m credit (31 Becember 2017: £52.2m credit). The tax impact of the
profit before tax adjusting items is a £20 4m credit (31 December 2017: £51.8m credit), These items are discussed further below:

- Operating profit Profit befare tax
201 2007 | 200 2017
Notes ! Em ’ fm l Em | £m
Reported 349 {4201) 2126 {513.7)
Amortisation and impairment of acquired intangibles 14 1435 1383 I 1435 1383
tmpairment of goodwill 15 338 5516 338 5516
Impairment of other non-current assets 13 - 635 - 63.5
Impairment of Life & Pensions assets 13 - 612 — 612
Impainment of loans and investrments 164 9.0 i 16 9.0
Litigation and claims {r1.8) 300 (1.8) 300
GMP and retirement age equalisation 32 5.4 - 54 -
Net finance costs 9 - - 18.8 (2.1)
Contingent consideration movements {and acquisition costs in 2017} {5.0 {08) (5.0) {08)
Business exit - trading 4 (16.8) (16.8) (16.8) 16.7)
Business exit - non-trading expenses 4 297 137 297 137
Business exit - (gain}/loss on disposals 4 - - {309.7) 306
_Significant restructuring 110.0 179 Moo i 179
Adjusted 1 33531 4475 | 28211 3831

Amartisation and impairment of acquired intangible assets: the Group carries on its balance sheet significant balances related to acquired intangible assets
The amortisation of these assets, and any impaimment charges, are reported separately as they distort the in-year trading results, and performance of the acquired
businesses is assessed through the underlying operational results. In 2018 the Group amortised £86.7m of which £4.9m belongs to disposed entities and is
included in business exit. In addition the Group recognised an impaimnent charge relating to acquired intangible assets of £61.7m in relation to the Swiss business
in Custormer Management.

Impairment of goodwill: the Group carries on its balance sheet significant balances related to acquired goodwill. Goodwill is subject to annual impairment
testing, and any impairment charges are reported separately as they distort the in-year trading results and IFRS does not permit the recognition of any increases
in value of acquisitions, potentially leading to an unbalanced picture being shown over time. Refer to note 15 for further detail on these impairmenis.

Impairment of ather non-current assets: as part of its year-end close process in 2017, Capita undertook a cornprehensive review of its tangible and intangible
assets. Following the review, management took a decision to impair, as at 31 Decemnber 2017, a number of assets relating to specific programmes resulting from
changes in client and Capita strategly in the second half of 2017. These impairments have no adverse impact on future cash or trading. Non-current assets
amounting to £63.5m (£35.2m property, plant and equipment — see note 13; £28.3m capitalised software intangible assets — see note 14) were written off and
excluded from adjusted profit as the assets have no further value to the Group

Impairment of life and pensions assets: the Group's life and pension business developed a platform to support an existing life and pensions contract, but which
could provide services to multiple clients in the future. In 2017, the Group identified there was no longer a market for this platform and accordingly the carmying
value of this and associated assets were written off as at 31 December 2017. The impact on the financial statements is a nen-underlying charge of £61.2m
(£54.7m property, plant and equipment - see note 13; £1.0m capitalised software intangible assets - see note 14; £5 5m cantract fulfilment asset ~ see note 17}
representing the write-off of the non-current assets. The charge was excluded from adjusted profit as the assets had no further value to the Group.

Impairment of loans and investments: the Group fully impaired an investment in the year, and 2 historical loan and investment in the prior year. The charge is
reparted separately due to its nature and to be consistent to prior years. In 2018 the Group impaired £1.6m of investments.

Litigation and claims: the significant litigation costs provided in 2017 relate to two claims in respect of:
1. a contract within the Group’s Real Estate and Infrastructure business notified ta the Group during 20717, The related contract began in 2007, and

2. a contract within the Group’s Emplayee Benefits business where more information on the progress of the claim became apparent. The related contract was
delivered from 2009,

The amount provided in respect of these two claims has been recognised in non-underlying due to their age and significance.

The gain of £1.8m in 2018 arises from a loss of derecognition of an insurance asset of £3.7m (see note 18), off-set by a release of £5.5m in respect of the above
provisians recognised in 2017 The original claim to which the asset related was excluded from adjusted profit due to its nature and size.

GMP and retirement age equalisation: the High Court issued a judgment in October 2018 which concluded that pension schemes should be amended to
equalise pension benefits for men and women in relation to guaranteed minimum pension 'GMP’ benefits. This will impact many pension schemes including the
Group's defined benefit schemes. The Group is warking with the Trustees and their advisers to understand the extent to which the judgment erystallises
additional labilities For the purpose of these financial statements, we have estimated that this will increase the reported liability of the pension schemes by

£4 4m and this is reflected as a past service cost in 2018 and thus taken through the income staternent. [n addition, there is a past service cost of £1m in relation
to the correction of a historical retirement age equalisation issue for a small group of members in the main scheme The amounts provided in respect of GMP and
retirement age equalisation are excluded from adjusted profit because they relate to past service costs and therefore not reflective of in-year performance.
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3 Adjusted operating profit and adjusted profit before tax continued

Net finance costs: non-underlying net finance costs includes the movemnents in the mark to market valuation of certain financial instruments, and in 2018, the
make-whole costs paid to noteholders on early repayment of principal on the Private Placement loan notes from the proceeds of the rights issue and disposals.
Refer to note 9 for further details.

Contingent consideration movements and acquisition-related costs: in accordance with IFRS 3, movements in the fair value of contingent consideration on
acquisitions go through the Group income statement. These are reported separately bacause performance of the acquired businesses is assessed through the
underlying operational results and such a charge/credit moverment would distort underlying results. Acquisition-related costs incurred with acquisitions are not
included in the assessment of business performance which is based on the adjusted results, IFRS requires certain costs incurred in connection with acquired
businesses to be recorded within the Group income statement. These charges are not included in the internal assessment of business performance which as
above is based on the underlying operational results. These charges are therefore separately disclosed as specific items

Business exits: the trading result of businesses exited, or in the process of being exited, and the gain or loss on disposals, are disdosed outside the adjusted
results, The 2017 results have been restated for the trading of those businesses exited, or in the process of being exited, in 2018 to enable comparability of the
adjusted results.

Significant restructuring: in January 2018, the Group announced a multi-year transfermation plan. in the period to 31 December 2018, 2 charge of £110.0m
(2017: £17.9m) was recognised in relation to the cost of the transformation plan, and restructuring costs relating to Capita’s previously announced cost reduction
plan. The costs indude the following sub-categories:

+ Cost to realise cost savings and efficiencies from the transformation plan {£55m): including significant reductions in overheads via support function
restructuring, and the elimination of duplicate roles. These costs also include engaging the Group's property expertise to rationalise and increase the utilisation
of Capita's property estate, in metro centres and regionally. As the Group continues to rationalise the property estate cost associated with onerous lease
commitments and ditapidation liabilities will be captured and presented as part of the transformation adjustments,

- Professional fees (E31m): incurred to support the delivery of the future strategy, redesign of the Group's operating model, re-ignite sales growth and increasing
the propartion of centrally controlled spend, consolidating the supplier base and leveraging the Group's scale.

- Finance transformation (£6m). impraving the Group's financial reporting systems, processes and controls, through increasing standardisation, automation and
the quality and availability of data. The Group is investing in an upgrade of its finandial system and increasing the use of offshoring and shared services. This
programime i5 titled ‘Smarter Faster Finance’ and all costs associated with this programme are recorded separately, excluding any costs capitalised as part of
the investment and the ongoing depreciation and amortisation of such assets.

- Previously announced cost-reduction plan (£18m): restructuring costs related to the Group’s cast-reduction plan announced in priar periods, but did not meet
the criteria for provision at the and of 2017,

4 Business exit
2018 business exits

Business exits are businesses that have been exited during the year or are in the process of being disposed of. None of these business exits meet the definition of
*discontinued aperations’ as stipulated by IFRS 5, which requires disclosure and comparatives to be restated where the relative size of a disposal or business
closure is significant, which is narmally understood to mean a reported segment. Accordingly, the separate presentation described below does not fall within the
requirements of IFRS 5 concerning discontinued operations However, to enable a like-for-like comparison of adjusted results, the 2017 comparatives have been
cestated to include 2018 business exits.

During the period, the Group disposed of five businesses and exited one business - Capita Specialist Insurance Solutions, Prajen (which was held for sale as at 31
December 2017), Medicals Direct Group, Supplier Assessment Services (including Constructionline}, ParkingEye and REI Health.

| Mon-trading disp

Income statement impact . f Trading Cath Man-cash Total Toml [
Revenue I 50.8 - - - 50.8}
Cost of sales ! (20.2) — — — {20.2)
Gross profit i 306 - - — 30.6|
Administrative expenses l (13.8) . .o (28.7) {29.7) {43.5)
Operating profit/{loss) 16.8 {1.0) (28.7} (29.7) {12.9)
Net finance costs | - — - - —

Gain on business disposal — 367.4 (57.7) 3097 309.7

Profit before tax l 16.8 366.4 (86.4) 280.0 296.8|
Taxation {3.1) (23.4) — (23.4) {26.5)
Profit after tax i 137 343.0 (864) 2566 . 27031

Trading revenue and costs represent the current period trading performance of those businesses up to the point of being disposed or exited, The 2017
comparative trading operating profit for the year ended 31 Decernber 2017 was £178m, representing a full year of trading.

Non-trading administrative expenses comprise £1.0m of closure costs, £24 3m of goodwill impairment, £4 9m of acquired intangible amortisation and £0.5m
release of provisions.

There are no cumulative income or expenses included in ather comprehensive income relating to the disposal group,

The gain on disposal of £309.7m arises from the disposal of net assets of £69.0m for £400.7m consideration and costs of disposal of £22.0m Cash proceeds of
£400.7m net of cash disposed amounted to £389.5m .
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4 Business exit continued

Gain on business disposal c“hm Nm‘a:’,: T°:,“l
Property, plant and equipment - 19.8 19.9 i
Intangible assets ) - 124 124
Goodwil = 509 5091
Trade and other receivables - 85 T 85 I
Deferred tax asset — 01 01
Trade and other payables - {26.8) {26.8)
Deferred income - {4.6) {4.6)
Income tax payable - (1.5) {1.5)
Deferred tax liability . - {0.9) {0.9)
Provisions - (0.2} {0.2)
Cash disposed of ' 1.2 - 1.2
Total net assets dispased of . 11.2 57.8 69.0 |
Cash purchase consideration received ; 4007 — 4007
Costs of disposal - paid and accrued . (22.0) — (22.0)
Proceeds, less costs, on disposal . 378.7 — 3787
Gain on business disposal ' 367.5 (57.8) 309.7,
i
Cash proceeds in 2018 . c}’,:
Cash purchase consideration received 400.7
Settlement of receivables sold as part of the disposal . 19.0
Total consideration received ‘ 419.7
Cost of disposal - paid in the year {11.9)
Net proceeds received in year ' 407.8

Business exit cash flows
Business disposed of during 2018 generated operating cash outflows of £6.6m

2017 business exits

Business exits are businesses that have been exited during the year or in the process of being disposed of. Except for the disposal of Capita Asset Services
(disclosed separately in note 5 "Discontinued Operations'), none of the Group's business exits meet the definition of ‘discontinued operations’ as stipulated by
IFRS 5, which requires disclosure and comparatives to be restated where the relative size of a disposal ar business closure is significant, which is normally
understood to mean a reported segment. Accordingly, the separate presentation described below does not fall within the requirements of IFRS 5 concerning
discontinued operations.

In the Annual Report 2016, we disclosed that the Group intended to dispose of the majority of its specialist recruitment business which no longer Fit the Group's
business strategy. As at 31 December 2016, this business did not meet the criteria to be treated as held for sale.

1n the Annual Report 2017, the disposal of the specialist recruitment business had completed along with the closure of a numiber of small businesses, and their
results are all included within business exits for the period. At 31 December 2017, the Group was in an active process to sell a non-core property business (Prajen)
ard treated this as a disposal group held for sale at that date.

During 2018, the Company disposed of five businesses and exited one business — Capita Specialist Insurance Solutions, Projen {which was held for sale as at 31
December 2017}, Medicals Direct Group, Supplier Assessment Services {including Constructionline), ParkingEye and REI Health. The 2017 income statement
below has been restated to include the results of these disposed businesses. The total loss before tax in 2017 befora restatement was £45.4m and the operating
loss in 2017 before restatement was £14.7m.

Non-rading disposal
Income statement impact Trading sk Non-cash Toul Tetal
Revenue 142.8 — — — 1428
Cost of sales (88 1) — — — (881)
Gross profit 547 — — - 547
Administrative expenses (37.9) (4.7 {9.0) (13.7) {51.6)
Operating profit 16.8 (41 (9.0} (13.7) ER|
Net finance costs (0.1} - - - (0.1)
Loss on business disposal — 16.3 {46.9) {30.6) (30.6)
Profit/(loss) before tax 167 1.6 (55.9) (44.3) (27.6)
Taxation (22) — — — (2.2
Profit/(loss) after tax 14.5 11.6 {55.9} {44.3) {29.8)

Trading revenue and costs represent the current year trading performance of those businesses being exited or dispased in 2017 and 2018 (as noted above).
Non-trading disposal and closure costs include the costs of exiting businesses and stranded costs such as property lease and redundancy payments.
The loss on disposal of £30.6m arises from the disposal, in 2017, of net assets of £47 Om for £17.0m cash consideration and costs of disposal of £0.6m.




Strategic report Corparate governance 121

4 Business exit continued
Non-trading administrative expenses comprise £4.7m of disposal and closure costs and £9.0m of accelerated depreciation, amortisation and impairments.

Balance Sheet — disposal group
At 31 December 2017, the Group was in an active process to sell a non-core property business and has treated this as a disposal group held for sale at this date

2017

Em
Intangibles 1.5
Trade and other receivables ) 4.4
Assets held for sale 59
Trade and other payables (1.4)
Liabilities held for sale (1.4)
Business exit cash flows
Businesses dispased of and held for sale during 2017 generated operating cash inflows, prior to disposal, of £2.5m,
5 Discontinued operations
The Group disposed of the majority of the Capita Asset Services Division in November 2017.
The disposal met the definition of a discontinued operation as stipulated by IFRS 5. The following presentation, and that included in other notes, follows the
requirements of IFRS § -
r - 2018 | 2017
Discontinued t.:lperations: l T"d'g?. Nm-md.i:':i‘. 'ru:: [ Tﬂdir:ﬁ Nm-mgg Toz::
Revenue ! - - - 2619 - 261.9
Cost of sales — - - (94.0) — (94.0)
Gross profit - - — 167.9 - 167.9
Administrative expenses — 5.6 5.6 {120 3) (66.2) {186.5)
Operating profit/(loss) - 56 5.6 476 (66.2) {18.6)
Net finance costs — - - 01 08 09
Profit on dispasal ) - — — — 445.4 445.4
Prafit before tax l — 5.6 5.6 477 380.0 4277
incomne tax expense | — — - . {10.6) {0.7} {1.3)
Profit for the period 1 — ~ 58 5.6 371 3793 416.4

The 2018 non-trading credit to administrative expenses consisted of £5.6m provision reeases. The 2017 non-trading administrative expense consisted of
amortisation of acquired intangibles of £0.6m and Capita Asset Services indemnity and settlement provision of £65.6m., Non-trading net finance costs included
fair value movements an held for sate assets,

As part of the sale it was agreed with the Trustees of the Caprta Pension and Life Assurance Scheme that a cash contribution of £17.0m would be made to the
Scheme. This was paid in January 2018 {refer to note 32). In addition the Group paid £82.2m in 2018 for costs relating to the disposal, all of which were fully
provided for.

The earnings per share impact from discontinued operations is 0 38p (2017- 38.10p) on basic eamnings per share and 0 38p (2017: 38.10p} on diluted eamnings per
share.
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6 Segmental information

The Group's operations are managed separately according to the nature of the services provided, with each segment representing a strategic business division
offering a different package of client outcomes across the markets the Group serves A description of the service provision for each segment can be found in the
strategic report on pages 21-33,

As announced in the Annual Report 2017, the Group introduced a new simplified divisional structure in 2018 around five markets Software, People Solutions,

Customer Management, Government Services and IT & Networks Capita has also farmed a sixth division, Specialist Services, which inctudes thase businesses __

‘= =which either (a) are not within Capita’s key growth markets and/or (b) are at an early phase in their development but may be scaled up in the future. These

businesses are mostly stand-alone operations and are being managed on a portfolio basis in order to maximise value. These divisions are supported by a commeon

set of Group capabilities and functions, and are reported separately as 'Group trading and central services'.

Comparative information has been restated accordingly The Board believes the changes improve accountability and transparency across the Group.

Before eliminating sales between business units on consolidation, the Group accounts for sales between business units as if they were to a third party at market

rates.

The tables below present revenue, trading r2sult and certain asset and liability information for the Group’s business segments for the years 2018 and 2077.
All operational divisions are continuing and the 2017 segmental information has been restated for the impact of businesses exited or held for sale in 2018 with
total adjusted revenue reduced by £76.1m and profit before tax reduced by £17.8m.

{ Peaple Customer Government 1141 Spedalist tndzi:"a: Total  Adjusting Total
31 Decomber 2018 Motes ‘ ot e e T e e Ve M M
Continuing operations
Long-term contractual 3539 2952 563.6 647.4 296.5 601.0 138 27714 32 27746
Short-term contractual 347 3a.0 2287 4.7 553 2013 245 587.2 47.6 634.8
Transactional (point in time) 7.8 165.1 1.2 93.4 52.2 189.9 (1.3) 509.0 - 509.0
Total segment revenue | 3964 4983 7342 745.5 404.0 9922 37.0 38676 508 3,918.4|
Trading revenue 447 .4 649.4 5043 758.5 6368 1,087.0 81.2 4,564.6 - 45648
Inter-segment revenue {51.0) {151.9) {1101} {13.0) [232.8) {94.8) (44.2) {697.0) —  (697.0)
Total adjusted segment revenue [ 3964 4983 7942 7455 4040 9922 37.0 3.B676 — 3,8676)
Business exits - trading 4 - - — - - 50.8 — - 508 50.8
Total segment revenue 396.4 498.3 794.2 7455 404.0 1,043.0 37.0 ~ — 39184
Adjusted eperating profit 3 1124 407 396 352 45.3 1395 (77.4) 3353 — 335.3
Restructuring 3 (9.3) (125 (10.9) {6.3) (45) (158) (50.6) ~  (110.0) (110.0)
Business exits — trading 4 —_ {0.3} 0.3 - - 16.8 - - 16.8 16.8 I
Total trading result | 1032 279 29.0 28.9 40.8 1404 (128.0) 3353 (93.2) 2421
Non-trading items: -
Business exits - non-trading 4 - (29.7) {29.1)
Other adjusting items 3 -  (rs)y  (7s)
Operating profit 3353 ([300.4) 349
Net finarice costs 9 (53.2) (18.8) (72.0}
Gain on business disposal 4 — 3097 309.7'
Profit before tax 2821 {9.5) 27286
Income tax credit/{expense) 10 (27.4) 283 09
Profit for the year - )
continuing operations 254.7 18.8 2735
Profit for the year - 5
discontinued operations — 56 5.6
Profit for the year - total [ 2547 24.4 279.1]

P
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Group

Year ended People Customer  GCewvemment T& Specialist uadggnnf Totl Adjusting Toal
31 December 2017 Notes o Em R TR V@ MR YR Y MR "
Continuing operations
Long-term contractual 3616 2952 582.2 752.3 278.7 632.2 226 29248 52 28300
Short-term contractual 326 427 2459 4.1 636 198.9 91 5969 816 678.5
Transactional (point in time) 7.5 182.6 0.8 105.3 731 191.6 9.2 5700 56.0 6261
Total segment revenue 401.7 520.5 8289 8617 415.4 10227 409 4,0918 1428 4,2346
Trading revenue 447 662.4 9441 8849 652 4 1119.4 974 4,B023 — 4,023
Inter-segment revenue {40.0) (1419} (115.2) {23.2) (237.0) (96.7) (565) {710.5) — (710.5)
Total adjusted segment revenue 401.7 520.5 82895 8561.7 4154 10227 409 4,091.8 — 40918
Business exits - trading 4 — 55.1 08 —_ - 86.9 — - 142.8 1428
Total segment revenue 4017 575.6 8297 B86Y.7 415.4 1,109.6 409 — — 42346
Adjusted operating profit 3 mz 627 578 78.7 620 1406 (66.0) 4475 — 4475
Restructuring 3 {2.2) (4.3) 13 (3.9) (1.1} 59 {(13.6) - (17.9) (17.9)
Business exits - trading 4 - (.7) 0.7 - — 78 — - 16.8 16.8
Total trading result 109.5 S6.7 59.8 74.8 60.9 164.3 (796) 4475 (1.1 4464
Nan-trading items:
Business exits — non-trading 4 - (3.7 (13.7)
Other adjusting items 3 — (852.8) (B852.8)
Operating profit/(loss) 4475  (867.6) (420.)
Net finance costs g (64.4) 20 (62.4)
Loss on business disposal 4 -— {30.6) (306)
Profit/{loss) before tax 3831  (8%62)  [913.7)
Income tax (expense)/credit 10 (658) 518 (14.0)
Profit/{toss) for the year -
continuing aperations 3173  (B444) (527.7)
Profit for the year - 5
discontinued operations — 416 4 416.4
Profit/{loss) for the year - total 3173 (428.0) (110.7)
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6 Segmental information continued
Order book

The tables below show the order book for each division, categorised into long-term contractual {contracts with length greater than two years) and short-term
contractual (contracts with length less than two years). The length of the contract is calculated from the start of the service commencement date. The figures
reprasent the aggregate amount of currently contracted transaction price allocated to the performance obligations that are unsatisfied or partially unsatnsfled

- e

Revenue expected to be recagnised upon satisfaction of these performance obligations is as follows - ——
People < Govern ma Specialist Gr:.; el
Order book o P ustamer ment e gt
31 December 2018 £m Em £m o tm £m i
Long-term contractual , 559.6 53 2,011.8 2,187.5 380.4 1,239 — 7,093.7
Short-term contractual — — - - — 23 — 23
Total ' { 559.6 7153 2,011.8 2,187.5 380.4 1,241.4 — 7,096.0¢
» Wp““:-ﬁ
Order book . Peopl Custemer  Government e Speciatist and cen Totl
31 December 2017 £m Em Em sm;: Nemﬁﬁ Sm;: h"m?r: Ds?}u
Long-temm contractual ' 543.4 7855 1.843.6 2,660.6 508.3 18337 a8 8179.9
Short-term contractual — — - - — 111 — Al
Total 543.4 786.5 1,843.6 2,660.6 508.3 1,844.8 3.8 §,191.0
The tabie below shows the time bands of the expected timing of revenue to be recognised on long-term contractual at 31 December 2018:
Time bands of lang-term contractual " cobople | Custamer  Govmament et poddit endcentral Toml
in order book Em £m C Em £m £m £m £m £m
<1 year 3313 222.9 602.8 4253 169.3 336.0 — 2,087.6
1-5 years 196.7 4513 1,400.1 14327 167.7 683.0 — 43315
> 5 years 31.6 41.1 8.9 329.5 43.4 2201 — 674.6
Total | 559.6 715.3 2,011.8 2,187.5 380.4 1,239.1 —_ 7,083.71

The order book represents the consideration to which the Group will be entitled to receive from the customers when the Group satisfies the remaining

performance obligations in the contracts. However, the total revenue that will be eamed by the Group will also include non-contracted volumetric revenue, new
wins, scope changes and anticipated contract extensions. These elements have been excluded from the figures in the tables above as they are not contracted. n
addition, revenue from contract extensions is also excluded in the order book unless they are pre-priced extensions whereby the Group has a legal binding
obligation to deliver the performance obligations during the extension period. The total revenue related to pre-priced extensions that has been included in the
tables above amounted to £508.0m (2017: £502.0rn). The amounts presented do not include orders for which neither party has performed and each party has

the unilateral right to terminate a whally unperformed contract without compensating the other party.

Of the E71bn {2017: £8.2bn) revenue to be earned an long-term contractual, £4.2bn {2017: £4.9bn) relates to material contracts to the Group. This amount
excludes revenue that will be derived from frameworks (transactional {paint in time) contracts}, non-contracted volumetric revenue, non-cantracted scope
changes and future unforeseen volume changes from these material contracts, which together are expected to contribute an additional £2.2bn {2017: £1.8bn) of

revenue to the Group over the life of these contracts,
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Pecple Customer  Government iTa Specialist G'm :::n
Software Solutions  Menagement Services Networks Services tunctions Total
31 December 2018 £m Em £m Em Em £m Em £m
Praperty, plant and equipment 9.6 447 399 14.0 33.0 399 32.5 213.6
Intangible assets acquired in business combinations 296.7 206.1 1554 21.5 237.5 468.5 -_— 1,385.7
Intangible assets capitalised/purchased 7.4 319 4.1 10.1 34 72 63.9 202.0
Contract fulfilment assets 69.8 225 381 63.4 31.9 385 - 264.2
Trade and other receivables 46.6 116.8 150,7 1017 733 224.4 44.4 797.9
Financial assets 127.3 127.3
Deferred taxatian " 1446 144.6
Cash 957.5 957.5
Income tax receivable 0.9 0.5
Total assets I 494.1 422.0 388.2 210.7 419.1 788.5 1,371.1 4,093.7]
Deferred income 205.8 98.6 267.1 333.0 743 2788 —_ 1,257.6
Trade and other payables 239 511 95.2 66.4 60.3 187.0 196.4 680.3
Overdrafts 314.8 314.8
Financial liabilities 1,387.3 1,367.3
Deferred taxation 15.2 15.2
Provisions 116.2 6.2
Employee benefits 219.0 219.0
Total liabilitias 1 229.7 149.7 3623 399.4 134.6 465.8 2,248.9 3,990.4
Total net assets/{liebilities) t 264.4 272.3 25.9 {188.7) 284.5 322.7 (877.8) 1703.3
Prople Customer  Covemment " Spedaist and central
31 December 2017 Sofe Em ol Em T SQME: mmzﬁ s‘“"?,'.i ’umhé‘: Toiﬁ:
Property, plant and equipment 6.6 28.1 3.2 10.9 212 702 511 2193
Intangible assets acquired in business combinations 3215 2095 2258 583 2505 5796 - 1,645.2
Intangible assets capitalised/purchased 53.6 341 48 122 47 86 48.8 166.9
Contract fulfilment assets 731 16.3 434 397 19.3 60.7 — 252.5
Trade and other receivables 65.7 1669 1299 999 129.5 1847 27.2 803.8
Financial assets 2210 221.0
Deferrad taxation 1593 159.3
Disposal group assets held for sale 59 59
Cash 921.7 921.7
Income tax receivable 256 25.6
Total assets 520.5 454.9 435.1 221.1 425.2 903.8 1,460 6 4,421.2
Deferred income 248.0 109.3 2873 3584 125.0 3813 59 1,515.2
Trade and other payables 17.8 28.4 50.0 57.2 25.3 67.4 526.1 ez
Overdrafts 4433 4433
Fimancial liabilities 1,987.3 1,987.3
Provisions 122 122
Deferred taxation 14 14
Income tax payable 212.6 2126
Employee benefits 4068 406.8
Total liabilities 265.8 1377 3373 - 4156 150.3 448.7 3,595.6 53510
Total net assets/{liabilities) 254.7 317 2 978 (194.5) 2749 4551 {2,135.0) (929.8)
The table below presents revenue by geographical location, and carrying amount of nan-current assets by locatian of those assets
i - 2018 ¢ 2017
United Non-United Mnited Nen-United
-ngdz: ngd:: TDE:E ngdm lﬁngdm To{‘:
Revenue 3,609.7 3087 39184 39022 3324 4,234.6
Non-current assets 2,040.3 51,4 2,091.7 21680 143.8 2,3ins
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7 Operating profit
This is statad after charging/(crediting):

F— 2018 2017
Notes £Em £m
Depreciation - - 59.1} 63.5
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 13 6.1 -
Amortisation of capitalised/purchasad intangible assets 278 199
Loss/(profit) on sale of property, plant and equipment and intangibles' .4 (45)
Minimurr lease payments recognised as an operating lease expense 147 1211
Fareign exchange differences (9.6} (5.6)
Contract fulfilment asset utilisation, impairment and derecognition 17 1275 89.3
Property commercialisation - (2.7}
Contract termination (gains)/losses (6.7 (6.4}
Gain on early termination of the Prudential and Marsh contracts (15.2)" —
Defence Infrastructure Organisation contract - {220)
Supplier settlement — (9.2)

The table above includes items only within adjusted operating profit. Specdic items excluded from adjusted operating profit are detailed in note 3.
1 The 2017 disclasure of a loss on disposal of £0.5m has been restated to a gain on disposal of £4.5m. This does not have an impact on the reported profit for 2017
Adjusted operating profit includes the following items:

+ Contract fulfilment asset utilisation, impairment and deracagnition: the Group undertook a comprehensive review of its major contracts to identify
indicators of impairment of contract fulfilment assets. Following this review, management provided against costs capitalised as contract fulfilment assets
of £22 2m (31 December 2017 £14.1m) within cost of sales. Refer to note 17 for further details of the review.

- Contract termination gains: customer contracts usually contain provisions ta compensate the Group for exit costs and future profits in the event of early
termination. In-year customer contract terminations for customer convenience have led to associated exit fees paid to Capita of £6.7m (2017: £6.4m) being
recorded as income in-year. These are included within adjusted operating profit because these amounts are payable to the Group under the terms of the
respective contracts being terminated,

+ Prudential, Marsh, and Defence Infrastructure Organisation contracts: cantract terminations arising in the normal course of business and which result in
the disposal of a contract fulfilment asset and/for a true-up of revenue recognised, will also be included within the adjusted results and separately disclosed if
considered material:

* In 2018, two contracts in the Specialist Services division ended: (i) the administration of Prudential's life and pensions business transferred to a new supplier
resulting in a net £6.0rn benefit from the true-up of revenue recognised and the disposal of related assets (including £9.3m included in the loss on disposal
of £11.4m of property, plant and equipment and intangibles); and (i1} our general insurance contract with Marsh ended resulting in a £9 2m benefit from the
true-up of revenue recognised and disposal of related assets.

+ In 2017, we concluded discussions with the Ministry of Defence in relation to the the Defence Infrastructure Organisation (DI0) contract, which is expected
to end in 2015. The 2017 results for the Government Services division included a £22.0m benefit from the re-shaping of the DIO contract.

* Supplier settiement: the (T & Networks division benefited from a one-off supplier settlemant of £nil (2017: £9 Zm).

+ Minimum lease payments: see note 24 for further details.

Fees payeble Yo the Company's auditor and its associates in respect of: i zcg: z?r;
Audit and audit-related services [

The audit of the Company and Group financial statements 1 3.2 38
The audit of the financial statements of subsidiaries of the Cormpany { 1.8 1.2
Total audit and audit-related services i 501 5.0
Non-audit services

Taxation compliance services - 0.1
Services related to corporate finance transactions —_ 01
QOther assurance services I 1.6 08
Total non-audit services ] 1.6 10
Total audit and non-audit services } 6.6 6.0

The amounts included in the above table relate to fees payable to KPMG LLP and its associates.
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8 Employee benefits expense

o]

2017

im

Wages and salaries 117024 1,8995
Social security costs ’ 175.0 1942
Pension costs 32 126 1223
Share-based payments 28 l 3.4 29
I _19931) 22189

The expenses above reflect total operations, Employee benefits expense for continuing operations is £1,993.1m (2017 £2,098.6m),
The aggregate amount of Directors’ remuneration (salary, bonus and benefits) is shown on page 92 of the remuneration report:

» As shown in note 33 'related-party transactions’, the aggregate amount of gains made by Directors on exercise of share options was £0.0m (2017, £0.7m).

« The remuneration of the highest paid Director was £2,014,209 (2017, £1,125,510).

+ Payments have been made to a defined contribution pension scheme on behalf of three Directors {2017: five Directors). For the highest paid Director, pension

contributians of £36,250 (2017: £21,310) were made.

The average number of employees during the year was made up as follows: i N.,:,T:, .,..,,,22‘.3
Sales 1,733 1,825
Administration 7.930 8,148
Qperations i 56,239 59,486
i 65902| 69458
The average number of employees above reflects continuing operations and excludes employees relating to discontinued aperations.
9 Net finance costs
I"m 207
Notes £m | £m
interest receivable ] (2.6) {7
Private placement loan notes’ 40.4 37.7
Fixed rate interest rate swaps - 26
Cash flow hedges recycled to the income statement 26 (2.5) -
Bartk loans and overdrafts 85 15.6
Net interest cost on defined benefit pension schemes 32 9.4 9.2
Interest payable I 55.8 65.1
Net finance costs included in adjusted profit 1 53.24 64.4
Fixed rate interest rate swaps - mark-to-market — {0.5)
Discount unwind on public sector subsidiary partnership payrment 26 17 1.8
Fair value mavement in trade investments - 0.6
Nen-designated foreign exchange forward contracts - mark-to-market 51 (3.4)
Interest payable - business exit? 4 — 0.1
Fair value hedge ineffectiveness’ 26 ' (3.9) (06)
Private placement loan notes prepayments costs* 1 15.91 —
Net finance costs exciuded from adjusted profit i 188 (2.0}
Total net finance costs I 72,0 62.4

1 Private placement loan notes include LS private placernent [oan notes, euro fixed rate bearer notes and a Schuldschein {oan. Included in private placement foan rotes interest is

E7.0m of additional coupon interest at a cate of 0.75% per annum. Refer to note 23 for further details.
Interest payable included within business exit trading, Refer to note 4 for further details,

[T K]

Fair value hadge ineffectiveness includes the costs of the early termination of Fair value hedges related to the early repayment of private placement lean notes, ineffectiveness from

changes in currency basis, and the movement in mark-to-market valuations on hedge derivatives from the perceived change in the credit worthiness of the counterparties to those

instruments, -

S

the rights lssue and disposals and further detail is provided in note 23.

Private placement losn notes prepayment costs includes make-whole costs paid to noteholders on early repayment of prindpal. The early repayment was made from the proceeds of
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10 Income tax -
The major components of income tax expense for the years ended 31 Decernber 2018 and 2017 are set out below.

The incorne tax credit of £0.9m on reported profit resulted in a tax rate of (0.3%) (2017 income tax credit of £14.0m and tax rate (2 7)%). The reported tax rate
will generally vary from the adjusted tax rate year-on-year due to the items excluded from adjusted profit in a period, for example non-taxable profits/losses on
disposals or non-deductible impairment of certain acquired intangible assets.

—The income tax charge of £27.4m an adjusted profit resulted in an adjusted tax rate of 9.7% (2017: income tax charge of £65,8m and adjusted tax rate 17.2%).

This 15 a reduction year on year as a result of deferred tax credits arising from certain subsidiaries adopting IFRS 15 later and true-ups to filed tax retuens, together
with an unremnitted earnings charge, as detailed further below. It is expected that the adjusted tax rate will return to a level closer ta the UK corporation tax rate
of 19% in 2019.

" . I 2018 1 2007
. Consolidated income statement ! £m Em

Current income tax
Current income tax charge/(credit) 1.1 {35.3)

Deferred incoms tax

Adjustment in respect of prior years | {r.0) (16.7)
i

Origination and reversal of temporary differences 581
Adjustment in respact of pricr years (10 6) 1.9
(0.9) 140

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income r- mﬁﬂ o
Income tax on cash flow hedges I {C.1} 0.4
Deferred income tax movement in relation to actuarial [osses on defined benefit plans 2291 (8.8)
) | 2281 (8.4)

Consolidated statement of changes in equity § o I il
Deferred income tax movement in relation to share based payment i (0.4) —
| (0.4} -

The reconciliation between tax expense/{credit) and the preduct of accounting profit multiplied by the UK corpomtion tax rate for the years ended 31 Decemnber
2018 and 2017 is a5 follows,

2008 207
Footnote £m Em

Profit/{loss) before tax 1 27261 (513.1)
Noticnal debit/(credit} at UK corparation tax rate of 19.00% (2017; 19.25%) . ' 51.8 ] (98.8)
Adjustments in respect of current income tax of prior years al (7.0} (10.7)
Adjustments in respect of deferred tax of prior years b {10.6) 1.9
Non-deductible expenses - adjusted 4 53 4.2
Non-deductible expenses - business exit ¢ 4.2 2.9
Non-deductible expenses - specific itams ¢ (1.0) 5.6
{Prafit)/loss on disposal d (35.4) 6.0
Difference in rate recognition of temporary differences (4.6) (9.9}
Non-deductible intangible impairment e 1.0 1020
Tax provided on unremitted earmings 12.8 —
Attributable to different rates in overseas jurisdictions (0.7) (3.9)
Mevement in unrecognised deferred tax f (27.3) 14.7
At the effective tax rate of {0.3)% (2017: {2.7%)) 1 (0.9) 14.0
Total tax {credit)/expense reported in the income statement [ (0.9) 14.0

N o

™-m o

a. The £7.0m prior year credit adjustment includes, (1) a £10, Sm credit relating to & reductlon in the Group’s uncertain tax positions (see below), {ii) a £10.6m debit relatlng to

Ank,

adjustments which have a corresponding prior-year d incame tax impact, and {jii} a £71m credit relating to true-ups to filed tax returns (2017 the £10.7m prior year
adjustment credit includes; (1) a £5.5m credit refating ta increased losses available for group relief surrenders ansing from acquisitions and disposals in previous years but identified
during the period, and (ir] a £3.2m credit relating to adjustrments which have a carresponding prior year deferred income tax impact and true ups of positions to filed tax returns)
Credits (2077: debrs) which have a correspanding pror year current income tax impact and true ups of temporary differences.

. Adjusted: higher in 2018 mainly due to non-qualifnng depreciation Business exit: relates to costs assodated with disposal of businesses detailed in note 4, Specific items relates ta
contingent cansideration mavements (2017, Litigation and claims) detailed in note 3,

. Relates to the application of the UK tax exemption on substantial shareholdings to relevant disposals.

. Relates to the intangible asset impawments as detailed further in notes 3, 4 and 14.
Relakes to the decrease (2017. increase) in unrecognised deferred tax on losses The 2017 consolidated financial statements were prepared under IFRS 15, however the deferred tax
positions were calculated on the basis of when subsidiaries would adapt IFRS 15 for statutory financial statements purposes Subsequent to the finalisation of the 2017 consolidated
financial statements, certain subsidiaries adopted tFRS 15 later resulting in a different loss utilisation profile and associated deferred tax asset recognition position.

e )
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10 Income tax continued

Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax as at 31 Decernber relates to the following:

Cansoliduted balance sheet Cansolidated income statement

| 2018 2007 l 208 I 2007
| Em Em £m Em
Deferred tax liabilities
Contract fulfilment assets . (21.0} {41.1) {20.1) (32)
Unremitted sarmings (12.8) - 12.8 l -
Fair value adjustments on acquisition {14.8) {397} (25.0) (26.2)
I (48.6) {80.8) | {323} {29.4)
Deferred tax assets " . [
Accelerated capital allowances . . 349 349 - (15.6)
Deferred income 47 63.1 58.6 1654
Share based payments ' : 1.1 0.4 (0.3) {e1)
Pension schemes' liability 281 558 77 (0.5)
Provisions 8.6 13.2 13 (2.2)
Losses available for offset against future taxable income 100.6 60.5 l {40.0) {57.6)
{ 178.0 22719 | 2731 89.4
Net deferred tax asset L 1294 1471 | I
Deferred income tax (credit}/expense { i i (5.0} 600

The UK corporation tax rate remained at 19% in 20718 and will decrease further to 17% from 1 April 2020. The deferred tax balances have been adjusted to reflect
this change.

Deferred tax has been recognised based on the timing of entity adoption of IFRS 15, interaction of the new loss relief nules, and to the extent that the Group has
sufficient future taxable profits against which to offset the temporary differences when they unwind. The recognition for 2018 has been based on the base-case
financial forecasts mentioned in the viability statement section of the strategic report. These forecasts provide evidence of sufficient future taxable profits to
enable the utilisation of the recognised deferred tax assets

The Group has unrecognised tax losses of £206.0m (2017, £348.)m) and other temporary differences of £31.0m (2017: £34.5m) that are available for offset
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses or other tempaorary differences arose, but have not been recognised as their recoverability is
uncertain. These unrecognised tax losses and other temporary differences totalling £237.0m (2017: £382.6m) are made up as fotlows:

 £161.0m (2017: £344.1m) reiates to the UK and has no time expiry. These losses will be subject to recently enacted UK tax loss relief legislation which could
result in restricted utilisation in the future.

£76.0m (2017: £3B.5m) relates to various overseas junsdictions, some of which are being subject to specific loss restriction rules but have no time expiry.

« £85.9m (2017: £101.0m) of the unrecognised tax losses were incurred by companies acquired by the Group and therefore not as a result of the Group's trading
performance.

Dividends received from subsidiaries on or after 1 July 2009 are largely exernpt fram UK tax but may be subject to dividend withholding taxes levied by the
overseas tax jurisdictions in which the subsidiaries operate. The gross temporary differences of those subsidiaries affected by such potential taxes is £64.2m
(2017: £470m) A deferred income tax liability of £12.8m (2017, £nil) has been recognised on the unremitted earings of those subsidiaries affected by such
potential taxes as the Group is able to control the timing of reversal and it is anticipating dividends to be distributed.

Uncertain tax positions

The Group files income tax retums in many jurisdictions. Various tax authorities are currently examining the Group's income tax returns, Tax returns contain
matters that could be subject to differing interpretations of applicable tax laws and regulations and the resolution of tax positiens, through negotiatians with
relevant tax authorities or through litigation, can take several years to complete. Tax uncertainties are assessed throughout the year and specifically at the year-
end with any associated provisions recognised considering the specific circumstances of each risk, including the merits of technical aspects, previous experience
with tax autharities, recent tax law and if refevant, external specialist advice .

In the current period the Group has released £10.5m of provisions in respect of uncertain tax positions relating to overseas tax risks which are no longer
considered likely to arise. The release is reflected within the current income tax prior year adjustment.

While it is difficult to pradict the ultimate outcome in some cases, the Group does not currently anticipate that there will be any material impact on the Group's
finandial position or results of operations in the next financial year.

Capita's approach to taxation

Capita has an open and positive working relationship with HMRC, has a designated customer relationship manager, and is cornmitted to prompt disclosure and
transparency in all dealings with HMRC and overseas tax authorities. The Group does not have a complex tax structure, nor does it pursue aggressive tax
avoidance activities The Group has a low-risk rating from HMRC The Group has operations in a number of countries outside the UX All Capita operations in
non-UK jurisdictions are trading operations and pay the appropriate local taxes on these activities Further detail, regarding the tax strategy, can be found on the
Policies and Principles area of the Capita website (capita.com/about-us/policies-and-principles).
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11 Earnings/(loss) per share

Basic eamings/(loss) per share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit for the penod attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares sutstanding during the year.

Diluted ean:nings.f(loss} per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit for the period attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent company by
the weighted average number of ardinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be 1ssued on the
-canversion of all the dilutive potential ardinary shares into ordinary shares

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the year ended 31 December 2017 has been restated to reflect the rights issue completed in the period (see
note 27). The adjustment to the weighted average number of ordinary shares reflects the banus element of the rights 1ssue.

The following reflects the earnings and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings/{loss) per share computations:

Restated As previously mported
1 20181 2017 2017
Comtinuing Tosal Continuing Toml Continuing Yotal
operations operstians perath perati perati |
£m Em Em Em Em £m
Adjusted profit attributable to shareholders’ | 239.7 239.7 3059 3059 3036 303.6
Total profit/{loss) attributable to shareholders ] 2634 269.0 | (533 5} (117.1} {533.5) {117.1}

1 The adjusted profit attributable to shareholders from continuing operations for the year ended 31 December 2017, previously reparted has been restated to reflect change in
presentation during the year as well as the businesses that have been disposed of during the year ended 31 December 2018 '{see notes 3 and 4).

Restated “pr,:v;::lz

'W] 207 2017

m m m

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (excluding trust and treasury shares) for basic earmings per share 1.463.9 1,092.8 665.7
Dilutive potential ordinary shares: I

Employee share options 183 — —

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (excluding trust and treasury shares) adjusted for the effect of dilution 1 1,482.2]  1,092.8 665.7

At 31 December 2017, 3,395,030 options were excluded from the diluted weighted average number of osdinary shares calculation because their effect would
have been anti-dilutive. Under AS 33-Eamings per Share, potential ordinary shares are treated as dilutive when, and only when, their conversion to ordinary
shares would decrease earnings per share or increase lass per share from continuing operations. The Group made a loss in the prior year from continuing
operations hence the diluted earnings/{loss) per share for each component of continuing and total operations needs to be the same amount as the basic
earnings/(loss) per share,

There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potentiat or;ﬂinary shares between the reporting date and the date of completion of these
financial statements.

The earnings per share figures are calculated based on adjusted eamings attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent company of £239.7m (2017:
£305.9m) and reported eamings of-£269.0m (2017: loss of £1171m). They are bath included to provide a better understanding of the trading performance of the
Group .

Restated As previously reparted

{ 2018 2017 2017

Continuing Total Continuing Total Conunwing Tatal

, operations operstions perath P perati perati

P p P p p p

Basic earnings/{loss) per share - adjusted l 16.37 16.37 2799 2799 45.61 45.61
—reported 17.99 18.37 {48.82) (10.72) {80.14) (37.59)

Dituted earnings/(loss) per share - adjusted [ 16.17 16.17 27.99 2795 45.61 45.61
- reported .77 18.15 (4882)  {1072) {80.14)  [(1759)

12 Dividends paid and proposed

2008 2017
£m £m

Declared and paid during the year
Ordinary shares (equity):

1
Final for 2017 paid: rul per share (2016 21.2p per share) l - 137.1
__Intenim for 2018 paid: nil per share (2017~ 11 1p per share) — 73.9
Dividends paid to shareholders I - Mo
Dividends paid to non-controlling interest 122 5.6
Total dividends paid 1 12.2 216.6

Proposed for approval at AGM (not recognised as a liability at 31 December)
Ordinary shares [equity):
Final for 2018, nit per share (2017: nil per share)

-—
—
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13 Property, plant and equipment

. Leasehold
mpm:&e:?,d Plant and
buildings machinery Total
£m £m £m
Cost
As at 1 January 2017 105.0 4203 525.3
Subsidiaries acquired 0.1 a1 0.2
Disposal of business (15.8} (98.2) {114.0}
Additions . 58 63.1 68.9
Disposals — ncluded in adjusted profit (38) (10.7} (14.3)
Disposals - excluded from adjusted profit {7.3) {91.9) (99.2)
Asset retirements . {7.6) {75.2) {82.8)
Re-class to intangible assets {net) — {13.1) (13.1)
Exchange movement 0.5 0.6 11
As at 31 December 2017 : 771 195.0 2ra.l
Disposal of business - {22.8) {22.8)
Additions . 331 56.3 89.4
Disposals = included in adjusted profit (0.6) {19.7} (20.3).
Asset retirements A (5.9) {33.1} (EIS.D]E
E)'(change movement . {0.7) — {0.7)!
As at 31 December 2018 1 1030 1757 2787}
Depreciation and impairment;
As at 1 January 2017 - 38.8 91.8 130.6
Depreciation charged during the year na 589 700
{mpairment - excluded from adjusted profit — 10.0 10.0
Disposal of business (6.9) (32.9) (39.8)
Disposals - included in adjusted profit (1.4) (7.0) (8.4)
Disposals - excluded from adjusted profit (1.5) (17 8) (19.3)
Asset retirements (7.6) {75.2) {82.8)
Re-class to intangible assets - (8.0} (8.0}
Exchange movement 0.2 03 0.5
As at 31 December 2017 . . 327 201 52.8
Depreciation charged during the year ot a7 50.4 60.1
Impairment — included in adjusted profit 6.1 - 6.1
Disposal of business i — (2.9) {2.9),
Disposals - included in adjusted profit ' {0.6) (10.8) (11.4)1
Asset retirements (5.9) (33.1) (39.0)
Exchange movement {0.2) {0.4) (O.G)i
As at 31 Decernber 2018 t 418 233 65.1]
Net book value
As at 1 January 2017 66.2 328.5 3947
As at 31 December 2017 44.4 174.9 218.3
As at 31 December 2018 1 6.2 152.4 213.6 l

The net book value of plant and machinery includes an amaunt of £nil (2017: £0.2m) in respect of assets held under finance leases.
Depreciation charged during the year includes £nil {2017: £0.2m) of accelerated depreciation in refation to businesses disposed of.

In 2017 a comprehensive review was undertaken as part of the year-end close process and a number of assets relating to specific programmes resulting from
changes in client and Capita strategy in the second half of 2017 were fully written down. Property. plant and equipment amounting to £89,9m was fully written
down and excluded from the adjusted profit for the year. The charge is shown above within impairment — excluded from adjusted profit (£10.0m) and disposals -
excluded from adjusted profit (E79.9m, being cost £99.2m less accurnulated depreciation £19,.3m), The write-downs relate to life and pensions assets (£54.7m)
and other non-current assets (£35.2m) as detailed in note 3,



132 Capita plc Annual Report 2078

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

13 Property, plant and equipment continued

The table below reconciles the 2017 disposals and impairments of non-current assets between notes 3, 14 and 17

Propetty, Contract
plant and intangible fulfilment
#quiprnent assats assets Tozal
Em Em Notes £m MNotes Em Notes
Life and pension assets
Impairment - - 55 5.5
Disposals - cost 56.2 10 - 57.2
Disposals - accumulated depreciation/amortisation {15) — — (1.5}
547 1.0 55 61.2 3
Other non-current assets
impairment 10.0 40 - 1449
Disposals - cost 430 383 - 823
Dispesals - accurnulated depreciation/amortisation (17.8) {15.0} — (32.8)
352 283 - 63.5 3
Total
Total impairment 10.0 40 14 55 7 195
Totat disposals - cost 99.2 403 14 - 139.5
Total disposals — accumulated depreciation/amortisation (19.3) {15.0) 14 — {34.3)
899 29.3 5.5 124.7
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14 Intangible assets
ble assets acq) n b b gible assets cap chased
1P,  Contracts Total
software ang _ Client acquired Capitalised Total
Brands hun::":l: mmmi;ﬁ uhm':!'p‘: Goodwill i usness di foi!ware 3 s Ct:Plﬂllsedi Tatat
£m Em Em £m £m £m £m £ Em £m
Cost
As at 1 January 2017 69.3 96.5 75.3 7427 23276 33114 157.0 578 2549 3,566.3
Subsidiaries acquired 0.4 68 t3 39 151 27.5 —_ - - 275
Business disposal (3.0) (0.4) - (50.3) (266.9) {320.6) (72 (o0 (179) (3385)
Additions - — —_ — — - 43.4 295 729 729
Disposals - included in adjusted profit - - — - - - 2.7 (17.5) (20.2) {20.2)
Disposals - excluded from adjusted profit - - — — - - {31.0 (93) (40.3) (40.3)
Transfer to assets held for sale (0.2) - — . {37} 7.1 (1.0 - - - {11.0}
Re-class from property, plant and equipment - - - - —_ - 133 - 131 13.1
Asset retirernent {97) (3.4) (6.1) (201.9} - (221.1) (45.6) (19) (48.5) (269.86)
Fair value adjustments in 2017 relating to ’ '
2016 acquisitions - - - — 1.2 1.2 — - — 1.2
Exchange movement (0.3) a7 — {2.6) 1.3 (0.9) 0.4 0.1 05 (0.4)
As at 31 December 2017 565 1002 705 4881 2,012 2,786.5 156.4 58.1 2145  3,000.0
Subsidiaries acquired - = — 27 - 27 — - - 27|
Business disposal (3.5} (6.7) - {38.5) (50.9) {99.6) - {7.3) (7.3) (106.9)
Additions l - - - - - - 64.8 53 roa 70|
Disposals - included in adjusted profit l —_ — —_ - — - (5.0} (0.3} {5.1) {5.1)
Asset retirement ] 50 —  [92) [108.4) —  (1233) (16.6) (22) (18.8) (a2.1)
Exchange movement i 01 0.2 0.1} 6.3 0.3 6.8 05 0.1 0.6 74l
As at 31 December 2018 ' 474 EENS [ 3502 2,020.6 2,573.1 200.1 53.9 2540 2827.1)
Amortisation and impairment
As at 1 January 2017 28.6 367 359 4586 1520 7218 739 16.4 90.3 8121
Amortisation charged during the year 1.4 128 9.0 920 - 125.2 16.6 6.6 232 148.4
Impairment — excluded from adjusted profit 07 - 4.0 9.3 5516 5656 4.0 — 4.0 569.6
Impairment - business exit —_ — — — 7.1 71 — — — 71
Business disposal {26) (0.3) - (45.2) (0.2) (48.3) (71) (0.9} (7.2) (55.5)
Disposals — included in adjusted profit — - — - - - {0.8) {6.7) (7.5) (7.5)
Disposals ~ excluded from adjusted profit — — -— — - - {13.5) (1.5) (15.0) (15 0)
Asset retirement 0.7) (34) (61) {2019) - (2211) {46.6) (19) {485) (269.6)
Transfer to assets held for sale (o) - - {23) (7.1 {9.5) - - - {9.5)
Re-class from property, plant and equipment - — —_ — - - 8.0 - 80 8.0
Exchange movement (0.3) 0.1 — 0.8 (0.1) 0.5 0.1 0.2 0.3 08
As at 31 December 2017 28.0 459 42.8 3213 703.3 11413 34.6 130 476 1,889
Amortisation charged during the year 87 133 6.1 57.6 - 86.7 211 6.8 279 146
Impairment — excluded from adjusted profit - — - 61.7 338 95.5 - - — 85.5
Impairment — busfness exit - — - - 24.3 243 - - - 243
Business dispasal ! (24) {47 - {34.2) - (41.3) —_ {3.9) {3.9) (452)
Disposals ~ included in adjusted profit - - - - — - {0.6) (0. (0.7) {0.7)
Asset retirement (5.7 — (8.2} (108.4) - (1233) (166) (22) (18.8) (142.)
Exchange movement 0.3 0.5 [0.1) 33 0.2 4.2 - (0.1) (0.1) 4.1
As at 31 December 2018 } 299 55.0 39.6 3013 761.6 1,187.4 38.5 13.5 520 1,23%4
Net book value
As at 1 fanuary 2017 40.7 59.8 39.4 2741  2,17756 2,589.6 1231 41.5 1646 27542
As at 31 December 2017 28.5 54.3 277 166.8 13679 1,645 2 1218 45.1 166.9 1,812.1
As at 31 December 2018 1 178 38.7 21.6 489 1,259.0 1,385.7 1616 40.4 202.0 158771

Amortisation charged during the year includes £nil (2017: £1.7m (£0.3m in acquired intangibles and E1.4m in capitalised/purchased intangibles)) of accelerated
amortisation in relation to businesses disposed or held for sale.

Goodwill impairments: The Group recognised an impairment charge relating to goodwill of £33.8m (2017 £551.6m). Refer to note 15.

Intangible assets acquired in business combination impairments: Customer Management saw a weaker performance in Europe, which was impacted by lower
profits in Switzerland. The Group recognised an impairment charge relating to intangible assets acquired in business combinations of £617m in relation to the
Swiss business 1n Customer Management. The recoverable amount of the intangible asset 15 £12.2m, based on its value in use and a pre-tax discount rate of
11.9%. (2017: In 2017, £14.0m of intangibles acquired in business combinations in relation to the insurance, Life and Pensions businesses in Spedialist Services

were identified as impaired).
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14 Intangible assets continued

Intangible assets capitatised impairment and disposals: As part of its year-end ¢lose process, Capita undertock a review of its tangible and intangible assets,
resulting in £nil (2017: £29.3m resulting from changes in dient and Capita strategy) impairments. The 2017 charge is shown in the table within impairment -
excluded from adjusted profit’ (£4.0m) and ‘disposals - excluded from adjusted profit’ (£25.3m, being cost £40.3m less accumulated depreciation £15.0m).
This impairment charge relates to life and pension assets (£1 0m) and other non-current assets (£28.3m) The table in note 13 reconciles the disposals and
impairments of non-current assets between notes 3, 13, 14 and 17.

e - —

15 Goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to Cash-Generating Units (CGUs), for imparment testing purposes, an the basis of the
expected benefit that will accrue to the individual CGU through synergies realised from the acquisitions and integration with the Group as a whote. These
represent the lowest level within the Group at which goodwill can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis.

The enterprise value of each CGU is dependent on the successful implementation of the transformation plan described earlier in the strategic report. The
objective of the new strategy announced in April 2018 is to become a more focused and predicable business with improved returns, stronger client relationships
and sustainable free cash flow. The Group has put in place a new orgamisational structure, which comprises six divisions: Software, People Solutions, Customer
Management, Government Services, IT & Netwarks, and Specialist Services. Following this re-organisation, the Group has reviewed the historical assessment of
CGUs and the allocation of goodwill. Reflecting the way management now exercises aversight and monitors the Group’s performance, the Board concluded that
the lowest level at which goadwill is menitored is at the divisional level for three divisions, and at a sub-divisional level for the other three divisians, and geodwill
has been reallacated to these new CGUs or groups of CGUs. As at 31 December 2018, the Group has 9 CGUs or groups of CGUs for the purpose of impairment
testing of gaodwill. The opening goodwill balance has been reallocated for comparable purposes. As the transformation plan progresses, the Board will continue
to assess the level at which management exercise oversight and monitors the Group’s performance to ensure the allocation of goodwill to CGUs remains
appropriate.

Carrying amount of goodwill allocated to groups of Cash-Generating Units
The following table shows the allocation of goodwill to groups of CGUs.

G Services IT B M ok
. Pegple Custorner Cemrl Locat Network Spacialist

Softwere  Solutions Management Government  Covernment IT Serviges Services Services Total
Gu Em Em £m £m £m Em Em Em Em
1January 2018 275.6 203.5 138.6 87 338 177 1085 4815 13679
Additions F — — = — pu - — — —
Fair value adjustment — — — — — — - —_ — I
Disposals and business exits — — — —_ - - —_ (75.2) (75.2)
Exchange movement - —_ [iN | - — — - — 0.1
Impairment i — - - {33.8) — — - (33.8)
31 December 2018 ] 275.6 203.5 1387 a7 — 7.7 108.5 406.3  1,259.0|

Specialist Regulated Services is not included in the table above as goodwill and acquired intangibles were fully impaired in 2077, and therefore an impairment test
is not required

The impairment test

The Group tests intangible assets, including goodwill, for impairment on an annual basis or more frequently if there are indications that any of these assets may
be impaired.

The Group's impairment test compares the carrying value of each CGU with its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of a CGU is the higher of fair value
less cost of disposal and value in use. As the Group continues to implernent the Group-wide transformation plan it has been determined that for 2018, fair value
less costs of disposal will generate the higher recoverable amount. Fair value less costs of disposal have been estimated using discounted cash flows. The fair
value measurement was categorised as a Level 3 fair value based on the inputs in the valuation technique used.

In undertaking the annual impairment review, the Directars have considered both extemal and internat sources of information, and any observable indications
that may suggest that the carrying value of goodwill may be impaired.

As set out in 'divisional performance’ in the strategic report, the local government market for large BPO contracts is declining with a significant drop-off in the
number ang size of opportunities coming to market and existing clients choosing to end cantracts early and take services back in house. This decline is being

driven by fiscal pressures, the expectation that this will provide a more flexible cost and delivery model, but alse by an ideological shift away frem outsourcing by
some council leaderships. The local government BPO market, which we anticipated reducing, declined at an accelerated rate during the year Southampton,
Sheffield and Birmingham City Councils have notified us of their intention to end contracts with us ahead of their contracted-end dates. Bamet Council has
agreed to take a small number of services back in House, Capita is committed to the local government market and is working closely with all cur Council partners -
to agree and manage a smooth transfer of services back to council management. The deterioration 1n the market oppartunities and cantinued challenges were
monitored throughout the year and erystallised in the final quarter of 2018 leading to the recognition of the impairment charges as set out in this note.
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15 Goodwill continued
The key inputs to the calculations are described below, including changes in market conditions.

Farecast cash flows

In the first half of 2018, the Board approved a five-year strategic plan covering the period from 2018 to 2022, As the five-year strategic plan was approved prior
to the fina;isation of the Annual Report and Accounts 2017, it was used to derive cash flow farecasts for the purposes of the impairment test for the year ended
31 December 2017,

The bottom-up business planning process completed at the end of 2018, reviewed years two and three (2079 and 2020) of the strategic plan in detail. The
resulting business plan for 2019 and 2020 was approved by the Board For the 2018 impairment test, the 2019 and 2020 business plan was used to derive the
cash flow forecasts for the purpose of the impairment test, The cash flows are adjusted to exclude working capital movements as the corresponding balances are
not included in the carrying amount. The cash flows also include forecast capital expenditure and restructuring, as well as an allecation the costs of central
functions. The Board considered an appropriate methodology to apply in allocating the costs of the central functions, which is a key sensitivity, The forecast 2021
EBITDA measures have been used as these represent a steady state forecast for the Group and an appropriate approximation of the attention and focus of the
central functions As the transformation plan delivers, the Board will assess any changes required to ensure the allocation methodology continues to reflect the
efforts of the central functions

The forecasts are cash flow projections for 2021 and 2022, represent management’s assessment of future trends in relevant industries and have been based on
data from both extemal and internal sources. .

The long-term growth rate is based on inflation forecasts by recognised bodies and this has been applied to both 2023 and the terminal period. The 2018 long-
term growth rate is 1.5% {2017 1.5%).

Discount rates

Managerment estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect the latest market assumptions for the risk-free rate, the equity risk premium and the net
cost of debt, which are all based on publicly available external sources.

The table below represents the pre-tax discount rates used on the cash flows The 2017 rates have not been reported, due to the CGL restructure and the
adoption of fair value less costs of disposal.

Pre-tax discount rate
Division »
Software 127
People Solutions 121
Customer Managernent na9
Central Government 4
Locat Government 16.8
IT Services L1 K|
Network Services 1
Specialist Regulated Services s
Specialist Services 11.8

Sensitivity analysis

The impairment testing as described s reliant on the accuracy of management’s forecasts and the assumptions that underie them and also on the selection of
the discount and grawth rates to be applied. In order ta gauge the sensitivity of the result to a change in any one, or combination of the assumptions that
underlie the model, a number of scenarios have been run to identify the range of reasonably possible alternatives and measure which CGUs are the most
susceptible to an impairment should the assumptions used be varied. This sensitivity analysis is only applicable to the CGUs that have goodwill.

The table below shows how the enterprise value would be impacted {with all ather variables being equal) by an increase in discount rate of 1%, or if the business
plan was missed by 10% for each of the five years or a decrease of 1% in the long-term growth rate for the Group in total and each of the CGUs. We have also

considered the impact of all of the scenarios together and disclosed the impact on impairment in the final column.

_ncrense in 2018

e Mistagetsby 0% 5 decn oy 1 < se:'lsitivity P il
Software (66.1) {73.3) {485) (168.7} —
People Solutions (77.5) (78.4) {56.2) (189.4} -
Customer Management (43.8) (31.6) (34.2) (96.0) —
Central Government (60.4) (48.2) (47.5) (137.0} -
IT Services (19.5) (77 (13.9) {47 5) {5.0)
Network Services (197) (20.0) {14 4) (49 4) -
Specialist Services (881) {96.4) (63 8) (222.2) —
Total (375.1) {365.6) (278.3) {910.2) {5.0)

Management continue to moritor closely the performance of atl CGUs and consider the impact of any changes ta the key assumptions. In conclusion, other than
the lacal government impairment in the year, management believe there is no reasonably possible change in the underlying assumgptions that would resultin a
further significant impairment charge in the consolidated income statement.
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16 Business combinations

2018 acquisitions

In October 2018, the Group acquired three operational contact centres as part of extending and expanding an existing customer management contract with

Europe’s largest intagrated telecommunications provider. The consideration was £3 and the acquisition accounting resulted in an intangible asset of £2.7m

being recognised.

- DJFing the 3?ear, the Group settled £117m of deferred consideration and £10.4m of contingent consideration p_ayr:l—e—nts with;egard ta previous ac:]msition’s, oo TTE
all of which had been accrued.

The fair value exercise has been completed on a provisional basis for acquisitions made in 2018. The Group will complete this review in 2019, though an
adjustment to the carrying value is likely to be insignificant to the acquisition. In the current year, there were no revisions made to fair value adjustments that
had been determined provisionally at the immediately preceding balance sheet date.

Cantingent consideration

In respect of 2018 acquisitions, there is no contingent consideration For all histaric acquisitions, the range of the additional cansideration payment is estimated
to be between £nil and £24.7m. Contingent consideration has been calculated based on the Group's expectation of what it will pay in relation to the post-
acquisition performance of the acquired entities by weighting the probability of a range of payments to give an estimate of the final obligation,

2017 acquisitions

Fhe Croup made a number of acquisitions in 2017 which are shown in aggregate. The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired are disctosed
in the table below.

r Fair value to
! Greup menpind

| £m
Property, plant and equipment 0.2 |
Intangible assets 124
Trade and other receivables due in less than ane year 75
Corporation tax {0.3)
Cash and cash equivalents ) 45|
Trade and other payables (excluding accruals) due in less than ene year (2.9)
Accruals due in less than one year (26)
Deferred tax (2.2)
Net assets 16.6
Goodwill arising on acquisition 15.1

[ 31.74
Discharged by:
Cash 23.3
Deferred consideration 3 20
Contingent consideration accrued . 6.4

] 31.71

In all cases, 100% of the ordinary share capital was acquired. The companies acquired have been mainly in the areas of IT & Networks, Travel and Events,
Customer Management and Software which complement or extend the Group's existing skill sets and provide opportunities for growth into these markets.
In addition, during the year the Group settted £10.8m of deferred consideration and £11.7m of contingent consideration payments with regard to previous
acquisitions, all of which had been accrued.

Where this can be determined, the acquired subsidiaries contributed £1 8m to the profit befare tax of the Group. if these aequisitions had occurred on 1 January
2077, Group's reveniue would have been an estimated £4,237.7m and Group loss before tax would have been an estimated £512.8m. In determining these
amounts, management has assumed that the fair value adjustments that arose on the date of acquisition would have been the same if the acquisition had
occurred on 1 January 2017. During the year, some of the acquired businesses have been completely integrated into the existing business of the Group and
therefore their post-acquisition performance cannot be determined.

Goodwill has arisen on the acquisitions because the fair value of the acquired assets was lower than the consideration paid; the goodwill represents the value to
the Group that can be driven from these underlying assets over the life of the acquired businesses, particularly from synergies, and the capabilities of the acquired
waorkforce, The total amount of goodwill recognised in the period that is expected to be deductible for tax purposes is £nil (2016: £nil).

The fair value exercise was completed on a provisional basis for acquisitions made in 2017, In total, the effect of revisions made to fair value adjustments in 2017
that had been determined provisionally at the immediately preceding balance sheet date increased goodwill by £1.2m.

Contingent consideration

In respect of the acquisitions made in 2077, the Group has agreed to pay the vendors additional consideration dependent on the achievernent of pecformance
targets in the penods post acquisition. These performance periods are of up to 3 years in duration and will be settled in cash on their payment date on achieving
the relevant targets, The Group has induded £6.4m as contingent consideration related to the additional consideration, which represents its fair value at the
acquisition date For all historic acquisitions, the range of the additional consideration payment 1s estimated to be between £nil and £24.7m Contingent
consideration has been calculated based on the Group's expectation of what it will pay in relation to the post-acquisition performance of the acquired entities
by weighting the probability of a range of payments to give an estimate of the final obligation.
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Tol

Em

At 1 anuary 2077 240.6

Additions 101.2
Impairment {14.7)
Derecognition (9.9)
Utilised during the year (65.3)

At 31 December 2017 2525
Additions ETEY L
Transfers from current contract fulfilment assets 254
Impairment (22.2)
Derecognition (17.4)'
Utilised during the year {87.9)
At 31 Decernber 2018 264.2

Impairment

In preparing these consolidated financial staternents, management undertock a review to identify indicatars of impairment of contract fulfilment assets.
Management determined whether or not the contract fulfilment assets and capitalised costs to obtain a contract were impaired by comparing the carrying
amount of the asset to the remaining amount of consideration that the Group expects to receive less the costs that relate to providing services under the
relevant contract. In determining the estimated amount of consideration, the Group uses the same principles as it does to determine the contract transaction
price, except that any constraints used to reduce the transaction price will be removed for the impairment test.

In line with the Group’s accounting palicy, as set out in note 2, if a contract exhibited marginal profitability or other indicators of impairment, judgement was
applied to ascertain whether or not the future economic benefits from these contracts were sufficient to recover these assets. In performing this impairment
assessrnent, management is required to make an assessment of the costs to complete the contract. The ability to accurately forecast such costsinvolves
estimates around cost savings to be achieved over time, anticipated profitability of the contract, as well as future performance against any contract-specific KPls
that could trigger varizble consideration or service credits

Following this review, contract fulfilment asset provisions for impairment of £22.2m (2017: £14.1m) were identified relating to assets capitalised in the year and
recognised within adjusted cost of sales,

Derecognition

A contract fulfilment asset is derecognised either when it is disposed of or when no further economic benefits are expected to flow from its use or disposal, In
2018, £17.4m (2017: £9.9m) of contract fulfilment assets were derecognised as the related contracts, Prudential and Marsh, were terminated In the year and the
Group had no further use for the assets. Of the assets derecognised in the prior year, £5.5m was included as an adjustment to operating profit and related to the
write-off of the carrying value of a platform developed by the Group’s life and pension business. The Group's transformation plan identified that there was no
langer a market for this platform.
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18 Financial assets

. I 2018 1 2007
Current financial assets ) Em Em

Deferred consideration’ — 3.0
__1n§u_@n£e _a_sse_t_l_'.e_cgvgrablgz ) 13 5.0
Held for trading assets® ™~~~ - T - 0.4
Cash flow hedges - 5.0 4.0
Currency swaps in relation to USD denominated loan notes* 9.3 722
Non-designated foreign exchange forwards and swaps 2.1 4.1
Interest rate swaps in relation to GBP denominated loan notes® i 0.5 —
H 18.2 887
Non-current financiat assets o I z?"r‘
Deferred consideration’ - 2.2
Investments 6.7 -
Held for trading assets’ 27 4.2
Cash flow hedges 33 38
Curvency swaps in relation to USD denominated loan notes* . 93.8 131
Non-designated foreign exchange forwards and swaps 1.8 36
Interest rate swaps in refation to GBP denominated loan notes” 1.4 5.4
| 1094 132.3
1 The deferred consideration relates to the sale of the Health business which was classified as held For sale in 2015, and sold in 2016. The amount has been fully recovered
2 The insurance asset recoverable relates to amounts where the Group has virtual certainty of receiving & contribution in respect of a litigation or insurance claim.
3 Held for trading assets comprise investments in unlisted ordinary shares and fund assets. The unlisted ordinary shares, for which there is no immediately identifiable market and have

no fixed maturity date or coupan rate, are carried at cost less impairment. The fund assets, for which there are market values, are recorded at fair value as at 31 Decernber 2018.

4 The cross-currency swaps hedge the Group's exposure to foreign exchange movements and interest rate movements on the Group's USD denominated private placement loan notes.
The changes in the fair value of the underlying private placement loan notes arising from movements in interest and foreign exchange rates are offset by the changes in the far vatue
of the cross-currency swaps recognised above,

5 The interest rate swaps hedge changes in the farr value of the Group's GBP denominated fixed rate private placemnent loan notes. The change in the fair value of the underlying laan
notes ansing fram changes in interest rates is equivalent to the fair value of the interest rate swaps recognised above. Details of the interest rate swaps, cross-currency swaps and
cash flow hadges are provided in note 26.

19 Trade and other receivables

Current ] ) zoil'g zo;
Trade receivables 4356 3795
Other receivables . : 29.4 269
Contract fulfilment assets 1.1 39.4
Accrued income 182.9 207.7
Prepayments 127 122.3

| 777 775.8
Non-current ' | ZT,: 2?;,
Other receivables | 23 06
Prepayments 23.9 27.4

} 26.2 28.0

Trade recetvables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30-day terms,

Consistent with prior years, the Group made use of non-recourse trade receivable financing arrangements provided to it by a number of its relationship banks.
There was a net balance of £nil sold on these arrangements as at 31 December 2018 {2017: £110.0m) as the Group phased-out the use of non-recourse trade
receivables financing. As these trade receivables have been sold without recourse, the Group has derecognised them in the above table.

At 31 December 2018, we raised a provision of £11.2m (2017: £8.3m} in relation to a loss allowance made agrinst receivables.



Strategic report

19 Trade and other receivables continued

Mavements in the loss allowance made against receivables were as follows:
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N
At 1 January ! 83| 1.5
Utilised { (1.4) 0.5)
Provided in the year 9.5 l 69
Released in the year (2.5} {83)
Business disposal/closure (27} (1.4)
Pravisions acquired - 11
At 31 December ! 11.2 83

At 31 December, the analysis of trade receivables that were past due but not impaired was as follows:

Past due but not impaired

MNerther past
due aor More than
Total impaired 0-3 menths 46 months  7-12 months. 12 manths
Em Em &m £m Em - Em
2018 I 4358 326.1 103.6 59 - —1
2017 379.5 2521 121.5 59 - —

The Group monitors the teve! of trade receivables on a manthly basis, continuaily assessing the risk of default by any counterparty.

Current contract fulfilment assets are costs directly related to a contract or to a specifically identifiable anticipated contract which will be used in satisfying

performance obligations in the next 12 months from the balance sheet date.

The Group's accrued income balances solely relate to revenue from contracts with customers. Movemnents in the accrued income balances were driven by
transactions entered into by the Group within the normal course of business in the year, other than £5.1m impairment arising on a contract in Government

Services (2017: Enil).

20 Cash, cash equivalents and overdrafts

2018 207
Em Em

Cash at bank and in hand 9575 9217
Qverdrafts (314.8). {4433)
i 6427} 478 4

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The fair value of cash is the same as the carrying amount above, included in cash at

bank and in hand is Enil (2017: £14.0m) held in a 45-day notice of withdrawal money market fund.

Included in Overdrafts are balances totalling £280.3m (2017: £387.7m) held in the Group's notional cash pools under which the bank has the right of offset

against Cash at bank - see note 26.

21 Trade and other payables

Current zcg: Z%::
Trade payables 2143 274.9
Qther payables 10.7 365
Other taxes and social security 131.2 150.8
Accruals N25 2930
| __6887Q 7552

MNoen-current zo;r: I 205:
Other payables 16 03
Accruals 10.0 16.9
11.6 170

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are settled within terms agreed with suppliers.
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22 Deferred income

Current I “’E‘,,‘: 2(2:

+

Current ' 980.3 1201.2

| 980.3 1,201.2

Non-current r zne':: zr:::
Naon-current 1 2773 314.0
I 2773 3140

The Group's deferred income batances solely relate to revenue from contracts with custamess. Revenue recognised in the reporting period that was included in
the deferrad income balance at the beginning of the period was £1,220.8m (2017: £1,381.0m). Movements in the deferred income balances were driven by |
transactions entered into by the Group within the normal course of business in the year, other than the accelerated revenue recognised of £10.0m and £38.4m
relating to the ending of our general insurance contract with Marsh and our life and pensians contract with the Prudential respectively (2017 £22 Om from the
re-shaping of the DIO contract).

23 Financial liabilities

Current Notes 20‘1: 221"1‘
Contingent consideration ’ - 121
Deferred consideration 13 ni
Public sector subsidiary partnership payment | 9.4 94
Put option of non-controlling interests 1073 6.8
Obligations under finance leases 24 - 0.2
Other loan notes N 0.3 -
Term loan 100.0 -
Cash flow hedges 1.2 16
Naon-designated foreign exchange forward contracts 1.4 0.3
Private placement loan notes’ B2.2 224.1
{ 3031 265.6
Non-current
Contingent consideration 89 125
Deferred consideration o7 2.0
Public sector subsidary partnership payment 34,1 9.8
Put options of non-controlling interests 1.2 115.6
Private placement loan notes’ 1,025.8f 14399
Other loan notes — 03
Term loan —_— 100.0
Cash flow hedges -] 1.1
Currency swaps in relation to USD denominated loan notes 35 8.5
| 1,084.2 17217

1 Private placement loan notes include U5 private placement loar notes, euro fixed rate bearer notes and a Schuldschein loan

Included in financial Habilities is an amount of £1,108.0m (2017: £1,664.0m) which represents the carrying value of the Croup's pnvate placement loan notes
which should be considered in conjunction with the carrying value of currency and interest rate swaps of:

+ £105.0m (2017: £190.7m) included in financial assets; and
* £3.5m (2017: £8.5m) included in financial liabilities.
This gives an effective liability of £1,006.5m (2017: £1,481.8m).

In connection with the Group’s transformation strategy and rights issue which were announced on 23 April 2018, Capita agreed amendments to its US private
placement loan notes including:

+ the introduction of an allowable minimum basket of £50m of bath subsidiary indebtedness and permitted liens, in line with the corresponding baskets under
Capita’s other financing arangements;

- the carve-out of up to £100m worth of bonds and guarantees from the financial covenant definition of indebtedness;
* certain restructuring costs to be excluded from the calculation of the covenant test, and certain assets to be excluded from the restrictions on disposals;

« the flexibility to increase the leverage covenant under the terms of the private placernent notes from 3.0x to 3.5x if Capita would otherwise breach the
covenant as a result of first-year losses from significant new contract wins as a result of the adoption of IFRS 15;
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23 Financial liabilities continued

+ arequirernent to offer to prepay as follows until a total of £520m (the 'Prepayment Target’) has been repaid (when combined with any repayments of US
private placement loan notes, with original maturity dates of July and September 2018 on the scheduled maturity date):

+ the US private placement loan notes with scheduled maturity dates in July and September 2018, plus a make-whole payment;
« from the proceeds of the rights issue, £150m of principal of the other US private placement loan notes, plus a3 make-whole payment;

+ from 50% of the net proceeds arising from non-core asset disposals, a pro-rata prepayment of principal across remaining US private placement notes, plus a
make-whole payment, and

- atemporary restriction on the prepayment of certain financial indebtedness and reductions in facility amounts, and a coupon premium of 0 75% until the Fall
Away Criteria’ have been met

In connection with a waiver atlowing cansent for the disposal of Parking Eye, in November 2018, Capita agreed amendments to its euro fixed rate bearer notes
and Schuldschein loan agreement including:

- a waiver of the limitation on disposals to allow the disposal of Parking Eye;
+ a temporary restriction of the prepayment of certain financial indebtedness and reductions in facility amounts;
+ acoupon premium of 0.75% until the Fall Away Criteria have been met; and

« an offer to prepay principal from the net proceeds of the Parking Eye disposal, equivalent pro-rata to the prepayment element of the Prepayment Target
offered to the noteholders to the US private placement loan notes.

1 The 'Fall Away Criteria’ include a ane-time test of leverage being less than 1.5x at the 31 December 2018, 30 June 2019 and 31 Decernber 2019 testing periods on a look-lorward
basts, and the achievement of the Prepayment Target

The repayments and prepayments made pursuant to the above mentioned agreements with its lenders are set out in the below table.

US private

Event Oate of payment/prepayment placement loan notes Eurs fixed rate bearer notes & Schuldschein loan
Erm equivatent at date Em equivalant at date

af offer to prepay of offer to prepay

Rights issue June 2018 150.0 -
Loan notes that matured in 2018 June, July and September 2018 222.0 -
Disposal of Supplier Assessment Services August 2018 70.2 -
Disposal of Parking Eye November 2018 778 48.2
Total psyment/prepayment 520.0 48.2

On 19 November 2018 the Prepayment Target was formally agreed as having been achieved with the noteholders to the US private placement notes.

The leverage ratio at 31 December 2018 is 1.2, The Company reasonably expects the leverage ratio to be less than 1.5x at 30 june 2019 and 31 December 2019.
As a consequence, the Company expects to make formal statements to the noteholders of the US private placements [oan notes on 14 March 2019 stating the
same, at which point the Fall Away Criteria will be met. At this point the temporary conditions referred to above including the 0.75% coupon premium will cease
to apply.

The Group incurred financing arrangement fees on the amendments to the US private placement loans during the year amounting to £3.7m which has been
included in the carrying value of the private placement toan notes {new issue and amendment fees: 2017: £2.1m). In addition the Group incurred £13.3m of
associated prepayment costs and £2.5m of other financing costs which have been included in adjusting finance costs {2017: £nil). Issue and amendment costs
are spread over the term of the loan notes, The unamortised balance of issue and amendment costs at the year-end totalled £3.7m (2017: £3.4m)

The Group's bank term loan is a £100m five-year term loan maturing in May 2019 which bears interest at floating rates linked to Libor.

The obligations under finance leases are secured on the assets being financed. The term loan, US private placement loan notes, euro fixed rate bearer notes,
and Schuldschein loan are all unsecured.

The public sector subsidiary partnership payment fiability is an estimate of the annual preferred payments to be made by AXELOS Limited {the partnership
formed with the Cabinet Office) to the Cabinet Office in 2019 to 2023. The payments are funded by AXELOS Limited and are individually contingent on the
profits of that business. After the contractual obligations to make these payments have been met or have expired, the shareholders will be entitled to share in
the retained profits pro rata to their equity interest in AXELOS Limited. .

The third-party non-controlling sharehatders of AXELOS Limited and Fera Science Limited hold options to sell their shareholdings to a member of the Group.
Accordingly, a biability of £118.5m [2017: £122.4m) has been recognised and a corresponding entry has been recorded against retained eamings. The option heid
by the nan-controlling shareholder in AXELOS became exarcisable on 1 January 2019 and as a result is included as a current liability notwithstanding the fact that
the Company is nat in receipt of any notice of intention to exercise the option,

The option held by the non-controlling shareholder in Fera Science Limited is not expected to become exercisable within a year. As a result the associated liability
is recorded as non-current,

During the year, Capita Business Services Limited paid £6.8m in retum for an amendment to the terms of the joint venture shareholders’ agreement previously
entered into with the non-controlling shareholder in Entrust Support Services Limited. The variation agreement cancelled the option previously held by the non-
controlting shareholder to sell its shares in Entrust Suppart Services Limited to Capita Business Services Limited under certain circumstances. As at 31 Decernber
2017 a current liability of £6.8m was recorded in respect of this option,

The Group has available to it a committed Revolving Credit Facility of £600m of which £81m matures in August 2020 and £519m matures in August 2021,
The facility is available for the Group's immediate use and £nil was drawn down at 31 Decernber 2078 (2017: £nil).

The covenant terms in respect of the above liabilities are discussed in note 2. Borrowing costs of £nil were capitalised in the year {2017; £nil),
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23 Financial liabilities continued

At 31 Decernber 2018, the Group's US private placement loan notes, surc fixed rate bearer notes, and the Schuldschein loan were as follows:

Private placement loan notes I enominaton e Maturity
Issued 2010

Series C 478 GBP 371 30 June 2020
Issued 2017’

Series A 4,85 GBP 371 22 July 2019
Senes C 476 GBP 260 19 July 2021
Issued 2013

Series A 373 GBP 5L.7 30 September 2020
Issued 2015

Series C 3.26 GBp 186 22 January 2022
Series F 354 GBp 74 22 January 2025
Series G 3.67 GBP 22.3 22 April 2025
Series | 3.58 GBP 238 22 January 2027
Issued 2016

Series B 218 GBP 360 27 October 2021
Series D 2.52 GBpP 27.5 27 October 2023
Series F 277 GBP 18.6 27 October 2026
Total GBP denominated loan notes GBP 3101

Issued 20102

Series B ' 4,80 usD 185.7 30 June 2020
fssued 20132

Series B 4.65 usb 504 22 July 2019
Series B 450 UsD 175.3 19 july 2021
Series A 475 uso ETAl 26 July 2021
Issued 20157

Series A 333 st 29.7 22 January 2022
Series B 343 usp 483 22 April 2022
Series D 345 uso 394 22 |anuary 2023
Series E 365 usp 743 22 January 2025
Series H 3.80 uso 275 22 January 2027
Issued 20162

Serjes A 303 usp 186 27 October 2021
Series C 337 UsD 17.8 27 October 2023
Series E 3.59 UsD 19.3 27 Qctober 2026
Total USD denomil d loan notes usD 732.4

Issued 2015

Fixed rate bearer notes 2125 EUR 179.0 10 Novernber 2022
Fixed rate bearer notes 2.875 EUR 60.0 10 November 2027
Schuldschein loan 2125 EUR 16.0 10 Novernber 2022
Total euro denominated fixed rate bearer notes and Schuldschein loan EUR 255.0

1 The Group has entered into interast rate swaps to convert the interest cost ta flsating rates based on 6-manth G8P LIBCR

2 The Group has ertered inta currency swaps for the USD issues ta achieve a floating rate of interest based on 6-month GBP LIBOR Further disclosure on the Group's use of hedges is

included (n note 26.
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24 Obligations under leases and hire purchase contracts

The Group uses finance leases and hire purchase contracts to acquire plant and machinery. These teases have terms of renewal and purchase options but no
escalation clauses Renewals are at the option of the lessee

The value of future minimum lease payments is analysed as follows:

'_Wl 017
Em Em
| 0.0

0.2

Not later than 1 year

The Group has entered into commercial leases on properties, mator vehicles and items of plant and machinery. These leases have an average duration
of between 3 and 10 years.

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Z018 2017
. Em £m

Not [ater than 1 year 99.2 19.2

Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years l 2453 2858

Later than 5 years 3915 4280

| 736.01 833.0

25 Provisions
.. . - ., Asetservices Claim and

privision B - provision prirsi :mpe'ny Other Total

Em £m Em Em Em £m Em

As at 1 January 2018 10.5 37.0 691 64.3 22.5 9.1 2126
Provisians provided for in the year 419 227 - 6.4 23 127 86.0]
Provisions released in the year {s.0) (17N (4.6) (7.9} (1.8) n {22.7)
Utilisatian (35.5) {40.9) {61.5) {(16.4) (3.5) {39) {(161.7)
Provisions acquired : — - - — 0.6 1.5 2.1 l
Disposal of subsidiaries - - — - (0.1) - (0.7}
Reclassification between categories - 0.4 — - {0.1) (0.3) —I
As at 31 December 2018 i 12.0 .75 3.0 46.4 19.9 17.4 116.2 |

The provisians made above have been shown as current or non-current on the balance sheet to indicate the Group's expected timing of the matters reaching
conclusion.

Judgement is required in measuring and recognising provisions related to pending litigation or other cutstanding claims subject to negatiated settlement,
mediation and arbitration, as wall as other contingent liabilities. Judgement is necessary in assessing the likelihood that a pending claim will succeed, or a liability
will arise, and to quantify the possible range of the financial settlement. Because of the inherent uncertainty in this evaluation process, actual losses may be
different from the originally estimated provision Where practicable, the range of reasonably possible outcames and sensitivities of the carrying amounts to the
methodology, assumptions and estimates, the reason for the sensitivity, the expected resolution of uncertainties and the range of reasonable possible
atternatives, are provided below. Where no reliable basis of estimation can be made, no provision is recorded. However, contingent liabilities disclosures are given
when there is a greater than a remote probability of outflow of economic benefits,

Restructuring provision: The provision represents the cost of reducing role count where there is a constructive obligation created through communication to
affected employees which has crystallised a valid expectation that roles are at risk. Additionally, it reflects the onerous nature of property lease provisions (net of
any sub-letting opportunity) on a discounted basis, where due to the reduced requirement for space there is additional surplus capacity. During the year,
additional provision has been made for costs as further restructuring opportunities related to the transformation plan have been identified

Business exit pravision: The provision relates to the cost of exiting businesses through disposal or closure including professional fees related to business exits
and the costs of separating the businesses being disposed.

Capita Asset Services indemnity provisian: In 2017 the Group agreed a full and final settiement with the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) regarding the
Connaught Income Series 1 Fund (the Fund). Capita Financial Managers Limited {CFM) was the Operator of the Fund until September 2009, when it was replaced
by an unrelated company as Operator, following which CFM had no further involvement with the Fund. The Fund went into liquidation in 2012 and its liquidator
brought a claim against both former Operators, which for its part, Capita settled in 2016 for a sum of £18.5m.

The FCA undertook a formal review of the activities of both Operators and announced that its conclusion was that CFM digd not meet all of its regulatory
requirements in the pericd April 2008 to September 2009. To ensure that investars receive appropriate redress and to bring this matter to a close enabling the
smoath disposal of CFM, CFM and Capita agreed a full and final settlement with the FCA. in reaching this settlement, the full cooperation which CFM gave to the
FCA during the course of its investigation was acknowledged.

CFM agreed 1o a further £66 Om being made avaitable for the benefit of the Fund's investors, with Capita agreeing to fund this amount. The FCA considered that
this payment was sufficient to return the amount onginally invested, taking into account any interest, distributions and other payments that had already been
received, with the intention of placing investors as closely as possible back into the position they would have beea in if they had never invested in the Fund.

This settlerment allowed for the available funds to be directed towards the Fund’s Investors. Given the circurmstances, the FCA did not consider that it would be
approptiate to require CFM 1o pay a financial penalty



144  Capita plc Annual Repart 2018

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

25 Provisions continued

Capita made provision for the redress payment and associated legal costs of £66.8m as at 31 Decernber 2017. CFM and the FCA subsequently reached agreement,
on the basis of third-party calculations of the liability due, such that the final amount of the redress payment will not exceed £61.5m, and accordingly £4.6m of
the provision has been released The final quantum: of the redress payments is expected to be determined in the first half of 2019.

Capita completed the disposal of its Asset Services businesses, including CFM, to the Link Group on 3 Novermber 2017, Capita plc, as part of the sale of the Capita
Asset Services businesses, has provided an indemnity against certain legacy claims. The provisions held, namely the Asset Services settlement provision which
includes pravisions for Arch Cru, Connaught and other legacy claims, have therefore been retained within the Group. Giving due consideration to these claims,
the Group provided £69.1m {including the £66.8m above) as at 31 December 2017, A provision of E3 Om remains as at 31 December 2018 and is expected to
unwind within the next 12 months,

Claims and litigation provision: In addition to the Capita Asset Services Indemnity pravision, the Group is exposed to other claims and litigation. The Group
makes a provision when a claim has been made where it is more probable than not that a loss might occur. These provisions are reassessed regularly to ensure
that the level of provisioning is consistent with the claims that have been reported. The range of values attached to these claims, can be significant and, where
obligations are probable and estimable, provisions are made representing the Grotrp's best estimate of the expenditure to be incurred. The Group robustly
defends its position on each claim and they are often settled for amounts significantly smaller than the initial claim and may result in no transfer of economic
benefits. Therefore, we do not disclose a range of possible outcomes for these clams.

In the period, the Group has settled a number of liabilities which it had provided far in previous years. Additionally, it has provisions, which cnginate due to the
nature of the Group's activities and revised existing provisions where more information on the progress of the daim has become apparent. In addition, £5.5m
provision was released from a provision made in 2017 relating to the Group’s Real Estate & Infrastructure business.

The Group’s exposure to claims is mitigated by having in place a number of large insurers providing cover for the Group's activities, albeit insurance recoveries are
only recognised as an asset at the point the recovery is virtually certain. At the 31 December 2017, an asset had been recognised of £5.0m in respact of recoveries
under an indemnity, no other recovery assets had been recognised. No recovery assets have been recognised as at 3T December 2018.

Due to the nature of these dlaims, the Group cannot give an estimate of the periad over which this provision will unwind.

Property pravision: Includes a provision of £10.7m (2017: £12.8m}, made on a discounted basis, for the difference between the market value of property leases
acquired in 2011 with the Ventura and Vertex Private Sector acquisitions and the lease obligations committed to at the date the leases were signed by the
previous owners. This is in accardance with IFRS 3 {revised) which requires the use of fair value measurermnent.

The remaining property provision of £9.2m {2017 £9.7m) is made on a discounted basis for the future rent expense and related cost of leasehold property {net of
estimated sub-lease income) where the space is vacant or currently not planned to be used for ongoing operations. The expectation i5 that this expenditure will
be incurred over the remaining periods of the leases which range from 1to 24 years.

Qther provisions: Relates to provisions in respect of other potential exposures arising due to the nature of some of the operations that the Grougp provides, the
maost significant of which are in respect of immaterial onerous contracts, These are likely to unwind over a pericd of 1to 10 years,

26 Financial instruments

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's pnincipal finandial instruments comgprise cash, bank loans, private placement foan notes, finance leases and derivatives, the purpose of which is to
provide liquidity for the Group’s operations and to manage its financial risks. The Group has various other financial instruments including trade receivables and
trade payables arising from its aperations.

The derivatives comprise interest rate swaps, cross-currency swaps, and forward currency contracts held with its relationship banks, all of which have investment
grade credit ratings. The derivatives' purpose is to manage interest rate and currency risks arising from the Group's operations and its sources of finance. It is the
Group’s policy that no speculative trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken,

The mazin risks arising from the Group's financial instruments ar interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liguidity risk. The Board periadically
reviews and agreas policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below,

Carrying values and fair values of financial instruments

The following table analyses by dlassification and category the carrying value of the Group's financial instruments (excluding short-term debtors, creditors,
payables/receivables and cash in hand}.

The carrying values are a reasonable approximation to the fair value of financiat instruments with the exception of the 12 private placement loan notes that
remain subject to fixed rate interest. The fair value has been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows at prevailing foreign exchange spot and
forward rate, and interest rate curves. The valuation models use foreign exchange spot and forward rates and interest rate curves. These have a camying vatue of
£473.3m and a fair value of £455 6m.

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents including receivables and payables approximates to the camying amount because of the short maturity of these
instruments.

The fair value of floating rate bomowings approximates to the carrying value because interest rates are at floating rates where payrments are reset to market
values at intervals of less than one year. The private placement loan notes that have been hedged to floating rates af interest have a carrying value of £634.7m
and a fair value of £634.7m
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The fair value of cross-cumency and interest swaps is determined using discounted cash flow techniques based on readily available market data. The fair value of
the cross-currency and interest rate swaps are provided in note 18 — Financial assets, and note 23 - Financial liabilitfes.

T Atfairvalue Derivatives At fair value
throu, Amortised used for through
As at 31 December 2018 e ’£mL = 1“""lzr:r-‘ 22 T°£"-'nl
Financial assets
Cash — 957.5 — — 957.5
Insurance asset recoverable - 1.3 - - 13
Cash flow hedges - - 83 — 83
Non-designated foreign exchange forwards and swaps ag - - - 39
Interest rate swaps in relation to GBP denominated loan nates — - 1.9 - 1.9
Currency swaps in relation to USD denominated loan notes I — —_ 103.1 — 1031
Investments —_ - - 6.1 6.1
Held for trading assets ] — - - 27 27
| 3.9 958.8 113.3 88 108481
AtTalrvalue  Atfalrvalue  Derivatives Cther ]
through through used for financial
equity the PAL hedging tiabilities Total
Em Em &m Em Em
Financial liabilities
Overdrafts - - - 314.8 3148
Private placement loan notes - - — 1108.0 11080
Qther loan nates - - — 0.3 03
Term loan — — — 100.0 100.0
Cash flow hedges - — 1.2 — 1.2
Non-designated foreign exchange forwards art swaps - 14 - - 1.4
Cumrency swaps in relation to USD denominated loan notes - - 35 - 35
Contingent consideration — 89 — 89
Deferred consideration - - - 2.0 20
Public sectar subsidiary partnership payment - - — 435 435
Put optians of nop-controlling interests 118.5 — — — 118.5
L 1ss 103 47 15686 17021

The aggregate loan note value above of £1,108.0m includes the GBP carrying value of the USD denominated loan notes at 21 Decernber 2018. To mitigate
exposure ta currency fluctuations the Group has entered into currency swaps which effectively hedge movements in the loan notes' fair value arising from
changes in foreign exchange and interest rates. Interest rate swaps hedge exposure to changes in the fair value of GBP denominated Loan notes, The fair values of
the currency and interest swaps are provided in note 18 — Financial assets and note 23 - Financial liabilities.
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At fair value Derivatives
the Loans and used for  Avalable for
At 31 December 2017 PE&n'; mm‘#: hdg'fnrﬁ ?-l:; Tnsﬂ
Financial assets
Cash . — 9217 — - a7
Available-for-sale assets' - - - 46 46
Deferred consideration’ — 52 - — 5.2
Insurance asset recoverahle’ — 50 — - 5.0
Cash flow hedges - — 78 - 78
Non-designated foreign exchange farwards and swaps 77 —_ — — 77
Interest rate swaps in relation to GBP denominated loan notes - - 5.4 - 54
Currency swaps in relation to USD denominated loan notes — — 185.3 — 185 3
77 9319 198.5 45 1,142.7
Al faie value Desivatives
lhmug: vsed for  Other finanaal

the PEL hedging labdives Toual
Em Em Em £m

Financial liabilities
Overdraft - — 4433 4433
Private placement loan notes - - 1,664.0 1,664.0
Other loan notes — — 03 03
Term loan — — 100.0 1000
Cash flow hedges —_— 27 - 27
Nen-designated foreign exchange forwards and swaps 03 — - 0.3
Currency swaps in relation to USD denominated loan notes — as - 85
Contingent consideration — —_ 24.6 246
Deferred consideration - - 131 131
Obligations under finance leases — - 02 0.2
Public sector subsidiary partnership payment - - 51.2 51.2
Put options of nan-controlling interests — — 122.4 122.4
0.3 112 2,419.1 2,430.6

1 Classification has changed in 2018 following the adoption of IFRS 5.

The fair valtte of financial instruments has been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows at prevailing interest rates, except for held for trading

assets (which are unlisted equity securities) and investrnent loans. The valuation models incorporate various inputs including foreign exchange spot and forward
rates and interest rate curves. Unlisted equity securities and investment loans are held at amortised cost The Group enters into derivative financial instruments
with multiple counterparties, all of which are financial institutions with investment grade credit ratings

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables show the fair value measurernent of financial instruments by level of the fair value hierarchy:

Level 1. quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets far identical assets or liabilities

Level 2: other techniques far which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either directly or indirectly

Leve! 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on observable market data.
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At 31 December 2018
[ tewelztar  Levelafair
value value
| Em
Financial assets
Cash flow hedges 8.3 -
Non-designated foreign exchange forwards and swaps 39 -
Held for trading assets - 2.7
Investments - 6.1
Interest rate swaps in relation to GBP denominated loan notes 19 -
Currency swaps in relation to USD denominated loan notes ] 103.1 —_
Total financial assets 1 nr2 88|
Financial liabilities
Private placement loan notes 634.7 -
Cash filow hedges 1.2 -
Currency swaps in relation to USD denominated loan notes 35 -
Contingent consideration - 8.9
Non-designated foreign exchange forwards and swaps 1.4 -—
Put options of non-controtling interests - 185
Public sector subsidiary partnership payment - 43.5
Total financial liabilities I~ 6408 176.9
At 31 Decemnber 2017
Level 2 far Level 3 fair
. value value
Em Em
Financial assets
Cash flow hedges 78 - -
Available-for-sale assets — 4.6
Non-designated foreign exchange forwards and swaps 7 —
Interest rate swaps in relation to GBP denominated loan notes 54 —
Curency swaps in relation to USD denominated loan notes 185.3 —
Total financial assets 206.2 4.6
Financial liabilities
Private placement loan notes 1,059.6 —
Cash flow hedges 27 -
Currency swaps in relation to USD denominated loan notes 85 -
Contingent consideratien - 246
Non-designated foreign exchange forwards and swaps 03 -
Public sector subsidiary partnership payment - 51.2
Put options of non-contrelling interests — 122.4
1.071.1 198.2

Total financial liabilities

During the year ended 31 December 2018, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements and no transfers into or out of Level 3

fair value measurements.

The fioating rate private placernent loan notes which have a carrying value of £634.7m and a fair vatue of £634.7m include the GBP equivalent of the U5 Dallar

denaminated loan notes at 31 December 2018

The fair value of cross-currency and interest swaps is determined using discounted cash flow techniques based on readily available market data

Contingent consideration arises in business acquisitions where the Group has agreed to pay the vendors additional consideration dependent on the achievement
of perforrnance targets in the post-acquisition periods. These performance periods are up to 3 years in duration and will be settled in cash and loan notes if the
relevant targets are achieved. The Group provides for such contingent cansideration for each acquisition based on an assessment of fair value at the acquisition
date. The contingent consideration has been catculated using a probability-weighted range of outturns.

A sensitivity analysis has been perfarmed on the expected contingent consideration of £8 9m, The analysis adjusts the probability of payment of the contingent
amounts A 10% increase in the probability of contingent consideration being paid results in an increase in potential contingent consideration of £1.2m. A 10%
decrease in the probability of the contingent consideration being paid results in a decrease in potential contingent consideration of £0.7m.
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The public sector subsidiary partnership payment liability is an estimate of the apgregate of annual payments to the Cabinet Office in the years 2019 to 2023 to
be made by AXELOS Limited (the partnership formed with the Cabinet Office). This payment is funded by AXELOS Limited and the carrying value of £43.5m has
been derivad by discounting the expected payment at an annualised rate of 2.8% to present value.

The carrying value of the liability is sensitive to movements in the profitability of AXELOS and is subject to a cap Under all reasonably plausible scenarios the cap
-has been reached and therefore the sensitivity to changes in both the discount rate and the cash flows that have been used to calcutate it is £nil

The put aptions of non-contralling interest are in respect of AXELOS and Fera (see note 23). These are measured at fair value which has been calculated based
an the expected amounts that will be paid in cash by the Group to purchase the shares of the non-tentrolling interests at the expected date of exercise of the
options, which has then been discounted at a annualised rate of 2.8% to arrive at its present value.

The sensitivity of the valuation of the put option of the non-controlling interest to movements in both the discount rate and the cash flows that have been used
to calculate it are as follows: a 10% increase in the eamings potential of the business results in a £11.3m increase in the valvation; a 10% decrease in the earnings
potential of the business results in a £11.8m decrease in the valuation; a 1% increase in the discount rate applied to the valuation results in a £0.7m decrease in
the valuation; and a 1% decrease in the discount rate applied to the vatuation results in a £0.2m increase in the valuation.

The following table shows the reconciliation from the opening balances to the closing balances for Level 3 fair vafues.

Subsidiary  Put.opticns of

Contngent partnarship  non-controlling Held for

considenation payment intenests Imesstments  wRding assets

Em Em Em Em £m

At 1 January 2018 24.6 51.2 122 4 — 4.6
Profit and loss movement (5.3) - — — (1.9}

Utilised {10.4} (9.4) —_ - -

Movement of put options recognised in equity —_ - 29 - —

Fair value of assets and liabilities acquired - - - 6.1 -

Cancellation of put aption - - - (6.8) - —

Discount unwind - 17 - - —

As at 31 December 2018 i 8.9 435 . M85 6.1 27

Risk management framework
The Group’s Board of Directors has overall responsibility far the establishment and oversight of the Group's risk management framework, which is outlined on
pages 4451 of the strategic repart.

Interest rate risk

The Group manages its interest rate exposure, which arises from the private placement loan notes, using a mix of fixed and variable rate financial instruments.
The Group’s USD denaminated private placement loan notes are at fixed rates that have been swapped to floating rate GBP liabilities with cross-currency swaps.
These are desighated as fair value hedges against the changes in the fair value of the private placement loan notes that arise from changes in foreign currency
exchange and interest rates.

The Group's GBP denominated private placement [oan notes are at fixed rates, Certain of these notes have been converted to floating rate GBP interest through

interest rate swaps. The swaps are designated as fair value hedges against the changes in the fair value of the private placement loan notes that arise from
changes in interest rates.

The GBP equivalent of the underlying nominal value of private placement loan notes that remain at fixed rates of interest at 31 December 2018 was £473.3m.
The GBP equivalent of the underlying nominal value of private placement loan notes that are exposed to floating rates of interest was £540.5m Together with
the £100m term loan, the total drawn exposure to floating rates of interest at 31 Decernber 2018 was £640.5m.

This [evel of floating rate interest exposure, when considered with the floating rate interest received on cash and deposits gives the Group an acceptable overall
interest rate risk profile.

The interest rate profile of the interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities of the Group at 31 December was as follows:

Within Betr B Mare than
As at 31 December 2018 ! b= b 74 x2 Ym 3 Y ad e s“;: TDEI::
Fixed rate
Private placement loan notes —_ 92.8 36.0 191.5 27.5 1254 473.3
Floating rate
Cash in hand (957.5}) - - - — - (957.5¥
Overdraft 3148 -_ - — —_ -_ 3148
Private placement loan notes 822 145.9 209.5 60.1 442 929 634.8
Term loan 1000 — — —_ - - 100.0
Interest rate swap in relation to GBP denominated loan notes (0.5} - {1.4) — - — (1.9}
Currency swaps in relation to USD denominated loan notes (9.3} (21.8) {35.5) (12.2) (5.3) {15.5) (99.6},
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within B Ex Bi More than
As at 31 December 2017 Y Bmm P e S e o
Fixed rate
Private placement loan notes - — 124.5 482 2439 1865.2 602.8
_Obligations under finance leases 0.2 — — — — — 0.2
Floating rate
Cash in hand (921.7) - - — — — (921.7}
Overdraft 4433 - - - — — 4433
Private placement loan notes 2241 127 194.7 2rsy 78.1 1759 1,061.2
Term loan — 100.6 — - - -_ 100.0
Interest rate swap in relation to GBP denominated loan notes - (2.4) — (3.0} - - (5.4)
Currency swaps in relation to USD denominated loan notes {72.2) {10.1) (26.3) (37.8} (12.5) (17.9) (176 8)
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably passible change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group's profit
before tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings) There is no impact on the Group’s equity.
Increasef{decrease) in incerest EﬂmheTwp!mlf;
e Em Em
2018 0.5% {0.5)% (3.2) 32]
2017 05%  [05)% {4.9) 49

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s exposure to foreign exchange risk arises primanly from cash flows that are not in the native currency of the relevant operation. The Group is not
generally exposed to significant foreign currency transaction risk except where it purchases services in non-native currencies in INR and USD. The Group seeks to
mitigate the effect of this exposure by entering forward currency contracts (including Non-deliverable Forward Contracts (NDFs)) to fix the GBP cost of highly
probable forecast transactions.

To maximise hedge effectiveness the Group executes the forward currency contracts with terms matching the underlying cash flows.

At 31 December 2018, the Group held foreign exchange forwards against forecast monthly INR costs expected in the years up to and including 2020. These
forecast costs have baen determined on the basis of the undertying cash flows associated with the defivery of services under executed customer contracts.

In addition the Group holds foreign exchange forwards against committed costs refating to the purchase of cloud software services in USD in years up to and
including 2023,

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in JINR and USD exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group's profit before tax and the Group's equity due to changés in the fair value of the Graup's forward exchange contracts.

US Dollars Indian rupee
Increasef Effect on Increase/ Effect on
[decease) profit Effect on (deuung profit Effect on
inUSD belore tax equity niN beforne vax equity
exchange rate Em Em exchange rate Em £fm
2018 ) 5.0% (2.2) _{13) 5.0% —- 0.6i
2037 - - —_ 50% — o7

Hedges

Fair value hedges

The Group has in issue fixed rate USD and GBP private placerment loan notes which it has hedged through a combination of interest rate and cross-currency
swaps.

At 31 December 2018 the Group had interest rate swaps in place with a notional amount of £631m (2017 £85.0rm) whereby it receives a weighted average fixed

rate of interest of 4.81% (2017: fixed rate of interest 4.81%) and pays variable rates based on 6-month GBP Libor. The swaps hedge the exposure to changes in
the fair valua of £63.1m (2017: £85.0m) of the Group's private placement loan notes.

The Group had in place currency swaps whereby it receives a fixed rate of interest and pays a variable rate based on 6-month GBP Libor. The currency swaps are
being used to hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of £477.4m (2017: £794.8m) of the Group's loan niotes, which have coupon rates ranging from
-3 03% to 4.85%.

The currency swaps are being used to hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of its US dollar denominated loan notes The loan notes, cumrency and
interest rate swaps have the same critical terms including the amount and the date of maturity (see note 23).

The total loss in the year on the fair value hedges of £27.5m (2017: total loss £184.0m), excluding credit risk, was equal to the gain/loss on the hedged items
resulting in no net gain or loss in the income statement apart from hedge ineffectiveness from credit risk and currency basis risk totalling £4.7m credit (2017:
£0 6m credit) to the income statement - shown in net finance costs - note 9.

The Group may, at its option, upen notice of not less than 30 days and not more than 60 days, make repayments to its USD and GBP private placement loan
notes at a contractual rate
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The impact of the hedged item en the statement of financial pesition as at 31 December 2018 is, as follows-

National Carrying Change in F¥ used for
Amount Amaunt  Line item in the statement measuring ineffectiveness
£m Em  of financial positian £m
© "™ “Interestrate swap™ T~ T 7T =T ' } §3.1 1.9 Financial assets ~ . (3.5) ~
Notioral Carrying Change in F¥ used for
Amourt Amount Line item in the statement measuring ineflectiveness
£m £m af financial position £m
Currency swap —asset | a2y 103.1  Financial assets 27.3|
Currency swap — liability | 44.7 (3.5) Financial liabilities {0.9)

The impact of the hedged item on the statement of financiat position as at 31 December 2018 is, as follows:

Accumulated
Carrying F¥ Change in F¥ used far '
Amount adjustment. Lina itern in the statement measuring ineffectiveness
Em £m of finencisl position £m
Private placement loan notes I 1,080 101.5 Financial Liabilities {27.5}
Cash flow hedges

As noted above, the Group holds a series of forward exchange currency contracts in the form of NDFs designated as hedges of highly probable forecast
transactions in INR of the Group's Indian operations and committed USD costs.

2018 2007
Forward exchange contracts ‘“E:,‘. u-umfs: m;: mbmm
Fair value I 8.3 (1.2) 7.8 (2.7)

The terms of the forward currency contracts have been executed to match the terms of the commitments,

The cash flow hedges are in respect of highly probable forecast monthly costs, based on long-term contracts that the Group has in place, denominated in INR
and USD up to 2023, These were assessed to be highly effective at 31 December 2018 and a net cumulative unrealised gain of £4.7m (2017. gain of £5.1m) less
incorne tax credit of £3 3m (2017: credit of £3.2m) was recognised in equity. The net gain recognised on cash flow hedges during the year was £2.0m (2017: net
gain £2.0m) while net gains of £2.5m (2017: losses of £0 3m) were rectassified to the income statement and included in finarice costs. The tax effect of the net
movement in cash flow hedges during the year was a credit ta OC) of £0.1m (2017: debit of £0.4m).

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties it 15 the Group's policy that all clients who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to eredit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group's exposure to bad debts is not
significant.

Animpairment analysis is performed at each reporting date to measure expected credit losses. The transition to IFRS 9 has not resulted in a material change
to the Group's level of receivable provisioning,

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group, such as cash and cash equivalents, held for trading financial investrnents,
investment loan, certain derivative instruments and accrued income, the Group's exposure to credit risk arises from the risk of a default of the counterparty.
The Group manages its operations to avoid any excessive concentration of counterparty risk and the Group takes all reasonable steps to seek assurance from
the counterparties to ensure that they can fulfil their obligations.

The Group has a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of the above receivables and instruments.

The mark-to-market movement on derivatives includes the extent to which the fair value of these instruments has been affected by the perceived change in the
creditworthiness of the counterparties to those instruments and that of the Group itself {own credit risk). The Group is comfortable that the risk attached to
those counterparties is not significant and believes that the currency swaps continue to act as an effective hedge against the movements in the fair value of the
Group's issued USD denominated loan notes.

Liquidity risk
The Group's policy is to hold cash and undmwn committed facilities at a level sufficient to fund the Group’s operations and its mediumn-term plans.

The Group monitors its risk of experiencing a shartage of funds through a daily cash management process. This process considers the maturity of both the
Group's financial irvestrnents and financial assets (e g accounts receivable, other financial assets) and projected cash flows from operations

The Croup's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use or availability of multiple sources of funding
including private placement loan notes, bank loans, term loans, cash, overdrafts and finance leases over a broad spread of maturities to 2027,
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The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2018 based on contractual undiscounted payments.

Within B B & More than
As at 31 Dacember 2018 Ty VIymm o Eaymn yme Sy Syene To
Overdraft 3148 —_ — - —_ - 314.8
Private placement loan notes 838 238.6 2433 254.9 724 221.0 1,74.0
Other loan notes 03 — - — - - 03
Interest on above loan notes 45.0 326 26.2 1438 9.2 20.0 147.8
Term foan ;1000 - — — - - 100.0
Interest on above term loan 0.8 - — - — —_ 08
Contingent consideration — 89 — - — — 8.9
Public sector subsidiary partnership payment 9.4 9.4 9.4 9.4 94 - 47.0
Put optians of non-controlling interests N 107.3 - 1.2 -_— — - 18.5
Currency swaps 13 13 13 [1X-] 08 1.4 71
Non-designated foreign exchange forwards and swaps 01 - — — — - 0.1
Cash Row hedpes 1.0 — - — — — 1.0

1 663.8 290.8 291.4 280.0 91.9 242.4 1,860.3 1

Within Between Between Between Between Move than
As at 371 December 2017 ! ,:-m 2 F;; e F::\ = “E.: « “E.: g y‘e': T?:
Overdraft 443.3 - - - - — 4433
Private placement loan notes 219.0 109.2 3100 3136 3249 3638 1,640.5
Other loan notes — - 03 —_ - - 03
Interest on above loan notes 65.8 52.4 41.6 33z 186 355 2473
Term loan - 100.0 - - - - 100.0
Interest on above term loan 16 06 - - - — 22
Contingent consideration 121 - 12.5 - - - 246
Public sector subsidiary partnership payment . 9.4 9.4 9.4 9.4 94 9.4 56.4
Put optians of non-controlling interests 68 108.8 - 0.5 - —_ 1261
Obligations under finance leases 0.2 — — — - - 0.2
Curency swaps 14 14 1.4 14 1.0 256 9.2
Non-designated foreign exchange forwards and swaps 0.2 - - - - - 02z
Cash flow hedges 17 - — — — — 1.7

7615 3818 3752 368.1 353.9 411.3 2,651.8

The above payments have been calculated based on the prevailing foreign exchange rates and interest rates at the end of the reporting period. For currency

swaps, only payments are included, receipts are excluded

Master netting or similar agreements

The Group has notional cash pools with its banks under which the bank may net cash balances with overdrafts held by other members of the Group. The effect of

this is shown in the table below.

{m and net
’ amounts Related
of fimancial financial
instruments in instruments
the balance thatare
As at 31 December 2018 T e
Financial assets l
Cash at bank 957.5 (280.3) 677.2
Financial liabilities ‘
Qverdrafts (314.8) 280.3 {34.5)
GCross and net
Fmounts Related
of financial fimangjul
instruments nstruemnents
n the tha;f:;e
As at 31 December 2017 belanceshees  otolfer Netame
Financial assets -
Cash at bank 521.7 {387 7) 5340
Financial liabilities
Qverdrafts {443.3) 387.7 {55.6)
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Capital management

The primary objective of the Group's ¢apital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit standing, evidenced by healthy capital ratios, to support its
ongoing business operations and to maximise shareholder value The Group manages its capital structure, and makes adjustrnents to it, in light of changes in
economic conditions. The Group’s capital management includes consideration of dividend payments or the retum of capital to shareholders or issuing new
shares. Focus on capital management forms an important component of Board meetings, with attention on various matters including return on caprtal employed,
ensuring a mix of funding sources te ensure continuity and flexibility, a balance between fixed and floating borrowings, a broad spread of maturities and adequate
Liquidity headreom

The Group's capital management process ensures that it meets financial covenants in its bomowing arrangements. Breaches in meeting the financial covenants
could permit the Group's lenders to immediately acceterate repayment of loans and borrowings. The Group monitors, as part of its monthly Board review, the
adherence to spedified consolidated leverage ratios and consolidated net interest expense coverage ratios. There have been no breaches in the financial covenants
of any loans and borrowings in the peried.

On 23 April 2018, the Company provided a transformation update and propesed rights isswe. The proceeds of the rights issue are being used to: () suppart the
delivery of Capita's new strategy; (i) continue to make further investments in the business; and {iii} reduce its indebtedness in order to help achieve its target
leverage ratio of between 1.0x and 2.0x adjusted net debt to adjusted EBITDA {prior to the adoption of IFRS 16},

The Group uses long-dated debt, genesally private placement loan notes and long-termm bank facilities, to enable it to manage refinancing risk and for the general
purposes of the Group, There are various constraints preventing the Group in using surplus cash to further reduce its debt. These include the need to maintain
adequate liquidity for operations over the course of the planning horizon, cash that is restricted under the terms of its regulated businesses, and the temporary
prohibition on the early repayment of debt that was agreed with the lenders of the Group’s private placement loan notes as set out above. A further
consideration is that future prepayments of debt could resuit in a requirement for a pound-for-pound acceleration of the payments to the pension scheme

Capita plc supports the growth of jts various financial services businesses. These financial firms are subject to various capital requirements impaosed by regulators.
These requirements do not apply to Capita ple itself and the Group is not required to provide consalidated returns for regulatory purposes. The board of each
regulated firm is responsible for ensuring it has embedded capital management frameworks that test there are adequate financial resources at all times. During
the year, each complied with alt externally imposed financial services regulatory capital requirements.

The Group seeks to maintain a conservative and efficient capital structure with an appropriate level of gearing. At 31 December 2018, our annualised adjusted net
debt to adjusted EBITDA ratio was 1.2x {2017: 2 2x) with annualised interest cover at 8.2x {2017: B.6x). These ratios are monitored monthly by the Board, The
Group’s transformation plan includes an assessment of the appropriate financial leverage for the Group over the medium term, to ensure that it has a sustainable
capital base to support its clients and operations, increase investment in the business and deliver its future strategy. The Board considers that the appropriate
financial feverage for Capita over the mediumn term should be an adjusted net debt to adjusted EBITDA ratio of between 1.0x and 2.0x {prior to the adoption of
IFRS 16).

The Group's debt facilities include typical maintenance obligations including covenant tests on indebtedness and restrictions on the level of liens and
indebtedness permitted outside a group of guarantor companies. The Board monitors ongoing compliance with the tests. The Group is satisfied that the
procedures in place ensure ongoing full compliance with the covenants

The Group raises debt in a number of markets incdluding the bank toan market, bank overdraft, finance lease and private placement markets. The Group has
available to it a committed Revolving Credit Facility of £600m of which £81m matures in August 2020 and £519m matures in August 2021, The facility was
undrawn at 31 December 2018 (2017: undrawn), and is available for the Group’s immediate use.

The Group has historically made use of short-term non-recourse invoice financing facilities provided to it by relationship banks £nil invoices had been sold under
these arrangements and not been settled at 31 December 2018 (2017: £110.0m).

The Group has now completed the normalisation of working capital management practices, an objective that was first announced on 31 january 2018, The Group
does not expect to use such invoice financing in future, Furthermare, the Group will aim to pay suppliers on time in accordance with agreed terms and not seek to
accelerate payments for customers beyond terms previously agreed.

Following the rights issue and strategic disposals made during the year, the Group repaid and prepaid a total of £577.2m of the private placement loan notes,
fixed rate bearer notes and the Schuldschein loan (see note 23) The maturity of the remaining balances 1s spread between 2019 and 2027 (see note 23).

Further to the Board's update on Capita's tansformation, capital structure, funding and trading outlook provided on 31 January 2018, the dividend has been
suspended until the Company is ganerating sustainable free cash flow. '

The table below presents quantitative data for the components the Group manages as capital.

2010 2017

€m ¢ £m
Cash in hand (957.5) (9217)
Overdrait 374.8 4433
Other loan notes ‘ 03, 03
Obligations under finance leases 0.0. 0.2
Private placement loan notes 1,108.0f 166840
Term loan 000{ 1000
Undrawn available Revolving Credit Facility : €00.0 600.0
Currency and interest rate swaps . {101.5) (182.2)

At 31 Decernber I 10641, 17039
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27 Issued share capital

Allotted, called up and fully paid f o ] o [ s I o

Ordinary shares of 2 1/15p each

At 1 )anuary l 670.1 6701 [ 138 138
Rights issue 1,001.0 - 2071 —
At 31 December 1,671.11 67011 3451 13.8

In May 2018, the Group offered a rights issue to existing shareholders on the basis of 3 shares for every 2 fully paid ordinary shares held The issue was fully
subscribed and resulted in the issue of 1,001,032,281 ordinary shares at £0 70 per share.

Share premium | zml I zcg:

Ordinary shares of 2 1/15p each

At 1 January I 5013 5013
Rights issue 6542.0 -
At 31 December 1 114331 501.3

The rights issue raised gross funds of £700 7m, The total amount capitalised to share capital and share premium was £662.7m (£700 7m less issuance costs of
£38.0m).

! zn1s[ 2017 I 2018 | 207
Treasury shares " Em Em

Ordinary shares of 2 1/15p

At 1 January I 32 I {0.1) ©1
Shares allotted in the year {0.3). —1 —_
At 31 December 1 2. 9] 298¢ {0.1) M (h]

In 2018, the Group made no purchases of shares into Treasury and allotted 28,057 (2017. 283,281) shares with an aggregate norninal value of £580 (2017:
£4,420). The total consideration received in respect of these shares was £nil (2017 £nil)

2017 I zom! 2007
Employee benafit trust shares m £m £m

Qrdinary shares of 2 1/15p

At 1 January 17 l (0.1} (0.1}
Shares ailotted in the year (01} —i -
Shares acquired during the year . 104 -1 (11.0} -
At 31 December 1 1201 161 (1.1} {0.)

The Group will use shares held in the employee benefit trust (EBT) in order to satisfy future requirements for shares under the Group's share option and long-
term incentive plans, During the year, the EBT allotted 32,367 (2017: 69,337) ardinary 2 1/15p shares with an aggregate nominal value of £669 (2017: £1,434)

to satisfy exercises under the Group's share option and long-term incentive plans The total consideration received in respect of these shares was £nil {2017- £nil).
The Group acquired 3.2m (2017: nil) ordinary 2 1/15p shares paying average market price of £1.87 per share with the total value of £6.0m (2017, £nil). Further,
the Group exercised its rights under the rights issue, puschasing 7.2m of shares at £0.70 per share, paying £5.0m. The aggregate value of shares were transferred
to the EBT.

The Group has an unexpired authority to re-purchase up ta 10% of its issued share capital.

28 Share-based payment plans
The Group operates several share-based payment plans. In April 2018 Capita announced a rights issue. The rights issue was made on the basis of three new shares
far every two existing shares held by qualifying shareholders at the record date.

To adjust for the dilutive impact of the 2018 nights issue, for share aptions held that had not vested by 25 May 2018, Capita granted an additionat 1639 (the
adjustment factor) share options for every share option that an emplayee held ta ensure that the fair value remained unchanged after dilution.

The expense recognised for share based payments in respect of employee services received during the year to 31 Decernber 2018 was £3.4m (2077 £2.9m credit),
all of which arises from equity-settled share based payment transactions. Details of the schemes are as follows:

Deferred annual bonus plan

This scheme is applicable to Executive Directors. Under this scheme, awards are made annually consisting of only deferred shares, which are linked to the payout
under the annual bonus scheme {details of which are contained in the Directors’ remuneration report on pages 80-98).

The value of deferred shares is determined by the pay-out under the annual bonus scheme: half of the annual bonus is paid in cash and the remainder 1s deferred
into shares under the deferred annual bonus plan. Directars have the optian to defer up to 100% of their anmual bonus inte deferred shares or net benusinto a
restricted share award. The deferred/restricted shares are held for a period of three years from the date of award, during which they are not forfeitable, except in
the case of dismissal for gross misconduct.
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28 Share-based payment plans continued

Long-term incentive plans (LTIPs) - 2008 & 2017
The 2008 LTIP was approved and adopted at the AGM on 6 May 2008 and the 2017 LTIP was approved and adopted at the AGM on 13 June 2017, This scheme is
open to semor employees and shares will vest according to performance criteria

For the 2016 award, vesting of the award will depend an share price growth, EPS growth and return on capital emplayed measured over a three-year period An
award will not vest if Capita's average share price at the date of vesting is below the average share price at the date of grant. 75% of the number of shares which
will vest is dependent upon the Company's EPS growth exceeding 6% and on banding within the scheme and 25% of the number of shares which will vest is
dependent upon the Company's return on capital employed exceeding 14%, and on banding within the scheme

For the 2017 award, vesting of the award will depend on EPS growth and retwm on capital employed measured over a three-year period. 75% of the number of
shares which will vest is dependent upon the Company’s EPS growth exceeding 3% and on banding within the scheme and 25% of the number of shares which
will vest is dependent upon the Company's retum on capital employed exceeding 11%, and on banding within the scherme.

For the 2018 award, vesting will depend on annualised cost savings, free cash flow and margin. 100% of the number of shares which will vest is dependent upon
the Company's annualised cost savings reaching £205m, free cash flow reaching £240m and margin of 12%. 25% of the number of shares which will vest is
dependent upon annualised costs savings reaching £160m, free cash flow reaching £180m and margin of 9%.

1997 Executive share option scheme

This scheme was open to senior employees other than Executive Directors and divisional Executive Directors, The exercise price of the options is equat to the
market price of the shares on the date of grant. Options granted under this scheme becorne exercisable if the growth in the Company's EPS exceeds the
growth in RPI by 8% over the three-year vesting period from the date of grant. The contractual life of each option granted is seven years. There are no cash
settlement altematives During the year ended 31 Decernber 2017, the total outstanding 0.1m share options, with a weighted average exercise prices (WAEP)
of £6.83, were forfeited. Na further awards were made under this scheme,

2008 & 2077 LTIP

77 20wt 2017

] mi m
Outstanding as at 1T January F 891 87
Awarded during the year . 271 4.6
Exercised ' -1 00
Forfeited ] {6.3) (44}
Outstanding as at 31 December . 2971 89

_ —

Exercisable as at 31 December |

The weighted average remaining contractual life of the above shares outstanding at 31 December 2018 was 1.5 years (2017: 1.6 years) There are no exercise
prices far any options issued under the 2008 LTIP scherne.

Deferred annual bonus plan
The weighted average share price of options at the date of exercise In 2018 was £1.67. The weighted average share price during the year was £1.48 {2017 £5.62).

The total cash value of the Deferred Shares awarded during the year was Enil (2017; £nil).

All schemes
The fair value of the aptions granted/awarded during the year was £110 (2017: £4.37). None of the existing option schemes have exercise prices.

The fair value for the 2017 and 2018 share scheme issues is effectively the market price of a Capita share at the date of grant. Accordingly, no assumptions have .
been disclosed. The fair value of equity-settled share options granted pre-2017 is estimated as at the date of grant using a multiple simulation option pricing
vatuation model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted

The expected ife of the options is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects
the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome. In addition, within the 2008 LTIP
is an average share price floor under which the share award will not vest. This floor is based on the Company's average share price at the date of vesting No other
features of aptions grant were Incorporated into the measurement of farr value.
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29 Additional cash flow information
Operating cash flow for the year ended 31 December 2074

As set out in note 2, the Group has simplified its non-statutory reporting measures to improve transparency and make it easier for the readers of the Annual
Repart and Accounts to understand its financial performance. The revised presentation is reported results on the face of the income statement, with a footnote
detailing adjusting profit and eamings per share, and a note to the accounts {see note 3) providing a reconciliation between reported and adjusted profit. The
presentation of the cash flow statement and additional cash flow information in the notes have also been revised to show the same split Refer to note 3 for
detail of the ftems excluded from adjusted resuits.

The 2017 cash flow has also been restated to (i} indude £28.9m of cash costs previously omitted from cash flows from investing activities used by discontinued
operations; (i) remove a £33.5m business exit provision from adjusted non-cash items; and (iii) correct a disclosed £0.5m loss of sale of property, plant and
equipment to a £4,5m gain. The net result of these items is to reduce net cash inflow from investing activities by £28.9m and to increase net cash inflow from
operating activities and reported free cash flow by £28 9m There is no impact on the reported net movement in cash and cash equivalents as the adjustments
were off set within movements in trade and other receivables/payables.

r 208 | Restated 2017

e - -
Cash flows from operating activities:
Operating profit/(lass) 3 3353 349 4475 (420.7)
Adjustments for non-cash items:
Depreciation 13 59.1 60. 56.4 63.5
Amortisation of intangible assets . 4 27.9 114.6 154 1442
Share based payment expense 28 34 34 29 29
Employee benefits 32 123 177 30.8 308
(Profit}/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 7 114 1.4 (4.5 (4.5)
Accelerated deprecation / amartisation on business exit — - —_— 19
Contingent consideration - - (5.4} - (2.5)
Impairrment of property plant and equipment 13 6.1 6.1 - 2.0
Impairment of intangibles acquired in business combinations 14 — 617 — 140
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets 14 — 58.1 - 5516
Impairment of contract related assets and investment loan 3 - - —_ 119.2
Impairment of loans and investments - 1.6 — -
Other adjustments: R
Mavement in provisions 2.8 {9.1) {25.2) (22.7)
Other adjustments:
Pension deficit contribution — (42.0) — —
Other contributions into pension schemes (16.1) {21.0) (29.8) (29.8)
Professional fees on acquisition — — - 0.5
Re-measurernent of businesses held for disposal . - - - 86
Movernent in Capita Asset Services settlement provisions - - e 34
Movements in working capital:
Trade and other receivables 91.2 893 (37 2) (30.6)
Non-recourse receivables financing {110.0) {110.0) (23.6) (23.6)
Trade and other payables (28.5) (1.7} (115.3) (.7}
Deferred income (2434)  (2437) {75.2) {66.8)
Cantract fulfilment assets (non current) (1.7 (11.7)}: (1.9) (11.9)
Cash generated from operations | 69.8 {75.7) 2303 225.4
Adjustments for free cash flows: .
Income tax received 26.6 25.3 9.5 9.5
Net interest paid {35.0) (52.5)i (54.2) (54 2)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 14 (74.6) (89.4) (62.5) {662)
Purchase of intangible assets 15 (67.2) 7oy {r0.8) {71.0)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and
equipment/intanpible assets 1.9 19 2341 231

Free cash flow { {az.5) {260.5) 75.4 66.6
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29 Additional cash flow information continued y
Adjusted free cash flow and cash generated from operations

Free cash flow Cash generated from operations
-t = . B - l 22:] . 221; zoﬁ':: zgxmr
Reported (260.5) 66.6 (75.7) 225.4
Pension deficit contributions I 46.9 — 46.9 —
Significant restructuring 100.8 450 100.8 45.0
Business exits } 6.6 {19.5) (1.1 (23.4)
Other 237 (16.7) 89 (16.7)
Adjusted . | {82.5) 754 } 69.8 2303

Pension deficit contributions: in November 2018, the Group agreed a deficit recovery plan with the Trustees of the Capita Pension and Life Assurance Scheme
(the 'Scheme’). The payments under the agreed deficit recovery plan total £176m, of which £42.3m was paid in 2018. In addition, further contributions of £4.5m

were made following closure of the Scheme in 2017 to future accruat for the majority of members of the Scherne. These payments have been excluded from
adjusted cash flows as the Group treats them Like a debt like item,

Significant restructuring: in April 2018, the Group announced a multi-year transformation plan. In the period to 31 December 2018, a cash outflow of £100.8m

(2077. £45.0m) was incurred in relation to the cost of the transformation plan, and restructuring costs relating to Capita’s previously announced cost reduction
plan. .

Business exits: the cash flows of businesses exited, or in the process of being exited, and the proceeds on disposals, are disclosed outside the adjusted results.
The 2017 results have been restated for those businesses exited, or in the process of being exited, in 2018 to enable comparability of the adjusted results.

Other: includes the cash flows related to other items excluded from adjusted profit.

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net funds/{debt)

Non-cash flow mevements )

Metdebtat o Foreign . Netdebt at

1 Jlnul‘rg mc'ﬂ‘ ﬂ:; Aqu:;:;;u: - udnn“g.: F.e.l}::r:lg:: Other? n Demrzngrear

Note Em £m £m m Em £m Em

Cash, cash equivalents and overdrafts 0] 4784 165.5 - (1.2) - - 6427
Other loan notes a {0.3) - - - - - (0.3)
Private placement loan notes’ 2| (1664.0) 5809 - 31 (27.5) (©5) (1108.0)

P

Currency swaps in relation to USD denominated private 1,23 176.8 {103.6) - - 26.4 - 99.6

Interest rate swaps in relation to GBP denominated private ® 5.4 - - - (3.5) - 1.9
Term loan 3 (100.0) - - - - —_ (100.0).

Finance leases ® (0.2) 0.2 — - -— — —
Total net liabilities from financing activities 1 (1.582.3) 4775 — 3.1 {4.6) {e.5) (1,106.8);
Deferred consideration 3] (13.1) 1.1 - - - - {2.0)
Net debt i (1,117.0) 654.1 o 19 (4.6) {0.5)  {466.1),

1 The sum of these items held at fair value equates to the underying value of the Group's private placement loan nate’s debt of £1,006.5m {2017 £1481,8m). Cash flow movement in
private placement loan nates includes both repayment of private placement loan nokes of £(577.2)m and financing arrangement costs of £(3.7)m
2 Other comprises the amortisation of the discount on the euro debt issue. .

The aggregate private placement loan note’s fair value above of £1,108.0m (2017: £1,664.0m) {disclosed in note 23: Financial liabilities) includes the GBP value of
the USD, GBP and EUR denominated loan notes at 31 December 2018. To remove the Group's exposure to currency fluctuations it has entered into currency

swaps which effectively hedge the movement in the underlying USD loan notes’ fair value. The interest rate swap is being used to hedge the exposure to changes
in the fair value of GBP denominated private placement loan notes.
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29 Additional cash flow information continued
The combined fair value of the interest and currency swaps, of £101 5m {2017: £182.2m), is disclosed in note 18 Financial assets, and note 23: Financial liabilities.

Non-cash fow movernents

Met debr at Foregn Net debtat
Cash, cash equivalents and overdrafts 20 565.8 {90.5) — 3.1 —_ —_ 478.4
Other loan notes n (0.3) - — - - — (0.3)
Private placement loan notes’ 2 (19617) 126.2 — (ar 184.0 (1.8}  (1,664.0)
Interest and currency swaps in relation to USD denominated 8.2 3579 - — — (1811 - i76.8
Interest rate swaps in relation to GBP denominated private 18,23 144 — — - (23) - S4
Term loan 23 (650.0) 550.0 — — - - (100.0}
Finance leases 3 {2.3) 21 — - — — (0.2)
Total net liabilities from financing activities (2,248.7) 678.3 — {10.7} 0.6 (1.8) [(1.582.3)
Fixed rate interest rate swaps 23 (85.1) 84.6 — — 0.5 - —
Deferred consideration 23 (108) 10.8 (2.0) — - (1.3} {13.1)
Net debt 1,778.8) 683.2 (2.0) (7.6) 11 (129) (1L.17.0)

1 The sum of these stems held at fair value equates to the undertying value of the Croup’s private placement loan note's debt of £1,006.5im (2016: £1,481.8m). Cash flow movement in
private placement loan notes includes both repayment of private placement loan notes of £{124.1)m and financing arrangement costs of £{2.1}m.
2 Qther comprises the amortisation of the discount on the euro debt issue,

30 Capital commitments

At 31 Decernber 2018, amaunts contracted for but not provided in the financial statements for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment amounted to
£10.7m (2017: £8.8m), relating to building improvement on a leased property and software upgrades,

31 Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities represent potential future cash outflows which are either not probable or cannot be measured reliably.
The Group has provided, through the nommal course of its business, performance bonds and bank guarantees of £84.0m (2017 £88.4m).

We are in discussions with 2 number of the Group's life insurance clients, the outcomes and timings of which are uncertain but could result in the continuation of
a contract with amended terms or the termination of a contract. If an opesation is terminated, the Group may incur associated costs or accelerate the recognition
of deferred income. As the outcome of these discussions is uncertain, the Group has not made any provision for a future outflow of funds that might result from
the eventual outcome.

Capita completed the disposal of its Capita Asset Services businesses, including CFM, to the Link Group on 3 November 2017. Capita ple, as part of the sale of the
Capita Asset Services businesses, has provided an indemnity against certain legacy claims,

The Capita Group entities are parties to legal actions and ctaims which arise in the normal course of business. The Group throughout the year needs to apply
judgement in determining the merit of litigation against it and the chances of a claim successfully being made. It needs to determine the likelihood of an outflow
of economic benefits occurring and whether there is a need to disclose a contingent liability or whether a provision might be required due to the probability
assessment.

At any time there are a number of daims or notifications that need to be assessed across the Group. The disparate nature of the Group entities heightens the risk
that not all potential claims are known at any point in time. Under the transformation plan, the support functions including commercial and legal are being
strengthened and a Chief General Counsel has been appointed. This enhances the current processes in place to assess the likelihood of historical claims arising.

32 Employee benefits

The Group operates both defined benefit and defined contribution pension schemnes.
Pension expense included in the income statement

T am ] 201
; Em Em
Defined contribution scheme ! 949! 862
Defined benefit schemes
Current Service cast ] 8.2 300
Administration costs ) 29! 23
Past service cost/(credit) ' 6.6 (1.3
Settlements i - {0.2)
Total charged ta profit before tax { 112.6 7.0
Interest cost/{income) i 9.4 9.2
Total in the income statement L 122.0 126.2

Contributions to the defined contribution schemes are charged ta the income statement as they fall due. The Group has no further obligations once the
contributions have been made.

At 31 December 2078, retirement obligations were disclosed in relation to 10 (2077: 11) defined benefit pension schemes. The main defined benefit scheme is the
Capita Pension and Life Assurance Scheme for which the Group is the sole emplaying sponsor. Grouped together under "Other schemes’ are nine smaller
arrangements.
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32 Employee benefits continued

The Capita Pension and Life Assurance Scheme (Scheme)

The Scheme is an HMRC-registered pension schema and is subject to standard UK pensions and tax law. Details of the benefits provided are set out in the
Scheme’s documentation.

Responsibility for the operatian and governance of the Scheme lies with a corporate Trustee which is independent of the Group. The Trustee Board is made up of
member-nominated and employer-nominated directars plus an independent chairman. The nature of the refationship between the Group and the Trustee Board
is governed by the rules of the Scherne and regulations.

The assets of the Scheme are held in a separate fund (administered by the Trustee Board) to meet long-term pension Liabilrties to beneficianies. The Trustee Board
invest the assets in line with their Statement of Investment Principles, which 1s regularly reviewed.

The Statement of [nvestment Principles has been established after taking into consideration the fiabilities of the Scheme and the investment nsk that the Trustee
Board is willing to accept. The Group is consulted before the Statement of Investment Principles is formally adopted.

Benefits are continuing to accrue in the Scheme for a limited group of employees following the closure to future accrual for the majarity of members on 30
November 2017.

A full actuarial valuation of the Scheme is carried out every three years by an independent actuary for the Trustee, with the last full valuation carried out at 31
March 2017. The purpose of that valuation is to design a funding plan to ensure that the pension scheme has sufficient assets available to meet future benefit
payments, based on assumptions agreed between the Trustee and the Group. The 31 March 2017 valuation showed a funding deficit of £185m (31 March 2014
£1.4m). This equates to a funding level of 86.1% (31 March 2014: 99.8%).

The main reasan for the increase in deficit was due to the fall in government bond yields, which was partly offset by greater asset retums than assumed

As a result of the funding valuation, the Group and the Trustee agreed the following plan to eliminate the deficit of £185m, which is in addition to £21.5m paid in
early 2018 a5 part of the disposal of Capita Asset Services to Link Administration Holdings and reflecting that a number of employers ceased to employ
contributing members: .

2018 2019 2020 2021

Deficit contribution E42m E7im £59m Edm

The next scheme funding assessment is being carsied out with an effective date of 31 March 2020. At each scheme funding assessment, the present value of the
contributions detailed in the current recovery plan is compared with any shortfall revealed. Where the contributions under the current recovery plan are no
langer expected (by the end of periods specifiad in the recovery plans) to be sufficient to remave the shortfall, a new recovery plan will need to be agreed
between the trustees and the Group. Options include increasing contributions due from the Group, extending the recovery periods with additional contributions
paid after the expiry of current recovery periods or some combination of the two. The affordability to the Group of any increase in contributions is a primary
consideration in the agreement of any new recovery pian.

Where the contributions are mare than sufficient to remove the shartfali by the end of the recovery period, options include reducing contributions due, keeping
the recovery period the same, or shortening the recovery period.

The Group expects to contribute £86.0m to the Scherme over 2019,

The valuation of liabilities for funding purposes differs to the valuation for accounting purpases (which are shown in these financial statements) mainly due
to different assumptions being used and different market conditions at the different valuation dates. The assumptions used for funding purposes are agreed
between the Trustee and the Group, with the discount rate being based on the actual assets of the Scheme. While for accounting purposes the assumptions
are determined in accordance with 1A519, with the discount rate being based on the yields available on high quality corporate bonds of appropriate currency
and term,

As part of the sale of Capita Asset Services businesses to Link Administration Holdings, it was agreed with the Trustees that a cash contribution of £17.0m would
be made to the Scheme. This was paid in January 2018.

The Scheme was closed to future accrual for the majority of members an 30 Novernber 2017, with these members joining the Group’s main defined contribution
scheme. As a result of the Schemne closing to future accrual, there was a past service curtailment gain of £2.3m in 2017 reflecting the affected members moving
from active members to deferred members. In addition, a number of employers ceased to employ contributing members of the Schemne. As a consequence of this
the Group paid £4.5m into the Scheme during January 2018 and guarantees have been provided by four of these employers in Favour of the Scheme {to put them
in the same position as if they continued to be participating employers).

In 2012, the Group established the Capita Scotland (Pension) Limited Partnership (the 'Partnership') with the Scheme, Under this arrangement, intellectual
praperty rights {IPR) in specific Group software was transferred to the partnesship and the rights to use, develop and exploit this IPR was licensed back to the
Group in return for an annual fee. The Scheme's interest in the Partnership entitles it to an annual distribution of £8.0m for 15 years.

The Group’s interest in the Partnership is fully consolidated into these Group financial statements. The Greup has taken advantage of the exemption conferred
by Regulation 7 of the Partnerships {Accounts) Regulations 2008 and has, therefore, not appended the accounts of this qualifying partnership to these financial
statements. Separate accounts for the Partnership are not required to be, and have not been, filed at Companies House.

Under IAS 19 (Revised) the interest in the Partnership does not represent a plan asset for Group reporting purpases and therefore the Scheme's deficit position
presented in these accounts does not reflect the Scherne's interest in the Partnership. Accordingly, distributions from the Partnership to the Scheme are reflected
in these Group accounts as pension contributions to the Scheme on a cash basis as paid
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32 Employee benefits continued

Other schemes
The total employer contributions to the ‘Other’ schemes for 2019 are estimated to be £3.0m,

Admitted Body arrangements

Far the Admitted Body scheme under which benefits are cantinuing to accrue, the Group will anly participate in the scheme far a finite peviod up to the end

of the cantract. The Group is required to pay regular contributions as decided by the relevant Scheme Actuary and as detailed in the scheme's Schedule of
Contributions. In addition, the Group will be required to pay some or all of any deficit (as determined by the respective Scheme Actuary) that is remaining at the
end of the contract. In respect of this, the Group is camying a sufficient level of provision in these financial statements.

For the scheme to which the Group makes contributions under Admitted Body status {which is part of the Local Government Pension Scheme) responsibility for
the governance of the scheme lies with boards which operate under a framewaork of corporate governance and are responsible for following the relevant statutory
regulations. For the loca! government pension schemes there is a similar funding regime which is set out in the Local Government Pension Scheme
{administration) Regulations 2008.

Other UK schemes

+ An allocated section of a Local Government Pension Scheme under which benefits are continuing to accrue where the Group is the employing sponsor.

+ Asegregated section of a multi-employer scheme in which the Grougp is a participating employer (under which benefits are not continuing to accrue)

+ Three segregated sections in an industry-wide scheme (in one of which benefits are continuing to accrue}

For the non-public sector schemes, the scheme funding regime introduced by the Pensions Act 2004 required trustees to carry out regular funding assessments
of the schemes and establish schedules of contributions and recovery plans when there is a shortfall in the schemes. The recovery plans detail the amount and
timing of the contributions required to eliminate the shortfall in the schemes. Funding assessments are carried out at least every 3 years. Approximate funding
updates are produced at each scherne anniversary, when a full scheme funding assesssent is not being undertaken. Each of the Capita sections in these schemes
is fully segregated and so there is no cross-subsidy with any other employer’s section.

For these schemes, the latest formal valuations for each scheme were carried out between 31 December 2015 and 31 March 2016. The valuations for the other
schermes are updated by qualified actuaries at each balance sheet date Scheme assets are stated at their market valuations at each respective balance sheet date,

For the local government pension scheme there is a similar funding regime which is set out in the Local Government Pension Scheme (Administration)
Regulations 2008, When the last contributing member in Capita's section of this scheme ceases to be a member, then this will trigger an exit debt. As at 31
March 2016, this was estimated at £31m.

Overseas schemes
The Irish schemne is classed as a cross-border scheme for which the beneficiaries of the scheme have their iabilities, and the trustees hold assets, denominated in
euros. The scheme is governed under the UK regulations and subject to the further requirements applying to cross-border schemes.

The Swiss schemes are administered and governed through collective foundations which are separate legal entities. Benefits are continuing to accrue in the Swiss
schemes,

There are a further 50 (2017: 55) defined benefit pension arangements in which various Capita businesses have participated during 2018. These have been
included in the defined contribution pension charge on materiality graunds either due to contractual protections or the size of the scheme

However, one of these defined benefit schemes relates ta participation in the Social Housing Pension Scheme which is a non-segregated multi-employer defined
benefit pension scheme where it is not currently possible to identify the Group’s share of the scheme under |AS 19. For this reason it has been included in the
defined contribution pension charge. At the last valuation in 2017, a total deficit of £1,522m was disciosed Total deficit contributions from alt employers as a
result of the 2017 valuation were £161m per annumn, of which the Group's share is £0.41m per annum. IF the Group were to cease to be a participating employer
in this scheme there would be an exit debt payable. As at 30 September 2017 this was estimated at £11.9m. The Group’s expected emplayer cantributions for this
scheme in 2019 1s £0 4m

Risks associated with the Group's pension schemes
These defined benefit pension schemes expose the Group to various risks, with the key risks set out below:

Investment risk; the schemes invest in a wide range of assets with a view to provide long-term investment returns at particular levels. There is a rigk that
investment returns are lower than expected which, in isolation, could result in a worsening of the funding position of the schemes.

interest rate risk: the tAS 19 discount rate is derived based on the yields available on good quality corporate bonds of suitable duration, If these yields decrease,
then in Isolation, this would increase the value placed on the JAS 19 obligation and result in 2 worsening of the funding position of the schemes.

Inflation risk: the liabilities of the schernes are linked to future levels of inflation. If future inflation is higher than expected then this would result in the cost of
providing the benefits increasing and thereby worsening the funding position of the schernes.

Longevity risk: if members live longer than expected, then pensions will be paid for a longer time which will increase the value placed on the liabilities and
therefore worsen the funding position of the schemes.

In order to manage these risks, the Group and the trustees carry out regular assessments of these risks For the main defined benefit scheme the following actions

have been taken:

* The Trustee of the Capita Pension and Life Assurance Scheme has entered into two bulk annuity contracts with an insurer in respect of a small number of high
individual liability pensioner members (one in 2015 and the second in late 2017} with total value included in the assets at 31 December 2018 of £68.7m (2017:
£76 7m).

+ The Trustee has entered into a Liability Driven Investment programme. The leve! of risk that is managed by this 1s set by various market-related and funding
trigger points.

Together, these actions have led to a current level of hedging (interest rate and inflation) of around 65% of the Liabilities measured on the trustees’ long-term

funding basis. As the funding level improves it is planned to further increase the level of hedging.

The hedging aims to match the value of the assets to the movemaent in liabilities due toinflation and interest rate changes. As part of this strategy and to retain

exposure to growth assets, the scheme invests in derivatives ta gain synthetic equity exposure. Therefore, the equity allocation shown below is in economic

exposure terms {i.e. inclusive of the derivative based pasition).
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32 Employee benefits continued

Assets and liabilities
Under IAS19, plan assets must be valued at the bid market value at the balance sheet date. Asset valuations have been sourced from the scheme's investment

managers and custodians, based on their pricing sources and methodologies. For the main asset categories:

. -w. *. Equities listed on recognised stock exchanges are valued at closing bid prices. __

L L

- '

+ Bonds are measured using a combination of broker quotes and pricing models making assumptions for credit and market risks and market yield curves.

= Properties are valued on the basis of open market values.

= Assets in investment funds are valued at fair value which is typically the Net Asset Value provided by the investment manager.
« Certain uniisted investments are valued using a model based valvation such as discounted cash flow.

consistent with the terms of the contract) and 1s equal to the carresponding liability calculated by reference to the IAST9 assumptions

The assets and liabilities of the defined benefit pension schemes (excluding additional voluntary contributians} as at 31 December are:

The value of bulk annuity contracts have been assessed by discounting the projected cash flows payable under the contracts (projected by an actuary,

Capita scheme QOther Group total

| 2018 o7 | . 2018 | 207} 2ou | 2017

I Quuiﬁ:: Unqunl.:: To;l“l Tnzr:r: I Qung Unquo:: Ta:“( To;! l’ Toet:rt ToEt;:
Scheme assets at fair value:
Equities:
-UK 3.6 — 36 40.6 16 0.3 1.9 49 5.5 455
- Overseas 94.9 96.2 1911 3059 79 31 1.0 104 2021 3163
- Private — - - = — — o7 0.7 15 0.7 1.5

t 98.5 96.2 19471 3465 | 9.5 4.1 13.61 168 1 2083 363.3
Debt securities:
- UK Government 323.3 {0.7) 323.2 249.9 7.0 - 7o 138 340.2 263.7
= UK Corporate - 0.1 0.1 45,0 0.4 — 0.4 0.4 05 454
- Overseas Government —_ 17.8 17.8 341 2.8 -_ 2.8 26 20.6 36.7
- Overseas Corporate — 18.5 1858 137.2 05 - 05 04 9.0 1376
- Emerging Markets - 292 29.2 295 03 - 03 03 295 29.8
- Private Debt -— 573 573 346 — — — — 573 3486
— Secured Loans — — —_ — 1.6 — 1.6 16 1.6 1.6

I 3233 2228 "s4611 5303 | 22.6 — 22.6 191 | 56871 5494
Property - 85.7 B85.7 783 4.8 03 51 48 20.8 831
Infrastructure - - - — 0.5 - 0.5 - 0.5 -
Credit Funds. —_ - - —_ 8.0 - 8.0 8.2 8.0 8.2
Asset Backed Securities - - - - 0.8 - 08 07 08 07
Hedge Funds 80.1 135.2 215.3 214.4 0.6 - 0.6 0.6 2159 2150
Diversified growth funds - - - - 49 - 4.9 50 4.9 5.0
Insurance Contracts — 68.7 68.7 767 - 17.5 175 16.4 86.2 93.1
Cash 241 1.4 255( (144.9) {1.6) - {1.6) 12 238! [(1437)
Other — — — — 14 2.1 35l 37 35 a7

§ 1042 291.0 39521 2245 1) 19.4 19.9 39.3| 406 | 43451 2651
Total 526.0 6100 1,136.0] 11013 515 240 755 765 12154 11778
Present value of scheme liabilities 1,3427| 1,493.4 87.8 91.2 1,430.5] 15846
Net hability I (2067) (3921} 1 (123) {47 | {219.0) (406.8)

These amounts do not include any directly owned finandial instruments issued by the Group.

There are two assets which have been classified as insurance contracts for the purposes of these accounts:

+ The two bulk annuity contracts entered into by the Trustee of the Capita scheme late in 2015 and 2017

+ The investmant of the assets in respect of the Swiss schemes occurs by the collective foundations in the context of reinsurance contracts.
Reconciliation of retirement benefits

Explanation of constituents of the Income Statement

The cost of providing the pension scheme over the year 1s broken down as follows:

- Service cost is the cost to the Group of future benefits eamed by contributing members over the current financial period.

- Past service cost represents the change in the prasent value of schemme liabilities in the current period in relation to prior years’ service,

+ Administration costs are those entailed by the pension schemes over the current period.

Interest cost/(income) is made up of the interest cost on pension liabilities and assets over the current period based on the discount rate adopted at the start
of the period.
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32 Employee benefits continued
The following table shows a reconciliation from the opening balances to the closing balances for the net defined benefit liability and its components:

_Group total
Defined benefit obligati Fair value of plan assets Net defined lisbitity
R A -
Balance at 1 January ) 158461 14549 t (1,177.8) (1,097 | 40684 3452
included in the income statement:
Curmrent service cost 8.2 300 —_ - 82 300
Administration costs 29 23 - - 29 23
Past service cost’ 6.6 (1.3} - - 6.6 {13)
Settlements - (1.8) — 16 - (02)
Interest cost/{income) ] 387 39.8 {29.3} {30.6) 9.4 9.2
Sub-total in income statement | 56.4 | 69.0 | (29.3), (29.0) 1 27.1) 40.0
Included in other comprehensive income:
Actuarial loss/(gain) arising from,
~ demographic assumptions (16.1) {0.5) - - (16.1). {0.5)
~ financial assumptions (100.7) 839 — - (10().7)l 83.9
- experience adjustments (39.5) 4.1 — - {39.5) 14.1
- changes in asset ceiling/minimum liabitity - — — — - -
Return on plan assets excluding interest —_ — 212 (45.8) 212 {45.8)
Foreign currency translation 11 {0.5) {0.9) 0.6 0.2 (03}
Sub-total in other comprehensive income (155.2) 9.6 203 t (45.2) (134.9): 514
Employer contributions — - (80.0) {29.8) (80.0} {29.8)
Contributions by employees 1.6 16 (.6) (1.6) - —
Benefits paid {51.6) (37.3) 51.6 373 — -
Contract bulk transfers/business cambinations {5.3) {0.2) 53 0.2 - —
Balance at 31 December 1 143051 15846 | (215 (1077.8) | 21901 406.8

The defined benefit obligation comprises £1,430.5m (2017: £1,584.6m ) arising from schemes that are whally or partly funded.

Of the total pension cast of £271m (2017: £40.0m), £14.8m (2017: £28.5m) was included in cost of sales, £2.9m {2017: £2.3m) was included in administrative
expenses, and £9.4m in finance casts (2017: £9.2m),

1

Past service cost

The past service cost of £6.6m is made up of 3 elements:

On 26 October 2018, the High Court issued a judgment which concluded that the schemes involved in the case should be amended to equalise pension
benefits for men and women in relation to Guaranteed Minimum Pension {GMP) benefits. This will impact many pension schemes. The Group is working with
the various trustees and their advisers to understand the extent to which the judgment crystallises additional liabilities in their schemes. This could take overa
year to fully rectify. However, for the purpose of these financial reports, we have estimated that this will increase the reported liability of the Scheme by
£4.4m and this is reflected as a past service cost in 2018. This cost is excluded from the adjusted profit as set out in note 3. There are still a number of
uncertainties aver how the equalisation is carried out, including the method of equalisation and any potential appeals about the ruling. Therefore, the overall
cust could differ, but we have included our best estimate of this cost based on infarmation known at this time. The impact of this will be considered at the
next series of triennial valuations and any changes to future contributions will be assessed at that time.

In addition, there is a past service cast of £10m in relation to the correction of an historic retirement age equalisation issue for a small group of members in
the main scheme. This cost is excluded from the adjusted profit as set out in note 3.

The rernaining cost of £1.2m is in relation to the value of additional contractual benefits granted to members over the current period,
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32 Employee benefits continued

Capits schems
Defined benafit obligation Fair valug of plan sssets Net defined liability
; 2018 207 2008 | 7 2078 2017
i Em Em Em | Em | £m Em
Balance at 1 January L 14934 13664 . (1,013}  {1.0380) . 3921 328.4
included in the income statement: ! ' :
Cuirent service cost ‘ 6.1 278 — - 6.3 279
Administration cost i 27 20 ! — — 27 20
Past service cost includi